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PREFACE.

It had been iy intention to offer this little volume
to the public, but for several reasons it seemns best to
print it privately. In the first place it is all anclent
history, and the incidents rclated, which refer to thg
annexation of a far-away Province fike Sind, would not
appeal to the general public, especially just now, when the
entire Empire is cngaged in o gigantic struggle which
occtipies everybody’s mind and anxieties. In the next
place, parts of it recall cerlaln ancient controversies

which should now be allowed to rest in oblivion,

Sind, though the late Sir Richard Burton dubbed
it “The Unhappy Valley” (chiclly, I belicve, owing
to its torrid climate, and 1o the sterility of the land
when first occupied by the British), is now one of the
most floutishing DProvinces in the IImpire, and none
Have ever lived or served there but have carried away
most pleasant recollections of i, The unleigned loyalty

of the inhabitants, the great Mahomedan zemindars,

and the educated Hindus, alike, and their eagerness to
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support any measure for the good of Sind, are most
remarkable, and no onc who is fond of Sind but would
read with great interest Seth Naomul's own uarration
of the eminent services which he rendered to the British
Covernment at a critical time., His exertions :15§istu(1
in bringing to his country peace, justice and good
administration, and to the prevemtion Ifor ever of a
recurrence of the tyranny from which his own father
had suffered. The main interest of the Memoirs lics
in the picture they present of the state of Sind at
the time of the Conquest, and in the varicly of

incident with which Seth Naomul's carecr abotunds.

But, as those who have studicd the history of
the time are well aware, there was much difference
of opinion as to the policy pursued by the Brilish
towards Sind, And % would be a pily now to
re-open. in public a chapter long since closed, I
think, therefore, it is best ,to restrict the issue of
the book to Seth Naomul's own descendants and
relations, to officers connected with Sind, and to
personal friends.

"

In editing the Memoirs 1 have refrained as far as
possible from politics. I have, therefore, confined mysell to
"a few notes in order to explain allusions in the Memoirs
which would be obscure to the present gencration, and to
add, in the two Chapters of the Introduction, as coucise an
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account as possible of the state of Sind when Seth Naomul
came to the front, and 1 have checked my remarks
from the writings of the distinguished contemporary
British officers with whom Seth Nuomul came in contact.
Many an Inglishman who reads the volume will, I
daresay, be glad fto find himsell reminded of famous
Englishmen like Pottinger and Outram, or Trere and
Ellis, who served Sind so well in ancient days . if
it will only induce him to read I'rere’s and Outram’s
biographics, I shall have done him a scrvice,

L

All the footnotes have been written by myself even
wlhen that is not specifically stated.

Seth Naomul is particular in recording domestic
events In his family which are not of general interest,
but I have thought it best nol to delete anything., I
only regret that T could not find a comparative calendar
from which T could have substituted the exact dates
or months of the Christian cra against those which
he gives of the Vikramadit era. Crities, if any deomn
it worth while, may animadvert upon the want of
uniformity  in wrtling some of the Tadian proper
names. When the cvents narrated in the Memoirs and
Appendixes oceurred, there was no scientific system of
trangliteration in existence, and it would, I thought, be
pedantic in cvery case to reformt the old spelling, eg.,
to convert Kurrachee into Karachi, Bhooj into By,
and the lke, though in the Memoirs themsclves some
modern spelling has been inserted by the translator
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himself : so in most instances [ have left the words
spelt as I found them. Anglo-Indians will not be

puzzled, and the archaic spelling gives a kind of old-
world flavour to the documents and extracls quotled.

I am indebted to Rao Bahadur Alumal Trikaradas,
B.A.,, Seth Naomul's eminent grandson, for the kind
assistance be has given me In elucidating difficult
allusions. With him and myself will soon pass away
almost the last links that connect the Sind of Napier
rand Frere and Seth Naomul with Sind of modern
times. I myself first joined Nind 1 1870, wlien
numbers of those officers who had been contemporarics
of Napier and TFrere were still in the public service,
and I heard at first hand f{rom them many narratives
of the carly days. This circutustance, perhaps, makes
me mnot the most wanspitable person 1o have  been
entrusted with the printing of the Mcemoirs.

M. E M. J.
June 15t r19rs.



INTRODUCTION.

By 1Hi EDITOR,

= ek

CHAPTER 1T,

Sl in the first half of {he 18th cenlury—Tormer Hindu Rulerg—
The Ialhoras—The Talpurs—The three Talpur Kingdoms-—Ambition
of the Afghans and Ronjit Singh to possess Sind-—Rensons for DBritish
intervention—The Indus Valley used for the Dritish expedition to Cabul-—
Treaty with Ilyderabad—Amirs' obstructiveness—Naomul's Dbirth and
ancestry-—"falpurs’ oppression of Hindus—DBralal treatment of Naowul's
father—Naomul's early alliance with British—Potltinger's request for
asgistonice it r838——0utram’s arrival {n Sind—Amirg' obgtructivetiegg-—
Naomul's asgistance to Oulram nnd Poltinger—Outlram Lecomes Politieal
Agent—Natives' intrigues-—Naomul's  successful  diplomacy with Mirx

Sher Mahomed, "

It may scem late in the day to print, in 1915, the
Tife of an Indian gentleman wliose loyalty and good
services to the British Governmeunt, though continued
all his life, were most couspicuous and valuable two
gencrations ago, during the First Alghan War, 1838-1843.
But a man who was able to win the entire confidence of
men like Sir ITenry Poltinger and Hir Jumes Qulram during
that period, and Iater, during the eritical times of the Mutiny,
of &ir Bartle Irere, deserves not to be lorpotten,  ‘Those
eminent public servanis have passed the highest encomiums
upon his zeal and intrepidity, During the Afghan War
his services in procuring transport and food for the British
Army were invaluable, and were rendered at the risk of his
life, Outram called him “ the devoted friend of the British
Government,” and another officer writes that at that time
- “we had not a friend hetween” Karachi and Candahar, save

Scth Naomul.,”  In the Mutiuy, Sir Bartle Frere, then the
Comumissioner in Hind, was constantly dependent on the in-
telligence which Seth Naonul brought him as to the feeling in
Sind, and the intrigues in neighbouring countries, When Seth
Naomul was quite an old man Sir Bartle Frere himself
suggested to him that he should write his autobiography,

B



2 SETH NAOMUL, HOTCIIAND, C.S.L

and his grandson, Rao Bahadur Alumal Trikamdas, B.A,, also
pressed him to do so. So he wrote it in his own vernacular
and read it aloud to his grandson, who translated it into
Fnglish, and Naomul sent a copy of the translation to bir
Rartle Frere, who, as appeats from an extant letter, thought
of printing it, or part of it at least, himself, but he was then
a Member of the Indian Council and his own varied and
arduous duties probably afforded him no leisure, Sir Frederic
Goldsmid, C.B., X.C.8.I., Sir James Outram’s own Dbio-
grapher, had the same intention, but failure of health
prevented him from carrying it out, ILater on when the
present Hditor was Commissioner in Sind, Raoc Bahadur
Alamal Trikamdas entrusted him with a copy of the
Memoirs, and he is now, after a regrettable lapse of
* twenty years, putting it into print, as he fecls that, at
any rate for those acquainted with Sind, Seth Noaomul’s
interesting narrative and the fine character which his naif
reminiscences reveal should be preserved from obliviotn,
I may commence by briefly explaining the position of
Sind at the period to which the important part of the
Memoirs relates, namely, from 1830-1845, in regard to

the British Government and to neighbouring countries,
Sind, then, as now, comprehended the lower reaches of the

great river Indus, a province about 310 miles long, and
from 140 to 160 miles broad, bounded on the north by the
small Indian Mahommedan Stale of Bahawalpur, beyond
which lay the extensive dominions of Ranjit Singh, the Sikh
conqueror of the Punjab. On the west it was divided by
mountains and deserts from the territory under the Pathan
rulers of Cabul and Candahar in Afghanistan, and under
the Brahui Chief of Khelat in Beloochistat; on the soulh
by the Arabian Sea ; and on the east by a desert, heyond
which lay the native states of Jessulmere and Jodhpur in
» Rajputana. The Stale of Cutch in the Bombay Presidency,
separated from Sind by extensive salt marshes and creeks,

touched it at the south-east corner, ‘The original population
of Sind was Hindu, and even after the Arab invasion
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in AD. 712 we lear of Hindu dynastlies controlling
the whole country at intervals, while up to the time of
the XKalhoras, the last ruling dynasty but one, minor
Hindu potentates still existed in Lower Sind, But these
local Hindu rulers gradually disappeared ; and the Hindus
themselves were not only reduced greatly in numbers, but
treated with contumely by bigoted Mahommedans, Their
. superior intelligence and education, however, enabled them
to maintain themselves not only as merchants and traders,
but also as administrators and managers of the State
revenues under the Mahommedan kings.

Before the invasion of India by Nadir Shah in 1730,
when Delhi was sacked, Sind, after being ruled by various
local tribes and dymnasties, had become a pro-consulate of
the Moghul Iimpire at Delht, but after Nadir Shal’s triumph
it became an appendage of Cabul, to which it owed tribute,
But this ttibute was irregitlarly paid, and required invasion
to enforce it, as in 1810-r1. Sind was, in fact, an out-
of-the-way negligible province so far as Cabul was con-
cerned, excepting only for the important town and market
of Shikarpur in the north-west, ‘This town was sitnated
not far from the mouth of the Dolan Pass, the great
highway between Central Asia and India, and to ils owner-
ship the rulers of Cabul always attached importance,
Otherwise the internal aflairs of Sind were repulated by
whatever local dynasly succceded in establishing itself,
Duting the 18th century a family of Mahommedan priests
called the Kallioras, related to Lthe Daudpotras, who governed
Bahawwlpur, the native state on the north of Sind, took
possessionn. The Kalhoras were a bratal race, and in 1783
were ejected by the Talpurs, a Belooch clan, whose chicfs
had beenn cruelly assassinated by the Xalhioras, The
Talpurs maintained their ground till 1843, when the British
conquered them in their {urn, The Talpurs were divided
into three families, who partitioned Sind into as many king-
doms, ILower Sind, much the largest and most important of
the three, was appropriated by the head of the clan, Mir
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Fatehali, to whose exertions the conquest of the country
was due. He occupied the Kalhoras’ capital at Hydcrabad,
a fortress built by them at that place. Upper Sind fell
to Mir Sohrab, whose capital town was Khairpur, and
who also occupied the strong fort of Bakar, situated on an
island in the river Indus between the towns of Suklkur and
Rohri, not far from Shikarpur; and south-east Sind, the
smallest state of all, fell to Mir Tarakhan. Mir Ifatchali
at Hyderabad admitted his three brothers, Karamali,
Ghulamali and Muradali to share in his rule, a phenomenon
of rare occurrence in an Oriental country. The four brothers
always lived on the best of terms, and were known as the
“ Char Yar,” or the four friends. As each one died his soun
succeeded to his father’s prerogative. Tatehali himself
was known as the *‘ Rais,” or Chief par excellence, and in
accordance with Sind custom he wore the turban of
chiefship. In the year 1832 only one of the original
four brothers was alive, namely Mir Murad Ali, who then
became Rais, and was the principal person in the joint
government, in which the sons of the three other Mirs had
a share, Dr, James Burnes, the Residency surgeon at the
capital of Cutch, who was the first Iuropean to spend any
-time at the Court of Sind, having been invited there i the
year 1830 to cure Mir Murad Al of some small ailment,
published his experiences of the country and ils government.
While crediting some of the Mirs with cheerful and kindly
natures, he describes Mir Murad Al as a selfish, gloomy
and avaricious despot, Mir Sohrab was sacceeded in Upper
Sind by his son, Mir Rustom, who was a kindly prince, and
friendly to the English, whjle Mir Tarakhan was succeeded
by Mir Sher Mahomed of Mirpur, who was ill-disposed
towards them, When the Memoirs begin the leading and
most powerful Amirs in Lower Sind were Mir Nur
Mahomed and Nasir Khan, brothers, sons of Mir Murad
Ali; together with Sobdar Khan, son of Mir I‘atehali,
and Mir Mahomed Khan, son of Mir Ghulamali, The last
two named, though senjor by descent, had less to do with
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regulating public affairs than the two brothers, Nur Mahonied
and Nasir Khan.,

For a very long time the British Government had but
small knowledge of Sind, and took no pains to enter into
relations with its rulers, and its isolation secured it from
much outside disturbance. In the 18th century factories
were started by the Tfast India Company at Tatta, an
imporfant town in Lower Sind, but these soon canme to an
untimely end ; and the Talpur Mirs showed themselves
uneasy and suspicious of the Britislh whenever they were
approached by British envoys, as, for instance, on the first
occasion in 1809 when, like other native rulers in India they
were asked to exclude the Ifvench who were thought to
meditate an attack upon India., But it was practically
impossible for them to remain permancntly secluded from
the rest of the world, and the time came, about 1830, when
the British Government showed an interest in the country,
At that date the great Ranjit Singh, always a steadfast ally
of the British, but very aggressive upon his neighbours, hiad
succeeded in forming a powerful and compact state in the
Punjab, including in it Cashmere, Dera Tsmail Khan and
Mooltan, which tilf then had always heen divectly mnder the
rulers of Cabul. Me had also attacked and exacted tribute
from Bahawalpur, next door to Sind, Ranjit Singh thus
became o menace to the whole of the wvalley of the
Indus, He was known fto covet Sind, and in 1830 he
actually invaded it. Just at the same time the govern-
ment of India was endeavouring by diplomacy, both in
Persia and Afghanistan, Lo ward off what il supposed to be
the designs of Russia upon India, and their attention was
attracted to the Indus as the natural highway {rom the
Arabian Sea to Upper Indiaand Cabul, Inx831 the Amirs of
Hyderabad were induced, with a good deal of difficuity, to
allow Sir Alexander Burnes to ascend the river with some
horses sent by the King of Iingland as a present to Ranjit
Singh, who was a great lover of those animals, and the
opportunily was taken of exploring the river., In 1832 the
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Amirs signed a treaty opening up the Indus to commerce,
excluding military stores and armed vessels, and as a
corollary to this again, much against their wish, they were
induced in 1836 to allow firewood for steamers on the river
to be cut from their forests. They also allowed Capt.
Carless, of the Indian Navy, to survey Karachi harbour
and its envirous, and also the poris in the Delta of the Indus.

In the year 1836 Lord Auckland became Governor-
General of India, and with a view to the creation of a strong
and friendly Afghanistan as a bufler between India and
Turkestan, where the Russians were making headway,
he determined on what proved to be the Ilatuous and
disastrous policy of reimstating on the throne of Cabul
a former Suddozye king, Shah Shuja, who lad for many
vears been an exile in India, and of aiding him to expel
his enemies from Cabul. Shah Shuja claimed Upper
Sind as part of his hereditary dominions, When in
power he had forcibly drawn iribute from it; aund even
when in exile, in that mysterious way by which dethroned
Fastern potentates seem always able to collect troops, he
had entered Upper Sind with an army in 1833, defeated
the Talpur Amirs at Shikarpur, the chief town in Upper
oind, and extracted 5 lakhs! of rupees from them, as well
as a promise of tribute for the future. I'hus Sind was
coveted hoth by Sikh and Afghan chiefs, while the British
Government (on the principle of tua ves agitur paries guim
proxumus ardet) was determined that it should he a battle
ground for neither of them, and that as the Talpurs were
too weak to defend their own country, the British should
settle their disputes for them, and guard Sind, as an
outwork of British India, from invasion for the future.
Pressure was therefore brought upon the Amirs of Sind
by the British Governhment to consent to a fiew troealy,
which secured them from further molestation on the

_— emeerapy 1A A

! A lakh means Rs, 100,000, and a lakh of rupees used (o bo worth

£10,000, Itis now, owing to the fall in the gold-vaiue of gilver, equivalent
only to £6,600.
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part of Shah Shuja. The disadvantage of the new
treaty to them was that it compelled 1them to pay, for
division between Shah Shuja and Ranjit Singh, a large sumn
down, 25 or 20 lalths of rupecs, then equivalent to £250,000.
Nominally, this was for arrears of tribute, but in reality
it was ransom money for Shikarpur, Of this sum 15 lakhs
were to go to Ranjit Singl as the price of his assent and
assistince to the Government's Afghan expedition, The
Armirs were also to pay a tribute of 3 lakhs annually to defray
the cost of a subsidiary force for the protection of Sind.
The Amirs haggled a good deal, and even before the treaty
was signed pressure in a practical shape was put upon
them to agree to it by landing part of the army
which was to assist Shah Shuja in recovering Afghanistan
at the mouths of the Indus for its march through
Sind, and by British men-of-war taking forcible possession
of Xarachi, The Amirs of Hyderabad at length consentled
to the 1ireaty, but with an ill grace, and as regards
the provision of trausport and supplics to the Britisli army
they were very obstructive, Meanwhile Sir Alexander
Burnes, who entered Upper Sind from the Punjab, had
induced Mir Rustom, the Talpur ruler of Upper Sind, who
was always friendly to the British, to surrender the strong
fort of Bakar, on an island in the middle of the Indus,
between the towns of Sulklkur aud Rohri, ‘This fort enilirely
commanded the passage of the stream, and was in close
communication with Shikarpur,

We may return at once to Setli Naomul and explain
how he came to take the part of the Dritisli Government
in the troubles which ended in the conquest of Sind. The
{oltowing account, though based in the main upon his own
harrative which follows later, has been carelully checlked,
and, where necessary, supplemented by reference to con-
temporaneous published records.

Seth Naomul, the son of Hotchand, was a Hinda
merchant of the Lohanno tribe, and an inhabitant of
Karachi where he was born in 1804 or 1805, His ancestors
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were originally settled at Kahiri, a village in Central Sind,
close to Khudabad,! the first seat of the Government of the
short-lived dynasty of Kalhoras.

In the early part of the 18th century Seth Naomul's
great-grandfather, Bhojoomal, moved from Central Sind,
partly on account of a family dispute, and also, no doubt,
because of the shifting of the Kalhoras' capital {rom
Khudabad to Hyderabad in South Sind, which city was
founded by the Kalhoras in 1768, Bhojoomal’s choice of
a place of residence fell upon Kharakbunder, a small port
on the Persian Gulf, or, to speak more correctly, on Lhe
Gulf of Oman, at the mouth of the river Habb, the river
which to this day separates Sind from the territories of
Jthe Khan of Khelat, the ruler of Beloochistan, After a
time, as that port became silted up, he transferred his
house and business to Karachi, a mere fishing village, a few
miles further down the coast to the south-cast, which at
that time also belonged to Khelat, though afterwards, as
will be seen later, the Khan waived his right over it
in favour of the ruling Talpur Amirs at Hyderabad. ‘I'he
choice of ports was a wise one, because Karachi had a
good land-locked harbour and adjoined one of the mouths
of the river Indus, and was therelore convenient for river-
borne trade with the interior, Iixcepting for the port, it
was not an attractive locality; the water supply was
brackish, and the adjacent country on the north, and for
some 50 miles on the west till the watered Indus-Deltn
country was teached, was a mere rocky desert only {it for
grazing camels,

Seth Bhojoomal (after whom his descendants are known
to this day as Bhojwani—Bhojwani being now used as a

urname) was an enterprising man and became wealthy,

! The writer visited Kahiri and IChudabad in 1870, aud even then
ould say of them Elam perieve ruinae. ‘The only relic remaining was u
tagnificent tomb of Yar Mahomed Kalhore, the first prinee of the dynasty,
nd inside the building were suspended several clubs, as evidence uf
he ease with which that part of Sind was wrested from the Panwal
ribe by the Kalhoras—the clubs signifying ihat awords were nint required
uring the battle, and that the Panwalirs were defeated with sticks.
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His firm had numerous agencies both in Central Asia and in
India. Seth Naomul may possibly exaggerate his ancesiors’
mercantile achievemeuts, but to this day there exist Hindu
firms in Shikarpur and Hyderabad who have agencies
managed by members of their family as far distant as
Bokhara, Samarkund, Moscow, Detrograd, and even Cairo
and London. In fact, ithe enterprise and courage of the
mild Hindu in prosecuting his business in the wildest parts
of Central Asia, despite the iyranny of Moslem rulers, and
the fury of predatory tribes, has always attracted the admira-
tion of traveliers, ‘Therefore Seth Naomul's account of his
family’s extensive agencies 1s by no means 1c be questioned,
Commerece, indeed, 1n Sind owed its oxistence to the
Hindus, who used to finance the wiate, and exercised o great
influcuce over their Mahommedan masters, in spite of those
masters often oppressing and always aflecling Lo despise
them,

During the cighly years' tenure of power by the Talpur
Amirg of Sind, the lot of the Hindus was exiremely unthappy.
The Amirs were Mahominedans of thie Shialy form of religion,
and allthough naturally kindly and courteous and well-bred,
towards idolators, as such, they could be severe as Torque-
mada ;. and, it Lower Sind at least, il o Tlindi committed a
slight offence he was seized upon, compelled Lo repeat the
Mabommedan confession of {aith, and circumeised~—a piece
of tyranny not infrequently induolged in Lor mere amusement,
‘The following extract from {he narrative of Dr. James
Burnes, who has already Dbeen mentioned, will give his
fmpressions of the treatment of {the ITindus,  Perhaps,
becanse he had been residing in a Elindu state, Dr, Butnes
does not scem devoid of prejudice against Maliomimedan rulers,
but inn some points his account is not atl all exagperated,

 In no respeel whatever is the oppression of Lhe Amneery more apparent
“than in their zeal for the propagation of the Mahommedan faith, It
“is really difhicull to conceive how any Hindus should have continued
{0 reside in Lthe coumtry ; and 1he facl can only be accounted for by that

" attachent, which man shares with the vegelable, 1o the soil in which
" he i reared. ‘The indignitics they suffer are of the mosi exasperating
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'“ description. They are even forced 1o adopt the Mahommedm dress,
" and to wear beards.! ‘Till lately, none of this clags were permitted {o
“ yide on horseback : and amongst the few wlho now enjoy the privilege,
* 3 gmall number only in the service of govermment are allowed the comfort
“ and honour, as it is esteemed, of o saddle. Merchants of 1.:.runlth a1l
" respectability may be seen mounted on asses and mules, aninials con.
“ eidered so unciean that none bud the vilest outensts in other coundrics
" aan touch them with impunily ; and, even from ihis hamble conveyance,
“ they are obliged to descend aud stand aside when any bloated Mugsultnnn
‘‘ passes by, ¢
“ The Mahommedans arc encouraged and exhorted 1o desiroy all the
“ amblems of idolatry they may sce in Sinde. The degraded and unfor-
‘“tunate followet of Brahma is denfed the free exercise of his religion ;
“the tom-tom is seldom heard, being only bealen wlen permission is
‘" granted ; and although there are a few temples williont inages ol
' Hyderabad, the sound of music never eclives from their wally, It is
“in the power of any two *true believers!' by declaring that o IMindoo
has repeated a verse from the Koran, or the words ' Mahommed the
¢ Prophet,’ to procure his immediate circumeision, “This is the moyst
" common, and, by the persecuted class themselves considered Lhe most
“ eruel of all their calamities; while, as it is resorled Lo on the glightest
* pretence, and always performed with a mockery of ils bheing for the
" eternal happiness of the sufferer, mental agony is made to ndd itls
“ bitterness to bodily infliction,”

Dr. Burnes testifies that when he himself lound occasion
to complain against a Hindu merchant, the leading Awir
quite eagerly promised to have the offender foreibly inducted
into the true faith as a punishment.,

It was not unnatural, therefote, that the Hindug, whose
counttry had been usurped for centuries by dilferent Malhom-
medan dynasties, to whom they owed no natural allegtance,
much longed for a change of ruler when they compared
their lot with the neighbouring kingdom of Cutcli, where
Hindus lived in tranquillity under a monarch of their own
faith. Tt was not unnatural that, having heard through
their commercial agents in Beitish India and Cutely, of the
power and justice of the British, they should strive at the
first opportunity to place themselves wunder British
protection.

It happened that in 1832 a Mahommedan fanatic at:
Karachi raised a cry against the Hindus and carried a fiery

P

* The wesring of a beard was, on the coulrary, an honour restri
the principal Hindu officials about the CnurL.--I-::,};;:, testrieted to
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cross through some of the larger towns in Jower Sind,
fomenting religious riots against the idolators. Huch
riots in the Tast are always gpreatly disturbing to the raler,
no matter what his own faith. Seth Naomul's father,
Seth Hotchand, was the most influential person al Karacli,
and a leader of the Hindus in Sind, and the riots, which
commenced al that place, were atmed at him. In con-
sequence he was sent for by the leading Amir, Murad
All, to Hyderabad, and the Amir, to conciliate his Moslem
sibjects, determined to sacrifice him, and allowed the
fanatics to kiduap his person and carry him off to o
far-distant Mahommedan shrine in the Delta, His son,
Sethh Naomul, denies that the indignity of the initiatory
Moslem rite was aclually imflicted upon him, but the native,
public in Sind were always convinced that this oulrage had
been committed. After his release, Seth Hotchand, disgusted
at the treatment he had received (amongst other things he
had been nearly starved to death while in confinement for
want of food such as his religion permttted himm to cat),
retired to an asylum i Cateh, where the Rao, as the Hindu
Raja is called, received him with great sympathy and respeet,

Seth Naomul had, therefore, ample reason for entertaining
hitler thoughts against the rulers who had so grievously
oppressed his father, and considered it a duly to his lather,
and to the Hiudus generally, to lake cvery opportunity
that arose of releasing them from a degrading thraldom,

Tt was apparently in 1832,! when Colonel Tottinger,
the Resident in Cuteh, was visiting Hyderabad to nepotiate
the treaty made in that year for throwing open the Indus
to commercial vessels, that Setly Naomul first called upon
him and made his acquaintance, which he took care cver
aftarwards to cullivate, JTater he made that of Sir
Alexander Burnes ; and he was able 1o assist Tient. T.eckie,
who was afterwards posted as a political officer to Klielat,
in various ways, Seth Naomul was of considerable use to
Commander Carless, and rescued him from some Beloochis

R

T I Soth Naomul puds 10 in 1833,




12 SETH NAOMUIL HOTCHAND, C.S.I

who intended to attack and kill himn for going out shooting
in their territory without leave. In fact, he took cvery
opportunity of being useful to the Brilish.

Finally in 1838 Seth Naomul received a letter Irom
Colonel (afterwards Sir Heury) Pottinger, the Resident in
Cutch, in which country he himself was collecting transport,
asking him to assist General Kcanc’s army Dby procuring
camels and supplies of food, as the Government ol India
had determined to send an army up to Shikarpur by the
Sind route to join Sir William MacNaghten and Shal Shuja
at that place on their march to Cabul. These requircinents
Seth Naomul succeeded in satisfying in spile of considerable
personal danger, owing to opposition on the part of the
oAmirs’ local officers, and those who obeyed them. Only
those who know Sind can realise the extraordinary influence
which Seth Naomul must have obtained over the rough
Beloochis in order to collect the camels needed for forcigners
in so short a time, and in spite of the Awmirs’ unconcealed
objections. The wild sterile country adjoining Karachi
was peopled by several very strong nomad tribes, headed
by powerful semi-independent Baluch chiefs, the Jolkhias,
the Numrias, the Karmatis and the Chhuitos—the main-
stay of whose wealth was their camels, ‘I'he Seth may have,
and very likely had, hired camels limself oceasionally for
his own merchant’s worlk, so he would not be unknown 10
them ; and he probably was the onty banker to whom they
could go if in need of cash., But the fact that a Hindu
could proctire the animals in such large mumbers for 1le
British, with the full influence of the Amirs’ oflicers opposed
to him, indicates that he was a man of singular force of
character,

Directly after Sir John Xeane reached the mouth of
the Indus, Major (afterwards Sir) James Qutram, who had
volunteered to join the expedition, arrived at Karachi in
a sailing boat, to ascertain how far Seth Naomul, whom
he described as a “ friendly Bania,” had been successful in
collecting camels, He stayed at Seth Naomul's house in




INTRODUCTION, I3

Karachi, which at that time was an " obscure fishing village
with one or i{wo wealthy merchanis 7 and then made a
memorable ride across the desert country and the Delta
from Karachi to Vikkar, where Sir John Keane's foree had
landed. TIe met Seth Naomul for the first time at a place
named Gharo, halilway, where he was collecting camels,
and then continued a journey of n5 miles back, unattended,
to ihe ships,

The Seth hmmsell will describe the various ways hy
which, from this time onward, he assisted ihe troops during
their passage through Sind with transporl and supplics,

But it may be noted here that tlic Mirs of Hyderabad
were very shifty and obstructive, Before Sir John Keane's
arrival they had promised to give Seth Naomul a perwanna,
or permil o colleet camels and [ood, hut when ihe timé
came they used threats to him, and Potlinger was obliged
to remined them of their promise, While the troops were
marching up the Indus Delta, one of the Mirs of Mirpur
actually attacked and destroyed the slores collected by
Seth Naomul, near Hyderabad, and so large a force of
Beloochis was collected at that place that Pottinger began
to fear the British troops would he attacked. Tor just
about that time it had been Pottinger’s duty to place helore
Lthem the dralt of atreaty that was in many ways unpalatale
to them, However, when multers appeared eritical, news
arrivedd that a Dritish fleet had arrived ot Karachi, and
owing 1o the Amirs’ local officers foolishily {Iring upon it, the
fleet. had taken the town. Upon this, the Amirs’ hearts
failed them, and Poltinger’s diplomacy sccured the un-
opposed passing of the troops and the acceptance of the
treaty, Seth Naomul continued his oxertions, and sent his
brother and servants with the army as {ar north as Shikarpur,
Poltinger recorded that * but for the assistance rendered
by Naomul and his family, the Bombay column could hardly
have effected a junction with that of Bengal in 1839, and
Colonel Preedy, who was on the spot, remarks that * when
it is considered how greatly our success in that expedition
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depended on the celerity of our movements, it must,
I think, be allowed that Naomul has done the State
good service.”

By March, 1839, the Bombay column was on its march
from Shikarpur to Candahar and Cabul, and Outram
went with them. Seth Naomul comtinued with Colonel
Pottinger whom he accompanied to Cutch, and was of great
use in various ways, which the Memoirs describe, both i
that country and Sind. Pottinger afterwards departed on
leave, and Outram, after distinguished military achieve-
ments, which need not be further referred to, succceded him
as Political Agent in Lower Sind in January, 1840, to the
duties of which office were added in 1841 the heavy political
responsibilities of Upper Sind, On Outram’s taking up his

"new office Seth Naomul joined him, and practically becanice a
member of his staff. ‘The public records are full of incidents
illustrative of the infrigues which prevailed amongst the
Amirs and their entourage, and Seth Naomul's fidelity was
of cardinal importance. The head Moonshi of the Residency
staff was one Jethanand, who had been Pottinger’s agent
at Hyderabad for some years before 1838. ‘I'his man was
found both fraudulent and corrupt, and Naomul exposcd
his misbehaviour. Amongst other crimes, Jethianand was
found in possession of a letter from Mir Nasir Khan to
Sirdars beyond the Frontier urging them to attack the
British. The Moonshi had infercepted this letter in ordor
to hold it ¢n ferrorems over the Mir., Outram’s signatirre
and seal had been forged, and the forged letter was used
to procure for an unworthy Mir a grant of land and some
perquisites, A treaty with Mir Sher Mahomed, the ruler
‘of Mirpur, was in prospect, Wwhich would provide for that
Mir’s share of the contribution to the local forces already
provided by the Treaty with the Amirs of Hydcrabad ;: and
to promote his desire that the sum fixed should be as small
as possible, his Moonshis had persuaded the Mir to give
them a bribe of Rs, 20,000, To prove the case Seth Naomul
was 1mstructed by Outram to pretend to join in this con-
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spitacy, and he soon produced the Moonshis’' promise in
writing., (Appendix VIIL)

Later on Seth Naomul cndeavourcd to procure an

incriminating letter from Mir Sher Maliomed to Mir Sobdar
of Hyderabad, which Outram specially desired to possess,
but after procuring it the letter was stolen from Seth
Naomul's tent, much to QOutram’s chagrin and displeasure.
Save dor Scth Naomul's known trustworthiness the story
of the theft would never have been credited, and his
character for loyalty been ruined. DBul Seth Naomul was
able at this time to render one particular service, which is
described at length in the Memoirs. It was about the end
of 1840. On the occasion of reinforcements fromm Guzerat
crossing over from Cutch to Bellary,' a village on the
borders of Mir Sher Mahomed’s territory, Outram was not
sure that the Mir might not oppose the transit, {ollowing
the example of the Hyderabad Amirs wlio had contemplated
obstruction two years belore. He, therefore, halted the first
detachment and sent Seth Naomul to Mir Sher Mahomed’s
capital with very careful diplomatic orders to say nothing
o the Mir, and Outram’s report (Appendix VII) shows low
vell the commission was discharged. ‘The troops passed
hrough without auny collision, and the Mir consented to
he treaty proposed to hun, namely, to subscribe hall o
akh of rupees annually to the British Governmrent as
art payment of a local force, on the Dritish Governmoent
ndertaking to protect all his territory {rom  foreign
geression,  The treaty with Mir Sher Mahomed was
atified on 10th August, 1841, [ollowing the lines of the
reaty with the Hyderabad Amirs, which was ratified on
1th March, 1839. Both trealies agreed that there should
¢ no tolls on the river Indus, and that ouly the ordinary
ustoms duties should be paid. |

e ea Liruve wow ek

! Bellary, or Bellinree, is on Lhe north or Sind edge of the Rann or desert
- Cutely, 30 miles from the nearest Culels village, Drobann, Some of the
oops were coming from Bhuj by a well-know route across the Raun,
id Ballisree would be the first halling place in Mir Sher Maliomed's

rritory,
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CHAPTER II.

Sir Charles Napier—High-handed methods—Defeat of the Amirg...
Annexation—Contentment of Sindhis—Naomul's hopes realised-—Retlurn
of his exiled father—Naomul's troubles under Sir Charles Nﬂpiprmlhwnn
Chandiram—Naomul's acquittal—Pottinger's  testimony—=Sir ]"ialr!.lu
Frere's friendship—Grant of Jaghir and pension—Decornted with C8.1,—
Mereantile firm wounnd up-—Tine services of Almnal Trikanudns.

But the existence of Sind as an independent rerntory
was destined soon to come to an end. In 1842 a new
Governor-General, Lord Illenborougl, impressed with the
idea that friclion between military and political officers
had contributed to the great Cabul disaster in 1841,
appointed General Sir Charles Napier, an old Peninsula
officer, to take charge of Sind affairs and settle up various
political questions, thus .superseding Outram. Napier
arrived in Upper Sind in October, 1842, and at his request
QOutram, who had actually started for Iingland, returned
to assist him in political matters. But unfortunately Sir
Charles” high-handed methods with the Amirs, both of Upper
and Lower Sind, which, it must be said in justice to him
were directly ordered by Lord Ellenborough, were different
from those to which Outram had been accustonied, and
Cutram’s advice was igunored. The result is a mtatter of
history. The aged Mir Rustom of Khairpur in Upper
Sind, always well-disposed to the British, was the vietim
of an intrigne brought about by his much younger brother,
Mir Ali Murad, who coveted a larger share of their father’s
possessions than he had received, and accused his old
brother of secretly intending to oppose Sir Charles Napier.
Napier so frightened Mir® Rustomn that he resigned the
turban to All Murad and fled to Hyderabad., Sir Charles
Napier followed with his army, Shortly before he arrived,
Mir Shahdad and a crowd of Beloochis, indignant at the
treatment of Mir Rustom, and at what they congidered
oir Charles Napier’s unprovoked invasion, attacked the
Hyderabad Residency by night. After a gallant defence
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with a tiny gatrison of 100 men, Oulram was obliged to
take refuge in a steamer and join Sir Charles Napier's
army. ‘The sword having thus been drawn by the Amirs,
the battles of Miani and Hyderabad {ollowed, the sequel of
which included the surrender of the Amirs, the confiscation
of their jewcllery as prize for the army, ihe annexation
of Sind! (exeepting Khairpur) to the DBritish Thnpire,
and the exile for ten years of all the Amirs, excepting
Mir Al Murad, and thal prince a few ycears later himself
became the victim of a singularly dramatic retribution.
For it was discovered that when the boundaries of British
and Khairpur territory were being seltled, he had, by a
cleverly conceived forpery, possessed himsell of large dis-
tricts to which lie was not entitled ; and T,ord Dalhousie
then deprived him of all hut his own younger son’s
patrimony, With the aid of capable vaziers lent by the
British Government, the little State of Khairpur is now
very flourishing under Mir Ali Murad’s grandson, FLII, Mir
Emam Baksh Khan, G.C.LI.

The change of govermnent in Sind, it may be observed,
was eclfected withoul the smallest distirbance of popular
uprising, cxcepting o little oullawrey, such as may always
be expected in the Ifast in such circumstances.  Although
the Antrs had been able 1o collect a disorderly mob {{or it
was nothing better) of Beloochis at Miani, and although
public sympathy was unquestionably with ihe aged Mir
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1 The whole of Napiet's {rausactions i Sind {ormed the subject of
cousiderable conlroversy al the tme., The verdiel of Sir Roberl Peel's
Ministry al honie upon the amtexation was Fieri non debnit factum valet,
Writing thirly-three years aftenwards, M. W, 14 Gladstone, adverting to
the difliculty which a ¢entral Governmeiit experienices in conirolling its
officers at o distace, compared the taking of Teshkent by General
Tcheruaieft, in 1864, conlrary to his orders from 5L, Petersburg, with Sir
Charles Napier's high-handed proceedings in Sind, DBr, Gladslone's words
are as follows :—'" A notable example occurred it 1843, when Sinde wos
conquered by Napier, under the auspices of Tord Ldlenborouglh, That
conguest was disapproved, I believe, wupnimously by the Cabinel of Sir
Robert Peel, of whiclt T can gpeak, as I had just endered [ at that Lime.
But the ministry was powerless, Inasmuch as the mischiel of retaining
was less than the mischief of abandoning if, and it remeins an sccom-
plished fact.,”” (Jixtract from Goldsmid's Biography of Outram.)

Coe -
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Rustom of Khairpur, whose brother, Mir Ali Murad’s
machinations had caused him to fly, yet the Talpurs were
never popular, nor had they often displayed such vigour
and authority as to make them respected. Sir Chatles
Napier took an early opportunity of inviting all ilte great
Sirdars and holders of rent-free lands to attend a durbar
at Hyderabad on 24th May, 1843, Queen Victoria’s birthday,
and make their salaams to him as representiative of the
new government, They attended in a large body without
the smallest demur, and swore allegiance, Ifrom that time
there has never been the slightest animosity belween Maliom-
medans and Hindus. During the Mutiny and other wars,
| and up to the present day, no Sindli, whether Moslem or
. Hindu, has ever flinched in his allegiance. ‘T'he [lourisling
condition of the province, with its railways and magnificent
irrigation canals, and its splendid port} proves that Sir
Charles Napier's sudden and unauthorised conquest,
provoked by the treacherous attack upon the Residency,
was the best thing that could have hdppened for the
country, The dynasty had only lasted 60 years, and the
Sovereigns of England have already, in 1914, ruled for
72 years., Not many years elapsed before Sir Bartle I'rere
was able to invite the exiled Amirs to return to Sind, where
they have lived ever since in suitable hotises that were
built for them, as loyal and contented pensioners of the
ritish Government. None are now alive of those who

witnessed the conquest.
Thus was accomplished Seth Naomul's desire for the

dethronement of the Talpurs, and the requital for the
brutal outrage on his father, Seth Hotchand., The interview
which he has described in his Memoirs with the two principal
Amirs, Mir Nur Mahomed and Mir Nasir KXhan, sons of Mir
Murad Ali, in the spring of 1839, when by lis assistance
and in spite of the Amirs’ secret opposition the British army
was well on its way through Sind to Afghanistan, has au

.

e ———

1 In Appettdix XVI will be found some figures illustrative of the ljrusu:nt
extensive trade of Karachi, and of the land revenue of Sind,
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element of pride and pathos in it. The proud Mirs received
him standing, took him by the hand, invited him to sit on
a stool instead of on the ground, and then asked him f he
had by that time fully avenged the wrongs done to his
father. The Sctlli says he remained silent, but his inward
satisfaction must have been great, Tour years later when
the defeat of the Awmirs and the British anuexation were
announced at Karachi, his old father, Sethh Hotchand, who
had been in a ship lying outside the harbour, no doubt
expecting the good news, was landed, after his sclf-imposed
exile, and was conveyed to his house, amidst the plaudits
of the people, and then Scth Naomul's cup of content
must indeed have been full.

Seth Naomul's services up to this time had Dbeen-
rendered gratuitously., Out of pride he had been useflul to
the British, and also on account of the wrongs that had
been inflicted on his father. Still his services, which
included frequent large advances of money al his own risk,
had not been altogether ignored. TPottinger, before parling
with him, offered to obtain him a grant of mouney, and
also, so SBeth Naomul says, the honour of a seat in the
Bombay T.egislative Council,! both of whichh he wisely
declined, Qutram, in 1840, oblained for him an allowance
of Rs. r00 a month, which, constdering his wealth, was only
nominal, What he prized far more was a dress of honour
presented by Lhe Governor-General, and his recognition
later as the Agentl of the British Government at Karachi
with a salary of Rs, 200 a month, until the conquest.

Still, aseful as he had been to the British Government
in the time of thetr greatest weed, so soon as the rcign of
military officers under Sir Charles Napier was substituted
for the more gentle and reasonable political officers, Seth

T —eall — e ~r - - -y Rk o makre —

I This requires correclion, “The Legislative Couneil, whieh ineluded
a few nalives and non-oflicial members, was nol created in Bombay till
1862, One of the ex-Amirs of Bind was given a seat upon il by Sir Bartle
I'rere, 80 it seetis probable that, having this appointment in his mind,
Seth Naomwul werely tolil his amanuensis thal such a post would have
been 1o use to him, as hie did nol speak Inglish, not ihat Poltinger had
actually offered to procurc it for hin~—Jinirvor,
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Naomul found that the change was not altogether to his
liking. The violent controversy between Napier and Quiram
as to Napier's behaviour to the Amirs was beghining, and
Napier naturally would notl be very lavourably inclined to-
wards Outram’s protegé. It is not at all an uncommon Lhing
in India for a native official who lhas been considered a high
English officer’s factotum {o fall into distavour wlmﬁn his
patron has retired, as the patron’s successor is determined
to make the factotum ‘‘ know his place.” All Sir Chartles
Napiet’s nominees for high administrative appointments
in Sind were military men. Fortunately for Seth Naomuil,
the officer selected as Collector of the Karachi districl was
a Captain Preedy, who had been for some time at Karachi
. as head of the Commissariat., He had had extensive oflicial
dealings with Seth Naomul, and therefore befriended him,
recommentding him for the position of Deputy Collector,
to which he was indeed appointed, though on so small a
salary that he resigned. But his relations with another
officer who was entrusted with L1he organisation and control
of the Karachi police were not so happy. Lieut. Marsion
was a very gallant yvoung man who had saved Sir Charles
Napier's life at the battle of Miaui, by atiacking single-
handed and killing two oul of three Beloochis who had
together charged the General. He was not of the same
disposilion as Capt. Preedy, and accused the Seth of inter-
ference with lis police, in which Napier took especial pride;
and Seth Naomul's {riends suffered even more than himself,
Capt. Preedy, after consulting Selh Naomul, had appointed
one of the most highly respected Hindus in Sind, Diwan
Chandiram of Talti, to be Muklilyarkhar, thal is 1o say
the officer whose duty it was to collect and manage lhe
revenues of the Sehwan sub-division, one of the mosti
important in Sind., In a few months, accusalions were
made against Diwan Chandiram of petty peculation of some
kind, They were taken up by Lieul. Marston and by
Capt. Brown, Sir Charles Napier's Secretary, “T'he Diwan
was tried by court martial, by officers little accustomed to
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laws of evidence, and unfamiliar with the conditions of
Sind. As a result the Diwan was senl to gaol for two
years, and actually {orced to work on the roads as a convict,
The late Sir William Merewether, K.C.S.1.,, who was Com-
missionter in Sind from 1868-1877, and was acquainied with
all the facts, could never speak ol the treatnient of Diwan
Chandiram without indignation ; and he always trealed
the Riwan wilh the greatest personal consideration, When
the writer of this Introduction was Depuly Collector of
Sehwan and iravelling with Sir William in x870-41, Sir
William took especial patns to introduce Diwan Chandiram
to him, and after the Diwan had paid his formal call Sir
William Merewether took his arm in his arm in the most
friendly way, and escorted him into his privale teni—a
compliment ihat a Comunissioner raicly pays to a private
native gentleman., (Nol that oflicials are haughty, but
because any unusual marks of friendship aie apt to be
misconstrued by the vulgar and sometimes to be abused).
Napier, no doubt, was naturally a maitinet, and when
introducing a set{led administration inlo Sind was obliged
to depend upon ihe materials ready 1o hand, Sir Bartle
I'rere, who had ihe best means of estimating his capacily
as o civil ruler, had no hesitation in placing Sir Charles in
the foremost rank of the Indian statesmen it had been his
good forimne to meel. ALl the sane time he was unques-
tionably hasly both in temper and action, His Lreatment
of Setlt Naomul al his fArst Durbar, as desciibed tn ithe
Memoirs, was cruelly undeserved ; and Seth Naomul relates
how on one occasion Sir Charles tlwealened to have him put
in gaol. The only wonder is thal this was notl actually
done, for, as Macaulay says :—“An Indian Governor has only
to let it be undersiood that he wishes a particular man 1o
be ruined, and in iwenty-four hours he will be furnished
with grave charges supported by depositions so full and
circumstantial, that any person unaccustomed to Asiatic
mendacity would regard them as decisive.,” Cousequently,
although Seth Naomul's probily was unimpeachable, and
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his services had been great, it is clear that under Sir Charles
Napier's régime he was not a persona grata, so he wis‘ely
obtruded himself as little as possible, On one occasion
he was put to the pain of having all his account books
seized and overhauled, under ihe idea that he had Dbeen
making improper gains in the remittance of Government
treasure, a galling imputation, of which he was fully
acquitted! The imputation was the more unjust 2s he
had rendered the Government most valuable service in the
disturbed state of Sind, both at the conquest and after, in
transferring, through his firm and banking friends, their
specie from place to place for a very small remuncration
indeed. As a matter of fact, just before Sir Charles Napicr
finally left Sind in 1847, Seth Naomul and ihrec of ihe
office moonshis were suspended from Government employ-
ment for six months, and finally dismissed the scrvice
without being called on for a defence (vide Appendix I,
which contains an interesting memorandum by Capt. X, W,
Preedy, the Collector and Magistraie of Karachi, on Seth
Naomul's services), On the papers being submitted to the
Government of Bombay, under whom 8Sind had by that
time been placed, the Governor in Council decided that there
were not sufficient grounds for charging Sethh Naomul with
dishonesty, and that his exclusion from public employment
should not be considered as implying any reflection upon
his character. On that occasion Sir Henry DPoltiuger,
who by that time had been appointed Governor of Madras,
in. reply to what must have been an appeal to him for
protection, on January 1yth, 1849, recorded the following
testimony, dated from Government House, Madras ;-

) ‘“. oI h'a}re always retained "and still do 80} a high sense of the
y devotion, ability and integrity with which Seth Nao Mull of Kurrachee
. acquitte.d himself of various important irusts confided to him whilst
) the affairs of Sind were under my guidance. That opinion intduced me
" to strongly recommend Seth Nao Mull to the favour of Supreme Govern.
. juent as well as to the countenance and protection of sy successor, Lient.-

Col. Outram, and I am very happy to learn from the accotnpaninienis

el

1 Bee Appendix XI,
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' 40 this Petition thot the Sell’s character has been so effectually eleared
“ from the stigma which would appear to have been unjustly east on it
“ At the same time I caunot interfere in his case beyond {his willing
‘“ fegtimony to the merits (as T found them) of a zealous and consistent

 wall-wisher of ihe British Government and its oflicers.”

The destruction of the four houses whicl he had built
in the Sadar Bazaar in Karachi, described al page 151 of
the Memoirs, is anolher instance of Selh Naomul's enemies’
attacles upon him., Karachi is not the only cantonment
in India in which almost to this day the conilict bhelween
privale and government rights over the sites of houses
has not often been productive of keen legal controversy,
and sometimes of hardship. In Seth Naomul's case, no
doubt, hie had buill the houses in question épenly with the
full knowledge of the military authorities, and for the
public convenience, bul he also felt, doubtless, that one
day they would be a valuable property to himself. Still,
seeing ihat they were erected when Xarachi was still under
native rule, and for the other reasons which Sethh Naomul
gives, their removal seems to have been a very high-handed
act,

However, in due time, Sir Charles Napier’s régime came
to an cnd, and then Sethh Naomul, as his Memoirs show,
was again welcomed by {the great, He was shown parlicular
hionour Ly the able and well-known Sir George Clerk, when
Governor of Bowmbay, and by Sir Bartle Frere, during lus
long tenure of office as Commissioner in Sind, in whose
biography, by the lale Mr. Jolm Martincayu, the {ollowing
reference occurs ' —

'* Of ilie leading natives at Xurrachee, the one with whom Frere was
“in most frequeni and fiiendly comnunication was Setli Naomul, a
“merchant, who from ihe firsl appefrance of Lhe Iinglish in Sind, had
““made up his mind that their power was destined Lo prevail, and had
' attaclied himself {0 their cause wilth nmawavering fidelity, through oll the
“ vicigsitudes of the Afghan war and the Conguest of Sind, When Sir
“Jolmm Keane’'s force landed at Kurrachee in 1838, on i{s way to
" Affghanisian, and when Tottinger, Ouiram and Jacob were engaged
' in keeping open the communications in the perilous times that followed,
“he rendered valuable assistance, in recompense for which he received
“rewards and honours, 8ir Charles Napicr, apparently, did not suuch
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““ like him, and Naotul, resenting this, speaks of Napier as tyrannical and
“ oppressive, but * simple-minded, pure-heatted and a teligions gentleman,’
“ Probably le may have thonght Naomul, as mesl Taglishmen perhaps
“ would have done, selé-imnportant and tiresome, Freie, however, al ouce
" gaw his merits and his value, and treated him with kinduess and con-
t* sideration, Naomul had agents or cortespondents all over Notthemn
“ India and in Affghanistan and Persia, from whom he received inlormation
‘“ ag to native opinion which he nsed to communicele to Frere, Ile gave
“him correct and valuable inielligence as to Verston and  Afghan
“ intrigues, and as to native doings and opinions, which after the jutiny
“ broke out, was so valued by him that e gave orders thai Naomul was
" never to be refused admitiauce, day or night, when liec canie to see ltim,"

Onty a few weeks before Sir Barile left Sind in 1859,
he addressed the government of Bombay with a view 1o
Seth Naomul being given a Jaghir (land free of land tax)
of 1,200 acres in perpetuily, and an allowance of Rs. 100
a month for three lives; and the Governmeni of India
complied with both requests. The Scth had previouysly
declined either an allowance or Jaghir terminating with
his own life, though he had accepted ihe arrears of the
pay of Rs.200 & month, of which Sir Charles Napier had
deprived him,

Sir Bartle Frere, when Governor of Bombay, invited Seth
Naonmul to pay him a visit, and corresponded at iutervals
with him all his life, I{ was at Sir Bartle I'rere’s own
suggestion, in a letter written from the India Oflice on
7th January, 1869, that, as previously mentioned, ithe Scth
dictated these Memoirs to his grandson, Rao Baliadur
Alumal Trikumdas, B.A, Seth Naomul had been one of the
first to use his influence in favour of Sir Bartle I'rere’s
policy of introducing education into Sind, and Rao Bahadur
Alumal was the first young man to proceed to the Bombay
University from Sind and tgke his degree. On 4ili Tel-
ruary, 1874, Sir Bartle Frere wrole to Selli Naomul
acknowledging receipt of the Memoirs with great pleasure,
and saying he hoped to take measures for their being
published, at least in part, in Lngland, where he thought
they would draw atltention to the wvaluable character of
his services.
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The final honour conferred on Scthh Naomul was on
st January, 1867, when at a Durbar held by Sir Bartle
Frere, as Governor of Bombay, atl the Lrere Hall, Karachi,—
a very beautiful hall built by the public Lo commemorate
Qir Bartle Frere’s own services Lo Sind,—lie decorated Seth
Naomul with the insignia of C.S.1I. (Companion of the Stor
of India)—the premier Order in India. Seth Naomul
had the special honour of his name being included in the first
list of Companions made by Her Majesty Queen Vicloria,
of this Lhe third-class of the Order, alter that class was
constituted and published in the Gazelfe of Indiz ou
rzth June, 1806, Sir Bartle Frere's speech on that occasion
is reproduced ¢n exfenso in Appendix XIIT,

The internal cvidence afforded by the Memoirs them-
selves will convince any Anglo-Indian familiar with the
people and conditions of India, o the absolute siraightness
and honesty of the writer. TIiven in cases where he himself
had acted injudiciously, or had laid himself open Lo mis-
conception, he does not falter in the least in narrating the
facts, although they might be calculaled to arouse suspicion
of his good faith., He might, for instance, have omilted,
with nobody to question him, the curious incident related
at page 110 of the loss of his box with an important state
paper in it, and of Sir James Oulram’s displeasure with him
for not having made 1L over to his assistant, Capt, Teckie,
at once, as requested by that oflicer. On anotlier oceasion
when hie was assisling in the pursuil ol the Belooclh sitdars
who wete ineditating an altack on Karachi, and the des-
truction of the British garrison ihere, his own servant
suddenly let off a pistol and gave warning to the cnemy,
so that naturally the British ofltcers considered Seth Naomul
himself was privy to the firing of the traitorous shot. The
frank mention of the incident, the gravity of which Seth
Naomul does not attempt to minimise, indicales his fear-
lessness and wmens conscta veclz, So far as can be tested by
contemporary official documents, Sethh Naomul's historic
accounts are all extremely accurate; and although he
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never fails to make the most of the services he was able
to render, yet unquestionably those services were of extreme
value, and deserve recording. His confidence in DBritish
officers, especially when advancing out of his own pocket large
sums of money on behalf of the British Government, was 10
doubt justified by the event., Still, very few bankers
would be found in any part of the world to lend their money
so freely, especially during a time of war and consgquent
commotion, when the future of Sind was still in the balance,
and when he could not feel absolutely certain that the
Government would support the officers whom he supplied
with funds,

The writer himself went to Sind as a young Assistant
Collector in the spring of 1870. Soon he had the pleasure
of calling on Seth Naomul and making his acquaintance,
and when the late Earl of Northbrook passed through
Sind on his first viceregal cold weather tour in 1872, Scth
Naomul, the wriler thinks, was the only gentleman present
at his levée who wore the coveled C.8.1., unless it was worn
by some of the Viceroy’s own suile, The fine appearance
of the old man when he made his deep salaam to ihe
Governor-General is well i the writer's remembrance ; and
there was a feeling of regret that it had not been suggesied
to his Excellency to shake hands with him, but in India
it 1s difficult to discriminate, At the same levee appeared
another interesting personage, namely, IMis Highness Mix
Sher Mahomed Khan Talpur, the former ruler of South-
eastern Sind, who made a good and strenuous fight against
Sir Charles Napier, after the Hyderabad Amirs were deleated
at Miani; and Lord Northbrook specially desired that the
Mir should be told of the pleasure which it gave him to see
the Mir,

Seth Naomul's grandson has provided the wriler with
a large number of papers, most of which have been already
published in Blue Books, illustrative of the various tasks
which his grandfather undertook, and the esteem in which
he was held by high British officers from Sir Henry Pottinger
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down to Sir Bartle Frere, A small selection of these will be
found printed in the Appendix, as well as a few other
extracts from official papers illustraiive and confirmative
of one or two special incidenis related in the Memoirs.

Seth Naomul was a man of middle stature, spare habit,
and brilliant. keen eyes. Ifor a Hindu he was singulatly
active, He loved horses, and every day lhacd a ride in
the evgning ; he also took a daily walk of iwo or three
miles even up to the last, swinging his arms and walking
in a stately fashion with his hecad well erect, He was
devoted to his own faith, and on the occasion when the
writer first called on him in 1870, as soon as the lamps were
lit in front of his house, he at once joined hands, shut his
eyes and offered a short prayer, and in a few mintiles
resumed his conversation as brightly as before, ‘I'he repro-
duction of his photograpll scarcely does him justice. He
passed away full of years and honour on 16th Sepiember,
1878, at the age of a little over #3 years, He had given up
his firm and his mercantile avocations long before his death.
His name will long be remembered in Sind and in the Indian
Iimpire as one who loyally came [orward to aid the British
Government at times ol stress, when it was not so casy
or safc as it is now for a native gentleman 1o show his
loyalty, and his appreciation of the benefits of the British
Governsient in a practical way,

This Introductlion would not be complete without some
account of Seth Naomul's business and lis descendants.
After Seth Ilotchand’s death in 1848, his seven sons,
including Setlh Naomul himself, dissolved partnership and
worked independently, While Seth Naomul was scrving
the British Government both {or two years with Outram,
and as Assistant to the Collector of Karachi, he was obliged
to abandon all aclive interest in his firm so that his share
in the business, mainly banking and exchange, gradually
dwindled. Xe entrusted what remained of it to his eldest
son, Seth Trikamdas, who had agencics in a great many
places, but later under his father’s advice, about 1860, he
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wound them all up gnd ‘deveted his ati_:en‘.tian to cultiva-
tion, ag being more profitable, as the family possessed 20
to 25 thousand adres covering aboul ten family villages, bu.tt
his wn portion of the estates was sold by him later to his
cousin, Seth Atmaram. Some others of the family remained
in business, and Seth Gidumal Lekhraj, son of Seth Naomul's
youngest brother, afy this day has agentsthroughout the
Malabar coasts, and trades in produce, besides beinga large
dealer in sugar. Seth Gidumal is one of ihe most respected
Hindu gentlemen in Karachi, and is a member of the
Karachi Corporation. Seth Atmarani, son of Seth Prilamdas,
another brother of Seth Naomtul, carried on busitiess in
grain for some litne, and his grandsons now are merchants
in iron and grain. The extensive family eslates arc still
managed by some of the family, Seth.Naonuil's- yoynger
son, Seth Thawardas, lived in Sind, and was %smgiatgcl with
his brother, Trikamdas, Mr. Alumal’s {ather, i1 the manage-
ment of the jaghir, or %&fit-fren’1estate, confetped by the
Government of Indid 69 Hecth Naomul and his heirs.

The Editor feels uigaﬁblafto' é{énalude Jhis pait of his
work without further méntion &f Seth Almnall,Trikamdas,
not gnly because this ﬁttﬁgwlumefwojlf %ﬁ%&%ﬁ&s@én ~.
the ﬁ%ﬁt had he nottassa youtlh, %ﬁ’éu* flewky thatriculatéd
at the Bombay University, takon’ it dotvn frodt lis aged
grandfather’s lips ; or because hehas for 1lie last {oriy-five
_years been one of the” Edifor's most esteemed personal
friends, hut on account of his™Bareer as a distingyished
educationalist, e was the first native of Sind who
took the ‘degree of B.,A, at ihe Bombay University,
He joined the Goverhment Fducatlional Dﬁpartﬁﬁnt on,
2Ist March, 1868. After asling very frequently as Hduca-
tional Inspector for the whole of the province, he Yetired
on his pension in September, 1903. ﬂ%ﬂ* .

-g ¥

! Seth Alumal's name i'ﬂi ﬁtrictl aﬁeakgg, A 1mnhz1:nt1",r thr; dlmiuuﬁ;e
derfe Goldsmid added the suffix

ﬂamﬁl lflnrtwhiczkla ‘;lﬁ.llﬂ'u,’ but 8 1;1 Tira G
mull * to make the name more dignificd, ‘Chercfore since his ont
;nt?{ the aervlce'*’?f Governmetit }i& has been ktiowit as ** Alutnal V inatngﬁ
of ' Alimchand,” the name by which Sir Bartle Frere refers to him,

-
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The followinyg table shows the progiess made in education
during Mr, Alumal’s tenwre of ollice up to the present time,
in addition to an Arts College :-—

’ 1807-G8.  1903-04, 191.4-15.
Gove) nment Tustdhions—

1Iigh Schools ce ve 2 3 3

Middle Schools | ro SN § 11 13

Lover Class Schools (IMumaiy and 41 667 889!
Indigenous)

Normal Sclipols . . . 2 2 o

Speécial Schools e N 3 3

Private Instiulyons on the system of payment
for vesilis—

ITigh &chools ' veo 1 5 Vi
Middle Class Scloolg . ..o i 21
Lower Class Schaols ‘e . I 738 811
Unnided Middle Class Helinoly b 1 3 3

Total .. 62 1,439 1,752

P il uldy i Tl — .

For many years ihere was no separate expeit liduca-
tional Inspector, the work being generally supeivised by
the Personal Assistant {o the Conunissioner, so that Mr.
Alumal was the real working head of the Departmend.
Conscquently the above fine results may fuiilly bhe atlri-
buted to Mr. Alumal's energy, One of his picatest
achievenmeiis was the iransforming of little private Muflas’
schools in Sind, at which only the reading of (he Koran
by rote was tlaughi, into ecfficient village sclicols. ‘I'lhe
initiative in 1at particular reform was duce 1o Mr, I1, P,
Jacob, a singula¥rly zealous officer of tlie Iiducation
Departwent, but ihe labour of carrying it out fell on Mr.
Alumal’s shoulders.

In 188¢ ihe title of Rao Bahadur was conlerred on
Mr. Alumal by the Viceroy, and the patent” was handed to
him al a public Durbar presided over by the Conunissioner,
when Mr. (afteawards Sir) John Jenkins, K.C.8.L, in intro-
ducing him spoke as follows :—

Lol TS R ARl Bw e H el —temrmmfery L oy B iy mrukde s

b Primay, # See Appendix XIV,

» »
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“ Mr. Alumal’s 21 years In Sind furnishes a record of integrity, good
“ gense and activity that has rarely been cqualled in this province, Ilis
“ geeurate knowledge of the sentiments and needs of the people of Sind
O hava made him a tower of strengih to the Iidncational Depnriment,
“The recent spread of educetion among ihe nomadic Jakhriyos of the
' Kohistan, the improvement whicl he has brouglit about in the er_luil?nw_nl,
““ teaching, and general efficiency of the elementary schools of Lhis distriet,
“ and especially in regard to the care and skill which arc nnwihnstmvml
" an the little children of the infant classes ; 1lie suceessinl solulion of the
¢ diffieulty of collecting fees which in severnl parts of Sind Mad made
" the authorities give up the struggle in despalt; the ilaste everywlere
“ springing up for school sports, These are some of the signs of progress
" which tmay be nanted as the fruils of Mr. Alnmal's energy and of his
" pemarkable tact both with his subordinates and ilhe people al large Lo
‘ whoge interests lie has so ahly devoled himself,

‘“ Tg not this a record of which anvone might well he proud ? Vet {1
“is doubtfnl whether anvone acquainted with the difficulties with which
“3Mr, Alumal liad to contend, can form an idea of the real value of his work,
“He had to encounter prejudice, apathy, and in many cnses loeal dis-
“ advantages, all of which he happily overeame by his lact, energy, and
" above all by that unfailing courtesy, the oulward sign of a kind and
“gympathetic heart, which has ecndeared hint to all, aud makes him a

‘* welcome friend whereyer he goes.”

On Mr, Alumal taking his pension the Government of
Bombay passed the following Resolution, on 4th September,
1903, under the signature of the Sceretary to Government, i—

“* Rao Bahadur Alumal Trikamdas Bhojvani, B.A., Acting Iiducational
"t Inspector in Sind, retires on pension ot e sih instand, after & service
Y extending over 35 yvears, During titds long period the Ino Bahadnr
“has held a position of responsibilily and of egpeeial diflienlly in the
“province of Sind, and his carcer s been mnrked by abilily, Loet,
“ uprightness of character and impartialily of adminisiration, whieh have
“won for him the good oplinion of all wilh whom he has heen hrought
“in contact, His Excelleney the Governor in Council desires to place
“on record his appreciation of the long, failhful and valunble service
" rendered by Rao Bahadur Alumal to Governmend,” ’

Mr. Alumal himself hag had three sous. His eldest son,
Seth Hashmatrai, was an able officer and a barrister, who
became a Deputy Collectbor in charge of a division, but he
unfortunately died in 1906, ‘The Commissioner, Mr.
Younghusband, recorded that he ““{ully appreciated the
great loss which the administration had sustained in his
untimely death.,” The second sont, Seth Bulchand, B.A.,
is now in charge of the very wild but important Desert
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portion of the Thar and Parkur district, and his third son,
Seth Kundanmal, B.A., LL.B., a batrister-at-law, practiscs
on the original side of the Bombay High Court, being also
sleilled in various techuical industries, such as metal-plating
and the manufacturce of glass, which arts he studied in
England after obtaining a technical scholarship from the
University of Bombay, although he was reading law at the
same time in the Middle Temple,

Mr. Alumal still draws, as third of his line, the pension
of Rs. r00 a month, which was granied to his grandfather
for three lives, and the usufruct of the jaghir, which is
perpetual, is entirely his own. Mr, Alumal states that the
jaghir is now fairly productive, though m the past it has
required large amounts of outlay in clearing away the
jungle, improving old canals, and constructing ncw ones,
Tts total area is 5,457 acres. After Hindu {ashion Scth
Alumal’s uncle, Seth Thawardas, the sccond son of Seth
Naomul, claimed a half interest m the Jaghir, though the
chatter limited the interest to {he first lieir male, and a
dispute arose which eventually was amicably settled, One
of Mr. Alumal’s cousins, Mr, Lilaram Gidumal, B.A,, is
at the present moment Deputy ISducational Inspector of
Karachi at a salary of Rs, 250 per mensem ; and another
cousin, Mr, Priblidas Lokumal, is also employed in the
Collector's Currency Office, On Mr. Alumal personally
has fallen the mantle of his grandfather, and he is always
a welcome visitor in the highest circles, official or private,

It was belore remarked that the surname Bhojwani,
which Mr. Alumal now adopts, is derived [rom his ancestor,
Seth Bhojoomal, whose history,is given 'in the early part
of the Memoirs, Tor many years past in the civil courts
and in the Universities of India, the old custom of describing
an individual simply by his own personal name and that of
his father, was found wvery inconvenicnt, and therefore all
farmilies of position have been encouraged to adopt a surname.
In Bengal and the Deccan old family surnames were always

in common use,

i |
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IN SETH NAOMUL'S OWN WORDS,

»

A GENERAI, Accounn or Sorm Naomur's TAMILY AND OF
HIS OWN EVENTFUL CAREER UP TO A.D. I87I, ‘I'RANS-
LATED INTO IINGLISH FROM HIS OWN RELALION IN 1'HE
VERNACULAR,

CHAPTER III.

Naomul's ancestry—Iahiti—Invasion of Nadir ‘ Shalhi—TLoot of
Schwan-—Assistance to captives fromm Mathura-—Bhojoomal-—Migrates
to Karakbunder—Tounds Karachi—Constructs fort—Xalhoras—Murder
of Rann Arjan—Cession of Karachi to Khelat—Expuision of Kallioras
by Talpurs—Talpurs beslege Karachi—Dharianamal assists Talpurs Lo take
ossession of Kaiachi—Privileges given to Dhatinnamal-—ITig friendship
withh Mir Karamali-—Vagheis' puacy—Wealth of Naomul's ancesiors
—Hinglaz—Severe famine—AzimIKhan'ginvasion—Division of Bliojoomal's
property—DBuried treasure—Lalmandas—Disputes in family—Mir Kara-
mali's intervention—Naomul's visii to Porcbunder-—Relooch body-guard
procured for the Rana—Dealls of TLalmandasg,

My ancestors were originally inhabitanls of Xahiri!
(between the town of Bhan® and the River Nara, about
five miles from the {former and onc from the latter), once
a very populous and [ourishing town in the Dadu ‘I'aluka,
Sind. One of my ancestors, Sajunmal by name, owned

1 Kaliri nowadays is a very small village, No vesliges of o Kalliora
town are now iraceable excepl al the village of Klhdabad in the vieinity,
(See nole on Khudabad in Introductiod, p. 8.)

* Bhian is a smalltowt of 1,426 inhabitants, situailed close to the Western
Nara, o 2 river, nnow o canal, which takes i1s rise in the Indus and termi-
nates in the Maunchur Linke, in the Sehwan Taluka, formerly ig the Karachi
districl, but now in the new districl of TLarkhana., During the annual
inundation, officers proceeding from Ilyderabad Lo Sukkur used to leave
ithe Indus at Sehwa, proceed up the Arnl River, through wlhich ilie Man.
chur Lake draing inlo 1the Indus, and passing up the Weslern Nara join
the Indus a counsicderable distance above Sehwan, Lhus avoiding ilic difficult
current of ile main tiver, The rice cullivation oun ihe Waslern Nara
is some of the best in Sind.

D



34 SETH NAOMUL IIOTCIIAND, C.8.1.

in tle vicinity of thai place, a large cstate in zemindari.!
He was besides a great merchant and banker, enjoyed a
good name, and great respect among the townspople. His
son, Nanukdas, exlended his commerce, increased liis
property in land, and lived in affluence. IHe placed his
goomashtas, or commercial agents, at Shal Bandar,” Tatla®
Sonmiani,* Beyla,® Shikarpur,® and Chandka.” TKarachi
did not exist then, Nanukdas married, and the first pledge
of that marriage was Bhojoomal.® When Bhiojoomal grew
up to be ten or twelve years of age his mother died, and
Nanukdas married a second wife, by whom he had three
sons, Kewalram, Hemra] and Bhagchand,

At that time people of the Chana and Panwahi® tribes
ruled in that part of Sind, and Kahiri was the seat of
Government in the Samtani Pargunna, In the sumbat

s gl B L G ey oy

! Land ownets of Sind, many of whom own latge arcas, arc called
zemindars, and pay the land tax direct to Governmeni, They cniploy,
on agreed terms, their dependents or fellow-tribesiien in cultivating the
different fields, generally for a fixed share of the produce.

? Shah Bandar, literally Royal Wharf, was one of the tnosl anclent
and important ports on the Hajamri mouth of the river Indus, but owing 1o
changes in the river it has for many years been an inland towu, six niiles
from the nearest water, and now only contains a population of 678 souls.

9 Tatta, population 8,069, Is the most fanous lown {n Lower Sind, at
the head of the Della, and identified by some with the anclent town of
Dehwal, which wag oceupiad by+ihe Arab invasion in the cighth contuy,
and it wag afterwards tlte headquarters of {he Jéniperor of Dellii's viceroy,
otte of whose sons, afterwards the Iimperor Shale Jehay, buill a fine maosgue
which Is stitl kept in repair. Tatta used to, be the pieatest mmket in Indin
for pearls, which were brought down by the Arabs Irom the Persian Gull,
and it was also the seal of facloties for valuable silk fabrics, ap industry
now alinost extinet, 5

4 Sonmiaui is a port in the Gulf of Oman, in the dominioys of the Khon
of Khelat, about fitty shiles from Karacli,

5 Beyla is the chief town of Las Reyle, a simatl State belongiug o o
local potentate called the Jam, a feudatory of the Xhan of Xhelat, about
fitty miles sorth-west of Karachi,

8 Shikarpur was the ancient capital of UpperSind, from which caravans
used to start Ior Candahar and Ceniral Asia, througl the Bolan I1’ass,
The British Army with Shah Shuja’s forces made it the starting-point
for the invasion of Cabul in 1830,

7 Chandka is a district in the north of Sind in the Shikayput Collectorate.

* For pedigree, see Appendix XVII, L

" Chana and Panwahr tribes, The Chauna, now a not very lmportant
tribe, owns lands in the Kahitl region, ‘I'he Pauwalr tribe ia spread all
over Sind, and the Chief of the Panwalrs {8 mentioned by carly listoriaus

08 a powerful personage.
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vear of Vikramadit 1781 (A.D. 1725) when Bhn]oc}mal was
sixteen years of age, he left Kahiri in conbcquence of
a disagreement with his step-mother, and coming to Sehwan
he raised a kafila (caravan) at the head of which he started
in search of fortune elsewhere,

In Upper Sind Seth Nanukdas’s firm, al Sehwan was,
after Bhojoomal’s withdrawal, managed by his cldest son
from the second wife, Sethh Kewalram, who also extended
his businhess greatly.

In sumbat 1779 (AD. 1723) Nadir Shali left Cabul
to invade India. The Khan of Khelat, Nasirkhan, the
Great, who was one of his dependents, accompanied him
with a large force, The Emperor of Delli, Mahomedshah,
quietly submitted., After a shiort stay at Delli, Nadirshah
marched lowards Mathura! where his army plundered the
country indiscriminately, as they were led on by religious
enthusiasm, and made many Bralhiins, males and females,
captives. Nasirkhan’s soldiers took the most prominent
parl in capturing the people of Mathura. On his relurn
Nadirshah came 1o Lahore and thence relumed o Cabul,
Nasirkhan took his leave of Nadirshah at Lahore, and
relurned to his country {hrough Multan and Shikarpur,
The report of the capture of the Bralunins of Mathuya by the
army of Nasirkhan had spread all over India, and the
news had reached the cars of my great-great-grandaunt,
Lady Takhtbai, {he wife of Seth Kewalram, the younger
brother of Seth BlLojoomal. Seth Kewalram liad brauch
firms of his own at Shikarpur, at various places in the
Kutchi,®and in diflerent parls in Sind, and at the desire of
Lady Takhtbai, his goomashtas ,;»11, Shikarpnr and in Kutehi
were writlen to, to liberate on the payment of a ransom
as many of the Brahmins as they could. ‘The [teedom of
a large number of the unfortunate people was thus purchased

. a -l r— 1—-1-'\-_.....--

1 "'.flnihmﬂ usially '-}pfilt Muttm is in the United Fmvlnuea 35 miles
north-west of Agra, thie stcue of the god Krishna's uumaementa and one
of the holiest of 1lindu places 14 Indin. IL is now a Beitish cautnument
and the chief town of the distiiet of the same nane,

2 Kulchi is Llie plain country lylug between North-enst Sind and the
Khelat mouniainus,




30 SETH NAOMUL, HOTLCHAND, C.8.1.

by the goomashias of Seth Kewalram on the payment of
Rs. 100 to Rs. 250 per head, and the liberated men being
supplied with provisions and expense for the journcy were
sent back to their homes in compliance with the wishes ol
Lady Takhtbai.

The present town of Karachi had no existence then.
There stood a town, Kharakbunder by name, a scaport
town, great in conmunercial renown, on the other side of the
tiver Habb,! and here Bhojoomal went and settled. He
had his own separate goomashtias placed at Sonmiani,
Gwadur,® Beyla, and Muscat? The agent at Muscat
opened branch firms at Bushire, Shiraz and Balrein.! In
course of time branch firins were established at Shah Bunder
and Lahoti-bunder,® then two important sca-port towns
in Sind, and trade with Surat, Porebunder and Malabar
was carried on extensively,

Kharakbunder was at the conflux of the Habb with the
Arabian Sea. After the lapsc of some time the entrance
to the port from the sea-side was choked with a collection
of sand, and no vessel could find adiission mto the harbour,
All vessels were then made of bamboo wood, kept together

by coir rope instead of iron nails.

—

Ll

* Habb s the river separating Sind from the dominions of thie Khan
of Khelat, and {alls into the sea aboul sixicen niles west of Karachi,

¥ Gwadur is o well-known port in the Gulf of Oman, on the boundotles
of Beluchistan and IPersia.

? Muscat Is a famous Areb port on the west coast of the Guif of Oman,
opposite Gwadur, It was once lheld by the Turks and was fortified by
;hﬂt Portuguese, whose guus may slill be scen on e batilenlenis of the

ort,
* Bushire and Shiraz are well-knowr Persion lowns, and Bahrein
comprises & series of islands famous for pentl fisheties,

* Lahori Bunder wag once a damous old port, contemporancous with
Shahbunder, situated amongst s nnmber of tidal channels conuected
with the Pittt mouth, the most northerly njouth of ihe Tudus, about
sixteen miles from ihe sea, and communnicating {hrongh the Gharo
creek with Karachi itself. Qwing, no doubt, to the silting up of crecks,
as was the fate of Shahbunder, it hias long been in complete ruins, but for
centuries was an importani place, and was visited by tlhe celebrated
traveller, Ibu Batuta, in the early pari of the fourteenth contury ; in fact,
it was then the principal port of Sind, {Sece page 7 of The Fndus Della
Couniry, by Col. M, R. Halg, 18g4.) It seewns to ﬁﬂ'ﬁf& lasted till the carly
part of the eighteenth century,
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The merchants felt much inconvenienced by the entrance
to the harbour being barred. Seth DBhojoomal then, in
consttltation with other leading men of 1he place set out
in search of another spot in the vicinity better suited for
mercantile putposes, whither they might remove. The
Karachi creek was preferred. There stood originally at
the head of the bar about zo to 25 huts of {isherten, The
spot was then called Dirbo, There was also a pool of water
close by which was known by the name of ‘ Kalacli's Kun "'—
“ Kun ” meaning a deep ditch, and Xalachi being the name
of a fisherman. Round ahout it grew tamarind and
(““ Timar ") mangrove trees. This spot was selected and
houses were built thereon, and cverything movable in
Kharakbunder was transferred and everybody removed
to Kalachi-jo-ghote,! or Karachi as it was then called. The
Manora? bar did not exist then; another bar above the
Baba Island,? now known as the * Nawa Nar,” or 1lie new
bat, was used for traffic, A ridge ol hills then barred up
the Manora entrance. About the sumbat ycar 1785
(A.D. 17209), the people of Kharakbuncder settled in
Karachi, At the suggestion of Bhojoomal, one Assoodamal
consulied Beebee Muradan on the desirability of fortilying
Karachi, ‘The suggestion being generally liked, timar
(mangrove) trees were cut down, and people set ahout
erecting a fortification of wood and mud, Foreign labour
was engaged to assist the people. All labourers received

P Lit: tlte village of Kalachi,
3 Manota 18 the rocky headland which Lounds the endrance 1o the

Karachi harbour on the wesl., Il Is now strongly forlified. A sandy
bar across the entrance to the harbour at the time of the Dritish ocoupalion
was a great danger and impediment Lo navigation, bul by the consixruction
of a breakwater from the end of Monorasi'oint, Lhie bar lins been eniirely

removed,
3 Baba Istand is a small island inside the mafu harbour of Xarachi,

and just opposite the island of Keamarl, on whick the main wharves liave
been established, which are connected with the mainland by a mole {hrough
the swamps, which was cotnmenced by 8ir Charles Napier, Seth Naonmui
apparetitly means {hal the present cutrance (o the harhour was not in
use at first, and Lhat the country vessels trading with Karacli found an
entrance Lhrough one of the small crecks al what is now the head of the

harbour and which are now never used,
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their wage in dry and wet dates brought down {rom Balrein
and Muscat. In a short time a goodly fort was raised, and
mounted with cannons brought from Munscat, The fort
wall included an area of 6o or 7o jirebs.! ‘The fort had two
entrances—the one facing the west was called the Xhara®
Darwaza, or the gate leading to the salt water; the olher
facing the north-east was called the Mitha® Darwaza, ¢.e.,
the gate leading to sweet water, All people lived within
the fort, which was on the outside surrounded by a jungle

of timar and thorny thuar® bushes.
The entrance of the harbour of Shalbunder was choked

up with silt drifted down by the Indus, in conseguence
whereof many people removed 1o Karachi, About this
time the Kalhorast quietly and even without the slightest
opposition took possession of Katrachi,

Tatta was also subject to the Kallioras and was governed
by a Nawab, The Nawab had in his employ a Jokhia® by
name Bijar. Tatta is an ancient place, and is said to have
been built by Kindo of the Swmna®tribe about 400 years ago,
and its magnificent ruins bear stfficient testimony of its
past greatness, Lahori-bunder and Sakra Daraja’ were ruled
by a Hindu prince, Rana Arjan, The Kallhoras, naturally
envious of this, wrote to their Nawab at Taifa to get the
Rana killed, and take possession of his domains. ‘The
Nawab consulted Bijar Jokhia. He underiook to take
the life of the Rana, who did not keep a strong body-guard,
Bijar Jokhia was an acquaintance of Seth Bhojoomnal, and

— TAY T gl el i TR

1 Tireb is nsnally taken as {he eguivalent of half an acre,

7 Khara meauns salt, and Miiha tneans sweel—ihe gates facing the sen
and the Layaree river, on the gouth and north regpectively.

2 Thuayr is the thorny wild caper tree,

4 Kathoras, sez Introduction,n. 3.

 Jokhias are the anclenti I!e]I’nuull Lribe owning most of the deserd
country between Karachi and the watered part of the Della, They owned
large herds of camels, and it wag principally throngh {hem, as we shall sce,
that Seth Naomul obtained camels for 'BIL‘ irausport of the British arnuy,

¥ Suma tribe, a Rajput tribe which n]ﬁ{mm*m] to have ruled in Sind
from 1351 to 1521 AD, It seems probable that Talla, especially if it
:-irlas% identﬁcul with the medisya) D&%mal, existed many centuries before

at epoch,
7 Towns in the north west of the Delta,
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obtaining a loan of money from him he embatked for
I ahori-bunder from Cliftonn Point to the south of Karachi,
in company with 80 Jokhias from the Mallir)! whom he
got to co-operate with him., Rana Arjan was at that time
at the village of Rata, whither he had proceeded on a huniing
exctirsion, Rata was an island spot. Thither, during the
dead of night, while the Rana Arjan was fast asleep lu his
tent, fjt up with lamplight, Bijar Jokhia (and his men)
swam over on bladders, holding swords in their mouths,
and falling upon the Rana despatched him,

Rana Arjan had no issue, and so Bijar could easily take
possession of his territory, This done he reported himself
to the Nawab of Tatta, who gave him a dress of honour,
and nominated him the chief man of the Jokhias, and
bestowed upon him the title of Jam.?

In an engagement with the Kalhoras, Jarak Khan,
brother to the ruling Khan of Khelat, was killed, and in
recompense for his blood, the Kalhoras ceded Karachi to
the Khan of Khelat. Karachi was soon after garrisoned
by Khelat men,

Seth Bhojoomal had four sons, viz.,, Seths Dharianamal,
Lalmandas, Thakurdas, and Bulramdas, ‘They were all
stalwart, robust men. Seth Bhojoomal died in sumbat
1838 (A.D. 1782-3). The four brothers lived on terms of
perfect amity and greatly cxtended their mercantile

¥ Mallit is o hill stream about twelve miles storih-cost of Karachi, and
from wells in its bed the town of Karachi now cnjoys a plentifol supply
of pure water. ‘The village of Mallir is the Imm‘ltllunrters of the Jam of
the Jokhias, and containg a number of gardens, with palma aud vegetables
irrigated from the river or from wells—a very plensant sight in a thiraly

desert; iract.
# Jom. is an ancient Iindu title, the origin of whicl Ig disputed. It

{s borne by several pofentafes in Sind and (e coundries adjoining, and Ig
always coufined to & ruler or clhief of en imporiani {iribe or staie, The
ruler of Las Beyla, o fendatory of Xhelat, jusl across the horder from
Karachi, is known as * Jam.” In the wvery norlh of Sind, on the
boundaries of Bahowalpur, the greal zemindar of Ubatiro in ihe Rolrd
district, is called ihe Jami. The Malharajah of Nowanuggur i3 wesiern
Kathiawad, well known 1o modern Iinglislunen as Prince Ranjil Singhji,
the famous cricketer, bears algo the {itle of Jam, and hia state and capital
are a8 well known by the name of Jamuunggur as by the rightful one of
Nowanuggur,
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transactions. Goomashta Giddoomal, by name, had been
sent to Bombay in sumbat 1805 (A.D, 1749). “This man in
connection with the Bombay branch iraded directly with
Bengal and China. The agent (Goomashta) at Muscat,
Hasrajmal, carried on an extensive irade with DPersia,
Bassorah and Bahrein. There were agencies cstablished
at Cabul, Candahar, Herat, Kliclat and Cashmere.  Seth
Dharianamal passed his days in princely comiort; Seth
Ialmandas! attended to the duties of a merchant,

The Talputs through their leader, Mir Bijar, snatched
Sind out of the hands of the Kalhoras in sumbat 1840
(A.D. 1783-4). The last battle fought betwecen the Kalhoras
and the Mirs?® was at Halani-Bhelani,® in which the former
were defeated. Mir Bijar was killed by men cmployed
by JTodhpur and was succeeded by Mirs Fatchali,* Gulamali,
Karamali, and Muradali, who ruled jointly,

Before the Talpurs became rulers of Sind, Mir Karamali
and Seth Dharianamal were on terms of great friendship.
The Kalhoras after their defeat fled to Candahar and
obtaining aid from the ruler of that place, they invaded
Sind with the assistance of Candahar troops commanded by
Madad Khan. The Talpur Mirs souglt refuge in Umerkote,
The first town in Sind ravaged by the Candaharis was Scliwair,
The house of Seth Xewalram who was then at Schwan was
plundered, and much hooly obtained. A Pathansuspecting
a beam in the ceiling of the house to be hollow pierced it
with his long lance, when 1,500 gold mohurs ran down.
The ground was thereupon turned up, and {he Pathans

al Y ] - JEN— o -y

1 From the time of Seth Talmandas the mercanille liouge was knowit
by his namie Lalmatdas down to Seth Nnomul's owa tine.
~ * Mir and Amir are both titles judicating Chief, T%e Amir means the
king, and the title Amirs of Sind, whenever uged, means the corporate
riling chiefs of Sind. Each Amir, however, would ordinarily be known,
in common parlance, by the simple appellation Mir, which would also be
ElPPliEd to every relative however distant, whether a ruler or not. Mir
is used also for important offices, g.g., Mir Moonslii is the chief native official
in a British Officer's vernacular establishincnt.

3 Halani-Bhelani is in the Kandaro Taluka towards the norlh of ilie
Hyderabad district. ¢

‘ Mir Fatehali, see page 4 of Introduction.
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cartied away all that they could find, Madad Khan merely
plundered the country and retired without doing anything
further to assist the Kalloras in regaining Sind.

Seth Kewalram fled from Sehwan towards the hills,
But the days were hot (it being the close of Chet (April), and
Seth Kewalram died from the effects of sunstroke. After
KRewelram's death, his younger brother, Seth Hemrajmal,
took ypon himself the management of his affairs. Seth
Kewalram had about 400 goomashtas, or agents, in different
places. All that Seth Kewalram possessed at Sehwan had
been plundered. Nevertheless, collecting such of Seth
Kewalram's assets as were with his goomashtas, Seth
Hemrajmal started business afresh as a rich merchant,
Seth Hemrajmal had {our sons, viz.,, JThamrai, Tharoomal,
Teekchand, and Khushaldas,

In about sumbat 1848 (A.D. 1792-3) Mir IFatehali sent
an army of Beloochis to the number of 15,000 men for the
capture of Karachi, These came well armed with cannon
and shell, and encamped on the other side of the ILayaril
and along the gardens (to the north-east of the town).
Karachi was then subject to the Xhan of Khelat, but it was
ill-garrisoned. The inhabitants lived all within the fort,
which was on the outside surrounded by a jungle of timar
and thuar trees, The invading army of the Talpurs was
led by Mian Fakiro and Palia. Cannon were fixed against
the fort, the walls of which were manned by the ryots and
500 fishermen, and mariners belonging to the ships of my
ancestors, under the guidance of one of my forefathers,
Seth Balramdas, The canuon balls and gunpowder made
use of in the defence of the town by Seth Balramdas were
obtained from our own godowns,? wherein there always
lay a store of ammunition for the use of some of our mer-
chantmen, The invading army lay before Karachi for

* Iayari is a river which flows into ihe Karachi harbour, bui, is always
dry except on the rare oceasionsg when the rainfall bristgs down a flood,
Wells, however, can be dug in the sand and sweet waler obtained,

# Godown ls & storeroom or warehouse, believed to be derived from a
Malay word,
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exactly two and a half months; all the inhabilants kept
within the fort walls. They had ample provisions within ;
and the entrance to the town from ihe sea-side being more-
over left open to them, they did not experience any siress
on that account. During the period, however, the people
could not obtain water from the bed of the Layari, cither
for culinary or drinking purposes; and they had 1o be
content with the brackish water of the wells within the
fort, After the expiration of two and a hall months the
Belooch army of the Mirs gol wearied of the siege and
withdrew.

Again in sumbat 1849 (A.D. 1792-3) Mir Iatehalilthan
sent another force against Karacli, which also encamped
along the Iayari, and the garden quarter, and opcned
their guns on the fort of Karachi, Then, too, Seth Balramdas
as before defended the town at the hecad of the ryot and
the mariners belonging to his own ships, and answered the
fire of the enemy with the ammunition in store for his
vessels, This time the siege lasted three months, after
which the Belooch soldiers withdrew as before, and returned
to Hyderabad.l

Again in sumbat 1851 (A.D, 1794-5) in the month of
Srawan, g third army composed of about 20,000 fighting
men were sent by Mir Fatehali for the capture of Karachi.

Mir Karamali and Seth Dharianamal were (as has heen
stated) on terms of friendship. He iherefore wrote to
say—'' It has come to our knowledge for certain that the
““ Khan of Khelat has no garrison in Karachi. e is too
“ weak to carry on warfare, Wehave learnt with regret {hat
"“you have opposed our men, and that il is you who have
" employed the ammunitiont intended for your ships against
"“our troops, whom you have thus iwice defeated in {heir
“purpose and whom you have compelled to retire dis-

Bl A N N e A T -

! Hyderabad is the principal town in Sind after Karachi, and was
made the capital by the Kalliora kings and then by the Amirs of Lower
Sind. It is one of the few places in Sind where tlte limestone rock comes
through the soil, and ot this a stiong forl was constiucted, which was uged
as an arsenal by the British after the expulsion of 1he Talpurs,
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“appointed. We, too, have long been old {friends and
“belong to the same part of the country. It does not
‘ therefore behove you to act against us,”

The letter went on io say much more to the same
efiect.

Seth Dharianamal thereon despatched two or three
messengers to the Khan of Xhelat, and informed him {hat
the Mirs had sent armies twice for the capture of Karachi,
and that on both occasions with much toil and {rouble he
had stcceeded in driving them back in discomfiture and
saved Karachi; that the Mirs had sent a third army against
the town and the people felt themselves unable 1o hold out
longer, that the town was subject to him, and he should
send more troops for its defence, The Khan wrote in reply
to say —

“ I am unable to carry on any watrfare, nor can I command
‘“any army for the purpose. If you can defend the town
‘““well and good, or else you are not to blame,”

Thereupon Seth Dharianamal sent a letter to the address
of Mir Karamali, and entrusted it for dclivery to his con-
fidential servant, Ifakira, the headman of the DBahramee
Belooch.! The epistle stated :—

“It is 1rue we have long been friends. I shall be glad
““to respect your letter, but I would request you to agree
““that when Karachi is surrendered, no Belooch soldiets,
““who are 2 wild and unruly class of people, shall enter the
““town, and that 1he Nawab, whom it shall please you to
“appoint shall act wilth our advice and shall not oppress
“4the ryots.”

Mir Karamali wrote in reply that hie agreed to the con-
ditions proposed by Seth Dlarianamal, and promised to
direct the Nawab, likely to be appointed to represent the
Amirs at Karachi, 10 lake his advice in all matters and
consider him as the de facio master,

! Thisis a clan of Baluch Jats, or camel-breeders, also called Birahtnan,,
who inhabit Dhumach and Thana Arab Khag, in the hill country of the
Numriag to the north of Xarachi,
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In sumbat 18350 (A.D. 1793-4) Mulla Shafee Alikhan
ruled Karachi as the Nawab of thie Khan of Khelat, IHe was
a bigoted Mussulman, and once altacked a Hindu temple,
know as the Daria Than, and erected a mosque between
the Daria Than and our houses. This led to a scullle between
the Hindus and the Mussulmans,

Seth Lalmandas, my grandfather (paternal) was a man
of muscle and daring, When the Moslems attacked the
Hindu temple he made straight towards the idols kept
therein and brought them away all safe. Alflter this event,
Seth Dharianamal wrote to the Khan of Khelat informing
him of the tyranny exerciscd by Shafec Alikhan, whereupon
Shafee Alikhan was dismissed by the Khan, and Haji Sadu
was placed in his stead. He was in office m sumbat 185z
(A.D. 1794-5), when the Amirs sent their force the third
time for the capture of Xarachi, Seth Dharianamal
informed Sadur of what the Khan of Khelat had written
in reply to his communication, and pointed oul to him
how disastrous it was to his mercantile interests to continue
the struggle, but that he (the Nawab) could oppose the
invading army if he pleased. Haji Sadu expressed his
inability to fight, and desired to be sent to Kelat in safety,
Sethh Dharianamal gave him a strong escort, and let liim
go to Khelat.,

The army of the Amirs continued all this {ime firing
shells into the town, A few balls did some mischiel, hut
the Commanders, Mian I'akiro and Palia, soon reeccived .
instructions from Mirs Fatehali Khan and Karameall Khan
to desist from fighting, and to act in counsultation with
Seth Dhatianamal, as they had come to an understanding
with him, .

Thereafter in sumbat 1851 (A.D. 1794-5) on the 1xth of
the month of Badh (12th Bares) Seth Dharianamal took
the keys of the fort gates to the Commanders of the army
of the Amirs, Seth Dharianamal sent his servant, I'akiro-
khan, the headman of the Bahramee clan, in advance to
Fakiro and Palia to inform them of his intention to visit
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them, and they therefore went out to meet him and received
him with great respect. Seth Dharianamal handed over
the keys of the Mitha and Khara Darwazas 10 Mian Fakiro
and Mian Palia, who promised to let no soldier enter the town,
as they had received orders to that eflecct. Mian Ifakiro
and Palia accompanicd Seth Dharianamal back to the
town, and after inspecting for a short time the “ raised
platforms '’ erected for Government sepoys, they visited
Seth Dharianamal’s otak! and there partook of sherbat,
and refreshed themselves with rose water, and then returned
to their camp,

Aiter a Nawab had been installed and a hundred sepoys
of the Karmati Beloochi clan® were appointed to guard
the town, the army returnied to Hyderabad.

Mirs Fatehali and Karamali were much pleased when
they heard of the surrender of XKarachi, and Mir Ifatehali
proposed to Mir Karamali thal Seth Dharianamal inight
be allowed to receive a fixed share of the revenues of
Karachi, as o mark of distinction, or that he might be granted
a remission of duty on all merchandise imported by him.
Seth Dharianamal was accordingly written to by Mir
Karawmalikhan, but he declined to take any share of the
reveune, saying that people in general, or the Khan of
Khelat might think that he lhad betrayed the town fromn
considerations of personal benefit, Mir Iatehali, however,
. gave orders for the remission of one-third of all excise duty

on the Seth's trade, and of the land tox on his gardens, and
permitted him to cxtract liquor for his private use at his
own distillery, a privilege which his family had enjoyed
from the time of the Kalhoraseand cven duriug the rule of
the Khan of Khelat., The intercourse between the Amirs
and the Seth was gradually strengthened, and after a short
time the Mirs asked the Seth to visit Hyderabad, He was

—

4 = M= rsy b = - e gl =

1 Otak, a merchant's private residence, a8 distinet from his office,
 Karmali Belooch clan. “This important Belooch clan inhabits the

Mirpur Sakro Taluka, which is the porilon of the enltivated delta lying
nearest to Karachi,
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received with great distinction and numerous valuable
tpresent’s were exchanged. The Selh remained at Hyderabad
for a month and then returned to Karachi.

From the sumbat year 1850-1831 (A.D. 1793-5) the
Vaghers of Gomtil and Beyt! began to infest the scas and
capture and plunder any vessel they could lay their hands
upon. In connection with the head firm at Karachi plon,
my family owned 50 to 60 native crafts of all sorts and
sizes which plied between the different ports on the western
coast of India, and visited the shores of Arabia, Persia and
Beloochistan. Besides these they, of course, owned various
ships, European vessels included, in conncction , with the
branch firms at Muscat and Caleutta, Ifor fear of the Vaghers
ecach vessel was furnished with cannon, ammumition and
other implements of war, The smaller vessels carried each
three guns, the bigger ones from 12 to 15 guns eacli, about
6 feet in length. One of our ships, “ Lakhmiparsad ' by
name, was once upon a time while returning from Malabar
on a voyage homeward, attacked by several Vagher ships
as it neared Porebunder. The * Lakhmiparsad' was
manned by numerous Jokhia sepoys and the Vaghers were
worsted in the fight which ensued, Many of the Vagler
people were killed, and three of their vessels with several
Men were captured and brought to Karachi, whore we
hailed the trivmphant arrival ol ‘ Tamkhiparsad ™
with joy atd offered thanksgivings. ‘Lhe Vagher chicf
of Gﬁﬁlti:, being informed of the occurrence, wrote to my

1 Gomti (otherwise Dwarka) and Beyl are very lioly Ilindu places at
the extreme and inaccessible north-west corner of Lhe Kathiiawad peninsula
and the Vaghers, who like the Tjmgs of old are semi-Maliommedaniset
Hindus, a fine bold race, were for many years noled for thelr piracy along
the coast, and for thelr invasions and plundering of Lownsin Xathinwad and
Cuteh, Between 1807 and 1873 the British Government were competled
to send mauy punitive expeditions againsl tliem, bul of recent years thicy
have been tranquil, The small district of Okhamandel where thoy reside
tes always paid tribute to the Gaekwar, Since the Vagher rebellion
n 1857 during the Mutiny, the British have been compelled o occupy it,
18 the Gaekwar could not keep order, and from {hat timme an Assistaut to
the Regident at Baroda has been permanently siationed there with a
'aﬁpﬁny of a Bombay native regiment and a apecially raised Okhamandel

attalion,
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grandfather to solicit the freedom of his men, It was the
custom of these pirates to exact a sort of tribute from every
vessel sailing on the waters of the Indian Ocean along the
western coast, i return for which they furnished each
tribute-paying vessel with a kind of passport, a certificate
enabling it to ply ou the seas without molestation {rom the
Vagheys, The Vagher chief now promised to forego his
right to levy tribtte, or to demand a passport in the case
of all ships belonging to our family, and sailing under ouy:
certificates. His tertns were accepted, and a {reaty drawn
up accordingly was obtained with his signature. The
imprisoned Vaghers with their vessels were thereafter
released and sent lhome,

The increased pivacy of the Vaghers attracted the uotice
of the British Government in the sumbat year 18061
(A.D. 1804-5), when their sirongholds al Beyt and Gomti
were both attacked and captured. Gomtii and Beyt were,
however, sacred Hindu places of pilgrimage, and wete,
therefore, at the solicitation of the Gaekwar of Baroda, made
over to him on his transferring Ahmedabad! to the British
Government. It was thus that the large city of Ahmedabad
came under Bnglish sway.

In sumbat 1861 (A.D. 1804~5) Mir I'atchali Xhan died,
and Mir Ghulamali Khan obtained the twrban (f.6, sue-
cecded him as the ruling chiel of the house of “Lalputs).
He ruled wiscly, :

—— —_— ~— ——— e A - - o R o o oy o -
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1 Ahmedabad. ‘The statenient that Ahmedabad was made over fo
the British by the Gaekwar in cxchange for the holy places in Okhnnadel
is Inaccurate. During the dissoluilion of thie Moghml Ympire ol Delhi,
the province of Gujerad, of which Ahimedabad was Llie capital, was inyaded
and captured by Mahratia marauders under Damaji Gaekwar, ancestor of
the present Goekwar of Iaroda, The Peishwa of PPoona, as leader of Lhe
Mahratta confederacy, demanded one<half of his conguests and securad
a wmoiely of the cily of Alimedabad as well as of the other territories, but
hie leased his share of the city to the Gaekwar from 1804 to 1§14,
Later, I 1817, the Gackwar gave u.%} Lig shave {n -ihe city in
exchange for some of the Peishwa's tervitory nenr Barodn, Thug the
Peisliwa’s rights became extended over tlie whole city, and in 1818,
after his atlack on the DBrilish, aud deleat al the Dbattle of IKirkee,
orn November pth, 1817, Alhmedabad, with the rest of his iérritory,
lapsed to the British. & :
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In sumbat 1868 (A.D. 1811-12) Mir Ghulamali died,
and Mirs Karamali and Muradali became rulers of Karachi
and of the rest of Sind. Mir Karamali and Seth Dharinnamal
were great friends and constantly exchanged presents,
which Mir Muradali however inwardly resented,

Seth Bhojoomal had four sons.  Of these, Seth Thakurdas
died in sumbat 1856 (A.DD, 179¢-1800), leaving loyr sons,
viz.: Veroomal, Himathsing, Nenoomal and Nekoonial,
Seth Dharianamal had two sons, Seth Motiram and Seth
Odhanmal, Seth ILalmandas had only one son, Seth
Hotchand, Seth Balramdas, too, had once son, Seth Lachiram,

The members of the family acted in perlect concord,
which secured them great honour and influcucee, and their
whole conduct of alfairs partook of the appearance of a
petty government, They possessed o comutnon store-
house for provisions of all kinds, teuts ol sorts, and {urniture
of variety., A commodious stable contained forty horses
and mares of the best breed. In a separate courtyard
‘were reared deer, hares, rabbits, peacocks, pen-hens, with
pigeons and doves. The annual private expenditure of the
household at Karachi amounted to Rs, 40,000 inclusive of
what wds paid to the goomashtas,

In sumbat 1862 (A.D. 1805-0) some of my ancestors
went on a pilgrimage to Hinglaz.! They were acconmpanied
by their families. People of the town to the number of
about 2,000 men went with ithem, At Hinglaz they spent
large sums of money in charity and in feeding Brahmins
and Fakirs. They remained absent [rom Karachi for about
two and a half months, and acquired such renown on account
of their liberality that Bhats and Brahmins chanted tleir
benevolence in songs especially composed.

Prior to 1862 (A.D. 1805-6), Seth Hotchand was bhlessed
with his eldest son Pritamdas and I (the writer of this) was

* Hinglaz, a sacred Hiudu shrine, very diffieult of accesy, in Makran,
twelve niles from the Arabian Sea and aboul sixly miles from Karacl,
the furthest place east outside of India to which plous ITindus ara allowed
to travel without becoming oulcaste. A small temple is dedicated to
the goddess Kali.
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born after him. In sambut 1864 (A.D, 180%-8) we were
blessed with a third brother, Parsram, and in 1867
(A.D, 18r0-11) a fourth son, Toolscedas, was born to Feth
Hotchand. In sambut 1868 (A.D. 181i1-12), Seth
Balramdas expired. IFrom the close of sumbat 1808
(A.D. 1811-12) to the close of sumbat 1869 (A.D. 1812-3),
a severe famine visited Hallar,? Cutch and Matwar and
the sufrounding country, and great scarcity prevailed,
The business of my ancestors had by this time so much
expanded that they owned firms at about 500 different
places. During the famine, people of Hallar, Cutch, Marwar
and Gujerat collected in crowds everywhere in Sind.  About
this time I was of age enough to understand and remember
things. Such was the scarcity of grain that with bags of
silver and gold to command, people fell a prey to hunger
from their inability to procure corn. In Sind grain of the
inferior kind, such as jowarce, nangli,* and barley, 1oo,
could not be had at even three or four seers a rupee, and
people died in numbers, My ancestors, Seth Dharianamal
and Seth Lalmandas, had granarics full of corn, and feeling?
that there could be no better opportunity for the exercise
of their charity, they began to give away corn gratis to
people, Irrespective of caste or creed, whether Iindus,
Mussalmans, or others—to all who expressed their need—
at one seer by weight of Bajree-or rice per head per diem,
The corn was distributed at the back door of their kothi
(house), and the work of distribution lasted from morning
till late at night, Many well-to-do people, forced by utter
necessity, went veiled to receive grain in charity. And
the Seths being further informed that many respectable
families were unable to get corn*though willing to pay any
price for it, and that these felt ashameced to take benefit
of the Seths’ charity in open daylight, or even at night,
for fear of being recognised by the light of the lanps that

3 Hallar is the westorn portion of ihe peninsula of Kathiawad,

' Nonghl (Eleusine Coracana), a kind of conryse millet, known throughout
India under various names. It is cultivated only in poor sterile lands
where better crops will nol mature,

i




50 SE'H NAOMUIL HOTCIAND, C.8.1,

were kept burning at the granaries, ordered all lights
to be put out in future, and a seer of corn to be
given to whosoever should hold out his or her hands
to receive it,

Thereafter many rich families, too, whom their wealth
could not procure corn, availed themselves of the Seths’
charity, Being informed that many a house consisted of
widows and of helpless old decrepit persons who cotild not
stir out, my ancestors ordered a month's provisions to be
sent to the houses of such people in advace,

In Upper Sind many poor people of Cutch and Hallar
exchanged their sons and daughters for corn, The agents
of my ancestors, too, purchased eight or ten persons and sent
them down to Karachi, Here they were, however, brought
up with care, and were liberated when they came of age
and were able to earn their own livelihlood. ‘The severity
of the famine lasted for about seven or cight months, after
which Providence extended His Dblessings and there was
plenty.

In sumbat 1868 (A.D. 18r1-12) Mir Ghulam Ali, the
turbaned chief of Sind, breathed his last. Before his death
in sumbat 1868 (A.D., 1811-12) we visited Hyderabad to
celebrate the nuptials of Seth Motiram, son of Dharianamal,
accompanied by over 500 men from Karachi. During our
stay at Hyderabad, Seths Dlarianamal and Ialmandas
paid a visit to Mir Ghulamali and I went in their company.
I distinctly remember to this day tlie conversation that
took place between them and the Mir,

After Mir Ghulamali, Mirs Karamali and Muradali
jointly ruled Sind, Mir Ghulamali left behind him a son,
Nur Mahomed! by name, wlio doubtless received the turban,
but being a minor his uncles ruled in his name and as
regents. *

I

* Mir Nur Mahommed, who died in 1840, was ihe son of Mir Murad Ali,
He was the principal ruler of Hyderabad and Lower Sind, with whom
Sir Henry Pottinger and 8ir James Ouiram had uegotiations relative to
the British ariny passing thirough Sind in 18309. Mir Ghulam AlPs son
was called Mir Mir Mahomed Klan,
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Sind was subject to Cabul and Candahar (Afghanistan),
and paid an annnal tribute of Rs. 900,000 (nine lakhs),
The agents of the Mirs of Sind were stationed at the court
of Cabul, and their appointment conlinued (ill the {imec
of Shah Sijawal Sadoojai! After some time a dispute
rose hetween Shah Sijawal and his vaziers, Falchkhan® aud
Azimkhan, of the Barckjai tribe, The Shah having caused
the eyes of Fatelikhan to be put out, a bitter quartel eusued,
which ended in the defeat of Shah Sijawal and his flight to
Loodiana for protection. Vaziers Fatehkhan and Azimkhan
were the sons of Vazier Paindakhan., Paindakhan had in
all 17 soms. Fatehkhan was the eldest of them all
Azimkhan was born after Fatehkhan, the other fifteen were
all younger than Azimkhan, These extended iheir rule
from Herat to Cashmere, and to the outskirts of the
Punjab.
~ In sumbat 1871 (A.D. 1814-15) Seth Hotchand was
blessed with another son, Sookhramdas, In sumbat 1873
(A.D, 1810-7) my elder brother Pritamdas and mysell
wete Dolh married and the Seths proceeded to Sehwan to
celebrated the ceremonies. About 200 camels and 8o
horses accompanied us. It took us three months to come
back to Karachi, and the celebration of the marriages
cost my ancestors a large sum of mouey,
~ Ia sumbat 878 (AD, 18x8-1g) Scilt Hotchand had
another son, Gopaldas.

In sumbat 1867 (AD, 18r0-1T) Vazier Azimkhan of
Candabar marched to Sind with a large arnyy. He came up
to Yarkana unopposed. Here he was, however, met by the

1 Bes| knowin Lo the British as ShaleShuja, .

: Vazier Fotebhkhan was Dlinded and brutally nmmrdered in 1818 by the
then King of Cabul, Malomed Shah, a hrolher of Shall Shuja, wha had him-
solf some years hefore fled to Caghntere and afterwards Lo T,oodhiang, where
he Lecamie a Brilish pensioner.  Shab Shuja was the feeble ex-king whom
Lord Auckland endenvoured {o replace on the {hirone of Cabul in 1839-40,
but lic was murdered the moment {he British disasters began., After
. Shal Shuja’s firsl expulsion, ihe Talpur Mirs appear to have successfully
evaded payment of the tribute which the Cabul kings {from Nadir Shalb's
time downwards used to exact, bul Shah Shuja obiained ibree lakhs of
rupees, or £30,000, from lhem in 1833,
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Amirs, and having received nine lakhs! of rupees as tribute,
he withdrew satisfied. Soon after, affairs in Khorasan®
grew worse, and the Sikhs under Ranjit Singh rose to power,
Phis monarch conquered Cashmere (in' the north) and
extended his arms to Mooltan in the south. After this the
Mirs of Sind discontinued to pay any tribute cither to the
ruler of Khorasan or to the Sikhs,

In sumbat 1872 (A.D. 1815-16) Lady Parpibai, the wife
of Seth Bhojoomal, died ; and in sumbat 1873 (A.D, 1816-17)
the four brothers, souns of Seth Bhojoomal, divided their
property among themselves in equal shares and were
separated. ‘The property within doors, houses and buildings,
ships and firms, were all divided in four cqual shares, each
of the brothers receiving one for himself, After this every-
one traded separately on his own account, One firm
alone, the firm at Muscat, which carried on an extensive
trade 'with the Persian Gulf, Bussora, and Bushire, under
the name of Seth Bhojoomal, and a Furopean ship, which
.was the property of that firm, were allowed to remain
as anmmon property.

In swmbat 1877 (A.D. 1820-21) Seth Dharianamal died,
Towards ti"e close of the same year, 1877 (A.D. 1820-21),
Seth Hotcha'nd had a seventh son, Ickhrajamal, born.

When the ‘Seths, the sons of Scth Blojoomal, divided
their property, he cash of the days of Seth Bhojoomal
was dug out of tthe ground. Iive or six matas (carthen
pots that could hold' gach three Bengal maunds of molagses
or jagree) full of gold waohtrs, sitaramis® and ancient silver
coins remained buried iy a house near our lodging, known

1 T,akh = 100,000, . n o mem—
2 Khorasan proper is the east¢ern pottion of Persia between Alghanistan

and the Caspian, but {u Sind it Klesiguates genterally wihat are now knownt
as Afghanistan and Beloochistan Khorasan as used by Seth Naomul hag
that meaning—the country of wlmfch Candahar was the principal town,
 The Sitarami, Identical withd the ' putlis” in Poong and Weslemn
India, is & Venetian gold coin sigill curreni in Makray, but used in {le
Deccan as ornaments for women's Jtiecklaces, Al the present day they are
manunfactnred by Hindu jewellers{, The terin also includes miscellaneous
small gold colns, Ramais o welll-known IHndu god and Sita was lis wife,
?ﬁlﬂ tléeitﬁlutltls supposed the fligures ot the Venetian coins to signify
Q&g aeiries,
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as Seth Khoobchand’s godown. ‘T'he ground over was
covered with five hundred maunds of * gugar’ gum,
besprinkled with water and beaten into hardness, The
ground had become so hard that it took one 11‘1{}111:]1 for .
twenty men to dig out the pitchers,

Qut of the four brothers, sons of Seth Bhojoomal, thwe,
viz., Dhananam'ﬂ ’I‘hakmdas, Balramdas, departed from
this world in course of time, Seth Ialmandas, my gr ands |
father, who survived them, possessed great skill in trade
and was on that account well known throughout Sind.
All his thoughts were given to trade, which he greatly
extended and which brought him immense gain.

Seth Dharianamal left behind him two sons, Seth
Motiram and Udernamal, Seth ILalmandas had only one
son, Seth Hotchand, who had seven sons, as narrated above,
Seth Thakurdas had four sons, Vercomal, Himathsing,
Nenoomal and Nekoomal, Seth Balramdas had only one
son, Seth Lachiram, who never had any male issue, and
died leaving behind an only daughter.

The descendants of Seth Ialmandas betook themselves
to irade. The descendanis of the others gave themselves
up to pleasure and luxiiry, leaving their aflairs 10 be managed
by their agents. This indiscretion entailed severe losses.
They withdrew all their deposits with Gidoomal, the manager
of the firm at Bombay, except Rs. 50,000 (lifty thousand),
wiich they allowed to stand over in the name of Seth
Bhojoomal, .

Gidoomal died soon after, and his two sons, Gulabrai
and Visramdas threw up the agency of the Seths and
traded on 1ileir own account. ‘They opened firms up
to Cashmere, Bengal and China, ‘They traded well {or
three years when their business stopped, and the sum of
Rs, 50,000 deposited with their father in the name of
Seth Bhojoomal remained unpaid.

' Gugar.! This accordin g to the Sénd Gazeticer, 18 the Fagt Indian
myrrh of cmlmlerce obtained from balsamodendron, indigenous on the hills
of Sind. The quuntit nsed on this oceaslon must have beencxtraordinarily
ilﬂf I:?t iBu&Iecl and the water mixed with chugam (plaster), & hard cuuurute
s ohtaine
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In sumbat 1874 (A.D. x814-18) Scth ILalmandas was
deprived of the benefit of eyesight, and X, Naowmul, ever
since attended upon him constantly, When I was cleven
vears of age I was entrusted with the writing of the daily
book, and the general management of the business of the
firm at Karachi. From six o’clock in the evening to abott
ten at night daily, I wrote out letters of business to the
different agents. The correspondence was carried "on in
Hindu-Sindhi, Punjabi and Gujrati chatracters, and covered
about twenty sheets of paper at a time,

The mercantile business of Seth Lalmandas greatly
increased in course of time. “The descendants of the other
three brothers betook thetuselves to pleasure and catrusted
their business, as has been said above, to their goomashtas,
and thereby sustained heavy loss. This naturally excited
their jealousy, and Seths Motiram, Vercomal and Iachiram
began to quarrel with Seth Lalmandas.

The goomashta who managed the Muscat firm was
named Premrai, ‘This firm, as related above, carried on
business in the name of Seth Bhojoomal, and all the brothers
had interest in it in common. The goomashta finding fit
opportunity, instigated Seths Moliram, Veroomal and
Lachiram to pick a cause for quarrel. They charged Seth
Talmandas with approprialing three other pitchers (mattas)
full of gold and silver which, they alleged, lay buried in
another room {of the same house from which five or six
muts (pitchers) were dug out. They asserted that Scth
Dharianamal passed his days in comifort, that Thakurdas
died as eatly as sumbat 1856 (A.D, 1799-1800), and Seth
Balramdas, known for his hravery, being not much skilled
in letters was indifferent to the family concerns, and had
also passed away in 1868 (A.D, 1811-12), so that he (Seth
Lalimandas) was the sole manager of the affairs and trans-
actions of the family. They were completely in the datk
about their ancestral property, and did not understand
how the division had been effected., ‘They therefore
demanded from him an account of all the property afresh,
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Seth Motiram wrote to Mir Karamalikhan to complain
that his uncle, Lalmandas, who managed the joint firm,
would not render him an account. Out of regard for his
old deceased friend, Seth PDharianamal, the Mir ordered
the officer in charge of Tatta, Hafiz by name, to go down
to Karachi 1o settle the dispule. On his arrival Seths
Motliram, Veroomal and ILachiram, advauced various
charges against their old uncle in a manner the most un-
becoming, to relate which would occupy a separate book,
But suffice it to say that the matter was uliimately referred
to the Mirs in person, and we sel out for Hyderabad carrying
with us five or six camel loads of account papers (daftars),
commencing from sumbat 1820 (A.D. 1465-6). My father,
Seth Hotchand and myself went thither to answer their
accounts. We visited Mir Karamali, He seated both
Seth Motiram and Seth Hotchand on the same cot! with
himself, and passing an arm round the neck of both he
addressed them thus :—

“I decorated Seth Dharianamal’s head with a badge
“of gold. It is my desire that I should bedeck your leads
“ with diamonds. Do not quarrel among yourselves, If
‘““ either of you [eel greedy of money, I have ample in my
‘“stores to bestow. Take what you like, but do not {all
“out among yoursclves,” Seth Motiram felt a little
ashamed at this, and Iie requested that the Panchayet?
be desired to examine their Daftar in the presence of Nawab
Wali Mahomed I,agaree® Mir Karamalt then replied ;—
“You seem 1o have lost all sense of shame, although I
“feel ashamed on your account, and since it is your desire
““ T shall ask Nawab Wali Mahomed to arrange for the inspec-
"“of your daftar.”

A place was appointed where the IPanchayet met {or
full six months for the examinalion of the daftar. At

1 This was an act of extrenie condescension,
4 Jury of arbitrators, ‘The word also betokens the Council of Hindn

elders in the city.

8 Nawab Wali Mahomed Lagarec was, al the time of the British conquest
during the early part of the nineleenlh cenlnry, the Mir's principal Vazier,
a man of great capacity and much respected by the Inglish as well as by

all the Sindhis,
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the expiration of that period the arbitrators passed an
award in favour of Setlis Motiram, Veroomal and Lachiram,
and desired that the affairs of the Muscat firm be wound up
and settled privately.

We then returned to Karachi, but Seth Motiram and
his cousins did not feel satisfied with the award, and in
sumbat 1882 (A.D. 1825-0) we had 1o revisit Hydcrabad,
when my old grandfather also went with us, Mir Karamali,
on seeing him, was much allected with the state of his
eyesight, and severely scolded Motiram, telling him that
his conduct was opposed to the good namie of his family,
Motiram would not take his advice, and courted Mir Muradali’s
favour, whom he gained over to his side by prescnts of
Roomee (Constantinople) guns and other things of cxecl-
lence, But the dispute was not withal brought to a close,
and we returned to Karachi at the end of six months,
bringing with us a number of questions for adjustment
and settlement. Again in sumbat 1884 (A.D. 1827-8) my
father Seth Hotchand and myself had to go to HMyderabad,
in obedience to an order from Mir Muradali, demanding
my father’s early presence there, on a complaint preferred
to him by Seth Motiram, A great deal transpired there,
but suffice 1t to say that, ultimately two of my brothers-in-
law, Diwans* Hiranand and Hagsaram and two sons-in-law
of Seth Motiram, Diwan Kansing and Diwan Amubrai of
Khrypoor, who was then at Iyderabad, feeling agpgrieved
at the heavy expenses that cach party had incurred, hicld a
consultation among themselves and resolved to interpose
and to settle all disputes amicably, At their request,
therefore, we took leave of Mirs Karamali and Muradali
and crossed over to Kotri® where they promised to com-
municate to us their decision, Late at night on the banks

-

* Diwan is an honorary title, applicd generally in Sind 1o respected
Hindu officials ; officials of less rank are called Moonsis,
3 Kotri is on the right bank of the Indus, about four or five miles from

Hydetabad, formerly an important wharf for the trangport of goods
for Karachi, angd, uniil the railway was extended to the Punjab, was the
headquarters of the Indus Steam Flotilla,




MEMOIRS, 5%

of the Indus after a deal of parley with each party, they
requested my father to bestow on his cousins Rs. 42,500
(forty-two thousand and a half) in consideration of their
relationship and reduced condition. My father relurned
a {lat refusal, and said that he would not give even a penny
not due, Then tutning towards me they solicited my
interference and assistance. I felt much embarrassed, and
greatly agaiust the wishes of my father and at the risk of
incurring his displeasure and anger, I passed them a promis-
sory note for the amount in my own name, and agreed to
liquidate it by instalments, We were friends again, and
returned to Karachi, messing together on our way back,

In sumbat 1877 (A.D, 1820-1) I was blessed with a son
who, however, did not live long. In sumbat 1848
(A.D. 1821-2) Seth Pritamdas had a son who was named
Siroomal. He had two daughters bhorn {0 him, one in
sumbat 1880 (A.D. 1823-4), who was called Uchalbai, and
another in sumbat 1882 (A.D. 1825-0), who was named
Pevand Bai. In sumbat 1879 (A.D. 1822-3) my daughter,
Bagee Bai, was born, and in 1881 (A.D. 1824-5) I had
another daughter, Otambai, In sumbat 1884 (A.D. 1824-8),
while we wore still at Kotri, on our return to Karachi after
the settlement of the dispute, we were congratulated with
+he news of the birth of a second son, named Atmaram, to
my eclder brother, Seth Pritamdas. As we drew nearer
Karachi and arrived at Mallir we received the glad tidings
of the birth of my son, Trikamdas.

In sumbat 1885 (A.D. 1828-g), Sircomal, the elder son
of my brother Pritamdas, died of smallpox, According to
the usage prevalent among Hindus, my grandfather,
T,almandas, desired that some tne should go to Dwarka—
the celebrated holy place—to perform certain rites in con-
nection with Siroomal’s death. There were many others
present who could be sent, but my grandfather selected
me for the purpose, telling me that he had himself been on
a pilgrimage to Dwarka in sumbat 1842 (A.D, 1786), that
since then he had not found it possible to visit it again,




58 SETII NAOMUI, HOTCHAND, C.8.1.

and that although I had much Lo attend to at home, T might
run up for a short time to bathe in the holy waters at Dwarka,
A kotla {a double-decked wvessel) by uname Hoarungas,
belonging to the firm at Porebunder was equipped, and I
set sail for Dwarka. Trom Dwarka wvia Gomii I wvisited
Beyt, which is also held sacred on account of a Hindu
temple there, i
While I was at Beyt my grandfather sent me an express
with a kossid! in a small fishing boat, telling me thai his
agents at Bahrein had informed him that the Itoofie® pirates
had set out to cruise in the (Arabian) Sea, and that I should
take care of my ship, and should not start for Karachi
until I heard from him again, that il I wished, T might
return to Karachi by land, vie Mandavi® (Mudai), or that
I might go over to our firm at Porcbunder* and stay ihere
for 2 month or more until further news {rom Bahrein. Iwas
much delighted with the letter, it was the very thing I wished
for, and on the same day I set oul for Porebunder. When
I reached Porcbunder, I was heartily welcomed, the people
having received me with the eclat of a joyful procession.
We owned a firm at Porebunder for over a ceuntury.
The customs revenue of Porchunder was {armed out for
three lakhs of Rana Shali koris® a wyear, and our firm

t A courier or special messenger,

2 Itoofie, otherwise spelt Tiltobee, ig the name of the Arab tribe wlich
conguered the isionds of Bahrein, and the peard fisheries In 1779 or 1784,
and were held under allegiance at varions tiines o Muscat and Persin, In
1867 the Persians threatened Balrein, and in 187 ilic Turks ; Lut British
Interference now maintains the islends as independent.

8 Mandavi is an important seaport town {n the soullt of Cuich,

1 Porebunder, an important harbour and stale In the soutliof Kathiawad.

® Kori {s a small rvgme of varying value, coined by different native
states In Kathiawad and in Cutcland usually considered as worlh a little
undeyr or over one-quarter of the British rupee, which at this period was
worth a little maore thau 28, but Is now only worth 1s 43, In Cutch
379 koris, and in Porebunder oo koris were equivaleni to 100 Imperial
rupees when the Bombay Garefieey was writien In {lic year 1886 but the
then Rauna of Torebunder ingeniously added (o his reveune by iusisting
on taxes being paid in koris, and stoully refused to mint a suilicient
supply so ihat the lax-payer had to purchase them over and ovet again
from his treasury at a high premium. Korls were miuted at yderabad aud
were rﬂbabgr like the korl of Cutch. 7The exclionge with British rupees
varied a good deal according to the siate and fineness of the native coin,



MEMOIRS. 50

- alone contributed about forty thousand korees annually
on account of ifs traffic, This may give an idea of 1he trade
'cgrried on by our Porebunder branch,

The name of the Rana of Porebunder was Parthiraj,
who at that time resided not in his capital but in a {ort
at Rana-Vah, & town only four koss! distant {rom Pore-
bunder, As soon as the Rana was apprised of my arrival
at Porehunder, he sent for me and I went over to see him,
He received me very kindly and expressed his joy at my
visit to Porebunder. I stayed with him at Rana-Vah for
three days when he permitfed me to depart, telling me that
a certain medicine was being administered to him, and it
would take him fifteen days more to return to Porebunder,
where he would be delighted to have my company.

The Rana relurned to Porcbunder at the expiration
of fifteen days and lodged in his palace, Trom five o’clock
in the evening to past half-past seven the Durbar met,
whither i1 accordance with his desire I daily went., The
Rana sat on his throne, to his right sat his brother Rana
Ramsing, to his left was seated Bauobha, ilhe hrother of
Moti Bhai, the Rajah of Gondal, who had in a fit of anger
left his brother’s court, and then resided wilh Rang
Prathiraj. My seat was appointed next to Ramsing, the
Rana's brother? The Durbar was attended by about
seventy-five or eighly persons who all sat in regular rows,
Two dancing girls of Hindustan held a naulch® at Durbar
time, and all people present were treated with a spoonful
of opium,* which was kept there in a plate, I was pressed
to partake of it, but I declined, when the Rana ultimately
offered me with his own hand a quantily of dry opium

.
g

1 Koss = two miles. ,
2 ‘The coremonions ireatimentl accorded to Seth Naomul at Porebmnder

and Cuteh is o marked indication of the esteetn and respect in which he
and his family were held.

8 Nauilch is an exhibillon of Indian ballel girls,

4 This may have been a spoonful of bhang, a preparation of Indian hemp,
intoxicating if taken in excess, but in small quantities considered an excel-
lent febrifuge and refrigeralive. It is greatly wsed in Xathiawad on cere-
monial pccasions,
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resembling the seed of the lotus (Pabni) in size, which I
could not refuse, This was every day offered to me, and
to please the Rana and the company I put it in my mouth
and let it remain in the hollow of my check untiil the Durbar
was dissolved, when I spat it out. DBut the essence was
generally swallowed, and what I threw out ultimately was
foreign matter and dregs.

One day the Rana sent for me in private, and told
me that his principal manager at Porebunder was one
Otamchand Gundi, a Banya by caste, who recetved thirty
thousand koris (equal in value to Rs, 11,000 In current
British coin) annually as salary, and that {rom a regard
which he professed towards me, he wished to bestow his
(Utamchand’s) place upon me. And he further asked me
to procure him the services of twenty-five trustworthy
Jokhias? as his private bodyguard, Accordingly I wrote
to my grandfather, Seth Lalmaudas, who sent down twenty-
five of the Jokhias who were i1 our own cmploy, He did
niot wish me to accept the Rana’s offer to me of the place
of manager at Porebunder as it would have necessitated
my absence from him., HHe therelore dirvectly sent our
“Monim % of Bombay, Narumal, who had then returned

to Karachi on leave, and my younger brother Darshrom,
to fetch me bhack.

The Rana appointed the Jokhias I got lor him as his
bodyguard and they watclied his sleeping apartienls
by day and night., The eldest consort of the Rana had
grown jealous of him. She had an only son and she wished
the Rana to abdicate in his favour ; but the Rana would
not agree to it and wished her to wait for some time, ‘Lhis
brought about a disagredment between them, and the

1 Jaklhias, sec note, p, 38, Natlve chicfs in westorn ITndin, and indeed
as far as I—I.}rdeynbnd in the Deccan, were accustomed 1o hilre Beloochis
as mercenaries, just as King Lonis XI, hiied Scotsuten, and they somelinies
becdme the tyrants of the iuler's enlonrage. They were generally known
to Iinglish officers ag Makyanis, from Makran, the name given 1o the
Beloochistan coast of the Gulf of Qmuan.

¥ Monim means a clerk,
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Rana constantly entertained fears of life at her hands and
he desired to have some trustworthy servants about his
person,

When Parshram and Narumal arrived with strict injunc-
tions for me to return without delay, I went to wait upon
the Rana and told him that I was subject to my grand-
father, and must, therefore, go to see him, and that although
T very nftich desired to accept the Rana’s offer of the place
as his ““kamdat,” agent or manager, I could not help going
back to Karachi for some time: that at Karachi I would
consult my grandfather about his offer and try to obtain
his permission, and that if the Rana also wrote to him in
that connection, I should be glad to return. Having obtained
the Rana’s leave and bade him farewell, Parshram, Nariunal,
and myself re-embarked for Karachi, where we arrived on
the Cheti-chand! day after having spent four months and
a half at Porebunder, at my departure from which people
to the number of a thousand or more accompanied us to
our ship with music beating to bid us farewell., Rapa
Prathiraj presented me at my departure with gold bracelets,
gold necklaces of sorts, and shawls of wool and silk, and
my brother Parshram with a pair of gold bracelets and a
silk shawl, All the time at Porcbunder T lived happily.

While still at Porcbunder I was informed from Katrachi
that Mir Karamali Khan had breathed his last in the month
of Magh, sumbat 1885 (A.D, 1828-g), On arrival al Karachi
I kissed the fect of my grandiather and acquainted him
with the state of our firm at Porebunder, as T had gleaned
it from the account books. He felt much rejoiced. In
sumbat 1886 (A.D. 1829-30), during the month of Pol,?
my wife and children went to S¢hwan with the rest of our
[amily to celebrate the nuptials of my brothers Parshram,
Toolsidas and Soockhramdas. I stayed behind at Karachi

v Cheli-chand means ihe day of the New Moo, at the close of the month

of Phalgun, and is the Hindu New ;Veat’s Day.
* Poh, or Puosl, I8 the tenth month of the Mindu year, genetally

falling abont January.
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with my grandfather, In the month of Veshak my family
returncd, having peirformed the marriage cercmonies with
greal, eclit, TIn sumbat 1880 (A.D. 1829-30) in the month
of Jeth, Seth Odernamal, the second son of Seth Dharianamal,
died. A month later Setlt Molitam, the fi1sl son ol Dharia-
namal, also expired. In sumbat 1887 (AD. 1830-31) on
Vid 5th (Pancham) in the month of I'agun, my grandlather
Talmandas died a most wonderful death, suchh as®I never
saw of heard of before, He sullered {rom anirritation in one
of his eyes. On the morning of the Vid Pancham of Ifagun,!
while he was smoking his chelam, or water-pipe, we perceived
that e was fainting, the pipe being drawn into his mouth
with the breath that he diew. We then asked him if he
would like to bathe, to which he replied, * Well as you
please.”” He was accordingly, in obedience to Hindu custom,
washed clean and laid upon a bed.2 I then gave him handfuls
of rupees, mohurs, and sitaramis to bestow in charity,
He held the coins in his hands, felt iheir weight and then
returned them to me for distribution. Fundreds of people
came o see him, and he answered 1he queries of all inn a clear
voice and distinet tone, Alter a shoit time he hade all
others to withdraw {rom the room where he was lying,
gsave myself, Himathsiug atnd owne Baharmal, Jamadar
Allah Rakhia, the chief oflicer of 1lie Amiis at Karachi,
came soon after to offer him his respects and 1o enquire
after bis health, Allah Rokhia stood in the open courtyard
outside ihe room where he lay, and my grandiather
answered him in a loud and distinel accent, “‘Lhank you,
kind sir, 1 beseech grace of thie Almighty.” No sooner
had Jamadar Allah Rakhia left, {han i1he ball of his eye,
which was affected, rolled wround and changed 1o a petfect
ruby colour, and in a momeni he ceased to be, uttering holy
words as he passed away.

wen T

i ‘———

1 That is the fifth day of the dark lLalf of the ingon, in Phalgun, the
last month of the Iindu yeat, which gencrally falls about Match.

" Probably a clerical etror for carpet, as dying Illndus are alwaye
placed ofi the floor,
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The funeral expenses incurred in honour of his death
covered a large amount, DPeople of all classes, Hindus
and Mussalmans, and of both sexes, were fed 1egularly for
a period of two months., The Hindus came and ate at our
place, while the Mussalmans wete served with meals at theit
own lodgings., Various people from different parts came
to condole, who were all {reated, and provisions were sent
to peoplr residing in the vicinity of Karachi up to the Habb,
Mugger Pir! and Mallir, =

! Mugger Pir 19 a well-known swamp fed by hot springs of reputed
medicinal value, about twelve miles noiith of Karachi. Adjoining it is
the shrine of Pir Manugho, an ancient Mehomuednt: saind, which is visited
by many pilgrims, The swamp is filled withh huge alligaiors, or mugpers,
and hence the name hag been changed by the English from Plr Mangho
};} Ml}gge)r Pir, (Sece the late 8iy Richard Burion's description in Swmnd

suisifad.
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CHAPTER IV,

Moslem riot—Attack upon Hindus—Seth Hotchand, Naomul's father,
sent for to Iyderabad—Parshram escapes—Brutael Ill-treatment of
Hotchand-—Takes refuge in Cutch—Appeal to Mir Muradali-—Defeat
of Amirs by Shah Shnja—Winding up of Calentta firm-—Sir Mexander
Burnes—Obstructed by Amirs—Capt, Carless’ visit—Naomul saves him
‘from Nawab—Survey of the port—Colonel Pottinger agks Naomwml to
provide camels and supplies for army at moutli of Tndus—Jam of Jokhiag—
Cuatram’s meeting wit]I; Naomul at Gharo—Collection of transpori and
supplies by Naomul—Visit to British camp at Ghorabari—Interviews

with Pottinger, Eastwick and Keane—At Bamnikote,

In sumbat 1888 (A.D. 1831-32), the son of one Kanda,
a Hindu labourer of Nussarpoor, was treated with some
severity by his (Vajha) teacher, under whom his father
had placed him for education. The boy in disgust ran
away from his father’s house, and went and stood by the
door of a Musjid (mosque) situated in the quarter now occu-
pied by the washermen. Some ot the Moslems, observing
the boy, persuaded him to enter the musjid, and kept him
within. Incensed at this, the Hindu shopkeepers of the
town closed their shops! against the Mussalmans, to ,whom
they would not sell anything, ‘The Moslems to retaliate
polluted the wells m the bed of the Layari from which
the Hindus obtained their supply of drinking water, ‘I'he
next day one Sayed Nooral Shah walked through the bazaar
and passed by our mahla (dwelling quarter) using obscene

} The closing of shops is a common method by which Hindus, upon
whom the population mainly d&]laend for thelr nccessaries, show tllmir
dislike for any unpopular act. The Editor, whe was District Magistrate
of the Ahmedabad DMstrict, rem¥mbers this was done in the lown of
Dholka, as a protest H‘fﬂﬂﬂ the sacrifice of a goat at the well-kuown
Mahommedan festival known as the Bakri-ead, 1lius preventing the
Mahommedans from purchasing the finery and grocerles needed for the
feast, Remonstrance being of no use, the Mahommedans retalinted by
sacrificing & cow, an act which to the Hinduas was the greatest possible
sacrilege, and then a riot began, At Surat, the Hindus on at least two
occagions closed theitr shops 8s a demoustration against the Govermment
for unpopular alterations in the Salf tax, or the introduction of an Income
Tax, attd grave riots were the result.—ED,
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and scurrilous language. My vounger brother, Parshram,
who was at that time standing at the outer door of the
mahla, mildly remonstrated with the Sayed against the
use of indecent words and his uncitizen-like conduct and
total want of regard and good manners, An altercalion
enstied, and Nooral Shah growing enthusiastic in the cause
of his religion declared that Parshram had abused him and
the prophet. Crowds of Moslems gathered together,
inspired with frantic zeal and breathing vengeance. ’T'he
Hindus, too, mustered strong and designed different plans
for action, At this juncture Syed Nooralshah visited Tatta,
Shali Bandar, Mathiari, Halla and Hyderabad, working
excitemnent wherever lhe went, and soliciling co-operation
and aid from every true believer of the faith in the name
of the musaf (Koran), which he held forth. ‘The news
spread throughout Sind and the whole province seemed to
be lit up with one blaze of religious fire. All the Mussalmans
seemned to make one common cause, and the Hindus, too,
rallied together, My brother Parshram by this time with-
drew from Sind to Jessulmere,! The Moslems assembled
in large numbers at Hyderabad, raised a clamour, and
prevailed upon Mir Muradali to address a firman® {o Seth
Hotchand to send up his son Parshram to Hyderabdd,
Parshram was nol at Karachi, therefore Seth Hotchand
himself proceeded to Hyderabad accompanied by about
two thousand Hindus in obedience to another firman {rom
Muradali, direcling his presence in the absence of his son.
The firman was brought by an escort, who conveyed to
the Seth assurance of safety from the Mir, and offered
to conduct him to the capital. The Mussalmans got wild
and unruly, but Mir Muradali repressed them, and would
not allow them to lift their hand against Scth Hotchand.
The Moslems, however, fottnd access to Mir Muradali’s
daughter, who was married to Mir Mir Mahomed, the heir

el

! Jessulmere is tlie chief town of an important native state in Raj-
putane, adjoiuing the western confines of Sind.
' Firman ineatls a royal order,

)
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apparent to the turban,' and won her over io their cause
by supplications and entreaties, She was induced to go
to her father with the Koran in her hands to solicit his
countenance, He could not refuse her, but desired her
to tell the Mussalman syeds to desist from all violence
at Hyderabad: that he would refer them to the Pir? of
Nussarpoot,® and there they might do what they pleased,
All, therefore, tepaired to Nussarpoor accompanied by
Syed Zulfkar and Alishah on behalf of Mir Muradali. The
Mir's representatives were, however, bigoted Mahom-
medans, and were privately at one with the other Moslenis,
At Nussarpoor the Kazi refused to listen to the Mahom-
medans or to permit a discussion at his place, as he saw
the Mussalmans were bent on injustice. The Mosléms
were, however, strong in numbers and growing more violent
fell upon the Hindus and forcibly lifted away Seth Hotchand
from their midst. Returning hurriedly to Hyderabad,
where they stayed a few hours only to iake a boat, they set
sail for Tatta and Bagani, a town in the Shah Bandar
Division,* whither they went to lodge in the house of Man-
looshah, who was related 1o Nooralshah and was known to
be a bigot. A period of {en or eleven days elapsed mean-
while, and Seth Hotchand did not taste of food on a single
occasion, All that he lived upon was a hand{ul of parched
grain, chanas,’® secretly given to him by a very faithfual
servanl of ours, Paroo by name, who followed him every-
where in disguise, and under an assumed name, May it

1 Son of Mir Ghulam All, the second of ihe ¢ Char Var,” 8ee Iniro
duction, page 4.

2 Pir, a saint, or holy man.

3 Nussarpoor s abouf sixtecn miles north-cast of Hyderabad, Populy-
tion about 4,500, close to the Zesidence of the great and influential
Fagari Nawabs. This town, which {s very ancient, is supposed. to have
been built in A.D. 989 by one Naslr Muhaua. It has three lombs of
considerable repute and of solid construction, the inaterials being burnt
glazed brick with stone foundations. They wete erected aboiut 150 yvears
ago, chiefly in honour of one Muhammed Shah, and an aunual fair is held
there, which is attennded by some thousands of Mahommedans, There ate
three Pirs of note residing in this town.

4 In the south of the Delta,

5 A kind of pulse,
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however be related io the praise of my father, that he never
allowed his spirits to droop or his courage to fail him, He
bore with calm humility and undaunted patience the
fatigue and hunger of full ten days, during which his ouly
food was baked chanas (Bhogras), and his beverage the
water of the Indus. Knowing full well that ihe Moslems
would not let him escape, he wenl along with {hen: boldly
wherever they took him. At Bagani the Mussulmans
began to meditate upon his conversion to Islamism by
force, But it was against the Koran to circumcise! a man
of his age, as he was past fifty, and being partly afraid of
the consequences they waited to consult on the best course
to adopt. Mir Muradali was in the meantime apprised of
their intentions, and not knowing what might be the end, as
the Hindus from one end of Sind to the other raised a general
cry against the violence done, and the Rajahs of Kutch
and Jessulmere had expressed their sorrow al what was
being done in Sind, he repented the step he had taken,
and directly sent express injunctions to Ghulam Hyder
Chhangani, the Nawab of Tatta, to liberate Seth Hotchand
from the hold of the Moslems, and take him back with him.
to Hyderabad withoul delay.

Ghulam Hyder accordingly proceeded at once to Bagani,
and having liberated Seth FHotchand took him back to
Hyderabad where the Seth re-arrived, as already stated,
after the expiration of ten or cleven days from his forced
depariure fromm Nussarpoor, having during the interval,
for ihe sake of preserving his failh intact, undergone the
worst altacks of hunger and sulfered various wrongs at the
hands of the Moslems who wished him to taste of their
food and eat out of their dish? I{ was only on his return
to Hyderabad that he first partook of food which was
cooked by a Hindu servant whom he directly engaged in
his service,

1 Though it is generally believed iliat the rite of circurucision 15
compulsory for Mahommedans, il is noi mentioned in the Koran at all
as necessary for either old or yonng, It was popularly believed in Sind
that the outrage was actually commitied upon Seth Hotchand..—Ebiron.
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When Mir Muradali heard of Seth Hotchand’s arrival
at Hyderabad, he immediately called him in his presence
and asked him “ What do you wish {to do) now? " To
which he replied, ‘I have no desire now to rejoin the woild,
and wish to pass my days as a Soofce Fakir.,”? Muradali
expressed sorrow at the resolve, and left him to take what
cotlrse lie pleased, Having thereupon obtained permission
to depart, he went and lodged in a house (otak) helonging
to one Sijawal, a kashkili® of the Mir, which was lying vacant,
We had hundreds of people at Hyderabad related Lo us.
They wetre all the time hovering about Seth Hotchand's
residence, and had privately arranged with Mir Ghulamali
Khan Pairoze, the respected father of the present Mir
Khan Mahomed of Ghulamali-ka-Tanda, for his {light.
Mir Ghulamali was friendly towards Scth IXotchand and
sympathised with him on account of the friendship which
his ancestors professed towards Seth Kewalram ; and he
desired that if Seth Hotchand’s friends could manage
to take him only to the banks of the I'uleli,® he wottld under-
take to place him beyond the power of the Moslems of Sind.
Accordingly on the night of the same day that Seth Hotcliand
obtained permission of Mir Muradali to lead whatever life
he pleased, after darkness had advanced the {riends of my
father succeeded in taking him under a disguise to the
other side of the Tulell, Mir Ghulamali was in wailing
himself, and long before daybreak lie conveyed him in
safety to the village of Rahan in the vicinity of Mir Malomed
Khan's Tanda. ’There and then he got an cscort of trust~
worthy people ready to convey Seth Hotchand saie to
TLakhpat,* whete we had our own firm and many agents,

= "

1 Soofee Fakirs are Mahommedan spirituatist agcetics, and in India
form a small but degraded class. Probably Seth Hotchand meant that he
would hecome a Hindu ascetic or Jogl,

* Kashkili, an hereditary servaut, born of a domestic slave.

 Fuleli is a small branch of the Indus, now converted into an impor-
tant irrigation conal which flows past the town of Hyderabad and irrigaics
large arens as far as the Rann of Culeh,

1 Lakhpat, the most northerly port of Cuteh on the Korl branch of
the Indus, ﬂd;fﬂiuing tlie Sind-Deltg country,
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Qur principal goomashta was Karamchand Mulhani by
name, who commuuicated to the Rao of Cutch every little
news that he got concerning Seth Hotchand., When the
Rao! was informed that the Seth was being conveyed to
Lakhpat, he wrote to his principal Kamdar at the place
to keep in readiness on the banks of the Xori, on the Sind
side, a boat well provisioned with ealables and water, and
with twenty-five sepoys to convey Seth Hotchand to
Lakhpat on his arrival, Seth Hotchand was accordingly
received with great honour and distinction on his arrival,
When Mir Muradali and the Moslems of Sind heard of Seth
Hotchand’s escape to and receplion at Lakhpat, they
blushed, and the Mir displayed as great a sorrow as one
feels at something valuable suddenly slipping out of one’s
hands, From XKarachi we sent Gulabrai, the son of our
principal monim at Bombay, Gidoomal, and others to
meet Seth Hotchand at Lakhpat. My brother Parsram
too, having obtained camels and men from the Raja of
Jessulmmere, went down to Lakhpat afier the lapse of some
time, Trom Lakhpat Seth Hotchand went on a pilgrimage
to Narainsar,® and spent large snums of money in charity,
and in feeding the Brahmins and other Hindus of the place.
From Narainsar my father returned to ILakhpat and
remained for ten years superintending the business of the
Laklhpat firm. The preliminary expiatory rites cost us
more than a lakh of rupees.

We owned a firm at Calcutta from a long time. One
Nibhoomal Motoomal was the principal monim or manager
of the firm, In sumbat 188g (A.D. 1832-33) he purchased

! The Rao was a pious Hindu, qud would sympathise with a co-
religionist who was the victini of Moslem tyranny, especially a man of
such high position and repute as Seth Holchand,

¢ Narainsar, a celebrated place of pilgrimage on the north-west of
Cutch, congisting of a raised sandstone rock covered with magnificent
temples, separated from the mainland by Lidal swamps, situated 81 miles
north-west, of Bhooj it the Kori entrance to the Great Rann of Cuich,
Adjoining is another very holy place, Koteshwar, ot a similar rock, which
is mentioned by the Chinese traveller, Hioven 7Thasing, in A.D, 64o0.
Both places are laxgely resarted to by pious Hindus for purification pur-
poses from Sind, Cutch, and adjoining countries.
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a Furopean ship known as the Abgris and placed it under
the command of an Eaglish captain, one Rogers by name,
who received Rs. 400 a montl as salary. Under the captain
there was a mate, also an Inglishman, who drew monthly
Rs. 250, There were besides various other servants of
grades in this ship. The captain was accompanied by his
wife, an Englishwoman, The ship plied between China
and Java, and at times took merchandise to Bombay and
other places on the Malabar coast.

Mir Muradali expired in the month of Assu sumbat
1890 (A.D. 1833-4). Before his death, while he was yet
in his senses, he gave expression to the following thoughts,
which weighed heavily upon his mind :—

““1 do not hope to survive now, but I shall carry with
““ me the sorrowful remembrance of the permission granted
““by me to Shah Sijawal? to take up quarters at Shikarpur,
“where I appointed him a lodging after his wvisit to
- “Hyderabad from Loodhiana ;
< “ond—The treaty entered into by me with the British
‘“ Government, which if I lived I should observe {aithfully,
“but which I doubt that my successors will he able to
‘“ respect or maintain ;

““ 3rd—The inability to effect a settlement with regard
“ to my sons.’””

The Mir breathed his last two or three days afier he
had given utterance to his feelings as related above, After
his death Shah Sijawal acquired power and influence at
Shikarpur, ‘This frightened the joint rulers of Hyderabad—
Mirs Nur Mahomed, Nasitkhan, Mir Mahomed and Sobdat,
and they rashly marched against Shah Sijawal at the head
of a large and pompous”army, They were encamped
onn the banks of the Indus, near Rohri, when Samundar
Khan, the Vazier of Shah Sijawal (Shuja), went to oppose
them with the whole strength of Shah Sijawal, numbering
in all 8,000 men of the Rohilla and Khorasan Pathan tribes,

} Better knowit as Shal Slfuja,.
? Hia sons were Mir Nur Mahomed and Mir Naslr Klhan, They
divided the rule after him and lived amicably.
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In an engagement which took place on the Sukkur side
of the Indus, the army of the Mirs, consisting of 50,000
fighting men was put to the rout. This event, the success
of Samundarkhan, and the defeat of the Talpurs, is too
well known to require a detailed narration,

In sumbat 1892 (A.D. 1835-6) Vercomal, the son of
Seth Thakurdas, died. In sumbat 18g2 (A.D. 1835-6) we
celebrated at Karachi at a large cost the nuptials of my
brothers Gopaldas and Toolsidas, the latter marrying a
second time, his first wife having died.

Towards the close of the sumbat 189z (A.D. 1835)
Lieut.-Col. (afterwards Sir Henry) Pottinger,® paid a visit
to Hyderabad, when I made acquaintance with him, which
paved the way for {uture correspondence between me and
himself, In sumbal 1893 (A.D. 1836-7) on Sudh Teras
of the month of Assoo, I was blessed with my second son,
Thawardas. In sumbat 1893 (A.D. 18360-%) Narumal, the
monim or manager of our firm at Bombay, finding Seth
Hotchand abseni from the head firm at Karachi, being in
Lakhpat, and the others at Karachi either young, indifferent
or inexperienced, broke faith and abused his trust, We
received information of his misbehaviour from Bheroomal-
Thakurdas, who was related to us and worked in sub-
ordination to Narumal at Bombay. We thereupon recalled
Narumal and appointed Bheroomal 'to manage the firm
instead. Thanks to the Almighty that since the days of
our ancestor, Seth Sajanmal, il was a rigidly observed rule
of our family to receive no deposits,® and to trade according

} 8ir Henry Potlinger (1780-1856), one of the ecatrliest explorers of
Sind and the countries beyond, hecame Resident in Cutely, adjoining Sind,
in 1825. ITe was afterwards Political Ageni in Sind, where hig services
in nepotiating treaties with the Amirs and inducing them to allow the
passage of British troops through Sind to Cabul were rewarded by his being
made a baronet and G.C.B. Te was afterwards transferred to China
as Minister Plenipotentiary at the time of the Opinm War and became
the first Governor of Hong Kong, and was made a Privy Councillor in 1844.
In 1846 he was Governor of the Cape for six months, and afterwards
Governor of Madras from 1847 to 1854. Ilis high apptreciation of Seth
Naomul's services will be evident from a lctter quoted at p. 22 of the
Introduction as well as from Appendixes III and IV,

2 4.8, not to trade on borrowed capital,
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to our means, A strict observance of this rule was demanded
of all our agents and factors.

We learnt privately {rom a friend at Calcutta, that one
Jethanand Parmanand, nephew to our moonim, Nebhoomal,
at that place, revelled with our monecy, and acled the
bacchanalian unchecked by his uncle, that at a nautch
one day he bestowed under the influence of liquor a Rith
(car) worth Rs, 1,000, upon a dancing gitl. We thereupon
wrote to Nebhoomal to wind up the business of the Calcutta
firm forthwith, and to return to Karachi with his books,
Narumal also returned {rom Bombay, as desired by us,
to tender his accounts, He was indebted to us in large
sums of money, None of my brothers, however, were versed
in account matters, and I had by this time entered into
communication with English officers, and most of my
time was taken up in giving effcet to their wishes and
carrying out their orders, I could uot, therefore, personally
attend to Narumal's accounts, who feigned poverty and
appeared in tattered clothes?

In sumbat 1892 (A.D. 1835-36) Mr, (afterwards Sir)
Alexander Burnes, who was Assistant to Major Pottinger
at Bhooj, came to Sind accompanicd by Mr. Leckie, en
route to Lahore and Cabul in compliance with the orders of
the Bombay Government. On his return from Cabul,
Mr, A, Burnes was posted to Lalhore, wheunce he wrote a
letter towards the close of sumbat 18¢g4 (A, 183%) that
if my services had been rendered through him he should
“have endeavoured to raise me to some high station in life,
Mr. Leckie, who had stayed behind at Khelat, asked my
assistance it sending down to Bombay sheep? to the number
of 250 intended for exportztion to England. ‘The sheep
were brought to Sonmiani by one Daja of the Soda tribe,

! These defalcations possibly accounl for the firm commencing io
decline, Undoubtedly Seth Naomul's patriolic attentions to the British
Government's nieeds rather ihan to his own business must have Involved
his firm i constderable pecuniary loss,

* The short hair-like wool of mountain sheep in Beloochistan is par-
ticularly valuable, and these sheep were exported, possibly with the idea
of introducing the breed into Eugland,
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and I wrote to my goomashta (agent) at that place to
receive the sheep and to arrange for their conveyance to
Bombay.

In sumbat 1893 (A.D. 1836-9) Colonel Pottinger wrote
to me from Bhooj to say that Dr. Burnes, brother to the
elder Burnes, had to go to Lahore, vid Sind, and that he
would land at Karachi and visit Hyderabad on his way up.
He desired me to meet him and to attend to his wants,
The Mirs of Hyderabad were likewise informed of Dr,
Burnes’ intentions to visit Karachi, but they wrote to their
nabob not to permit Dr., Burnes to see the town and to
arrange for his landing at Gizree Bandar,! whence he might
re-embark in a boat for Hyderabad, »id Xeti-Bandar.
The Mirs’ people therelore kept on the look-out for Dr,

Burnes, and as soon as he arrived they took him to Gizree

and thence let him sail? to Hyderabad. My men, too,
were on the alert, and as soon as they found an opportunity
they waited upon Dr, Butnes and presented him my salaams
and offered him butter and a quantity of dried fruit which
I had sent for his use. IHe was acquainted with what
Colonel Pottinger had written to me concerning him, and
he expressed his thanks,

In sumbat 1894 (A.D. 18347-38) I reccived a letter from
Colonel Potilinger informing me that Captain Carless, wilh
twelve other Sahib-loks (Liuropean gentlemen), was coming
down to Karachi in a ship, known as the “ Palinurus,” to,
take soundings of the entrance to Karachi, and he requested
me to be useful to Captain Carless, whom he commended to

my cate. He informed the Mirs of Hyderabad as well

of the intended visit of Captain Carless, and requested them
to assist him in his purpose dnd to throw no obstacles
in his way. They accordingly wrote to Nawab Hussan
Khan, who was in charge of arachi, to be on the look-out
for Captain Carless, who arrived on Sunday, the 5th of March

1 Gizrec Bandat is 2 whatf now litile used on the Gilzree, or Gharo,
creck, which 18 the mosl westerly creelk issning from tlhe Indus. Its mouth
is only two or three miles from the present harbour of Karachi.

¥ f.8., go by boats through the delta country.

4
i
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(sumbat 1894), 1837, in company with twelve other gentle-
men., I went to receive him at the landing, and brought
him to town, where the Nawab informed him that the Mirs
had permitted him to take the soundings, Ifrom the
Nawab'’s, Captain Carless and the other European gentlemen
who accompanied him came to my hotse but did not stay
lotig as it was Sunday, and having taken leave desired e
to see them on the morrow. At my place they saw in
original the letter which Colonel Potlinger had written to
me on their behalf. The next day, after breakfast, I went
to see Captain Carless on hboard the wvessel, whichh was
anchored beyond Manora Point, at a distance equal to the
distance of Manora from Xarachi. In compliance with
his request, I supplied him with the provisions he needed
during his stay in Karachi. Of the number of Iuropeans
who accompanied him, two or three remained on board
the ‘ Palinurus”’ at night, the rest came to shore after
sunset and lodged with me,.

The revenue of Karachi was farmed out to one Alah
Rakhia Lohar (ironsmith), whose nephew Ahmed one day
went to Captain Carless and offered to take him on a hunting
excursion in the adjoining hills, I was desired to keep a few
riding camels and horses in readiness at the bandar (whatf),
and Captain Carless accompanied by eight other Furopeans
and Ahted set out towards the hills, I returned lLome
and had only just finished bathing and was about to take
my breakfast when a servant brought me the news that
Hussan Khan, the Nawab of Karachi, enraged at the conduct
of Ahmedand of the Kuropeans who had made bold to
venture int@MRke interior in company of Ahmed without
his permission, had got fogether a body of armed men
to the number of one hundred, to pursue the party, vowing
that he would take their lives, When I heard this I imme-
diately ordered a few horses to be got ready and, accom-
panied by four or five followers, rode up post haste in the
direction in which I was told the Europeans had gone,
At the range of the hills known as ' Jara Buthies ”’ I over-
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took the party, infornted them how Hussan Khan, the
Nawab, had felt enraged, and advised them to return
as he would otherwise chase them. Ahmed, when he learnt
that Hussan Khan wanted to capture and chastise him,
took to his heels and fled with all the speed he could com-
mand, and I brought away the rest of the party, On my
way back I saw Hussan Ihan approaching, He was
mounted on horseback, and a number of armed men followed
him on foot. When Hussan Khan was vet at a distance
I galloped up to him, advising the Furopeans 1o hold back
until my return, When I got near enough I interrogated
Hussan Khan., He replied, “1 am going to fight {the
._;urﬂpea,ns who have venlured without my permission to
hunt in and enter the territory over which I have been
appmnted Nawab on the part of the Mirs.” I replied, * The
Furopeans are not at all to blame in the matter, Ahmed,
the nephew of the revenue farmer, who as such is an officer
of the Hyderabad Court, offered to take them into the
interior and show them sport, and he had accompanied
them himself.” Me angrily returned, “I shall caplure
that Ahmed and teach him a good lesson.” I informed him
that Ahmed had fled, but that the Turopeans were there
with my men, that he was meddling with dangerous tools,
and I was afraid the Mirs would not approve of his conduct
and might censure him., Thereupon he grew calm and said,
'“ et the Sahib-loks then return to their ships direct without
entering the town.” I promised to get them to do so,
and when he found the Europeans were going in the direction
of the bandar, he also retraced his steps. Long before
we could reach the bandar head, the ebb had set in and the
sea had receded far from the shdre. I therefore had all the
Europeans conveyed to their boat, which had retired with
the water to a great distance, on cots carried by coolies
who went wading through the mud, Captain Carless
desired me not to return tiil they had fairly set sail and given
a signal, which was to be the firing of a gun, I stayed,
however, till the boat had crossed Kiamari Point and was
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out of sight, and I returned home when it was perfectly
dark. On the morrow I went to the ship, although it was
a severely cold day and blew hard. I had a conversation
with Captain Carless on the events of the past day and ad-
vised him to communicate all that had {ranspired to the Mirs
at Hyderabad, through Moonshi Jethanand, the British
Agent stationed at their court by the Bombay Govertiment,
A letter was accordingly written out in Persian by Moonshi
Babla, who accompanied Captain Catless at Colonel Pottin-
get’s desire, and it was handed over to me for transmission
with a kossid to Moonshi Jethanand, who got it forty-cight
hours after it was despatched. He acquainted the Hydera-
bad Court with its contents, and Mir Nur Mahomed, getting
displeased with the conduct of Hussan Khan, issued to him
peremptory orders to obtain the pardon of the Ifuropeans
whom he had insulted. The order was received on the
fifth day with a letter to my address, and Hussan Khan
getting frightened came to my house to solicit my good
offices in obtaining the pardon of Captain Carless and his
party. It was eventime when Moonshi Jethanand’s letter
arrived, and I forwarded it on to Captain Carless with an
account of how Hussan Khan had repented, The next day
when I went to Captain Carless, Hussan Khan {ollowed in
another boat. After he had repeatedly and aunxiously
solicited pardon and showed repentance, Captain Carless
had a letter written to the addiess of Moonshi Jethanand,
stating that Hussan Khan's fault, though great, had been
excused on his showing repentance and soliciting pardomn,
Captain Carless was at Karachi {or three months, During
the day all the Furopeans were engaged on board the ship
in sounding the waters. At night they repaired to my
lodging in the town, After the lapse of three months,
Captain Carless set sail for Sonmiani and thence to Bushire,
I furnished him with letters of recommendation to my
agents at both places, and I was glad to learn that they gave
him satisfaction in every way, as was testified to by
certificates which my goomashtas obtained from him,
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Captain Carless’ intimate intercourse and stay with ne
while at Karachi produced an impression throughout Sind,
and the neighbouring provinces, that the British Govern-
ment had appointed me their agent for Sind.,

In sumbat 1875, in the month of Bada (A.D. 1838},
Colonel Pottinger came from Bhooj to Hyderabad, and after
his arrival there he addressed me a letter stating that
numerous English troops had embarked Iirom Bombay
under the command of General John Keane for Bamnikote,!
w4 Ghorabari,? and would proceced up the Indus towards
Shikarpur, that arrangements {or their convenience
and provision had to be made all along the route, and he
knew not whom to entrust with the perlormance of such an
arduous and important task save myself, in whom he placed
the fullest confidence, and he requested mie to spare no
exertions in carrying out with skill and ability his wishes,
and he sent me a hunds® for {iwo lakhs of *' koris* (Cutch
coin) on Bhooj with other hundis on Bombay, Calcutta,
ete,, which he asked me to get cashed as occasion should
arise and purchase rice, wheat, gram, barley and hajzi,
which were required by the Comunissariat Departiment,
He desired me to send on the stores, as they were purchased,
in different boats in succession to Ghorabari to the address
of one Madlio, a resident of Bhooj, who acted there as

— e e — —— AR A

1 Banmikole is in Lower $ind, three miles south-west of Vikkar, a
town. also known as Ghorabari, wlhere {licre was a fine open plain on which
Sir Johu Keane's anny entcamped. It was then thirty miles from the mouth
of the Hajamri by the winding of the river and twenty in a direct line,
(Sec next note on Gliorabari.)

3 Glhorabari used {o be and still is the most important port in Sind
next to Karachi, bul owing to constant changes in llie rivet, il lwas often
been ghifted to other villages, whicli hiave then taken the name of Ghora-
bari. At tlie perind now treated of, the pdrt of Ghorabari wes at a village
called Vikkar, now well inland owing to the river having deserted it. A
new nort called Keti has laken i1s place, thirteen miles away, and sixty
- miles sonth-west of Talin, The port of Keti, known as Keti-Ghorabari,
has ' itself been three times washed away and reconstructed at the
neavest favourable spot on the river bank, Keti supports a population
of 2,127. The pori s principally used for grain, timber and other bulky
goods, and for coasting traflic with porls in Culech and Kathiswad.,

3 HMundi, {.e., bill of exchange.

! See nate on p. 58,
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British Agent, and who was instructed to receive and land
them, in conjunction with the officers of the Commissariat
Department, He further asked me to engage for him by the
month and keep in hand for ready despatch with trustworthy
men, 2,000 camels aud 8oo to 1,000 bullocks of burden.

In compliance with the above instructions, I began to
purchase grain and send it on to Ghorabari. The demand
for grain thus created raised its price in the market of Karachi
and the Amirs’ officers put obstacles in my way and instigated
the poorer Mussalmans of Karachi to assemble at my door
and raise a clamour, Accordingly, one morning a crowd
of Moslems, to the number of a thousand, collected at my
door and complained that I had caused a famine and com-
pelled the poor to slarve. Beyond such indirect hindrances,
the Mirs’ officers could do no other mischief. But I heeded
not. I had my goomashtas at various places, and one
Versimal, who was in charge of the branch firm at Sonmiani,
purchased grain in that port at cheap rates and sent it down
first to Karachi, whence it was re-exported after inspection
and examination to Ghorabari. My goomashtas at Sehwan,
too, in accordance with my instructions, purchased grain
there and forwarded it direct to Ghorabari vd the Indus,
in charge of trustworthy servants, who made it over to
Moonshi Madho and other appointed agents, and obtained
receipls which they brought to me regularly at Karachi.

I did not fail meanwhile to arrange for catnels, My
exertions in that respect were constantly frustrated by the
officers of the Talpur Government, who secretly frightened
the camel-men and induced them to believe that the march
of English troops through the Talpur territory was not
so easy to effect as people were led to imagine, that it was
sure to be opposed and might result in a fight, to the great
dismay and ruin of the poor camel-men, whom they therefore
advised {o desist altogether from hiring out their camels,
All this came to my knowledge in detail, and I sent for the
Brahmani Beloochis,! who were all originally servants of

1 See note ot p. 43.
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my family, and against whom I knew I could use moral
compulsion, and'engaged 500 camels which their tribe owned,
I similarly hired a few more cameis belonging to people
whom I thought I could trust., I then thought to myself
that if I could withdraw to Gharo,! about twenty koss
distant from Karachi, where we owned a firm for over a
century past, I should be able to arrange for camels un-
disturbed, whereas at Karachi I might fail to engage the
required number. Consequently I ordered the camel-men,
whose animals I had engaged, to take their camels to
(GGharo, where they would find much forage for them. I, too,
quietly repaired to Gharo, On my arrival at Gharo, I
told my principal goomashta, Nanakdas, that I knew the
Jokhias? well, and they knew me too. Nanakdas set to
work as I directed him, and brought together at my place
within two days the headmen of the Memans® of Mallir
and of the various Jokhia tribes of Momat, Tiber, Band,
Satar and Hothi,? with a number of other people who owned
camels, I entered into written agreements with them,
and having perfected all preliminary arrangements to make
sure of the camels, I ordered the men to bring their camels
to Gharo that I might register ihem and keep them grazing

1 Gharo is it 1he Mirpur Sakro Laluka, eight miles from Dabeji station,
Its population is now about half what it used to be, namely about 8oo to
1,000 souls, It can still communicate directly by the Gizree Creck with
Karachi, bui the Karachi Kotrl railway has destroyed its trade Importance.
It is not far fromn Bambura, an ancient ruined city, supposed by some
authorities to be {he real Dewal, the capitel of Sind, stormed by the first
Aralb invader in ihe sevenili century, Other authiorities hold Dewal
and the modern Tatia to be identical,

* Sce mote on p. 38,

8 The term * Meman, '’ 18 a corruption of the word ' Monmin,” which
tneans a true bellever of Islam, but popularly the designation is confined
only to the Mahommedan converts in Cutch, who have now hecome a
distinet class, A few aboriginal Sindhi couverls also call themselves
Meman or Suraha, The period of their conversion to {he Mahommedan
religion 18 not traceable, The profession of the Meman is generally trade,
but in Lower Sind many dMemans work as agriculturlsts and mouneylenders,
and in Bombay, wlhete they are generally followers of His Highness the
Agha Khayu, there are large numbers, many of lhem very weallhy,
engaged In th{ﬂ:eepiug or as mercliants.

4 Momat, Tiber, Band, Satar aind Hothi, ‘These are lie names of small
camps, with scarcely any permanent houses, where nomad Beloochis make
their headquarters when grazing their camels,
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within two or three koss of the village until required for
active service. Soon after this, Jam Maherali, the chief of
all the Joklias, cante to know of the agreement into which
his clansmen had entered with me, and he severely rebuked
his people for having engaged their camels without previously
consulting him., I was apprised of ihie obstacles which the
Jam secretly wished to put in my way. I thereforesentmy
goomashta, Nanakdas, to Mallir (where the Jam resided)
to manage to bring him to Gharo, which he did. I had a
long interview wilth the Jam, and ultimately succeeded in
gaining him round. The Jam was a greedy lion and ex-
pected some hush money, Te told me he was in need
and wanted a loan. I desired my goomashta Nanakdas
to advance him Rs. 2,000, He was already indebted to
Nanakdas for a sum of Rs. 5,000 on a previous account,
as he was wont to take loans from him, which he paid off
from the income of his Jaghirs, and the revenue of Gharo,
which was farmed out to him. But Nanakdas lent him an
additional sum of Rs. 2,000, which he paid him partly in
cash and partly in grain, and the Jam in return promised
to be faithful to me.

I arranged to engage 500 bullocks of burden at Sakra,
on monthly hire, and having got the owners to pass apree-
ments, had them all brought to Gharo.

After this I wrote to Colonel Pottinger to acquaint him
with my arrangements for the purchase and collection of
grain and olher provisions and the hiring of camels and
bullocks of burden, He acknowledged my skill and ability
and expressed great satisfaction. Colonel Potiinger soon
lelt Hyderabad for Ghorabari and procecded up to Bamni-
kote., He had two assistants under him—DILieut, W, J,
Fastwick! and Leckie. About this time Sir John Keane

} Capt. W. J, Hastwick was born in 1808, and went to Bomnbay in 1827,
He was Political Officer aitached to the armmy of Lord Keane in 1838, and
accompanied it through Sind, Ie assisted in the negotiation of the
trealy of 1830 willh the Amirs of Ilyderabad, by which {he Indus was
thrown open to commercial enterprise, free of all vexatious interference,
and which provided for arbitration by the Linglish in claims against ihe
Amirs made Dby the rulers of Cabul and the Punjaub, and the niain-

t
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came from Bombay to Ghorabari with a large force, Previous
to his arrival, Captain Outram,! who was Assistant to Sir
John Keane, was deputed by the Governor of Bombay to
visit Karachi, He was desired to put up with me and to
ascertain how far I had been able to carry out the directions
of Colonel Pottinger in regard to the purchase and storing
of grain for the Commissariat Department, and the hiring
of camels and bullocks of burden, He arrived in a small
country craft, and was received at the Bandar by my
brothers, Pritamdas and Sookhramdas, the latter having
gone to the boat to bring him to shore. Captain Qutram
had doubtless some servants with him, but none would
accompany him to shore for fear of the Sindhis. So taking
g few biscuits and loaves in a handkerchief, with a stick
in hand, he came along with my brother Sookhramdas.
He enquired about me and was told that as the officers of
the Talpur Government put obstacles in my way in en-
gaging camels and bullocks at Karachi, I had proceeded
to Gharo where I had succeeded in arranging everything
satisfactorily. Captain Outram was for two days at my
kothi (a place where the mercantile business was transacted)
at Xarachi. He took little of hread, and lived chieflly on
milk, ‘Then growing desirous to sce me, he asked my brother
Sookhramdas to accompany himt to Gharo? He informed

tenance of a subsidiary force for the protection of Sind was also agreed
to, Ile held political charge of the districis at the foot of the Bolan Pass,
constituting the base to Biitish military n%mrutinns In Afghanistan, and
was afterwards appointed Acting Resident in 8ind. In 1847 Capt. Ilast
wick wag elected 10 a geat in {hie Hast Indin Direction ; in 18t¢8 he was
appointed to {he office of Deputy Chairman, after which he became a
member of the Council of the Secretary of State for India.

1 Colonel, afterwards Sir James Outram, Bart, was one of the most
heroic fignres of the nineteenth century,, It is not necessery, therefore, to
repeat here the many achievements of hus famous life.  Every Englishman
has heard of his accompanying Sir Heury Havelock on the first Relief of
Lucknow, and, in order that Sir Henry Havelock might have the hononr
of the Relief, announecing that he would enter Tucknow Iimself in his civil
capacity as Chief Commissioner of Oudl, He ended his career as Military
Member of the Counci] of the Governor-General, Sir Charles Napier—with
whom, curiously enough, he had great controversies later—dubbed him
" ‘The Bayard of the Bast, sans pewr el sans veproche.”

t This journey of Quiram’s is described by him in the first chapter
of lhis Rough Noles on the Campaign in Sind and A fghanistan,

G
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him that he was engaged in carrying out my directions at
Karachi, and offered to place at his command the services
of confidential servants. DBut Captain Outram eatnestly
desired that my brother Sookhramdas should accompany
him in person, to which my brother ultimately consented.
Two riding camels were therefore got ready florthwith,
one for Seth Sookhramdas and Captain Outram, who rode
together, and another for iwo servants. It was evening
time, and I was seated on a chair in the court of my house
when I was surprised to see my brother coming on a camel
which he rode in front with a Furopean in the back seat.
I received the Furopean gentleman with respect, and con-
ducted him to a cushioned cot., The usual salutalions of
welcome being exchanged, Captain Outram acquainted
me with the object of his visit, saying that the Governor
of Bombay had sent him to me to inquire how far I had
been able to carry out the proposals of Colonel Pottinger,
I gave him assurance in reply and told him that I had been
in every way successful in giving effect to the orders of
Colonel Pottinger, He was much pleased with the news
and desired me to make arrangements to send him on to
Bammnikote on the morrow, and wished me to give him
fifty sowars and the company of my brother Sookhiramdas,
At break of dawn next day, Captain Outram accordingly
left Gharo for Bamnikote, my brolher and he riding on one
camel, At the fime of departure he desired me to {follow
him to Bamnikote as soon as I could, whicli I promised to
do after all the animals of burden had been sent in advance
for fear that some mighi tarry behind, After the lapse of
two days I was in a position to depart for Bamnikote.
Having arrived there I was*wonder-struck with the arrange-
ments and disposition of the British troops in camp, On
enquiring I found out Captain Outram and my brother,
the latter of whom lived in a double-poled tent lined with
broadcloth lent to him for use by Major Outram, and with
him I put up, Moonshi Aliakbar, an Irani,! had been

! Irani, 7.8, a Persian,
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appointed to attend upon my brother, and he treated him
very kindly, I had with me many of my own goomashtas,
The camp extended over about four miles, and showed great
skill in its arrangements and management. I passed the
night with my brother, and on the next day at ten o’clock
I went to see Colonel Pottinger and was not a little pleased
to observe his ways and manners, his mode of discourse
and the forethought which he evinced. I had never had
the happiness of enjoying the company of Furopeans in
this manner before, and was unacquainted with their
usages, habits and idiosyncracies. But I still feel grateful
to Lieutenant Eastwick, who was First Assistant to Colonel
Pottinger, for instructing me in their ways and showing e
the advantages likely to be derived from intercourse with
them, which inspired me with zeal and made me more
earnest. ILieutenant Iastwiclk was blessed with a very
amiable and frank disposition, the most attractive manner
of speech, a kind temper, and an openness of heart which
I can never forget, Ile won the hearts of all 1hiat came
in contact with him, and was famous in Sind for his happy
frame of mind.

When I saw Colonel Pottinger he immade enquiries from me
concerning the aunimals of burden and provisions for the
troops. I gave him a full detailed account, He expressed
great pleasure, and desired me to give a list (in detail) of
the articles and provisions supplied by me to the Cominis-
sarty Gencral, Major Davison, and to make over to him
all the camels and bullocks ihat I had engaged. He then
gave me o letter of introduction to Sir John Xeane, the
Commander of the forces, and desired me to see uim., I
accordingly went over to Sire John Keane’s tent, sent in
Colonel Pottinger’s note, and was very courteously received
by the Commander. Sir John Keane could not himself
speak Hindustani, He had three Assistants immediately
under him, whose names were Captain Outram, Captain
Powell, and Major Keane, He enquired from me about
the provisions, and being asstired that all was right, he
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directed me to hand over all to the Commissary-General,
Major Davison. I acted accordingly, and gave the General
a detailed account of all that I had sent to Madhoji, the
Government agent at Ghorabari, and what I had sent since,
The camels' and bullocks were all inspected, counted and
received by him in charge. Colonel Pottinger requested
me to attend to the orders of the Commissary-General,
and try to meet his indents for provisions, animals, etc.,
and he further desired that I should direct my brother
Sookhramdas to look after the camels and bullocks and keep
the camel-men in good humour. I undertock to do all the
service gratis, as in fact I served gratis throughout my
early connection with the British, I was not a contractor
for the supply of provisions, I was not actuated by any love
of pecuniary gain in rendering political service, and I acted
at the risk of great danger to my person and property when
it was sufficiently well known that the Talpur Government,
under which I lived and to which T was subject, were averse
to the passage of the British troops through Sind, and looked
upon all assistance rendered as a mark of disregard of their
wishes and disrespect to their authority., But my family
telt themselves aggrieved by the wrongs inflicted upon them
by the later Amirs in their blind zeal for their {faith, and my
principal object in being thus uselul to the British Govern-
ment at such great personal sacrifices was simply to secure
their interest and regard for future good. I therefore
willingly offered to perform all that Colonel Pottinger
directed me to do, and, thanks to the Almighty Providence,
that with the large number of private servants, clerks and
sepoys I could command, everything went on well,
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CHAPTER V.

Army moves to Tatta—Naomul declines control of mint—2Beloochi
runs amok-—Fatal accident to three English officers—Mir Shal Mahotned
burns British stores—Mir Nur Mahomed sends secrel excuses to Naotnul—
Agha Ismail Shah—>Sookramdas accompaunies army unorth--Tottinger
requests the Admiral 1o protect Naomul’s family-—Bombardiment of
Karachi-—Landing of troops assisled—Naomul’s house guarded—Sook-
ramdas parts from army ot Shikarpur—Naomul's interview with the Amirg
at HMyderabad— Accompanies Pottinger to Karachi—Naomul agsists in
securing the murderers of Capt. Hand-—Naomul senl for by Pottinger
tc Bhooj—Raises money for payment of additional cavalry—Outram’s
adventurous journey from Khelat to Sonmiani—Narrow escape.

While at Bamnikote, Nawabs Ghulam Shah Lagari, (2)
Sayed Zenalubdin, (3) Agha Ismail Shah?, and Mahomed
Abid of Tatta visited the British camp ot behalf of the
Mirs of Hyderabad to offer their services, After the lapse
of five or six days the troops struick camp and marched
for Tatta, where they arrived after a march of three days,
and occupied the plain between the town and the Makli

Hills®* under excellent arrangements.
At Tatta, Colonel Pottinger desired me 10 go to one

Mr. Whitelock, who resided in the town in a house known
as ' Angrezjimari’’ (lit. Tnglish house), and obtain from him
“Rial’”? coins and bullion, melt the whole and recoin the saine
into ““ kori "’ rupees, under the auspices of my owtr confi~
dential servants. I foresaw that it was a business fraught
with danger to reputation, that the slightest variation in

1 Aghia Ismail Shali was Lhe gon of s Georgian, the trusted adviger
of the Mirs in their forcign affairs, and he was sent as an ambassador
from the Mirs to Bombay inn 1820, whete he was well received Ly the
Governor, the IHon, Mountstuart Ylphinsione, Some of lils descendants
have held rank in the Sind Commissi®n sinee,

3 Makli ITills, a long range of limestone hills, two or three miles from
Tatta, which owing to the burial there from time to litne of holy Mahom-
medan pirs, ot saints, have acquired great sanclilty, and nmow present
the aspect of a gigantic cemetery. Some of the tontbs of ancient kings,
Soubalidars of the Delhl THmpire, and the like, are very handsome,

3 Rial = a Marla Theresa dollar, of the value of about two rupees ;
current on the Makran coanst, large quantities of which used to be imported
as bullion from Zanzibar, and were used as currency by the British Army

in the Alyssinian Fxpedition of 18067-68.
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weight would only gain unmerited censure, I therefore
privately communicated my views and objections to Lieut,
Bastwick and told him how much I feared 1ihe loss of
reputation in such service, Lient. Fastwick was a genile-
man whose friendship I prized and whom I valued highly
for his kind, amiable and frank disposition. He spoke to
Colonel Pottinger, who thereupon enirusted the business to
a Parsi, Maneckji by name, who accompanicd the camp.
Maneckji worked the mint for two years, accumulated
great wealth, and I saw him uliimately commitied to jail
in the bargain.

While at Tatta, a Belooch of the Nuhani tribe happened
to get into Colonel Pottinger’s tent with a naked sword
in his hand, and pretended madness and waved the weapon
in the air. Colonel Potlinger’ sepoys were immediately
on their legs to catch hold of him, but the man gave them a
chase and, being swifter of foot, could not be caught. An
order was then given to shoot him, and one bullet shot from
a musket laid him prostrate.l

The army remained encamped at Tatta for four days,
Large stores had been collected in the Government godown
at Gidu Bandar, near Hyderabad, Mr, Leckie, second Assis-
tant to Colonel Poltinget, resided on the banks of the Indus
in the immediate vicinity of Gidu Bandur, All of a sudden,
Mir Shah Mahomed of Mirpurkliag, having collecled his
forces, marched down to Hyderabad and, in constultation
with the Hyderabad Mirs and with the co-operation of their
soldiery, attacked, plundered and burnt the British godown
at Gidu Bandar and carricd away with them what booty
they could., As soon as Mr. Leckie heard of the attack
on the storehouse he got arboat ready and sailed away to
Tatta for fear of his life, which would have met with a hard
fate had he fallen into the hands of the infatuated Beloochis.
No sooner did Mz, Yeckie reach Tatta than orders were
issued for an immediate march., The orders were as
promptly and readily <arried out, and at a single march

1 See Pottinger's report on this incident (Appendix VI).
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a journey of about thirty-two miles from Tatta to Jhirak?
was performed. A new camp was immediately formed on
the hills and on the plain, and occupied a very strong position.
1 was with the camp and was desired by Lieut. Eastwick
to look sharp after the camcl-men lesl they should prove
false and desert us, but by the grace of the kind Providence
none lost faith and not a single instance of {raudulent
act was detected. T had all the camels and bullocks kept
secire in the Mirs’ shikargah? at Jhirak.

One morning two or three days after our arrival at
Thirak, two® European gentlemen went out for a stroll
in the forest and carried with them their guns for the purpose
of shooting if opportunity offered. They were both attacked
and killed by some Belooch sepoys who were hiding in the
forest.

The arrangement and disposilion of the British forces
at Thirak were so excellent and awe-striking that all strangers
felt bhewildered at the sight. The polished guns and
bayonets pitched in clusters glittered like burnished steel.
The Mirs had sent several spies to Jhirak to collect informa-
tion and it was not strange if their accounts of English skill
and of the strenglh of the Ilnglish army discouraged the
Talpurs and frustrated their plans, and indeed, if I can speak
from personal impressions, the fears wilh which the reports
could not have failed to fill the minds of the vacillating
Talpurs must have been proporlionate to the courage
with which the English camp inspired the heart,

The tents of the Huropean officers of the army at JThirak
were all pitched in a line. My teuts stood just opposite

1 Thirak is a town on the right bguk of the Indus, haliway between
Tatta and Kotri, which 1s opposite to Hyderabad, midst low limestone
hills, Its consequent permanence has led to its being the slte of the
official headquariers of the local District Officer.

3 Shikargah is an enclosed game-preserve,

3 Three, not two, officers of the Queen’s Rifles were ont shooting
and the long grass in the forest by some means canght fire and they were
burned to death. Outram, who was on the spot, came to the conclusion
that their deaths were due to accident alone aud that they were not
nssassinated,~—ED.
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in the centre, One morning at ten o'clock, while I was
sitting with about 2 hundred men around me, in the largest
tent I had, two persons in the habit of fakirs came and stood
opposite and asked for alms to enable them to proceed to
Haj,! whither they said they were bound. I looked at
them attentively when they made me some sign, whereupon
I removed to my private tent and called them in, After
being seated they unscrewed the handle of a walking-stick
which they carried and taking out a paper passed it on to
ine. It was a letter written by Mir Nur Mahomed? himself
and addressed to me. It ran thus: “ Seth Naomul,
“be my friend and patron at this time, Inform Colonel
“ Pottinger that the British store-houses at Gidu Bandur
“and Mir Khan's Tanda,® with the store-boats on the
‘“ Indus, were all plundered and burnt by Mir Sher Mahomed
‘“of Mirpur, assisted by Mir Mahomed and Sobdar,? that
““T had no hand in the matter and was not a party to the
“ affair, They are to blame for it, I am quite innocent
“and have been in no way in fault,”

I asked the messengers to wait and partake of food,
but they begged to be excused and showed me two more
letters which were entrusted to them for immediate delivery,
one of which they said was addressed to Mian Abid of
Tatta, the other to the Nawab of Ghorabari, Glinlam Shah,
Mir Nur Mahomed, they said, had therein asked both these
officers to take special care of British stores and to render
every possible assistance to the army. I however forced
the men to stay a while and went straight to Colonel
Pottinger’s tent with the letter, which I handed over to him.
It was written in Persian and was read out by Lieut.
Kastwick, I acquainted him with all the circumstances

1 Haj meaus the pilgrimage to Mecea,

7 Mir Nur Mahomed weas ot this time {the leading Miy of Hyderabad,
son of the Mir Murad Ali, and as premier Mir wore the turban.

4 Mir Khan's Tanda s close to Gidu Bandar, the wharf on the left bank
of the Indus, whence %mssengurs disembatk for ITyderabad.

* These were subordinate ruling Mirs of Hyderabad, Sobdar was the
son of the old Rais Mir Fatehall Khan, and wes considered the most friendly
to the British of all the Amirs,
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connected with its receipt, and I returned an answer with
the messengers in the terms dictated by him,

On the morrow, Agha Ismail Shah arrived in the English
camp at Jhirak to tender an explanation on the part of the
Talpurs of Hyderabad of the circumstances under which
the British store-bouses, etc,, at Gidu Bandur were plun-
dered or burnt. A long discussion ensued. Colonel Pottin-
ger gave full vent to his anger and reprimanded and re-
proached Agha Ismail Shah in fitting language, in place
of those whom he represented. It did not seem that the
matter could be settled amicably, when Agha Ismail Shah
solicited pardon with folded hands. It was then agreed
to accept a money remumneration for the damage done, .
and Agha Ismail Shah passed a bond {an agreement) on
the part of the Talpurs for the sum of Rs, 27 lakhs!
After a stay of eight days at Jhirak the camp started for
Kotri, where they soon arrived. The Talpurs frequently
sent visitors to the c¢amp to express their friendship and
goodwill towards the British Government,

Soon after our arrival at Kotri I was desired by Colonel
Pottinger to accompany ILieut. Leckie to the Mirs, and
receive from them the sum of Rs. 27 lakhs, in liguidation
of the agreement passed by Agha Ismail Shah, After
nodding assent, I explained to him my position and made
him understand that the Mirs would take it to heart if I
went to receive payment, Xe felt satisfied, and directed
Moonshi Jethanand, the British Vakeel at the court of the
Talpurs, to go for the money with Lieut. Leckie and some
others. The Mirs had not in their treasury ail the cash
in the current and stipulated coin, the kori rupee, so they
paid the deficit int the Gobindi oy Mashedi® coin which bore a
higher marketable value, The army left soon after for
Shikarpur, vid Sehwan., Colonel Pottinger remained behind

1 ‘This sum could not possibly represcnt the value of the stores destroyed,
It represents the sum which the Mirs on this occasion agreed to pay as
arrears of tribute ihey owed to Cabul, of whicl 15 lakhs were to be paid
to Ranjit Singh, so as to ransom Shikarpur from both powers.—Enprror.

2 Gobindl were coins struck by Ranjit Singl, bearing the name of the .
Sikh Guru Gobind Sing. Mashedi were botl: rectangular aud round coins
minted in Persis, at Meshed or T'abriz, and imporied into Sind by Shikatpur
merchants,—IDITOR.
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at Mirkhan's Tanda, and I stayed with him, Lieut. Eastwick,
his First Assistant, going with the forces,

Nothing of the stores at Gidu Bandur was left, and it
was necessary that provisions for the army should be
collected at other places along the route. It was determined
to open commissariat depits at Sehwan and ILarkana,
and for this purpose Colonel Pottinger asked my aid and
requested me to permit my brothers, Sookhramdas and
Gopaldas, to accompany the army up to Shikarpur, and
to arrange for the storing and purchase of provisions,
I willingly consented to his proposals and immediately
issued express injunctions to my goomashtas at Sehwan,
Larkana, and other places to obey the orders of my brother
Sookhramdas and to give him any assistance he might call
upon them to render in starting depdts, ctc.

One morning while I was sitting in my tent at Nurkhan's
Tanda I was sent for by Colonel Pottinger, and on going
to him he very kindly informed me that Rear-Admiral
Sir Frederick Maitland, the principal naval commander
of British forces in the Arabian Sea, was coming to Xarachi
with a fleet and would soon capture the town, that he had
commended iy people at Karachi to his care and had written
to him in the following terms: “’I'lhere is one point to
‘““ which I solicil, your kind and minute attention—I allude
“to the protection wnder all circumstances of the house
‘“and family and property of Naomul Seilh of Karachi,
‘“That individual is now with this force, e has most
‘““ zealously and indefatigably assisted us, and I cannot
‘“convey my deep anxiety regarding him and his beiter
** than by saying that they ought to be guarded as though
“they were those of the HGovernor-General of India,’”?

He assured me not to be in any way concerned about
any relatives at Karachi, which would soon be a British
possession, I was exceedingly rejoiced to hear him speak
s0, and thanked the Almighty who is the dispenser of all

1 This letter is on the official records, dated 2—81:11 January, 1830.
{(See Appendix IV.)
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good. I immediately communicated the news to my
hrothers at Karachi and slrongly desired them to be service-
able to any Englishman who arrived there. The very next
day I got a letter from Karachi stating that a number of
British ships-of-wat had arrived at the port and opened
stch heavy fire on the fort at Manora that within the space
of three hours they had levelled down the western arm of the
fort, that the thick smoke arising from the cannon had spread
jike a dark cloud over the town and changed daylight into
night, Under such circumstances the officers of the Talpur
Government at Xarachi, viz., the Nawab Ker Mahomed,
a Belooch of the Nizamani tribe, Haji Alah Rakhia, with
other minor officers, all waited upon my elder brother,
Seth Pritamdas, and represented to him that the smoke
had begun to suffocate the people, that they had no power
to face the English, and that sieps should be taken to stop
the firing of cannon. In the meantime, two or three Euglish
officers came ashore, and my brother being informed of it
immediately went to receive them at the bandar where
the Mirs' people too soon appeared. The English officers
accompanied my brother to his residence, and thence
mounting horses went out with my brother to select a spot
for the encampment of the troops. The plain between the
town and the Rambagh' was preferred, and the next day
all the troops were landed and quartered there. My family
were entrusted with the business of landing the stores and
keeping them in their custody. They were taken on indents
sent from time to timme, which entailed a task of no small
responsibility, But my family gladly undertook to perform
it all gratuitously, as I constantly wrote to them to spare
no pains and labour in beingeuseful to the British force
and in meeting their wants, I feel grateful to the Almighty
that everything was managed so well that the Rear-Admiral

M ey = L]

! Ram Bagh, or the Garden of Ram Chunder, is now a quarter of the
native town of Karachi, so called from the legend that the mythical
hero Rama Chandra passed a night here, many centuries before Christ,
wlhen he and his wife, the goddess Sita, were passing through Sind on theijr
way to hely Hinglaz, (See note on Hinglaz, p. 48.)
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irequently acknowledged in his letters to Colonel Pottinger
the assistance and services rendered, and the latter com-
municated his personal thanks to me. In recoguition
of the services and as a mark of dislinction, Sir Frederick
Maitland appointed European soldiers to guard our family
residence. This distinction was continued even long after
the conquest, though the uropecan guard was replaced
by native soldiers. Soon alter the landing of the troops,
my brother invited the Rear-Admiral and his party to
dinner, to which they all gladly responded, and came
attended by a company of soldiers with the band playing
and colours flying,

My younger brother Sookhramdas, too, rendered success-
ful service to the army up to Shikarpur, and I thank the
wise Creator, At Shikarpur my Dbrother was earnestly
asked to accompany the army up to Cabul and to arrange
for the supply of stores along the roule, He replied that he
was subject to me and that I had stmply entrusted him with
the task of accompanying the army and supplying their
wants up to Shikarpur, but that he wotlld nevertheless
consult my wishes and obtain my permission to proceed
further, When I heard {rom him I did not like the idea
of my brother going along with the army into Afghanistan ;
moreaver, as I was not bound by any previous promise to
arrange for the supplies or traunsit required by the army
beyond Sind, I therefore spoke {0 Colonel Pottinger
and consuited his wishes. He told me in reply that he
was responsible for the unimpeded transit of the troops
through Sind only, that Mr, Burnes (the elder) had under-
taken to arrange for provisions for the army beyond Sind,
and that my brother might go into Afghanistan if I or he
wished. T therefore wrote to Sookhramdas not to proceed
to Cabul, and to obtain permission to return. He did
accordingly, and clearing all previous accounts he returned
to Karachi in the month of Chaitra (May), sumbat 1895
(A.D. 1839), leaving Chimandas Mamdowdas, a native of
Shikarpur, who was our goomashta-in-chatge of our firm
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at Bombay and had then returned to his native place, to
accompany the army instead.

Until April of the same year I was with Colonel Pottinger
at Hyderabad, and communicated to him such political news
as I received. Mirs Nur Mahomed and Nasirkhan paid
him visits at different times separately, Mir Nur Mahomed
one day desired Diwan Hiranand, who was related to me
and held the principal and most influential post under
the Mir, to take nte to him and Mir Nasirkhan, Diwan
Hiranand therefore came to me-and requested me to pay the
Mirs a visit. I declined, but he urged the matter upon me
for fifteen days continuously, saying that I might not care
much for the Mirs, but that Sind was still subject to them,
that a large number of my relations was in their employ,
and that these and himself would find it hard to pass a night
in comfort if I declined to see the Mirs, 1 thereupon con-
sulted Colonel Pottinger and solicited his advice, He told
me I had better not show an interest in the Mirs. I then
explained to him how much my relatives among the amils?
in the employ of the Mirs would suffer on that account.
He thought over the matter well and permitted me to pay
them a wvistt. One evening, accordingly, I repaired to
Hyderabad and passed the night with my relative Diwan
Hiranand. On the morrow, while returning to the Iinglish
camp, I peeped into the citadel and at Mir Nur Mahomed's
bungalow. The guard at the entrance informed the Mir
inside and I was accordingly called in. On my entering,
Mir Nur Mahomed stood up to receive me, and {aking me
by the hand offered me a munji® (a kind of low chair),
Mir Nasir Khan was also present, and sat with his brother

1 Amil, literally * educated person,”’ % term applied in Sind to Hindu
cletks, who form a kind of superior educaled caste amongst the Hindus

themselves.
9 The ""munji” was offered to few men only as a special mark of

disiinetion, The generality of visitors, or petitioners, squatied on carpets
spread on the floor in the presence of the Talpurs, who alone sat on cots,
or bedsteads, at durbars and other special occasions, When the Lditor
first called on one of the Amirs, Mir Mir Mahomed Khan, he was a Httle
surprised at belug invited to sit upon his highly lacquered bedstead, which
was really a great compliment.
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Mir on the same cot. After the usual salutations were over,
Nur Mahomed addressing me, said: * Seth Naomul,
have you now fully avenged the wrongs inflicted on your
father ? Do you now feel satisfied ?’’ I replied, * Sir,
why should you say so, and why speak thus ? ”’  So saying
I remained quiet, and soon tock my leave and departed.,
I informed Colonel Pottinger of all that passed, and he told
me it was well done, and desired me not to be much con-
cerned about it.

Five days after the news of the troops having left Shikar-
pur on their way to Cabul reached us, I returned to Xarachi
with Colonel Pottinger., This was in the month of April,
At Karachi, Colonel Pottinger was very much delighted
to learn and see in person the services rendered by my
brother to the English {roops stationed there. Colonel
Pottinger soon afterwards prepared for depariure to Bombay,
and asked me to accompany him. I informed him that my
family owned a firm (mercantile hiouse) at Bombay ever
since the time when Bombay was subject to the Shidis*
but that none of our family had ever visited it. If he, how-
ever, wished me Lo accompany him, I was not very reluctant.
He was then pleased to excuse me, but said ihat he would
send for me when he returned to Bhooj.

The command of the force stationed at Karachi was
entrusted to Colonetl Spiller., He was a martied gentleman
and had his family with him. I visited the camyp daily
al nine o'clock in the morning, passed the day in my tent
that was pitched next to Colonel Spillet’s, and returned
home at six o'clock in the evening, Colonel Spiller was
a gentleman of a very kind, {rank and noble disposition.
One evening at five o’clock Captain Hand went out for a
ride on horseback to the hills towards Mugger Pir, and he

1 The 8Slidis, literally * Dlack nalives of Africa,”’ still retain their
old state of Jinjeera, a strong island foriress on {lie mainland a little
soulli-wesl of Bombay harbour.  The Shidis or Hubshidis were by Lradition
admirals of the fleet Lo the Kings of Gujerat and the Imperors of Delhi,
and several limes occupied the whole island of Bombay. Iven after its
occupation by the British, the Shidis ook the island of Bombay on two
occaslong, all excepting the British Castle,
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was mutdered by some people. He failed to return to
camp till past seven, when Colonel Spiller sent some sepoys
to look out for him in the direction of the hiils. They soon
returned with the news that his body was found dead
in a hollow. At ten o'clock at night Colonel Spiller sent
for me, and accompanied by 4 few sepoys, who were then
present, I immediately went to the camp., Colonel Spiller
informed me of what he had learnt concerning Captain
Hand. I directly ordered my sepoys to hasten to Mugger
Pir with some ‘ pagis,”’ * (fodt trackers) and obtain a clue
to the murder, I told them that I would remain in camp
until they returned. They came back after a few hours
with the information that the dastardly deed had been
perpetrated by Xalipha? Chakur of Shah Bilawal, who
was accompanied by fifty men of the Chhuto and Badija
tribes. On being informed of this, Colonel Spiller directly
wrote to Lieut. Ieckie, Assistant to Colonel Pottinger,
who was left in charge of the agency at Hyderabad, to
demand the personal presence of Kalipha Chakur at Karachi.
I then returned to town and inquired if any mmen of the
Chhuto and Badija tribes could be found. 1

Eight men were

traced and these were immediately sccured and sent over
to the HEnglish camp under a strong guard, These persons
confessed orally in the presence of Colonel Spiller that they
were the disciples of Kalipha Chakur of Shah Bilawal,?
who was their religious head, that the cowardly murder
was committed by him, and that they were with him at the

! " Pagis ' is derived from ‘' pag,’’ a footprini, and pagis are trackers,
The gift of following and discriminating foolprinis which a Sindhi pagee
possesses is little short of miraculous. 7Tlhey can recognise in passing
along a road the fooiprint of a stolen camel or of a thief who has been
wanted, years after the crime, tiack hfin and pick out the thicf or beast
from amongst a ctowd of ment or beasts. Such valuable ald they still
afford to ithe regular police tlhatl about twenty years ago the Commissioner
in 8ind (the writer of Lhis) arranged that subsidies should be paid from the
rates to pagis of special ability, who were {0 be inecluded in the village
revenue establishinents, with a view to preserving the art.—ED.

* Kalipha, an honorifie title for head priest,

§ Shah Bilawal {3 o holy place with lof springs, close {o the Khelat
frontier, about sixty miles north of Karachi, and tlie lheadquarters of the
powerful Chhuto tribe, mostly subjects of the Xhan of Khelat,
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time, and that the glittering facings on the coat which
Captain Hand wore had roused their cupidity. ‘Lhis evidence
was recorded, and the men kept in custody. Liettt. ILeckie
prevailed upon Mir Nur Mahomed at Hyderabad to send
for Kalipha Chakur, and the Mir accordingly deputed Ninda
“ Khijmatgar "' to Shali Bilawal 1o sccure Kalipha Clhiakur
and to take him to the Inglish camp at Karachi, where a
court-martial was lield, and the charge being brought home
to Chakur, hie was ordered to be hanged on the very spot on
which Captain Hand was muidered. The court of enquiry
was composed of Colonel Spiller, Major Donnohy, and my-
self, ‘The special service rendered by me in this case was
communicated by Colonel Spiller in detail to Colonel Pottin-
ger, and he addressed me a special Ietter of thanks,

In August, corresponding to the Sindhi month Sawan,
sumbat 1896 (A.D. 1841), Colonel Pottinger wrote to me to
see him at Bhooj, whither he had returned. I accordingly
set out for the capital of Cutch in the following month, accom-
panied by my elder son Trikamdas. I went by land »id
Tatta and Seergundhal 1o Narainsar, After a day’s stay at
the last place, I proceeded on to Lakhpat, where T had the
happiness of seeing my fatlier, with whom I stayed two
days., Trom ILakhpat I stepped over to Bhiooj] and was
delighted to be in the company of Colonel Poltinger again.,
Before my departiure from Karachi, I had written to Colonel
Poltinger to inform him of niy intention 1o visit i, and
he had on {he receipt of my letter written to the Rai of
Culch to keep a residence ready for my reception. On my
arrival at Bhooj, I was conducted to the house so set apart
tor my lodging, When I visiled Colonel Pottinger the next
day and cxchanged variotis news relating to Sind and
Candahar, he desired me 1o pay a visit to Rai Desar, the ruler
of Cutch, and ordered the residency Mooushi, My, Pitamber,
to accompany e to the Rai at five o'clock in the evening,

e — - (i rre'rr Bl R "

1 Seergundha is situated on the Seer Creck, the most westerly but one
of the mouths of the Indus, and adjoins a ghasily desert covered with
one foot of pure sall, as white as show,
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He also wrote to the Rai to inform him that T would pay him
a visit that evening, When I went to the Rai! Sahib, he
received me with marked courtesy and distinction. He
seated me by the side of his throne and conversed with me
for a long time, After the durbar was dissolved, the Rai
took me over to his palaces known as the Shishah Mahal
(crystal palace) and the Hira Mahal (diamond palace). I
" admired much the manner of the court of Bhooj. I visited
the tanks, ponds and the principal places in the city of
Bhooj, and formed a high opinion of the people. I lived
in Bhooj for six months and kept a journal of that part of
my life, which I wrote in the Hindu-Sindhi character
peculiar to Sind, and have therein described in detail all
that I saw and felt at the Rai's capital,

The FEaglish rassalah at Bhooj* consisted of 200 hotse
only, and it was under the command of one Mr., Watt,
an Assistant of Colonel Pottinger’s. The next i1 command
was ILieut. John Tacob, I called upon Captain Watt
in compliance with his desire, and he informed me that the
Government of Bombay lhad sanclioned the addition of
300 more horse to the strength of the Bhooj rassalah,®
but had expressed their inability to meet the expenditure
immediately, and had authorised him to arrange with some
banker for the purchase of 300 horses, ‘T'he Rai of Cutch
had undertaken to find himm horses, but there was no banker
(shaukar) in Bhooj or Mandavi who could advance him a loan
to enable him to complete the bargain, and he would feel
much obliged, he said, if I could assist him in the matter,
adding that my services would strengthen my claim to the
regard of Government, I replied that pecuniary gain was
not a consideration for which I rendered service, and if

—

1 The title is now known as " Rao,’’ not Rai Sahib,

2 The celebrated Sinde Irregular Horse, which later, under Brigadier
General Jolin Jacob, C. B, put down freeboolers and kept order on the
north-west frontler of Bind, and in the adjoining territory of the Khan of
Khelat, was formed from a squadron of the Poona Horse, at that time
serving in Cutch,

8 Rassalah, 7.z, cavalry, the Resident’s body guard.,

H
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Colonel Pottinger desired me to assist, I should fain do
all I could, Captain Watt wrote to Colonel Pottinger
informing him of what I had said, and on Colonel Potitinger
advising me to be useful to Caplain Watt and assuring me
" that it would be doing a service to the Government, I wrote
with my own hand a Gujrati letter to the Rai of Cutch
to request a loan of 2} lakhs of koris (Cutch coin), which
I promised to repay within fifteen days, The Rai very
kindly sent me immediately on carts the amount asked for,
which I forwarded straight tc Captain Watt, who received
the treasure and passed a receipt. Captain Watt soon set
to purchase horses, and he obtained sowars from Poona
through the Bombay Government, and the Rassalah of Bhooj
(afterwards the Scinde Trregular Horse) of 500 horse thus
started. I soon drew hundis on my firins at Bombay, Muscat
and Karachi to the amount of the loan I had obtained from
the Rai, and had them cashed at Mandavi through my
mercantile agent at that place. Within a week's time my
Mandavi agent sent me the required amount in cash, which I
thankfully returned to the Rai’s treastutry on the eighth day.

The combined forces of Shah Sijawal and of the British
Government successively took possession of Cancdahar,
Ghazni, Cabul and Jelalabad without the least difficulty.
Shah Sijawal was again scated on the throne of Cabul,
Amir Dost Mahomed and his brothers all fled beyond the
mountains and sought refuge at Bokhara. A part of the
British forces returned from Cabul to Khelat (of the
Brohees).! Mihrabkhan, who then ruled Khelat, behaved in
an unfriendly way towards the English, so much so that
British stores sentl to Candahar were plundered on their way
through Khelat, This led to a disagrecinent with the Khan
which resulted in a war, Mihrabkhan was killed in a fight,
and his young son, Nasirkhan by name, fled with all his
family from his domains, Shah Nawazkhan, a cousin of

ra— I

! Brahuis, who form the bulk of the Khelat pu&mlutiun, are of Mongol
descent, and in features, language and cusioms differ enlirely from ihe
tribes in Sind and Xhorasan, The Khan of Khelal is a Brahu,
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Mihrabkhan, was therefore put in power at Khelat by the
British under treaty,

Colonel James Outram was with the British force at
Khelat, and soon after the change of government effected
there he left the place to carry the news to the Governthent
of Bombay, Rahimkhan, the chief of the Menghals,® being
apprised of his departure from Khelat, pursued him at the
head of 500 men, some mounted and others on foot. Colonel
Qutram rode a camel and was unaccompanied by any but
the camel-man. He got information of the pursuit and
travelled post-haste to reach Sonmiani, where, as soon
as he arrived, he enquired if any of my goomashtas, servants,
or agents were present, A number of my men offered their
services at once, and he desired them to hire him a boat
that night to take him forthwith to Karachi, He would
not come down from his camel until a vessel was engaged
and furnished with provisions for a voyage, and he set
gail to Karachi without delay., My goomashtas stayed
on shore until his boat was fairly off the coast and out of
sight, and then they returned to their business house. ’I'wo
or three hours after Colonel Outram’s depatrture from Son-
miani, Rahimkhan Menghal* arrived in the town and
enquired if any Eurcpean had come thither. He was told
that one had done so, but that he had immediately left for
Karachiin the first vessel that was ready to start, and he went
back much disappointed. My goomashtas communicated the
news to my brother at Karachi by means of a kossid, The
letter was read out to Colonel Quiram, who offered thanks
for his providential escape. I was then in Bhooj and the
news was conveyed to me by means of letters, I inforined
Colonel Pottinger of it, and ehe in return read out 1o me
Colonel Outram’s letter to him to a similar effect, Colonel
Qutram was two days at Karachi and then proceeded on
to Bombay,

1 “Fne Menghals are a powerinl Delooch tribe,

3 Sir James Qutram himself states that the chief from whom he had this
very narrow escape was ihe son of Wali Mehomed Khan, Chief of Wadd
{the Menghal capital), who had been killed al the siege of Khelat and
who desired to avenge his father's death.
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CHAPTER VI,

Pottinger leaves Cuteh—Oflers to befriend Naomul—Ietter Lo Suprenie
Goveinment—Naomul joing Ouliam—Ceases keeping cavaliy acconnts—
Naomul’s confidential mission to Mir Sher Mahomed, and furishmg of
supplies to iroops entering that Mir's teiritory—Naomul's diplomacy—
Interview with the Mir-DIir Sobdar's moonghis’ anival--Naomul visi{s
Mir Shali Mahomed who gives him forged leticr, supposed {o be from
Qutram—Naomul hands letler to Outram—Iunishment of forger—Mir
Sher Mahomed's letter 10 Sobdar offering bribe lo sccure Oulram's good
officeg—Ubhrimal’s knavery—Threatened hostilities between Hyderabad
and Mirpur Amirs—Naomnl an arbltrator-~Sher Mahomed’s letter to
Mir Sobhdar sccured bui afterwards stolen—Naomul’s mistake in not giving

it to Lieut. Leckie al once.

During my stay at Bhooj, Colonel Potlinger informed
me that the Government of Bombay had appointed Colonel
Outram Political Resident in Sind. Mr, Melville was
nominated to the post of Resident at Bhooj, and Colonel
Pottinger prepared for departure Lo Bombay., He therefore
one evening senl his residency Mooushi, Mr. Pitamber,
to me to comsult me what I would wish Iiim 1o do for me
before his departure, Mr. Pitamber told me from Colonel
Pottinger that the Government had feft 1t to him 1o make any
proposals about Sind he pleased and they would mect with
approval, and that if I thercfore liked, Colonel Potltinger
would recommend e for a very handsome reward in cash
in recognition of my many and important services ; or, if
I preferred it, he would recommend me for a scat in the
Legislative Council of Bombay! as a mark of special dis-
tinction. I heard Mr. Pitamber and told him in reply that
I would wait in person upgn Colonel Poltinger on the
morrow, and explain to him my views on the subject.

I saw Colonel Pottinger the next day and on his speaking
to me on the subject I informed him that as for a cash
reward for my services I cared little for money, that I owned
a very large and undivided family, and however large the

} This is evidenlly a inistake, See Introduction, page 19.

¥
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amount of reward, it would be comparatively of no use
to them, riches being so unfixed and unstable, In respect
to the other proposal, I told him I did not under-
stand of what earthly advantage my nomination to a
seat in the Governor’'s Council at Bombay would be to me,
when it was so improbable that I should ever be able to go
up to that city, that my family owned a mercantile house
at Bombay ever since the days of the Shidi Rulers but that
none of them had visited the firm in person., I told him
further that Sind was yet subject to the Talpurs and had not
become a British province, I therefore requested him
that, in consideration of the services rendered, we might be
permitted to enjoy the privilege of a permanent claim on the
regard and interest of the British Government, and be
permitted to maintain for ever a firm hold on the waist-
band of the Government, Thereupon in my presence he
took up a paper and filled all the four sides. He then made
two more copies of the document with his own hand and gave
me one duly enclosed. With respect to the other two, he
said he would send one to the Bombay Government and
forward the other to Colonel Qutram for the office files
of the English Resident at the Sind Court. He read out
the letter to me wherein,, among other strong expressions
with which he recommended me to the patronage of the
Government, he wrote thal the Government had entrusted
him with the difficult duly of arranging for the safe and
convenient transit through Sind of the Bombay portion of
the British forces sent out to replace Shah Sijawal on the
throne of Cabul. He willingly undertook the arduous duty,
but that he was not ashamed to acknowledge that it was a
task which he should have peen hardly able to perform
without my valuable assistance and aid, * Seth Naomul,”
he wrote, ‘‘ was my arms and legs, which held up and
“ supported my body, and were it not for his assistance
“the army under Sir John Keane would have found it
““ difficult to move on from Bamnikote to Shikarpur as
“easily as it did.” ‘The letter contained much more to
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a similar effect, (I regret, much, however, that the original
letter in my possession was stolen, as the sequel will
disclose, and I have not been able to obtain another copy
of the same from any of the Sind offices.) Colonel Cutram
soon artived and received charge from Colonel Pottinger.
Towever much I rejoiced at the nomination of Colonel
Qutram to the agency in Sind, Colonel Pottinger's scverance
of connection was the cause of great sorrow to me, I left
Bhooj soon after in company with Colonel Outram, and
arrived at Lakhpat, where I.again saw my father, Seth
Hotchand, who paid a visit to Colonel OQutram, At Lakhpat
I feasted the Brahmins, Falkirs and the poor people of the
place, and therefore stayed behind four days, Colonel
Outram meanwhile procecded to Hyderabad, where I
soon joined him. I passed my day in the English camp
in my tent, which stood next to Colonel OQutram'’s, and at
night I daily repaired to the town in compliance with his
wishes and spent the interval with my relations to collect
such political information as I could obtain, On my return
to camp in the morning I usually called upon Nawab Ahmed
Khan Iagari, who was among the first Sirdars of the day,
and with whose family my forefathers were on very {riendly
terims since the days ol his ancestor Nawab Wali Mahomed
Lagari, Nawab Almed Khan himsell visited me in the
English camp once every weck, and I generally took him
to Colonel Qutram, I'rom Nawal Almed Xhan I often
learnt much, but I obtained more information from his
Diwan, Diwan Fatchchand of Sehwan, who came to me every
day in the morning and dined with me, Colonel Qutram
al:o tried to gather information through the Residency
Mconshi, Mr, Allakbar, who was also advised to spend
his nights in the town of Hyderabad, He heard all I
commuunicated to him, and took down notes of what he con-
sidered important. It would be too long to mention all the
little services I rendered to Colonel Qutram at Hyderabad,
After some time the Bhooj Rassalah, under the conunand
of Captain Watt, came to Hyderabad and from thence pro-
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ceeded up to Khaunpur (Jacobabad), I was requested
to appoint my goomashtas to pay the soldiers their salaries
every month and to arrange for the supply of provisions.
I continued the work for five or six months, at the end of
which I petrceived that it was the business of an ordinary
shroff or banker and did not suit my position. I explained
my objections to Colonel Outram and told him that I should
feel much obliged to him if he could kindly permit me
to transfer the duty to someone else whom he might appoint,
and allow me to clear up all old accounts with the Rassalah,
and obtain from the Government the amount I had originally
advanced to Captain Watt at Bhooj to enable him to raise
the Rassalah. He accordingly wrote to Government
and obtained sanction to pay off my loan, and I soon severed
my connection with the Rassalah and called back my
goomashtas. Captain Watt was succeeded in command by
another officer, Curtis by name, and after Curtis’s departure
Iieut. Jacob, who was all the while a jumior officer, was
appointed to the command of the Rassalah, and he changed
the name of Khanpur to that of Jacobabad.

One day at 2.30 p.n., in the month of Poh, sumbat
18g7 (A.D. 1840-41), Colonel Outram sent for me, and after
T was seated he lifted up a pencil and held it up saying,
who would take up the gauntlet. I stood up and requested
him to let me know what it was for., e said he knew well
that I could successfully carry out what he wished to propose,
that he, in fact, considered me the most proper person for
it, but he could not, he added, communicate his proposals
to me until I offered to undertake any task that might be,
imposed, I then salaamed him, and took the pencil he
held in his hand, ¥e then disclosed to me that the Govern-
ment of Bombay had ordered! a portion of their army at

1 The Government records show that this incident occurred in October
or November, 1840, The nuits were the jrd Light Cavelry, under Lieut.-
Col. Wilson, from Rajkote, and the 4th T'roop Horse Artillery, under
Capt, T.eeson, from Deesa, Both crossed the Lesser Rann péd Santalpur
(in Palanpur) to Shikarpur (Cutch), They tlien came to Bhlooj, and,
marching separately on sccount of scarcity of water, proceeded due north,

and crossed the Greater Rann.
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Bhooj to proceed to Shikarpur by land, wid Bellary, that
he had written to Mir Nur Mahomed on the matier, and the
Mir had in reply informed him that he had personally
no objection to the passage of British troops through Sind,
but that Bellary and that part of the country helonged to
Mir Sher Mahomed of Mirpur and formed his possession,
Colone!l Qutram further told me that Mir Sher Mahowmed was
inimical to the British interests, and that he had learnt for
certain that the Mir would oppose the passage of British
troops through his territory, and that there would therefore
necessarily be some fight. He consequently desired me to
g0 to Mirpur of Sher Mahomed at once, and thence despateh
my goomashtas to the army at Bellary to arrange for their
provisions and carriage, and to remain with the force until
it had passed Sher Mahomed's territory. He wished that
I should myself remain at Mirpur, where Sher Mahomed
himself resided, and from that as from: the centre of action
watch the movements of Sher Mahomed and direct my
goomashtas as I might think proper. He added that it was
the most delicate and arduous duty which he had entrusted
to me, and although lie had the fullest confidence in me he
would nevertheless desire to impress upon me the necessity
of using the greatest care, attention and promptitude,

In accordance with Colonel Outram'’s directions, I
immediately prepared [or depariure to Mirpur., He got
twenly camels for me from the Commissariat Department
to carry my luggage, and ordered twenty mounted soldiets
out of the ote hundred horsemen lelt behind with him by
Captain Watt, to accompany me, and he drew an order on
the Residency treasurer to place Rs. 50,000 at the disposal
of such of my goomashtas as I might appoint to receive
the sum for my use, I told him that I felt disinclined to
cafry treasure with me, that my measures could not be
obstructed for want of money, especially in Sind, which was
my native province, and that wherever I went I could find
a home, that in Sind I could command inoney event in a
degert, and therefore wished that hie should not burden me
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with the carrying of cash. He replied that such were the
orders of the Government, and I must nccessarily take some
cash with me, and if I did not require it at Mirpur I might
‘ send it on with my goomashtas to the Commander of the
force, and obtain a receipt from him on delivery, The
amount was, however, at my request lowered down to
Rs. 20,000 only.

I was ready dressed in my military garb and went to
bid farewell to Colonel Qutram who was much pleased to
see me prepared to start, As a last piece of advice he told
mie to keep the news of my going to Mirpur a perfect secret
until I reached the place, which he wished me to do as
soont as I could. My eldest son Trikamdas was with me
at Hyderabad, and I left him in my tent tunder the care of
one of my confidential goomashtas. I started for Mirpur
at 4.30 in the afternocon. I made all possible haste to
journey on, but my march was necessarily guided by my
baggage camels, which were camels of burden and walked
slowly., I had only crossed the Fuleli when the sun set,
and when I reached Dabiari, a place eight or nine miles
distant, it grew so dark that we could not proceed further
owing to pitfalls, canal excavations, and other difliculties
of the way incidental to a country not traversed by regular
roads. Our people could not find their way and we had to
* alight at a little distance {from the village, When the moon,
however, rose, at 12 at night, we again reloaded our camels
and proceeded on., At 5 o'clock in the morning we neared
Alahyarka-Tanda., Not wishing to enter the town, and
thinking it impolitic to go to Mirpur during the day, I put
up in a dharamsala?! along the banks of a canal a mile-and-a-
half distant from the Tanda, I restarted at about 5 o'clock
in the evening and passed Allahyar's Tanda by the fish
market, A number of men were informed of my arrival,
and soon hundreds flocked around me and begged of me to
stay a little, T told them that I had urgent business at
Lakhpat, and I must go. So I took my leave of them

1 A public rest-house, or caravanseray.
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and journeyed on, At midnight I reached Mirpur and
observed a nice spot 1o the east of the town. I thought of
pitching my tents there, but expecting to find a still more
suitable spot I passed straight through the main bazaar
of the town from one exilremity to the other, and I saw a
spot more elevated which, however, on close examination,
was discovered to be a resting-place for sheep and goats
and spread over with their dung., I therefore retraced
my steps the same way to the first spot, and was amused
to find that not even a dog barked both on my way up
and down., Mirpur was the seat of government and the
headqguarters of Mir Sher Mahonied, and what struck me
most was the fancied security in which the Amir thus lived
in his own capital, I had my tent pitched to the east of the
town opposite the fort, within which Mir Sher Mahomed
resided. Ihadhadnosleep foriwo nights, and so feeling weary
I went to rest after giving directions concerning the pitching
of different tents, Belore four in the morning the arrange-
ments were all perfected, all was in order, and I was accom-
modated in my principal tent. I hadinstructed my men not
to inform anyone of my arrival, With the dawn of day, the
whole of Mirpur was startled to find a number of tents, having
as it were sprung up during the night, on the plain opposite
the fort. Various rumours went afloat : some conjectured

* that a sahib-lok (Tiuropean) had come, and numbers collected
~ to obtain some information or a glimpse of him who lodged
within the tents. The whole town was in agitation. It
“was the month of Ramzan and the Mussalman {asting-days,
Mir Sher Mahomed, in accordance witlh the custom of lis
court, leld no durbar and kept all the time within his private
apartments. When he was, however, informed of what had
as it were sprung up during the night, he lost all rest. He
repaired to the durbar roomns and sent men after men to
learn who had come. But the guard would not permit
anyone to approach my tents, His curiosity therefore
grew still more intense, and with it his anxiety increased,
At length some of my men happening to go to the town
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on business, people came to learn who had arrived, The
news was communicated to Mir Sher Mahomed, who sat
all the while in durbar, He then desired to know the reason
of my going to his capital. Thereupon two Hindu gentle-
men, Messts, Jethmal and Pirimal, who were originally
in the employment of Mir Ghulamali Peroz and had since
taken service under Mir Sher Mahomed, offered to bring
him the information, “These two men accordingly came to
my tent and told the guard to inform me that they had come
to offer their services and pay their respects to me. I called
them in and after some indifferent conversation they said
they wondered to kunow how I should have condescended
to honour their poor town with a visit. In reply I simply
told them that I was advised to go there for a change of
climate. They then departed and communicated the news
to Mir Sher Mahomed, whom they further informed that his
principal muktyarkhar, Diwan Chatursing, was related to
me, and advised him to send the Diwan to me to know
further particulars. Mir Sher Mahomed accordingly directed
Diwan Chatursing to see me and prevail upon me to pay him
a visit, Diwan Chatursing was doubtless related to me, and
he came to me in the evening by direction. After some in-
different conversation he enquired from me why I had come -
to Mirpur, but I gave him no direct reply. He then in-
formed me that Mir Sher Mahomed had given ime his
salaams, and that he had desired to see me, adding that the
Mir had learnt of my arrival at Mirpur in the morning and,
unlike the usual practice of the Mirpur Sirkar during the
month of Ramzan, which I knew was the month of fasts
for Mussalinans, he had left his private apartments and was
seated in the durbar room earngstly expecting a visit from
me, that it was almost evening and Mir Sher Mahomed
had not stitred out from the durbar room and that he had
deputed him (Diwan Chatursing) to accompany me to the
Mir. I replied that I did not feel well then, nor did I
consider it essentially necessary to go to the Mir immediately,
but as his ancestors and my ancestors were on very friendly
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terms I would pay him all the respecet hie deserved at some
other time when I felt better, “Lhe Diwan then said that
Mir Sher Mahomed was informed that he was related to
me, and that if I did not accompany him the Mir would feel
greatly disappointed, and it would lower him in his cstima-
tion and damage his prospects. 1 then considered it a
proper and fit opporlunity to visit the Mir and sound his
heart, so taking four sowars with me I rode up Lo the Mir's
bungalow, a remarkably old and dilapidated building of
the days of Mir Thara! where he sat in state, Oun my
entering he offered me a “‘munji,” and after the usual
salutations were over he asked me why I did not give him
either a letter or message from Colonel OQutram nor even his
salaams, I told him that Colonel Qutram had neither given
me any compliments to him nor a letter, and so I could not
tender any, He said he and Colonel Outram were friends,
I replied that they were not, but that I and he (the Mir)
were inhabitants of the same country and our ancestors
bore goodwill towards eacli other, and so I went to pay him
a visit and respects on my own account.

One Imambaksh, a Sayed, inhabitant of Nagore, who
attended the durbar and was present on the occasion, then
enquired of me if I knew anything of a fight that had taken
place somewhere towards Jodpur, in ITindustan proper,
between the English and others. He addressed {the question
to me, and several mouths at once opencd to answer him,
some stating they (meaning the Tnglish) received hard shoes
(meaning severe beating wilh shoes), and others said they
were well discomfited ; many others {ollowed in the same
strain, imputing various acts of shame and disgrace to the
English arms. I looked om in silence without utltering a
single word, The Mir, then turning his face towards me,
enquired why I did not reply to what I had heard., T then
answered : “ Sayed Imambaksh put me a simple question,
and before I could reply a number of people sitting around

R’

1 Mir Thara was the grandfather of Sher Mahomed, and the fonuder of
the Mirpur dynasty.
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began to speak the most unbecoming things in the most
unbecoming language, of the English Government, whereby
they, however, only displayed their folly and ignorance,
«« Well, Mir Sahib,”’ T added, ‘ hear me now. Your ancestors,”’
I continued, ‘‘ spent lakhs and lakhs of rupees in the employ-
ment of elchees (ambassadors) at the courts of various kings,
who communicated trustworthy information, but vyou
young Amirs considering such expenditure useless have
discontinued that policy, and have chosen instead to spend
large sums of money on personal pleasures and the purchase
of luxury. And what is the result ? In place of authentic
and trustworthy information that one would expect to hear
at the courts of kings, here are circulated the bazaar gossip
and the tales that opium-caters and chersh! or ganja-smokers
delight to tell, Mir Sahib, when one hears another blas-
pheming his god, his religion, his religious preceptor, or
him whose salt he eats, 7.., his employcr, he should if he
has the power cut off the tongue of the blasphemer, but
if he be powerless he had better turn a deaf ear to the abuses.
I have been hearing all this blasphemy uttered against
the British Government, and that at your durbar, and feel
much aggrieved, Buf I am a resident of Sind, and subject
to you, and therefore powerless and can do nothing.”’ So
saying, I stood up and bade him {arewell. He said, * Wait,
wait,”” but I took my leave and departed, telling him that
I should see him again on some other occasion.

As T returned from Mir Sher Mahomed I directed my
confidential goomashta, Rewachand Mahirchand, to prepare
to go to the Tnglish camp at Bellary, and carry with him
the treasure given by Colonel Qutram, which he was to make
over to the Commander of the ferces, and obtain a receipt.
I further told him to remain with the troops to render any
assistance he might be called upon to give until they had
passed the territory subject to Mir Sher Mahomed inio the
domains of the Hyderabad Amirs, that he was then to

1 Chersh is 8 sweetmeal made of the intoxicating ﬂowers of Indiau hemp,
and ganja cousists of the drled flowers and seed, whichare used for smoking,



110 SETH NAOMUIL HOTCHAND, C.8.I

return to me at Mirpur where I should remain until his
return and bring with him a certificate from the Eunglish |
Commander testifying how useful hie had been. I ordered °
sixieen sowars to accompany him, and he started, though
much afraid at heart, I did not inform him of the result
of my visit to Mir Sher Mahomed.

Mir Sher Mahomed having failed 10 learn from me direct
why T went to his capital, wrote to Mir Sobdar at Hyderabad,
whom he always consulted, and with whom he was at one,
to enquire the reason of my wvisit to Mirpur. IHe grew
restless and the delay made him more anxious, and he started
a regular post to Hyderabad to obtain the news. At length
Mir Sobdar sent his principal officers, Moonshi Awatrai
and Diwan Salamatrai, to Mirpur to quiet the fears of Sher
Mahomed, and to give ease to his mind. They came with
very great pomp, mounted on horses covered with gold
and silver trappings, Diwan Salamatrai was my friend
and relation, and he came to visit me directly at the advice
of Moonshi Awatrai, He began to dive vartously into my
heart, and asked me over and over again why I went to
Mirpur, I gave him but one answer, that Mirpur was known
for its good water and climate, and I was advised to visit it
for the sake of my health, They stayed at Mirpur for eight
days, during which time Diwan Salamatrai canie to me every
day, They then went back to Hyderabad, and I was in-
formed that Moonshi Awatrai promised Mir Sher Mahomed
to effect his friendship with Colonel Qutram, and the Mir
in return agreed to pay Rs. 20,000 on account of expenses
in a letter addressed to Mir Sobdar, whereitr he further
desired that his friendship with Colonel Outram should be
concluded on the same basis as that of the Hyderabad
Amirs, Moonshi Awatrai, I was told, after having obtained
this document from Mir Sher Mahomed, left {for Hyderabad
immediately, 1 was at Mirpur when I heard of the death
of Mir Nur Mahomed, and learnt that Raja Kharaksingh,
of the Punjab, eldest son of Raja Raunjitsingh, had breathed
his last, and that his grandson Nao Nihalsingh, too, had been
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killed by the fall of an arch of the Lahore fort while
returning home from the funeral ceremony of his father.!

My goomashta Rewachand having seen Jnglish troops
safely cross over into the territory of the Hyderabad Mirs,
and having carried out my direcltions in every respect,
returned to me after the expiration of a month, at Mirpur,
where I stayed all the while, He brought with him a receipt
for the amount handed over by him to the Commander of
the forees, and a certificate testifying to the service he had
rendered. ? |

In the interval I never went to see Mir Sher Mahomed
again, and after Rewachand’s return I soon leit Mirpur
to return to Hyderabad, I arrived at Alahyar's Tanda and
halted there for the day, All respectable people of the town,
whether Hindus or Mussalmans, honoured me with a visit,
bringing with them according to the custom of Sind, sugar
candy or butter as presents. At seven o'clock in the evening
some confidential servants of Mir Shah Mahomed, the younger
brother of Mir Sher Mahomed, who resided at Alahvar's
Tanda, visited me on behalf of the Mir, and after com-~
municating to me the Mir’s salaams, told me that the Mir
earnestly desired to see me in private on some important
business, and that he had repaired to a small bungalow in
a garden close by the spot where I resided, and there awaited
my arrival. They pressed me to meet him, and I consented
to visit the Mir. On my going to him he received me very
cotirteously, and informed me that he was on very friendly
terms with Colonel Outraimn., I contradicted him directly,
when he repeated his former assertion, and said that as a
token of his friendship Colonel Outram had lately addressed
him a letter bearing his officialeseal and sent two Furopean
pistols. He added that his friendship with Colonel Qutram
was negotiated by Agha Ibrahim Shah, son of Agha Ismail

! The fall of the mass of stone may have been ihe result of a plot, as
Sir Lepel Griffin thought, or purely accidental, owing to the firing of cannon
at Kharaksing's death having loosened the masonry. It happened on
5th November, 1840,
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Shah, whom he had on that account handsomely rewarded
by conferring upon him a Jaghir of 1,000 bigas, and paid
him Rs. 2,500 in cash for the purchasc of presents in kim-
khabs (silks embroidered with gold and silver thread) for
Colonel Outram, and that he had morcover agreed to
give him Rs. roo (kori) mounthly for all {future negotiations
between him and Colonel Ouiram. X e offered to produce
botlh the letter and the pistols, and on my asking him
to do so he showed me boih, I looked at the letter and
found that il was drawn up in Peisian, and the envelope in
whiclhi it was enclosed bore a squarc seal on wax in Peisian
characters. I then gave him assurance and told him to
take heart, and only asked of him the use of the letter
he had shown me for a few days, and this he willingly
handed over to me, I 1ook my leave of him and returned
to my tlenis near Sataunmal’s Well, where I had put up,
and immediately gave ordes for a stait, My supper
was ready, hut I would nol wait 1o paitake of it until I
had reached Jam Hala's Panda, eight miles distant from
Alahyar’s Tanda, where I rested for a few hours, and re-
started for Hyderabad while it was yet night., Next
morning I rejoined the English camyp, and had the happiness
to be in Colonel Outram’s company again. I informed him
of all that had passed at Miipur, my conversation wilh Mir
Sher Mahomed, and how it thiwew {the Mir inlo consterna-
tion, I informed lim how my goomashia Rewachand had
served the British troops while passing through Sher Ma-
homed’s touilory, and handed over to him the certificale
of the Commander tlestifying to Rewachand’'s useiulness,
He was pleased with all that I told him and thanked me for
it, In a letter dated 8theDeceimnber, 1840, addressed to
the Govermment of India, he took an official notice of my
services which, he summed up in the following {lerms i—

“J take this opporiunity of calling Lo recollection my
“letter to your address, dated 41h Junc last, recommending
“a small pension and dress of honour to be conferred on
“Naomul Seth for former services, to which no reply has
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“yet been received. Since when I have received much
“ assistance from that devoted friend of tiie Biitish Govern-
‘““ ment in the present negotiation with Mir Sher Malhomed,
‘““ as shown in the accompanying correspondence, in assisting
‘“the {roops in passing through the country, and also in
“ bringing to light the peculalions of Moonshi Jethanand,
‘“ whereby he has not only brought upon himself the enmity
‘ 0[ that individual but also of all {he most influential
soticars of the (:ity who were concerned in Moonshi

““ Tethanand’s frauds.”
When I, however, lastly tﬂld Colonel Qutram of my
meeting with Mir Shah Mahomed, and how I had managed
to obtain possession of the letter of alliance addressed to the
Mir in his name, he felt exceedingly rejoiced. I showed
him the letter which I had with me at the timne, and after
he had read it he infortned me that the letter, which was
drawn up in his name bore a forged seal in Persian, that it
acknowledged the ieceipt of the present of kimkhabs from
the Mir, and informed him of a return made in pistols,
I informed him that the Mir had told me that the alliance
was duly negotiated by Agha Ibrahim Shah, whom he had
rewarded for the service thus supposed to have heen rendered,
He said it was a case of the grossest fraud against the English
Government, and that I had caught a big fish. He addressed
a letter Lo Mir Nasir Khan on the subject in the strongest
terms possible, and demanded the prescnce of Agha Ibrahim
Shalr at the residency for enquiry and investigation., Mir
Nasir Khan sent for Ibrahim Shah and all his elder brothers
at his court and enquired into the matter. Ibrahim Shah
ultimately acknowledged his guill, Mir Nasir Khan
thereupon rode up in person to Colonel Outram one evening
at seven o’clock, and requested him to desist from holding
the enquiry himself, as Agha Ibrahim Shah was a son of the
chief Sirdar of the Sind Court, Agha Ismail Shah, who,
as a special mark of distinction, was allowed to ride in a
palanquin, and it would be therefore detrimental to the
honour of the Sind Court if he surrendered Agha Ibrahim

1
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Shah to himy, but that he, nevertheless, promised to mete
out deserving punishment to the Agha himself, as he had
acknowledged his guilt, Agha Ibrahim Shah was accor-
dingly sentenced to two years’ imprisonment by the Mir,
‘and he remained in custody at the Inglish camp in charge
of a gunner, Thereafter Colonel Outram desired me to
try to obtain possession of the letter sent by Mir Sher
Mahomed to Mir Sobdar, through his officer Moonshi
‘Awatrai, soliciting Mir Sobdar’s good offices in effecting
his allianice with Colonel Outram, and promising to pay
Rs. 20,000 for necessary expenses. I told Colonel Outram
that that was an affair which would cost money, and he
assured me that the British Indian Government would
defray all expenses that might be incurred. I therefore
set to work and took no little pains and trouble to secure
the document., At last, one Ubhriamal, an Amil resident
at Hyderabad, offered to bring me the letter in original
provided I gave him Rs. goo (kori) as reward money,
Ubhriamal was a well-known character. Fe had had both
his ears cut off by the orders of Mir Sher Mahomed for
some fraudulent act that he had committed. Feeling that
Colonel Outram was anxious to get posscssion of the letter
I did not grudge to advance goo rupeecs to Ubliriamal
after he had promised and sworn that he would bring e
the document immediately. But Ubliriamal never aftet-
ward showed his face, and ran away fron Hyderabad.
I commuuicated the fact to Colonel OQufram, who said that
I had lost my money and that the Government would
not pay me a peniy, as it was my busitess to have
taken particular care before I paid anybody cash in this
connection, "

Soon after, a boundary dispute arose between Mir Sher
Mahomed and Nasir Khan, and both sides prepared for
war, Colouel Outram interfered and offered to mediate
and settle the dispute amicably, At his advice, arbitrators
were appointed, and both parties agreed to abide by their
decision. Colonel Outram nominated (x) Mr. Whitelock,
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his Assistant, and (2) myself on the part of the English
Government. Mir Nasir Khan deputed (1) Nawab Ahmed
Khan Lagari, (2z) Mahomned VYusif {the elder), (3) Moonshi
Wahram Advani; and Mir Sher Mahomed was represented
by (1) his father-in-law, Alikhan Talpur by name, and (2)
Jafarkhan Nizamani, We proceeded up to Allahyar's
Tanda, and were there for fifteen days until the matter was
finally decided,

After our return to Hyderabad, Colonel Outram went to
Bombay for a month. Whendeparting he said to me that
he would expect to receive from me on his return the letter
sent by Mir Sher Mahomed to the address of Mir Sobdar.
He desired me to try to secure it and keep it safe, In
accordance with Colonel Qutram's desire I set to work
anxiously, and after much toil and trouble and at great
expense obtained possession of the original document at
last. I took it to Captain Leckie, who was Assistant to
Coloniel Qutram, whom he had left behind in charge of the
residency. He had the document read, and asked me to
give it to him. I told him quite innocently that Colonel
Outram had desired me to keep it safe in my possession,
and that he would take it from me on his retuin, Irequested
him therefore to write to Colonel Qutram to consult him,
He then returned the document to me, but from lhis face
I could see that he felt somewhat angry. Colonel Qutram
soon arrived, and Captain Ieckie filled his ears against me,
Pleased witls what 1 had achieved, I went to meet Colonel
LQutram with a heart full of joy. I was announced, but
to my great amazement he replied that he could not receive
me and that I had better go and wait upon Captain ILeckie,
I had always such a high hopes of Colonel Outram’s regard
that I should have been the last man to expect that message
from him, and I was much aggrieved to feel that all exertion
made and trouble taken and expenses incurred in obtaining
possession of the document, which he so earnestly and
anxiously wanted, were to no purpose. He did not seem
to appreciate perhaps my services rendered so gratuitously,
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and I returned lome feeling greatly disappointed. I could
never afterwards take courage to go ecither to Colonel
Outram or Captain Leckie, Ten or twelve days after this
occurrence, one night after I had retired to rest, a private box
of mine was stolen. ‘T'his contained Mir Sher Mahomed’s
letter above referred to, a certified copy of Colonel Pottinger’s
letter to the address of the Government wrilten by him
when he was about to sever his connectionr with Sind, a
pair of pearls worth Rs. 600, ornaments, and various
other valuables, I lived inrthe English camp, which was
well arranged and well guarded, and I was assured that
nobody could dare commit theft there, I mnevertheless
took every precaution for the safety of my things, and when
I was first informed that the box was missing, T could not
lead myself to believe that it was lost, as my tent was well
gnarded at night. I thought that someone had only played
a joke in concealing the box., But when after a great search
and earnest enquiry the box could not be found, I learnt
with sorrow that enmity and jealousy, and not temptation,
were at the bottom of the affair, I did not in the least
degree mind the loss of the ornaments or jewels in the box,
nor did I much care for Sher Mahomed’s letter to Mir Sobdar,
what T felt most aggrieved at was the loss of the copy of
Colone! Pottinger’s letter in the box. Coloncl Pottinger
had spoken to me int very high terms of the letter, and had
assured me that though Sind was yet then subject to the
Mirs, I should one day or other reap very good fruit on the
strength of his letter, I altributed the loss of tlie paper
so valuable to me to the Mirpur document, and repented of
the day when I kept both together in the same box, I
remembered Colonel Pottinger once telling me that he had
sent a copy of the letter to Colonel Outram for the Sind
Residency Office, and I asked the head clerk of Colonel
Outram to kindly give me another copy from the Resident’s
Office Records, which he consented to do., But he soon
informed me that on looking for the paper he found the
letter missing from the files although he had seen it there
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at one time,? ‘This news added to my grief, which, combined
with the effect of the hot summer days of Hyderabad,
brought on fever accompanied with vomiting, ‘The
Residency doctor attended upon me, and administered
medicine. One day, however, I was dangerously ill, and
Colonel Qutram heariug of it came to see me accompanied
by the doctor, under whose kind treatment and care and
by the grace of God I began to improve, though I was not
restored to perfect health for a long time, as the loss of
Colonel Pottinger's recommendatory letter continued to

prey upon my mingd,

! These incidents well illustrate the intrigues that used to surround a
Political Agency in India, and the methods adopted for ruining confidential
individuals, Seth Naomul had not been wise in keeping {he Mir’'s letter
in his own custody, and he certainly would have been ruined had not

his character been so remarkably high.—EDIroR.
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CHAPTILR VII.,

Marriage festivities—Distinguished guests—Return to Kargehi—
Naomul recelves through ITdeul, Bastwick the dress of honour {rom the
Governor-General—Construels houses in Sadar Bazaar—Mir's threats—
8ir Charles Napier's arrival—Air Ali Murad solicils Napier's aid against
hig brother Rustom-—Rustom's flighi—Atlack on 1Iyderabad Residency—
Rattles of Miani and Hyderabad-—Designg of Numrin, Kaimali aud Jokhia
chiefs to surprise Karachi and slaughter garrisoh—Alarm of Naomul's
family-—Panic in the City—Arranges with officers for defending Kaiachi—
Talpur flag hauled down and Naomyl sends kossids 1o Sir Charles Nni}ier
with letters secretly hidden—Naomul invites the help of Sahib Xlian
Chhuto-—Marauding Beloochis pursued—Trivunphantreturn of ITotchand—
Huglish detachment cut up by Reloochis—Naomul procures guides and
follows detachment into difficult hills—Distol shol fired~—Suspected
treachery—Belooch camps taken—The three chiefs surretider to Capt.

Preedy—Naomul appointed Deputy Colleclor,

In the month of Akhar, sumbat 1898 (A.D. 1841), it
was agreed to hold the marriages of my seventh and youngest
brother, Lekhraj, of my nephew Atmaram, and of my eldest
son Trikamdas, My goomashtas came up from Xarachi
a month before to make all preliminary arrangements,
and on the arrival of my family at Hyderabad, I left the
English camp and removed to the town. The nuptials
were celebrated with all due ceremony, and people of all
classes were {easted for more than twenty days. Iuvitations
were sent to persons living at the Tandas immediately
adjoining Hyderabad, and they all kindly atlended, Captain
Leckie, the English doctor, and all other people connected
with the Residency, with Nawabs Mahomed Khan and
Alalidad Khan, and other men of note, honoured me with
their visit and company. My health, however, showed no
marked improvement all thig time. I could not forget the
loss of Colonel Pottinger's letter, and distress on that account
aided by the effect of the summer heat of Hyderabad
continued to undermine my health, After the marriages
were over, I returned with my family to Xarachi in Sawan,
sumbat 1808, corresponding Faglish date, August, 184x.
The climate of Karachi proved congenial to my health, and
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I began to improve. I had been absent from Karachi for
two years continuously, six months of which were passed
with Colonel Pottinger at Bhooj, and the rest with Colonel
Qutram in the English camp near HMyderabad. All this
while I rendered service gratuitously and lived and travelled
in a style spited to my local position and rank at my own
expense., When I returned to Karachi I was however ex-
ceedingly happy to see that my brothers continued to be
greatly useful to the British force and navy at that station,
and that things were managed, as well as when I left Karachi
for Bhooj, I visited the British officets commanding the
troops, and was much pleased with their company, I had
my tent, as before, pitched opposite the general’s, and I
repaired to the camp every day in the morning at ro am.,
and returned home after 5§ p.m. ‘Two or three months after,
Mr, Fastwick,® the younger, who was Assistant Political
Resident for Shikarpur in Sind, arrived from Hyderabad.
I went to pay him a visit, when he infortned me that the
Right Honourable the Governor-General of India had sent
for me a dress of honour, consisting of twenty-seven cloths,
which he asked me to receive. I accepted the gift thank-
fully, A month after, one Mr. Candy,® of the Bengal
Service, was appointed Political Resident in Sind, and when
I went to see him he informed me that His FExcellency
the Right Honourable the Governor-General of India
was pleased to confer upon me a political pension of Rs. 100
per mensem,? that the Government would in return only
expect me to advise them on matters im which I might
be consulted, I thanked him and the Government for the
communication. The Sind Political Department was in
existence for only three months nore when, with its abolition,
my pension allowances also ceased.

L Yieut. ¥, B. Bastwick, authior of Dry Leaves from Young Lgypt,
suhsequently a Professor at Halleybury, Secretary to the British Legation,
Teheran, and M.P, for Peuthyn and Falimouth, 1868-1874. ILater in life
he was the author of Murvay's Handbook for India.

? T'his name the Editor cannot trace,

3 Bee Appendix X.
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I however continued to visit the Inglish camp regularly,
Ohe day, Captain Henry Preedy, wlio was at the head of the
Commissariat Department at Karachi, and acted also as
Bazaar Master (Cantonment Magistrate), took me to the
Commander of the [orces, in whose presence he told me,
'“We have tried much and exerted our best to finprove the
Sadar Bazaar. We have got the Amirs to consent to exempt.
all goods intended for sale in the Sadar from transit duty.
But with all that no natives of the town would open shops
in the Sadar, and we learn that the officers of the Talpur
Government do forbid and frigliten the traders, and o one
can muster t1p courage to come to sell within Cantonment
limits,” He therefore solicited iny oflices and assistance
in the matter of the development of trade in the Sadar.
I replied that I was ready to do anything they com-
manded even at the sacrifice of incturring the displeasure
of the Talpur Government, I knew f{or certain that the
native officers did discourage traders from opening shops
in the Sadar, but since they desired my assistance and aid,
I should gladly do what I cotld to open shops in the Bazaar
for the sale of various articles, Accordingly, the very next
day I ordered several houses® Lo be built at my own expense,
started my own branch firm in the camp, and induced several
traders to open grain, cloth and other sliops for the con-
venience of the residents in ihe camp. I appointed one
Narsiugdas, of Alunedabad, as my manager, and he was very
useful to the sepoys in the way of granting them huudis
in favour of theit families on Hindustan proper and dther
parts of India. Trade in the Sadar thus began to thrive
and prosper. The oflicers of the Talpur Government
at Karachi thereupon coujointly complained to the Hydera-
bad court that I had ruined the trade of Karachi, and thus
‘materially injured the reventc? accruing thercfrom. ‘I'lis
so incensed Mir Nasir Khan that he despaiched a party

} See Inlrodunetion, p. 23. These bouses were pulled down under

Hir Charles Napier's regime.
* The inference is that the Amirs’ tax collectors would find it difficult

to enforce imposts in a British cantonnent,
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of zo horse to arrest me. T was apprised of the order by
my relatives connected with the Hyderabad court, and no
sooner did I receive the letter than I communicated the
news to Captain Preedy and the Commander of the British
force, They directly wrote to ILieut. Mylne! Assistant
Political Agent, to inform him of what they had learnt,
and requested him to protest against it, The letter was sent
with an express messenger, and as soon as Lieut. Mylne
received it, he went in person to Mir Nasir Khan to ask him
if the report he had heard ,was true. Mir Nasir Khan
angrily said ‘‘ Yes, he had given the orders—that I had
ruined Karachi and injured his revenue of lakhs, and that I
was in his clutches and he would have me hauled up.” Lieut.
Mylue as angrily replied that he should understand that I
was under the patronage of the British Government and
secure under the care of the Governor-General of India,
He therefore warned the Mir against the adoption of any
proceedings hurtful or injurious to me. So saying Lieut.
Myine left him, and it had all the desired effect. Mir Nasir
Khan privately recalled his order, and no Talpur sowar
ever came Lo Karachi.

In 1842 Sir Charles Napier, being appointed Commander-
in-Chief of the British forces in Sind, arrived at Karaehi,
which he however soon left for Hyderabad, Inthe beginning
of 1843 a quarrel arose hetween two brother Mirs of Xhiyrpoor
~—Mirs Rustom and Ali Murad, and both collected their men
for a [ight. The latter was in communication with Sir
Charles Napier, whose aid he solicited in subduing his
brother, Sir Charles Napier readily consented, and Mir
Rustom {led and sought refuge with the Mirs of Hyderabad,
whither he was followed by Sir Charles Napier. The
Hyderabad Government was in a rage, and thought of
opposition. As preliminary to the rest of the drama,’
the Beloochis suddenly attacked the Residency house;

1 In the original Memoir the name of the oflicer is stated to be Melvlile,
bul the Parliameutary Blue Book shows clearly that the writer was Lieut,

Mylne,
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which Colonel Qutram however gallantly defended against
odds for a few liours, until he could arrange to get on board
a Government steamer on the Indus. The Talpurs collecting
their men advanced with an army ol 30,000 strong to
Miani, about four koss distant from Hyderabad, to check
the progress of Sir Charles Napiet, who had by that time
arrived at Halla., Sir Charles commanded a force of 2,500
fighting men only, but they were all well disciplined and well
trained, while the army of the Amirs was a crowd of hastily
collected and ill-experienced. Beloochis under unskilful
generals, unacquainted with the taclics of war, The battle
of Miani followed, in which the army of the Talpurs was
defeated, and it fled. ‘T'he Beloochis fought well and used
the sword bravely, but they were all untrained otherwise,
The Mirs fled with their army and shut themselves up
within the citadel of Hyderabad, The wvictorions 8ir
Chatles followed them, and encamped at Mirkhan's Tanda,
where the Hyderabad Mirs all went and surrendcered to him.,
The families of the Mirs withdrew beyond the Fuieli, and
Sir Charles Napier occupied the citadel.

Before the battle of Miani and about the time when the
Residency at Hyderabad was rashly attacked by the
Beloochis, the Mits had written to Jam Maherali Jokhia of
Mallir, Malik Ahmed Xhan Numria, and Malik Ibrahim
Khan Karmati,! to say that, instead of going to Hyderabad
to co-operate with the rest of the Belooel army, they should
unite their strength and with their combined forces suddenly
fall upon the British camp at Karachi, plunder and burn
all that they could lay their hands upon and kill every
British soldier, European or native, not leave an Tinglish
dog alive, and put to the sword every other person in Karachi
connected with the British or their party. The Amirs in-
formed their officers at Karachi of what they had written

1 Tt was from these Lhree chlefs, 1ie hieads of extensive Belooeh claus
in the hilly and deserl couniry around Karachi, thiat Setli Naomul
originally had procwred camels for transport. ‘Fhey were all men of
conigiderable influcnce and power, and the Numrin chief was related by

marriage to the Talpurs,
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to the Jokhia Jam and the Maliks, and further desired them
to give the Sirdars cvery possible assistance in tmoney
and grain to enable them to carry out their orders,

The three Sirdar Jaghirdars immediately collected their
men and intended to surprise Karachi and the Taglish camp,
But feeling desirous that no Mussalman should be injured
in the indiscriminate slaughter and carnage that was to
follow, they privately informed some of them 1o withdraw
from Karachi as speedily as they could, while they pillaged
and plundered the villages adjeining Karachi, The news,
however, leaked out from the Mussalmans to other residents
of the town, and all felt panic-stricken. On 16th Iebruary,
1843, as I was velurning from the Tinglish camp at eve,
I was struck with the suddenly changed appearance of {he
town. All shops and doors were closed, and the town which
in the morning I had left busy with the bustle of men,
looked all deserted, I reached home, and to my great
amazement I found my whole family assembled together
in one place and anxiously awailing my arrival, I had in
the meantime sent out men to enquire for certain what the
matter was, and they soon brought me wvery authentic
information about whal the Talpurs had written to tlicir
officers, and how these had sympathetically communicated
the news to their relatives and friends among the Hindu
merchauts, who were all prepared 1o belake themsclves
on the morrow to the ships and boats in the harbour, which
were all well furnished with provisions to lnst for several
days, and ready to sail away lo some [riendly port on
the slightest appearance of danger. On going home, where
all the members of my family had collected, I found my
grandinother, Lady Dbarianagal sitling among the rest,
and she angrily addressed me thus: “ Boy, I have witnessed
various vicissitudes of fortune and changes of Government.
I can call to mind many [ights and lights of the Talpurs
themsclves, and T well remember the Dight of people before

4+ = - Ll LT

1 Sellh Naomul's {;mndumther was tim ;vqifer of -St;tll “Ifnlumudus. 'Thu
lady in the text would therefore be his prand-aunt,
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the invading army of Madad. Boy, I know not what you
mean by compelling your whole family on your account
alone to expose themsclves to danger and slaughter,”
This took place on the night of the 16l February, 1843,
and my grandmother anxiously desired me that I should
arrange somehow or other to send them away inimediately ;
that it mattered little if all property were plundered, pro-
vided lives could be saved. I then quictly and calinly
replied : ““ Be happy, fear nothing ; be alraid of naught,
and quietly pray to God. Opur ship, the Kofia Haripasa,
is anchored in the harbour with Seth Hotchand on board.
The wvessel is well and plentifully provisioned, manned
by Hindu sailors of Porebunder, and we can all sail away
at a moment’s notice, There are besides a number of
English ships in the harbotr, my men take provisions to
them every day, and we can find shelter even on board
any one of these vessels in case of need ; but it is too late
now to do aught, the night betng far advanced. In the
morning I will do as you will desire, and arrange for your
departure if it should please you.”

1 gave them great assurance and then retired to my
business house to scek rest. But anxiely drove away all
sleep from my eyes, and I impatiently watched the break of
dawn. As soon as it was mornmg I was mounted and I
rode up to the Tuglish camp. T called at Captain Preedy’s
cottage door. A jamadar who slept outside awoke, knocked
at the door, and Captain Preedy admitled me iuside. I
communicated to him all that T liad heard, Lhow the
Hyderabad court had directed the Jokhia, the Xarmati
and the Numzia Burphats, to surprise and atlack the English
camp, to plunder, burn and gut down all Iinglish soldiers,
and all connected wilh the Brilish in name or interest,
and to spate not even a dog belonging to the British camp,
I related to him what consternation the ngws had spread
in the town, and how pcople were 131'&1)-511. to flee. I
informed him how angry all my family wete, and what they
earnestly desired me to do, but that I would not send them
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away until I had previously consulted those with whom I
felt myself inlimately connected in interest ; and I therefore
requested him to obtain me the requisite permission to
embark my family on board onc of the vessels, myself
remaining behind with the Tinglish soldiers of the camp,
their companion in weal or woe, I said il was a moment of
great trial, and it required promptitude and courage, the
more so as the Inglish force in camp did not exceed 275
or 300 soldiers at the most. Captain Preedy then informed
me that it was threc days past and no post had arrived
from Sir Charles Napier's camp. They kitew not therefore
what had {ranspired after he had left Xhairpur, nor where
he was. Thereafter he dropped a line to Colonel Boilean
who commanded a regiment of Tiaglish soldiers, The
Colonel arrived within ten or fftecen minutes, and there
being no other private room in the house we all removed
into the bathroom, Colonel Boileau and Captain Preedy
conversed together for more than three hottrs while I sat
all the while listening, Captain Preedy told the Colonel
all T had comununicated to him., Afler they had done
their consultations, Colonel Boileau desired me to stay at
Caplain DPreedy’s t1ll he had offered his prayers (it being
Sunday), and partake of a piece of loal and a cup of tea,
On my representing to lim that it was past ten o’clock,
that il was growing warm, that I had neither lood nor sleep
the night previcus and felt thirsty, he oflered me sugar
candy to suck., I replied that sugar candy would only
increase my thirst instead of quenching it. e said T might
then go to the hotuse of my goomashta Naraindas, in the
cainp, and wait there for a few minutes, T then told Captain
Preedy that I wondered that Golonel Boileau should suspect
me, IHe therefore spoke to Colonel Boileau and told hit
that T was a devoted {riend of the British, and they should
have as much confidence in me as in one of themselves.
Colonel Boileau then permitted me to return home, I
mounted my horse and rode homeward post speed. When
I neared the Rambagh tank I met a fakir by the roadside
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who was almost naked and had ouly a picce of cloth wrapped
round his waist and front. He was unot a native of Sind
and looked like a Turk. I heard him exclaim in a mood of
madness in the Hindustani dialect, ' The !

TIinglish have
gained the victory and conquered Sind. ‘The Mirs have lost it
for ever.”” It was for the lirst time I ever saw the man,

I returned home through the panic-stricken town and
found about &fty or sixty persons, all the male members
of my family, with their goomashtas and servants assembled
at the business-house, awailing my returnn and directions.
They informed me that they had packed up things and were
ready to start, and that most people lhiad alrcady left, I
was feeling exceedingly thirsty, and I said “ Let me first
abate my thirst, and I shall soon tell you what to do.”
I bathed and went home, where my grandmother again
desired me to spare their lives and let them go. I changed
my clothes and sat to dine, and had taken only a few
mouthiuls when a servant came in to tell me that Captain
Preedy was standing outside and wanted me. I went to see
him immediately, and he asked me to walk before him,
which I did, dressing as I went along. When we arrived
at the flagstafl, where sat the officers of the Taipur Govetn-
ment, Caplain Preedy desired me to ask them to conle down,
There were present the following three: (1) Mahomed
Sidik, on the part of Mirs Nasir Khan and Hussanali ;
(2), Diwan Tickchand, on behalf ol Mir Nur Mahomed ;
and (3), Diwan Mulchand, on behalf of Mir Sobdar. ‘These
ijardars (revenue farmers) immediately descended {rom their
seats and stood belore Captain Preedy, who asked them
to walk on in front. They obeyed, and we went on till we
arrived at the spot now known as the Joria Bazaar, where
my servants met me with a horse and a canel both ready
saddled for mounting., Captain Preedy then desiring me
to take care of the ijardars, gnlloped away to some distance,
The fjarders gazed in wonder at one another, and at me,
and wished to know what the matter was, I replied that
I was as ignhorant as they, Captain Preedy returned within
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five or six minutes with the artillery and soldiers following
him. We again went towards the town, the officers of the
Mirs walking in {roni, I next, Captain Preedy following
with the artillery guns and soldiers, EKaracli was then
surrounided by a mud wall, and had {wo gates, the Mitha
and the Khara Darwazas, When he came to the Mitha
Darwaza, Captain Dreedy ordered four or five sepoys
who sal there on raised platforms to alight therefrom,
T'hey were forthwith disarmed and replaced by British regi-
mental sepoys., We then progeeded to the Chouri (towsn hall)
where the Talpur {lag {fluttered in the air. In accordance
with Captain Preedy’s directions, the flag, which had five
or seven streaks red and white alternately, was immediately
cut down and the Union Jack raised instead. All the articles,
papers and books of account at the Chouri were locked up
in a room under seal, and I was requested to iake charge
of the place. We seatched on through the main baznar
to the other extremity of the town at the Khara Darwaza,
where the same coursc of procedure was adopted as at the
first pate. The mud fort was then careflully manned at
different points and mounted with guus, Other minor
arrangemonts having been altended to, we velurned to the
Chouri where a proclamation was drawn up declaring
Karachi to have become a Brilish town, and myself placed
in authority, Copies of the proclamation were placarded
on the Chouri walls and at the two gates, the purport thereof
being tom-tomed throughout the town, Conlidence was
restored and shops and trading firms were re-opened in
the town, which again looked busy and [ull of life. The
change of Government was quietly ellected without the least
damage being done, or a single person being injured. A
Furopean scergeant of Lhe regiment was appointed 1o super-
intend the soldiers placed at different points, and sepoys
were directed to guard my house and dwelling-place.  “The
officers of the Talpur Govenument were removed Lo camp
and kept in custody there,

I had sent out people to ohserve the movements and
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doings of the Jokhias, the Karmatis and of the Numurias,
These returned to inform me that the marauders had
arrived within {wo or three miles of the Tinglish camp,
and plundered or burnt all that they could lay their hands
upon in the adjoining villages, but that having learnt
that the English were apprised of their intentions, and had
in consequence thereof occupied Karachi and imprisoned
the officers of the Talpur Government, they felt much dis-
couraged and durst not attack Karachi, I communicated
this to Captain Preedy, and the Commander thereupon
made what arrangements he thought proper.,

For generations past my family kept a number of
Beloochis of the Brahmani clan®in their private employ.
I had in my service at that time about twenty-five men
of this tribe as sepoys. When I went to camp the next day
after the capture of Karachi, Colonel Boileau desived to
thank mie for the communication made, and said that he
had taken every precaution against a sudden attack on
Karachi by the Beloochis, and what he carnestly wanted
next was some trustworthy information of the movements
of Sir Charles Napier, of whom nothing had been heard
after his arrival at Halla, ‘T'he postal communication by
land with Bombay, or Sir Charles’ camp, and every other
place having been cut off, he and the other officers felt
very auxious o kunow correctly what Sir Charles Napier
or his army were about, and requested if T could assist them
in the matter, I asked them tlo write out their letters
which I undertook to send on immediately, I then had with
me four or five of my Brahmami sepoys, and I ordered one
of them, Jado by name, a very faithful, true and daring
servant, to prepare to go ta Sir Charles’ camp on one of
my own riding camels, While Jado got ready, and pur-
chased provisions for the journey, the British officers wrote
out their letters, which covercd sixteen sheets of thin paper.
These were folded up after the fashion of native letters and
enclosed in Jado's sandals under a thin covering of new

1 See note on page ;;3*
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leather sewn up for the purpose. Jado left for Hyderabad
directly by the Mugger Pir route, avoiding the path infested
by the Jokhias and others. He reached Hyderabad exactly
thirty-six hours after starting, and found Sir Charles en-
camped in the capital of the Mirs. He went on enquiring
where Sir Charles was, telling all who questioned him that he
was my servant and was sent by me on business, He found
Sir Charles’ tent at last, and was admitted by him inside,
on his reporting that he was sent by me. 1In his presence
he tore the leather of his sandals and took out the post,

with the delivery of which he was entrusted. Sir Charles
was highly pleased with the skill and intreptdity with which
Jado had performed the task, and with the glad tidings
of the capture of Karachi. He offered to reward him,
and asked him if he could take post back to Karachi. TJado
consenting, Sir Charles entrusted him with replies, com-
municating in return the result of the battle of Miani, the
fall of Hyderahad, and the surrender of the Talpurs, These
he brought to me in the same manner within forty hours
after leaving Hyderabad., I took the letters to Captain
Preedy and Colonel Boileau, who felt much rejoiced. My
private Bralumani servants thus maintained postal com-
munication to and from Sir Charles Napier’s camp for
a period of fifteen days continuously, during which interval
the Jokhias and other Beloochis continued plundering
and marauding all round Karachi.

The depredations of the Karmatis, Numrias, and of the
Jokhias on the outskirts and in the vicinity of Karachi struck
terror in the hearts of the people, and all intercourse and
communication with the outside world was cut off, Captain
Preedy and Colonel Boileau therefore one day consulted me
if I could devise any means to check the ravages of the
Beloochis., Sahib Khan of Shah Bilawal, the Sirdar of the
Chhuto tribe, professed {riendship towards me, I had shown
him great hospitality in sumbat 1895 {A.DD, 1839) when he
visited Karachi in connection with the murder of Captain
Hand (vide supra, p. 95), in which some Chhutos, his followers,

K
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were implicated along with Khalifa Chakur. In return
for the kindness shown to him then he had pledged his
faith and honour to he useful to me whenever I shotld
command his services, Ile had satd, “ I am a resident. of
the hills, and, believe it, my word is unalterable, I will be
only glad to serve you even at the risk of my head.” When
Caplain Preedy and Colonel Boileaut solieited me {o assist
them with men, till they could gel reinforcements {rom
Bombay, I sent a Brahmaii sowar 1o Sahib Klian Chhulo
with a letier, asking him 1¢ recall to mind the promise
made by him some years back and to be useful 10 me with
his followers when I nceded his aid, that if even he had
applied “ met " (fullers’ earth) to his head to clean ii, he
should not wait to wash it off but statt for Karachi with
all possible expedition, L'he good IIill Sirdar, a faithiul
Mussaliman, direclly collected a body of 300 men, who were
at hand, and speedily sct out for Karachi, When he arrived
at the Habb he sent a man in advance 1o infoim me of his
approach, and soon came up himself and encamped along
the garden., I went to meet him and ordered provisions
10 be sent to him and lis meén. I {took him to the British
camp with all his followers, who were all well armed, and
I presented the Sirdar to Colonel Boileau and Captain Preedy.
They cxpressed great satisfaction, and the camp people
were surprised to see the Mussalman soldicrs, Captain
Pieedy enquired how I arranged about their provisions,
and offered to meet all demands {rom {he Tinglish Com-
missariat Department, but I informed him 1hat I liked 1o
defray their feeding expenses from my own pockel., Sahib
Khan recovered nearly the whole of the catile and other
property which had been driven off or stolen by 1lie plun-
dering hordes who hovered aboul Karacli, and 1estored them
to their 1ighiful owners, When the Karmatis, the Jokhias
and the Numrias were informed of Sahil) Khan's ariival
Lo render assistance, they fell still more discouraged and
dishearlened. In the meantime, refuforcements came up
from Bombay, and Sahib Xhan was allowed Lo depart,
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after having stayed al Karachi for eight days. He and-some
other headmen who accompanied him were, at my request,
presented with dresses of honour by the British officers,

Soon after this, my father, Seth Hotchand, who had
stayed for a fortnight on board our ** Kotia Haripasa, ’ which
was anchored near Manora, came to shore, Thousands
of people, boith Hindus and Mussalmans, of all grades,
collected at the bandar to receive him, and he was brought
home with great ecld?, accompanied by a large concourse
of people preceding him in a joyous procession.

The officers of the Talpur Government were afterwards
released from custody, and my brother Sookhramdas being
appointed Collector of Customs, I selected Diwan Mulchand,
with the permission and sanction of Captain Preedy, to
take charge of the town chowki (police-station). All other
arrangements concerning the administration were similarly
perfected, A little after this, Sir Charles Napier was
nominated Governor of Sind, and he selected Captain
Preedy for the post of Collector of Karachi,

At ten oO'clock daily I repaired to the English camp
and communicated intelligence respecting the feeling of
the people al Hyderabad and other parts of Sind, which
I obtained from wvarious sources. 1 wrole down all that
I heard, and read out the papers io Captain Preedy, who
took notes of what he thought important, which he, in his
turn, reported to Sir Charles Napier. My family goomashta,
Faiz Mahomed HMHussan, who managed our mercantile
business at Candahar, sent me very Lrustworthy news
about the doings and inclinations of the people of those
parts. I obtained similar infoimation respecting Persia
and Arabia from my agents iw Muscat, Bussorah, and other
places. All this I placed wilhoul reserve at the command
of the British officers, and of Sir Charles thiough Captain
Preedy.

A month and a half after the battle of Miani, the dispersed
Beloochis having rallied round the standard of Mir Sher
Mahomed, enabled him to face Sir Charles Napier at Dubiari
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(Dubha), a village ecight miles distant {rom ILyderabad,
on the road to Alaliyar's Landa. ‘Ilie Beloochis were again
defeated and Sher Mahomed fled 1o the mountainous passes
of the country of Doda Murrce, Ilis brother, Mir Shah
Mahomed, directed his flight towards Chandka and Katcha
to collect new fighting men, Sir Charles was apprised
of his intentions, and he sent a body of men to pursue hin,
He was overtaken near Janghar and brought hack a prisoner.
All the Mirs, whether of Hyderabad or Khairpur, Shah
Mahomed included, were aflersthis sent to Bombay by Sir
Charles Napier as prisoncrs of state,

A small detachment of troops soon after arrived from
Bombay to join Sir Charles Napicr’s camp at Iyderabad,
and to enable the men 1o start at once a nuinhber of camels
belonging to the Memans of Mallir were engaged for their
conveyance. They left Karachi for Hyderabad, vid ‘Latta.
When they reached Guja they were surprised and attacked
by Chakar Khan Jokhia, a ncphew of Jam Maherali of
Mallir, at the head of 200 or 300 Jokhias. The Iinglish
party being considerably smaller, could offer no resistance ;
their lugpage was all plundered, and most ol them were
killed, ten or twelve men alone being able Lo escape to
Karachi to tell the sad tale, Be it known that the Memans
acted in concert with the Jokhins, News of the disastor
was communicated to Sir Charles Napier for advice, and le
ordered that the force at Karachi should take immediate
steps Lo avenge the insuit offered to the British arms, and
to punish the Jokhias, but that greal circumspection and
skill be employed in cffecting the object, At the request
of Captain Preedy I sent out a few of my Brahmani Belooch
sepoys as spies to learn the~whereabouts of the Jokhias
and the Memans and their movements, ‘Ihey soon relurned
with the information that Jam Maherali Jokhia and Ibrahim
Khan Karmati had both left Mallir with their {families and
men, and had in fahcied security oceupied a very dificult
pass neat a makan® khown as the Mala Muhari on the road

1 Makan = hainlel.
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to Hyderabad, while the Memans had removed to a pass,
equally difficult of access, in the bed of the river above the
village of Damb, on the way to Sehwan., I communicated
the information to Captain Preedy in detail. Next day,
at four o'clock in the evening, Captain Preedy informed
me of what His Fxcellency the Lieutenant-Governor of
Sind had desired them to do, and enquired if I could furnish
trustworthy servants acquainted with the nearest route
to the retreats of the Tokhias and of the Memaus., I toock
to him twelve of my Brahmani Belooch sepoys, in whom
I had the greatest confidence, and who were familiar with
all the secret paths to the retreats among the adjoining
hills, He enquired from them personally if they had
thorough knowledge of the mountain passes and whethet
they knew the nearest routes. They said they were
acquainted with a path which was nearest of all routes to
the retreat of the Jokhias, and of the Memans, and which
would enable him to take them by surprise, but that it was
at the same time the most difficult, and little or no sweet
water could be had along the way. But the inconvenience
on account of water could be avoided, they added, by tra-
versing the country at a quicker pace, and the most difficult
part of the way devoid of sweet water was not more than
two koss in length, At ihis Captain Preedy told me that
they were going to prepare for an immediate start, and would
be ready to depart at eight o'clock at night, when he desired
me to be present with my confidential servants, I attended
accordingly at Colonel Boileau's tent at the time appointed,
accompanied by my brother Sookhramdas and twelve of
my mounted sepoys, with other Brahmani servaunts, all well
accoutred and dressed in military garb. We did as we
were desired, and at nine o'clock at night we were fairly on
our march, We travelled the whole night. At daybreak
the next motning we reached Damb, my servants leading
the way. We entered the village of the Memans at about
seven in the morning. The number of females in the village
exceeded that of the males, most of the latter having fled
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for fear. “I'hose that remained Dbehind, whether males ox
feinales, appeared before the Tenglish oflicers and with [olded
hands prayed for their lives, saying that they were poor
and helpless people. Most of the ulensils and other things
belonging Lo the British sepoys, who were murdeied ncar
Guja, were found in the possession of ilie people at Damb,
We stayed there four or five days, and Lhen oue cvening
started for Mala Mulari, where Jam Malierali and the
Karmatis had hidden themselves. We took {ten pakhalst
full of fresh watler with us for use on the way. IL was a
moonlit nighi, and till three o'clock in the morning we
expericnced not the slightest diflicully on Lhe way which
we found straight and smooth enough. ‘L'hen we entered
upon a path between high hills, which from ils sandy bed
then dry, marked the course of a river, T'his led to a more
rugged ground overtopped by a range of rocky hills, heyond
whicl, and on the other side of another dry channel, williin
a valley guarded by another range of difficult hills, the
Jokhias and Karmatis had taken quarters in safely, Our
passage throngh this stony and rocky ground with the cannon,
wagons and soldiers on foot was necessarily slow, and tlhe
day continued to advance. It was ilic month of April,
and the sun shone fiercely, more so on account, of the vicinity
of rocks., The toil of a whole night’s march over uncven
and rocky ground, aided by the heat of the gutt, inercased
our fatigne, The English officers began to grumble, It
was past eight and close upon mine, ’I'he Jokhias and the
Karmalis being in ithe meanlime apprised, took to flight,
and after the break of morn we could distinetly sce on the
hill-tops a number of the cnemy, now stopping to look
behind like deer to catch g glimpse of their pursuers,
and now taking to their heels, Our men grew enthusiastic,
and were fired with a spirit of revenge. One Ihodadad,
a Chandia Belooch, belonging to a iribe of Sindhi Mugsal-
mans known for their desperate soldiership, who accom-

1 A large bap made of bullock-hide, filled with water, a pair ﬂf which
are & bullock’s load,
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panied me as one of my most faithful servants, unacquainted
with the tactics of British warfare, let fire a shot all of a
stidden from a pistol which he carried. The British officers
with the artillery, already chafing under fatigue and mtense
thirst, could curb their impatience no longer. No sooner
was the shot fired than they raised a cry of ‘' Treachery !
Treachery !’ I would leave the reader to imagine my
anxiety and sorrow at the moment when I found that one
of my own servants was charged with the fault, and how his
act might be made to reflect against myself. The officers
urged that by firing the shot the man had betrayed their
intentions and given a signal to the enemy to fly, and thereby
defeated their aim. Some thought vet differently and
imputed still worse motives to the man, The Chandia
was immediately hauled up before the officers, and on their
enquiring why he fired the pistol he replied that they had
almost come up with the enemy, and as his pistol had re-
mained loaded for more than a month he was afraid it might
betray him in the moment of need, and so he fired it off
to try if he could depend upon it. The rage of the officers,
however, did not abate. We were soon at the foof of a steep
hill, myself and my men in front with Jado, the Brahmani
servant, as guide in advance of us all, the same man who
had rendered faithfil services on many previous occasions,
and who was well acquainted with the passes. The hill
was steep and the passage up and down again was difficult,
and it lay through a narrow path. Bui there was no better
way for the artillery to cross to come up with 1he enemy
encamped in a valley within a valley, We managed to get
up the hill-top, but we knew not how to get down again,
save through a pass beaten into a track by goats and sheep.

It was the moment of the greatest trial—myself broken
down by fatigue and thirst, with the artillery officers roaring
through rage as well, T dismounted from my horse directly,
and, fastening the reins of the bridle to the saddle, I held the
horse by a cord. Then allowing him to walk before, I
followed, gradually reclining against the rocks, until I reached
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the bed of the river at the fool of the hills, My men did the
same aftet me. As for the cannon, and wagons, lhe parts
were immediately disunited and the wheels and 1he rest
were all easily let {all precipitately down the hill, and were
as soon connected and rearitanged again, afler the arlillery
officers and men had descended.

Meanwhile my brother Sookhramdas had, with the
assistance of the guide Jado, managed to take the foot-
soldiers and the resi of 1he officers across thiough a shostoer
but more difficult pass, which was unsuiled for artillety
owing to the very rugged, crooked and uneven nature of
the ground, ‘That way lay, as our guide had previously
informed us, thiough an intricate range of hills, I had
therefore remained behind to ariange to take the atiillery
across the single hill, at the othe1r foot of which we had just
arrived, and beyond which on the other side of a dry channel
which extended along the hill, the cunemy had iaken
quarters in supposed safely.

From that hill we could distinctly see the huls of the
Jokhias and the Karmatis at the distance of aboul a mile,
It took us no time to reach ihe spol, and we observed
numbers of females running away, with lhair dishevelled,
towards the hills in the opposite diicction, cartying heir
little babes in arms, and olher children speedily following
them on fool. On entering the huls we discovered various
vessels on Lhe fireplace with food half cooked and grain
lying before the mills partly ground and parlly unground,
1 felt extremely tired and thirsty, and ordered my servant
to bring me water and a cot. They immediately brought
me Malilkk Ibrahim Khan's bedsicad and, having got my
bedding spread thereon, I lay down tuder the shade of a {1ee
to rest, untlil a servant brought me waler in ihe leather
bag. Having nexi obiained some wheatl flour, I made a
pastle of it in a porringer which I carried with me in a leaiher
case, and, moulding the paste into a thick cake, T threw
it to bake on a cow-dung fire, whiclh was kindled in the
meantime by my Mussalman servants, My men having
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then obtained permission went and gorged themselves with
the rice which the Karmatis had left cooked in their pots,
The huts of the Karmatis numbered about #5, and in none
of them cotuld my men discover a single valuable, save
cornn flour and different things made of coarse broadcloth,
which people in the country give in dowry.

The infdnt1y soldiers and the rest of the Iinglish officers
whom my hrother Sookhramdas had taken by a different
route, similarly fell upon the huts of the Jokhias, whom
they distinctly saw running away before them. The
soldiers plundered the huts dnd found among the rest the
articles of dowry which were presented to Chakar Khan's
sister, whose marriage ceremony had been completed only
a short time before, the men being unable to carry the articles
with them in their precipitate flight.

We remained at the spot for two days, and on the next
day lefl back for Karachi by way of Ranna Piteani, a much
longer and circuitous but easier route, An inteirval of
about a fortnight passed between our frst start fiom Karachi
and our return to it, during which I lost all rest and sleep
from anxiety and fear thal the slightest mishap to the force
through the difficult mountain passes which they had
however willingly and with full previous information undet-
taken {0 cross as the nearest iouwle {o the enemy’s camp,
might {end to speak against the many valuable services
I had rendered at great personal risk and private expense,
My doubts were not all idle, T knew well the very suspicious
characler of some of Lhe officers, and when we 1eached
Ghaghar on out way back, Captain Preedy informed me that
‘the General felt much enraged at the stupid conduct of
my Chandia servant who had fired the pistol unmeaningly,
and that he intended to report the fact to the Government

against me, T felt as it were thunderstruck with the
commitnicalion, and enquired of Captain Preedy whether
they doubted my fidelity, having known me so well. He
replied that he had the fullest confidence in me, and knew
me to be one of lhe most devoted friends of the British
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Government, and that he would try to explain the circum-
stance to the General, We reached Karachi in safety,
crowned with success, and offered blessings Lo the all-powerful
God for the happy termination of the expedition, . I for
one was Iully satisfied with the conduct of all my private
servants, and I gave them gifts and rewards cach according
to his merit in addilion to his fixed salary and fceding
expenses,

The Jokhias, the Karmatis, and the Numrias of the party
of Malik Alimed Khan soon felt themselves very niiserable,
They had learnt that the Mirshad surrendered to Sir Charles
Napier, and were sent up by hiwt to Bombay as state prisoners.
They knew not what to do under the circumstances. In
this plight they sent their messenger {o me to solicit my
interference on their belialf, 1 order 1o sceure to them thetr
jaghirs, prestige and position. Alter consultation with
Captain Preedy, Collector of Karachi, who on my com-
munication wrote to and consulted Sir Charles Napier
and obtained his advice and orders, I guatantced them
their jaghirs and position on condition of their quictly and
peaceably submitting to British authority, and T asked them
~through their messengers to come to Karachi to offer their
submission. They informed me in reply that they were
afraid to visit Karachi lest the British Government should
detain them as prisoners, and poack them off to Bombay
as they did the Mirs. They nevertheless oflered to approach
Karachi within a koss of Magger Pir, and said that il I could
visit them there and pledge io them my word that they
would be treated honourably, and that their jaghirs would
be continued, they would have confidence enough then to
accompany me to Karachi, and oifer their submission to
the British Government, ‘IMiey said they knew it as well
as I that there existed old friendship between our ancestors,
and they were not afraid to entrust their lives to my hands,
as they felt that their confidence would not be abused,
In accordance with the advice of Captain Preedy, I rode up
to them accompanied by a few sepoys only; I found the
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three Sirdars, Jam Maherali, Malik Tbrahim XKhan Karmati,
and Malik Ahmed Khan Numria, encamped on the othet
- side of the Mugger Pir, above the hot springs, with a force
of about a thousand men all armed with matchlocks. After
a lengthened discussion, Jam Maherali addressing me said
that they attributed the late attack on the Jokhias and their
families in the valley of Mala Muhatri solely to me; it was
next to impossible for the English, he added, to have found
out their deep retreat among the difficult mountain passes
without my assistance and guides, that it was an act of mine
which they much regretted afid which it did not hecome
me to have undertaken, knowing as I did the friend-
ship which existed between our ancestors. I then explained
to him how the whole fault lay at his door, and I reminded
him of his pledge of fidelity to the British Government,
which he had made through me at Tatta to Colonel Pottinger
at the time when the British forces under Sir John Keane
were passing through the country, and for which he was
rewarded by the British with the sum of Rs. 2,000, I
reminded him how he had broken that vow, first by under-
taking in person to attack, plunder and kill cvery British
soldier and all connected with the British at Karachi, and, .
secondly, by his immediate nephew Chakar Khan falling
upon and plundering at Gujo a small British detachment
proceeding to Hyderabad and killing several sepoys. After
a tedious and lengthened conference, I told them that the
day was fast advancing, and if they wished to accompany
me they should delay no longer. They then grasped my
hand and wished me to assure theimn again that they would
imeet with no dishonourable treatment, and that they would
he allowed to hold their jaghirs in peace. Then with a
cry of “ Allah-tu-har " they Stood up, and we all imme-
diately started for the English camp, which we entered
about five in the evening, accompanied by a thousand men
all armed. X took them direct through the main bazaar
to the residence of Captain Preedy. Going in first T
acquainted Captain Preedy with all that had transpired
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between me and the three Sirdars, and explained to him
the necessity of leaving them unmolested in the possession
of their estates. Captain Preedy having approved of my
proposal, I introduced the three Sirdars to him, When tlie
interview was over, the Sirdars woere told to toke their
station along the Layari route. Omne day I gave them and
all their followers a feast on my own account and at my own
expense, and I sent them the cuslomary provisions in wleat
flour, rice, sugar, clarified butter, and cash in lien of meat,
They were only a day or iwo after that in Karachi, and
then they departed, Captain Preedy having removed all their
fears and advised them to return to their permanent abodes
and live in peace as British subjects and under British
protection, assuring them that all that T promised them
in reward for good and peaceful conduct would receive due
consideration. Captain Precdy reported the whole matter
fully to Sir Charles Napier, who approved of his proceedings
and appointed im permanent Collector for that part of the
country extending from Ghorabari to Schwan. Captain
Preedy knew me long and expressed great kindness and
regard towards me, He one day told me that he had
obtained Sir Charles Napier’s permission to confer a Deputy
Collectorship upon me, and desired me to accept the post,

to which I coasented.
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CHAPTER VIII,

Sir Charles Napier's durbar on Queen's birthday, 1843-—Organisation
of police—Sirdars and great landowners suimnmoned—Napier's ungracious
reception of Naomul-—Resignation of Deputy Collector's post—Plun-
derings—Murder of Parsee—Sookramdas arrests murderers—Civil
appointments made on Naomul's nomination—Diwan Chandiram
prosecuted-—Naomul and his relations threatenmed—Removal of houses
in the Sadar Bazaar—Birth of mmal, 1846~—Naomul suspected-—
Charged with ilficit gains in remitting treasure—Full acquittal—Private
distillery abolished-—Illness—Sir Charles Napier's departure.

Soon afterwards Sir Charles Napier wrote to me that he
would hold a durbar at Hyderabad, on the 24th May, 1843,
and that such of the jaghirdars alone who attended the durbar
would be allowed to retain possession of their free holdings,!
the rest would forfeit their claim to any jaghirs they might
have enjoyed, and, further, that it was incumbent on every
respectable person and man of any social standing to attend
the durbar. Captain Preedy desired me to send intimation
of the approaching durbar to all Sirdars and Jaghirdars
and other people of note living in the part of the country
to the right of the Indus, from its confluence to the sea
tip to Katcha and Larkana. Circulars inviling people
to the durbar were accordingly issued, and I was required
to make all necessary arrangements.

Meanwhile the Lieutenant-Governor, Sir Charles Napier,
organised the Police Department for Sind,? portioning out

1 Tt was mainly owing to his liberal settlements of the land-tax, and
especially to all that related to the military landholders, that Sind te-
mained so contented in 1857, (Sir D» Frere,)

8 Drere writes of this : “ His police system was, at the tiine he iutro.
duced it, far in advance of any other in India. It has heen the model
for most of what g good in subsequent reforms of the Indian police, and
its performance has not yet as a whole been surpassed. It was in entire
accordance with the views of the most experienced Indian statesmen, but
was elaborated in Sir Charles Napier's mind, as he once told me, when he
was wutchinﬁ the Greek coast from Cephalonin and thinking how he would
manage such a country of brigands if he ever got the opportunity.’-—
EDITOR.
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the whole into three seclions according to the Collectorates
into which the province was divided for reventie purposes,
Tieut. Marston, of the 2511 Regiment, who had distinguished
himself by his valour at the battle of Miani m defending
Sir Charles Napier against the attack of an infuriated
Belooch, was appointed Lo the head of the Karachi Police,
He soont came to Karachi, and put up with Captain Preedy
who belonged to the same regiment wilh himself. Iieut,
Marston looked scarcely eighteen wears of age when lhe
arrived to take command of the police. Captain Preedy
and Lieut, Marston appointed Sheikh Ghulam Hussen,!
who was chowdri® of the 25th Regiment, to the post of
Fouzdar? of Karaclhi, The brother of the clder Brown,
Secretary to Sir Chatles Napier, was appointed to the com-
mand of the entire police of Sind,

The durbar circulars were sent round with my men, and
Jam Maherali, the Sirdar of the Jokhias, Malik Ibrahim Khan,
the chief of Karmatis, and Malilk Ahmed Khan, the chief of
the Numrias, with whom arrangementis had been previously
entered into, immediately responded to the call. I had
also sent circulars to the chiefs and sirdars towards Schwan
and Xatcha and to the following : DBaliwal Xhan, Chief
of the Rinds; Bulando Xhan, Chief of the Gabols ; ¥aji
Khan Lagari, Chicf of Xatcha; Bakhslio Khan, Chief of
the Jemmalis ; and Sayed Kaimshah, Resident of JThangara,
These wrote back to me 1o say thal they were exceedingly
willing to attend the durbar to avow their submission to
the British authority, but that the interval allowed being
short they requested to be looked upon as British subjects
in case of failure to attend the durbar in time in spite of
all their endeavours, The Sirdars of Chandka expressed
their inability to attend, having to look after their hiarvests,

I -

1 Though doubiless inimical {0 8Seih Naomul, he was, in tlie Bditor's
recollection, a valuable and loyal public servand, '

* Overscer-Superintendent of the Natlve Reginieni’s bazaat, responsible
for sanitation and for supervision over sirangers and disrepuiable
characiers,

I Youzdar {s the old Litle for tlie Clhief Constable of Police,
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which were ready for reaping, but they acknowledged British
supremacy, and would, they said, take the earliest oppor-
tunity after the harvest to tender their submission in person.
Accompanied by such of the Sirdars and Chieis as came up
to Karachi, Captain Preedy and I set out for Hyderabad,
and arrived at Tatta. We put up in the house known as
the Angrez-Ji-Mari (the storied house of the Tnglish),
myself occupying one side of the house and Captain
Preedy the other. Tatta was then an abode of religious
fermentation, No Mukhtyarkar had yet been appointed,
and Captain Preedy at my sliggestion nominated Assomal,
a. Hindu, and Mahomed Saleh, a Moslem, the two great
merchants and influential men at Tatta, joint Mukhtyarkars
of the place. From Tatta we went to Jhirak, where Mzr.
Matthew was Deputy Collector, and from thence to Hydera-
bad. Captain Preedy put up in the citadel with Mr. Brown,
and I also got lodgings within the fort, I entertained
" very high hopes of receiving marked distinction at Sir
Charles’ hands in consideration of my long and wvaluable
service,

We reached Hyderabad on the 23rd May, The duarbar
came on the next day, which Mir Ali Murad of Khairpur
also attended. He had managed to bring with him from
Larkana, forcibly and as a captive, Wali Mahomed, the
Chief of the Chandias, whom Sir Charles Napier, however,
set at liberty on his acknowledging British supremacy.
When Captain Preedy was introduced, I also stood up
to offer my respects, when to my great surprise Sir Charles
Napier viewed me with a stern look of anger, and then
turning to Captain Preedy spoke to him something in
English, which he explained {o me by saying that ILdeut.
. Marston, of the Karachi Police, had preferred a complaint
against me, to the effect that I purchased away all fuel-

1 The gallant Tdeut, Marston, whom the Lditor knew very well, nvas
» not a man likely to act from mere caprice agaiust Seth Naomul, but his
own right-hand man was a Mahommedan and would naturally persvnade
him to destroy the influence of a promineni Hindu, and in such clreumn-
stances a young subaltern would be easily led, (See Introduction, p, z0.)
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wood that arvived in Karachi, and {hat the inhabitnnds
of the town suffered greal inconvenicncee and hardship
on that account. May il he known {hoat Sir Charles Napter
was himsell of an eminently frank and noble dispositing,
but, thal very excellence of hus nature made him oo credulous,
Le could not personally converse in Hindustani, and in
reply Lo whatl was communicnted to uwe 1 requested L"u]riuiu
Precdy to inform Sir Charles Napier thatl iy servants al
Karachi were commissioned to purchuse fouel for supply
Lo all British ships and steamers anchored in the harbour,
as well as to the Comnussaridt Department at that station
for the use of British troops, 1 ecould well undersiand
thal sote ousclicvous person, laking advantage of Tieuat,
Marston's juexperience aid unaequaintance, had putl him
tp Lo make the complaint apainst me; and T told Caplain
Preedy accordingly, whose personal knowledge of things
enabled hint well to explain matiers o Sir Charles Napier,
I did not grieve me the less, however, thal nolwithstanding
tlhie many reports made by Captain Drecdy, showing what
particulatly valaable seivices I had rendered at different
times, Sir Charles Napier deenied iU it Lo blame mie in
open durbar for a comparatively insignificant and un-
impotlant matter, What o reward, I thought, for all (he
toil and trouble.  In short, Sir Charles Napier's stinplicily
of heamt astouished me no less than the [rankness of his
disposition,  T'rom all that T obsetved 1 could perceive
that the clder Browa and Moonshi Aliakbar enjoyed great
infhienee wilh Sir Chatles Napier,  After (e durbar the
visitors were penmilied Lo depart, and accordingly we set
out for Gidu-Bandar the next day, the 251h of May.,  I'romn
Hdu-Bandar we sel sail for atta on bhoard a Government
river steamer, and thence we returned Lo Xarachi by land.,
After our arrival al Karachi, Caplain Preedy enqguired {rom
Lieut, Marston how he had lodged o complaint agains( me,
He said he was guite new, and was nol personally aware
how thiugs actually stood, bul that Sheikl Ghulam ITussen,
the Iouzdar, and one Khushalyai, o Punjabi, laid {he
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information before him, and that Captain Preedy being
then absent from Karachi, he (Marston) reported the maiter
to Sir Charles. Captain Preedy repented much his i
patience, and I was convinced that the reporl owed its origin
to enmity.

Plunder and violence and consequent fear of unsafety
1o person or property, did not cease in Sind, Towards
Ghorabari, one Sadik, a khijmatgar! of the Amirs, plundered
a Government granary,? containing about 4,000 khararg?
of grain, and declared himself ruler of that part of the country.
Towards Manjhanda, the Xbhpsas carried on depredations
along the banks of the Indus, and in 1843 a Parsee merchant
while travelling on to Tatta, in a palanquin, was attacked
near Guja by a crowd of Beloochis and killed, his luggage
being all plundered. Caplain Preedy frequently expressed a
greal desire to organise the Revenue Depariment and to
appoint Mukhtyarkars throughout the Colleclorate, but he
could do little as the country was yet unsettled, and there
was 1o end to plunder and rapine by lawless people,

When Captain Preedy learnt of the murder of the Patrsee,
he informed the joinl Mukhiyarkars of ['atta of the occur-
rence, and he desired me to lend liim the services of my
brolther Sooklhramdas 1o find out the murderers. Accor-
dingly Sookliramdas, accompanied by {wenty policemen
which Capilain Preedy had placed at his service, and twenty
more of our own private sowars, sel oul in search of the
doers of ithe black deed. Ile wenl Lo Gharo and thence
sent oul various men 1o obtain information and somie clue

R —

b T i

1 9.0, 0 personal atiendant.

8 Under the Talputs the land 1evenue was poid in kind, and the produce
afterwards sold Lo bankers aud grain dealers. Selh Naomul's banlkdug
agency thierefore was extremely nsefubin 1cmitling the treasure which thuos
accmnuladled {o the Head Tieasumy at ICatachi, so as 1o avoid the risk of
forwording cnsh by road, As will he scen later, his enemiles aflerwards
wiongfully accused him of charging loo highly for ihis gervice, which
had really been periornmed on very reasonable terms, Land.revenue in cash
was ol inlrodoced U1ll Sir Barlle Thete’s administiation,

8 A katet, or kharar, is 27 Dushels of Fauglish measure. By weight
it varies according o lhe kind of grain, fiom 20 to 24 maunds of about

32 by, each.,
1
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of the murderers. ‘I‘hey soon returned with the information
that the dastardly act was perpetrated by some Chandia
Belooch cultivators who lived in a village known by the
name of Karampuyr, situated on the other side of the Baghar,*
towards Ghulamalla. Sookhramdas accordingly paid the
village an tnexpected visit, and on searching the houses
of the Chandias he found in their possession articles of
vatious kinds which the Parsee had owned, Seven men
were apprehended and brought to Karachi for trial, where
two who had murdered the Parsee were sentenced to be
hanged and the rest comthitted to prison, Sadik, the
Khijmatgar of Mir Sher Mahomed, who had usurped power
at Ghorabari, having enriched himself by plundet, secretly
withdrew from the country,

At Captain Preedy’s strong recommendation, my brother
Sookhramdas was appointed Mukhtyarkar of Ghorabari,
and the following appointments suggested by me at his
desire were approved of and made :(—

(r). Diwan Chandiram® of Talti to be Mukhtyarkar®
of Sehwan. He belonged to a family which held high posts
of honour both under the Kalhora and the Talpur rulers
of Sind. When first addressed on the subject he showed
a disinclination to serve, Feeling, however, that I could
not recommend a more respectable, experienced and trust-
worthy person for employment under the Government,
1 wrote to him again myself and he was induced to accept
the place offered to him.

(2). Diwan Pohoomal of Tatta was nominated to the
Mukhtyarkarship of ILaki.

(3). Diwan Jethmal of Hyderabad was appointed
in charge of Manjhanda., ,

(4}, One Moonshi Lalchand of Tatta was posted t
Jheruck.

* Baghat is a branch of the Induns, now a fine irrigation canal.

A See Introduction, p. 2o, describing Diwan Chandiranm. ¢

8 Mukhtyarkar is the chiel Revenue or Liocal Magistrate in the Taluka
or division of a district. !
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(5), Mr. Assoomal and Moola Mahomed were placed
in charge of Tatta; and

(6). A Mr. Bharimal was appointed to Sakra,

The Mukhtyarkars being duly appointed, the revenue
work was performed more smoothly. In September, 1843,
Sir Charles Napier came to Karachi and put up in a bun-
galow that Captain Preedy had then newly built. I called
upon him and found that he was chiefly guided by the
elder Brown and Moonshi Aliakbar, who drew monthly
Rs. 400 as salary, .

Salary lists containing the name and amount of monthly
pay of each officer, mukhtyarkar, moonshi and peon in the
Karachi Collectorate were soon afterwards received. In
these the services of Captain Preedy as Collector were put
downt at Rs. 1,200 per mensem, and my salary was fixed
at Rs.200 a month only. I thereupon told Captain
Preedy that I should continue to serve Government without
remuneration, as I had hitherto done, and I declined to
receive any remuneration, I could plainly understand
that Sir Charles Napier was not to blame in the maltter,
and that ill-feeling and enmity in some quarter had succeeded
inn effecting a change in the salary at which it was originally
proposed to remunerate my services as a Deputy Collector.,
Captain Preedy informed me in reply that he was not ignorant
of what was going on, and that he did understand things
well enough; but he desired me to accept pay for the
seven or eight months which had elapsed at the sanctioned
rate, and promised to have it raised at an early date.
I could not refuse to comply with Captain Preedy's carnest
desire, and consented at last to receive remuneration for the
past eight months at the ratesof Rs. 200 It was originally
proposed to remunerate me like the other two Deputy
Collectors, at Rs. 700 per mensem, and I was surprised to find
that the list of appointments and salaries as finally sanctioned
was left unaltered save where it affected me personally,

In October of the same year all the Turopean oflicers
‘moved oul into the districts. The younger Brown and
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T ieut, Marston went to Sehwan, and were visited by all the
well-known persons of the place. Some of these people
led them to believe that Diwan Chandiram was no friend
of the British Government, that he Dbelonged to a very
respectable family which always enjoyed places of honour
and influence under the late Government, and that the British
authorities wotld derive no benefit from his appointment
to so important a post as the Mukhtyarkar of Sehwan.
Diwan Chandiram's enemies soon got up a case against himn,
and Iieutenant Brown and Marston preferred reports
against him to Sir Charles Napier! Brown privately
informed his brother, the Secretary, of all that the enemies
of Chandiram alleged against him and of the consequences
likely to result from Chandiram continuing in office. The
elder Brown thereupon obtained Sir Charles Napler's
sanction to imprison Chandiram at once, and sent an order
to that effect to his brother at Sehwan. Diwan Chandiram
was accordingly taken into custody and brought down to
Hyderabad, where after a summary trial he was condemned
to pay a fine of Rs. 5,000, and to undergo imprisonment.
for a term of two years.

Diwan Chandiram had served as Mukhtyarkar for two
months and a half and had drawn pay for that period only
when the accusations were trumped up. The news soon
got abroad, and the treatment accorded to Diwan Chandiram
~was everywhere attributed to enmity. Lieut., Marston
next came to learn that Pohumal, Mukhtyarkar of Lakhi,
Jethmal, Mukhtyarkar of Manjhanda, and Hassomal,
Kardar of Bada and Petaro, were all three related to me
in one way or the other, and he had them imprisoned on
the charge of misappropriating a few pice each from the
cattle-grazing fees, which, it was alleged, were collected
but not shown in the account books., Witnesses could
easily be procured to prove the charge, and Pohumal was
condemned to two years’ imprisonment and to pay a fine
of Rs. 1,000, Jethmal was rewarded with two years in

! See, Introduction, p. 20,
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jail and a fine of Rs. 2,000, and IHassomal was made
to undergo two years’' imprisonment and to pay a fine of
Rs. 1,000.

All Sind felt startled at the news of the summary
proceedings, which earned me a bad name by throwing
discredit upon the selections made. I felt exiremely dis-
pirited and sorry, but was powerless. Captain Preedy
showed sorrow, but pleaded his inability to do aught, being
bound to obey Sir Charles’ orders. I, however, quieted my
mind with the reflection that it was an act of Providence,
and that perhaps there was a Inystery undetlying the whole
affair., Sir Charles Napier returned from circuit, and one
day soon after his arrival he came out of the bungalow
to see me, accompanied by Aliakbar, his favourite Moonshi.
He eyed me sternly and spoke something to Aliakbar in
Fuglish which the latter translated to me i1 Hindustani,
and stated that wherever Sir Charles Napier turned his
steps he heard the people proclaim my name and exclaim
““ Naomul, Naomul ! ” that he (Sir Charles) had conquered
the country by the power of his sword-—what weapon had
I wiclded, what had I done that the people should attribute
the success of the British arms to me ?  So saying, he with~
drew and retired into the bungalow.

Within the space of a short interval of time after this
the elder Brown, Aliakbar and Marston filled Sir Charles’
ears against me, and getting into a passion oune day he
addressed a letter to Captain Preedy in his own hand-
writing against me, stating that if he continused as the
Governor of the Province he would sec me committed to
jail within another two months’ time. Caplain Preedy
trembled when he read the letter and explained it to me
word by word., e said he knew that it was owing to pure
ill-will and enmity, but that he was quite powerless to
assist me, being subordinate to Sir Charles Napier, Con-
vinced at heart that I was not guilty of any improper act,
I did not lose courage and told lim in reply that, so far
as the Reventte administration was concerned, I had no
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hand in the work and could not be held responsible, as a
separate Shroff received and paid all dues, and he {Captain
Preedy) himself signed the account books., But if, not-
withstanding, Sir Charles wished to hold a trial, I was ready
to submit to any examination, I was not dumb, and
had a tongue to speak., I knew that I was innocent and
feared naught,

My personal enemies, among whom Sheikh Ghulam
Hussen and Khushalrai Punjabi took the lead, tried their
best to find some evidence, some proof, to entrap me. With
the sagacity of hunting dogs they caught every scent and
pried into and searched in every direction, trusting to find
me there, ‘‘ But what can a doctor do if there be no disease ? ”’
says a4 Persian proverb ; and there is a good old adage in
Sind, stating * If the Almighty take mercy the unpitying
enemy are simply rewarded with a storm of dust in their
face,” The most critical and searching inquiry took place,
but out of the trial I came out as unscathed and pure as
ever, to the great disgrace and shame of my harassers.
But may God spare their souls |

Sheik Ghulam Hussen, the Fouzdar, and Lieut. Marston
then thought of injuring me through my brother Sookhram-
das. They therefore proceeded to Ghorabari where my
brother was mukhtyarkar. XKhushalrai Punjabi gave them
men to act as spies, They stayed at Ghorabari for over a
month, and spared no device or effort to gather information
against him, They returned to Karachi at last, much
ashamed at heart I think,

A short time after, a great Zemindar of Ghorabari, Jam
Mahomed by name, came to Karachi on business in con-
nection with the lands he culfivated. He was acquainted
with Marston and Ghulam Hussen, and the latter one day
said to him that Lieut. Marston desired to entrap Sookhram-
das somehow or other, and he (Ghulam FHussen) wished him
to state on the Xoran if he had ever given Sookhramdas
any gratification. Jam Mahomed replied that he, Ghulam
Hussen, was labouring under a wrong impression, and was
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led by an idle fancy, as Sookhramdas was above temptation
by nature, and opposed to bribe-taking, Ghulam Hussen
returned, ‘ The holy Koran says ‘A true Mussalman is
he who will quietly bow down his head bcfore a stroke
from the sword drawn by the faithful, but a Hindu foe
may be allowed to mount up to the shoulder only to be
stabbed in the belly with a hidden dagger when opportunity
offers.””’ Then Jam Mahomed, swearing on the Koran,
told him that he never heard of Sookhramdas taking bribes,
and that he dare not speak falsehood and perjure him-
self and thereby earn punisfment in the court of God,
Jam Mahomed came to see me subsecuently, and with an
expression of deep sorrow gave me an account of his visit
to Ghulam Hussen, which greatly surprised and pained me,
as it did Captain Preedy, when I related i1t to him., He
wondered at the audacity and meanness of the attempt,
but expressed his inability to take action, Ieeling, however,
that it was not safe to serve when jealousy and ill-will were
so strong at work, I wrote to Sookhramdas to tender his
resignation, which he did and returned home after a service
of fifteen months,

The evil-minded and the vicious failed in all their wicked
design to injure me. I however owned several houses in
the camp,! which I had built before the conquest, at the
earnest desire of Captain Preedy and General Boileay,
and for which I had incurred the displeasure of the Talpur
Government, as has been narrated above, Mir Nasir Khan
had ordered some sowars to be despatched to Karachi
to arrest me for building these houses and thereby giving
a stimulus to the trade in the British camp, to the great
prejudice and injury of the trpde in the town of Karachi,
These houses brought me Rs.200 per month in the
aggregate as rent, and were valued together at one lakh
of rupees, Major Boileau was at this time Bazaar Master
of the camp, and he was told that it was highly improper
that I should be allowed to own property in the camp and

1 See intrudtictinu, p.' 23, and p. 120,
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receive rent therefrom to the extent of Rs.200 a month
and that I should be desired to demolish the houses and
remove the materials, Captain Preedy was written to
to communicate the order to me. Ie, however, gave the
whole history of the houses and wrote strongly against the
injustice of the order. He also wrote to Sir Charles Napier
direct, but the Governor was implacable. T refused
to remove the houses or the materials myself, when a com-
mittee was appointed to value the property, which estimated
it at Rs. 1,240 only, and the houses were razed to the
ground and the plots were made over to friends in the camp.
The sum of Rs, 1,240 was made over to Captain Preedy,
but I refused to receive the amount and it was deposited
in the Treasury., At the end of a year and a half, Captain
Preedy quietly sent the money to my house with a letter
stating that it had been shown as balance from time to time,
and that there was a fear of 1is lapsing if I refused any longer
to receive payment. I was powerless and could do naught,
and only grumbled at the injustice in secret, as did all my
friends and the late lamented Macleod and Stewart, who
sympathised with me and expressed their strong disappro-
bation of the injustice done to me, But the last two gentle-
men encouraged me, however, to hope for better days,
and I sincerely thank them for their good advice.

In sumbat 1902 (A.D. 1840), in the month of Jeth
(corresponding Christian date, June, 1846), I'rikamdas was
blessed with a male child, Alimchand! by name—my grand-
son., In sumbat 1903 (A.D. 184%), in the month of Akhar,
Sind was visited by cholera, and great mortality ensued.
My brother Sookhramdas fell a victim to the epidemic.
In the same year my father Hotchand divided his
ancestral property, consisting of buildings, ships, mercantile
houses, etc., etc.,, equally among his sons, teserving a
like share for himself. The brothers were thereafter to
live independent of one another in all matters, unless

* Now Rao Bahadur Seth Alumal Trikamdags Bhojwani, B.A. (Sce
Introduction, p. 28.)
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they wished to carry on trade together on the joint
stock principle.

In A.D. 1847, the European gentlemen, whom to my
knowledge I had neve: offended, desired to overload me
with their tyranny' in reward for my long and arduous
service rendered gratuilously, and they tlhought of en-
trapping me through the instiumentalily of some notorious
characters of Hyderabad, who were therefore patronised for
the purpose. One of these was Ubliriamal, a man nolorious
for his ears having been cut off in the pillory by Mir Sher
Mahomed for some fraudulent acl, and who did ounce cheal,
me of Rs.goo in cash, as has been related above? Another
was an Amil, Hotchand by name, a companion and relative
of Ubhriamal? With these was associated a Sehwani
Amil, Gulabrai Ranuga. 7These three daily visited the two
Browns and Matston, and held frequent consultations.
Tt was at last arranged among them {hat the account books
belonging to the firm of Chelaram, Seth Ilotchand’s
goomashta, might be seized all unawares, Marston was
written to accordingly, and he directly deputed the Fouzdar,
Sheikh Ghulam Hussen, with a number of sepoys, to seize
the dafiar, which was i1hat very day removed in cart loads
to the camp. Captain Preedy was also surprised with a
letier asking him Lo suspend me munediately,  He read out
the letter Lo me, and I submitled directly, ‘I'wo days
afterwards I rececived a sunumons {from the Judge Advocate-
General for Sind, Caplain Voung, iequiring me 1o atiend
a court of enquiry. The couit was composed of three
judges, Captain Voung assisted by ilwo more, T aitended,
but was refused a chair and was asked to squat on the
‘ground. Marston had, in cogsultation with Ghulam Tlussen
and Klwshalrai Punjabi, arranged to gel Karminal Brahmin,
who was IChushalrail’s goomashta, and Ramumal Xukra,

1 Selh Naomul's belief tha{ personal animosity stimulated these
officers cannot resi ont any real fmuu{utiun. Reing inforuted by his enemies
of his alleged wani of {idelity, they no doubl determined as a public duty
to sift those allegations o the boltom,~-IDITOR,

2 See ante, p. 114,
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a Punjabi, appointed to inspect and examine Chelaram’s
daftar (records). Ubhriamal Hotchand and Gulabrat were to-
act as accusers and prosecutors. Chelaram was to act as res-
pondent and answer, after referring to the daftar, all queries
proposed to him by Karminal and Ramumal, I had simply
to attend and listen. The examination of the daftar lasted
six days, and they could find nothing to place their finger
upon save that once upon a time Captain Preedy sold
Government hundis (bills of exchange) to the amount of
a lakh of rupees through me, and these were purchased
by my father’s goomashta, Chelaram, at one per cent.
discount, This was all they could find against me, and here
the prosecution side closed their examination.

Next day I was called upon to put inn my defence for what
was alleged to have been found against me. I replied with
respect to the hundis in question that, soon after the con-
quest, while terror and confusion yet reigned in Sind, the
Mukhtyarkar of Sehwan complained that in making revenue
collections he received daily large sums of money. He
had already a large collection on hand, and he knew not
how to remit the treasure collection to Karachi. 7The
country all around was infested by plunderers and free-
booters, and he could not venture to send up the treasure
with an escort while the roads were so unsafe. At Sehwan
there was not a single rich banker through whom he could
remit large sums of money. The Mukhtyarkar sent in
report after report, complaining of the state of the country
and the unsafety of the treasure, and he requested that
if no arrangements could be made for the convevance of
the collection he might not be held respounsible if the treasure
were plundered. Captain Preedy requested me to suggest
or devise some means to get the treasure to Karachi., It
was proposed that he shotld draw hundis (bills of exchange)
on the Mukhtyarkar of Sehwan, which the merchants
in the town, might purchase, I had it accordingly
proclaimed in the town, but none came forward to
purchase Government hundis and pay down hard cash
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' to the Collector at Karachi, “Iherefore, willi the know-
ledge of Captain Precedy and the elder Brown, and at
the earnest desire of the former, I undertook to render
this piece of service with the aid of my father's firm,
The managing partner, My, Chelaram, would not at first
agree to my proposal, but I encouraged him and induced
him to consent to the proposal on the grouund that it
would be considered: an additional piece of service, and
would enhance the respect of my family in the estimation
of the Government. Meauwhile I wrote to the bankers
at Sehwan to enquire if they'could get Chelaram’s hundis
cashed at Sehwan, and receive payment on his account
and remit the same to Chelaram by means of smaller hundis
on different parts in Sind. They consented to undertake
the business at Chelaram’s risk, and on their being paid
liberal commission I agreed that Chelaram and they should
share the profits equally, Chelaram alone undertaking
all the risk. At last I brought round Chelaram to agree to
my proposals, and as his money came in he purchased off
Captain Preedy’s dralts on the Mukbtyarkar of Sehwan
in the name of the firm., These were cashed and discottnited
at Sehwan, and Chelaram received back drafis for small
sums payable at Iyderabad and elsewhere., The whole
transaction left a clear gain of Rs, 500, of which Chelaram
got only 250, the other 250 going to the Slhiroifs at Schwan,
All this was shown in tlhe accounts and stood there,
The Commission had scen and read it themselves., 1
requested that Captain Preedy, who knew all about it,
might be examined, and I expressed great sorrow and str-
prise at my good services performed at great visk being
misinterpreted in the manner {n which they were. Captain
Preedy was accordingly sent for. He came and on oath
deposed to the truth of all that I had said, and added
that it was at his earnest desire and with the knowledge of
the elder Brown that I had undertaken to perform what he
considercd a special act of service 1o the Government,

Here the Court adjourned.
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After a short interval I was sent for again, and Captain
Voung! addressing me said my character and conduct had
been perfectly cleared of all blame, and there was nothing
proved against me!; but they were, however, of opinion
that, considering my position, interest and importance
in the Province, I might be employed in some post of
honour in British territory outside Sind., With this ended
my trial,

I then stood up and in reply to what was addressed to
me 1 said that I thanked the all-wise Providence for the
termination of my trial ; as Tor future employment under
the Government I would, T said, be glad to go without it,
That they might enquire of Captain Preedy on oath under
what personal pressure I consented to take up the post of
Deputy Collector when it was first offered to me, and under
what friendly pressure and solicitation I agreed to continue
in the post, until I was at the end of eight months informed
that I was to receive no higher remuneration than Rs. 200
per mensem. I never wished and do not wish to serve
in a position which I consider derogatory to my status and
honour. Thad always served Government in a more honour-
able capacity, and I now ounly thank God that He has brought
me out so honourably safe from the deadly fire of enemies
and the poison of vicious snakes. KEver since A.D, 1831
I have been employed by the British Government to serve
their interest in this province, and have rendered many
an important and useful service, But all this I did without
remuneration and at great personal risk and expense.
I was induced to enlist myself as a paid servant only four
years ago, and you have just seen from the daftar (account
books) of my family examined in your presence that all the
money I got as pay during the four years went to feed my
old servants and employees, and that I did not appropriate
any part of it to my personal use. As to your recom-
mendation,” I continued, ‘ to give me a post of honout
in some other part of the British domains, I thank you much.

! See Appendix, No. XI.
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But there is a well-known story which you all may have
heard and which runs thus : ‘ There lived in Punjab a {akir,
Farida by name. This man was highly religious, and he
was devoted to the service of God., One day he happened
to pass by a musk-melon field and observed that some-
one had thrown close by a number of cmpty musk-melon
rinds, devoid of all pulp, which had been greedily devoured.
He lifted up a few rinds and began to lick them., In the
meantime the owner came up and laid hold of him, saying
‘We have at last caught the thief who has been daily
devastating our field, ‘The thief or thieves had of course
long gone away., But the farmers in their anger chastised
and beat hard poor TIfarida, who with undisturbed temper
and absorbed in his thoughts quictly submitted with howed
head to all the blows they could in their vengeance heap
upon him. When they felt satisfied and had done, Farida
uttered the following bait (verses) in the Punjabi :—

‘Wae, Farida, what pleasuie yon did tnste,
The whele had tmined to so much dang'rous pain,

What sadder fote mayn’t on the pulp await,
If empty rind-chewing hard shoest doth gain. "

So saying, I left the courl, leaving the judges to understand
what jusl grounds for complaint I had, when honest and
fatthiul service during a period of great anxiety and trial
to the British Government earned me great pain and infamy
for my immediate reward, because I had consented to lake
Rs. 200 a month for a short time,

Tiver since the {ime of the Kalhoras, my family enjoyed
the privilege of cxiracting liquor for their conswumption,
and to maintain a private still for that puipose, This
privilege was 1ol withheld even by the Khelat Government
when Karacht was transfeered to Khan Nasir Khan,
and it was guaranieed by the first Mirs of the .‘Talpur
house, and allowed to remain in full force by the stceassors
of the ‘' Char Var.”? My family held sanads from +all

1

e remrwrs - ' -
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1 {.0., Lo the viclim being heaten with Lhe heel of a shoe, a punishment

even more degrading than painful,
3 See Introduction, p. 4, and p. 45.
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the past Governments confirming the privilege. After
the British conquest of the province, I showed all the old
letters of grant to Captain Preedy, who ordered the sanad
" granted by the later Talpurs to be copied out for his daftar,
and having endorsed the original affixed the seal of his office
thereto and returned it to me., My family were allowed
to continue in the enjoyment of the privilege and to exiract
liquor for private use at their own distillery for full five years
after the conquest. But soon after the events narrated
above, the elder Brown being apprised of the fact, wrote to
Lieut. Marston to stop our distilling liquor. Ideut, Marston
acted according to orders and removed all the metal pots
in use at the distillery. I reported the matter to Captain
Preedy, who immediately wrote to Brown to explain to
him that the privilege was continued to me on the strength
of various letters of grant of past Governments and under
the spirit of an order from Sir Charles Napier himself,
He was, however, told in reply that I could not be allowed
to keep a private distillery, assuch a privilege was not allowed
anywhere else in the whole of British India, and that it was
a mistake on his part to have allowed my family to enjoy
the privilege so long.?!

I considered the prerogative so abruptly stopped as one
of the most valuable and sacred privileges of my family,
both on account of its antiquity and the convenience and
cheapness of extracting at our own still the beverage, to
us a most indispensable necessary of life. I felt much
injured in consequence but was helpless.

These events produced great anxieties which told on
my health, and bronght on in sumbat xgos (A.D. 1849)
the most painful and dangereus sickness I was ever before
subject to. I daily lost large quantities of blood,
which totally prostrated my health. All despaired of my
recovery, but thanks to the mercy of the All-wise and All-

Py

1 Anyone familiar with administration in IYndla will recognise that
this kind of privilege could not be permanently maintained and was hound
to be stopped, but only after negotiation and compensation.—EDITOR,
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protecting Providence I soon began to recover under the
treatment of the physician, Mr. Ramsay, an Englishman,
I had grown very weak and my {riends and relatives, giving
me up for lost, on one occasion placed me upon a deathbed.
I was internally conscious, however, and all the great and
noble truths of the Shastras sprung up before my mind’s
eyve, I seemed to recite and reflect upont several parts of
the Bhagwat Gita, and I cannol forget the happy and
pleasurable sensations I then experienced, When I recovered
strength enough to move about, Captain Stewart,® who
always sympathised with me, dnd to whom 1 am very grateful
for his friendly feelings, took me ottt with him into the district
for a change of climate. I weut, therefore, to the Ghorabari
Division, of which Captain Stewart was Depuly Collector,
I returned to Xarachi after a month and a half, much im-
proved in health,

Sir Charles Napier left Sind, but I should refrain from
detailing the various acts of tyranny and oppression per-
petrated during his tenure of office, nor shall I undertake
to describe the oppression used towards me and my relaiives,
Sir Charles Napier himself was, however, a simple-tninded,
pure-hearted and religious gentleman., All the faulls of
his government sprang from his placing undue confidence
in those most near to him, and iherchy allowing himself
to be guided in all matters perlaming Lo the civil govertument
of the country.

e

! Caplain Stewarl afterwards heeame Collector of Shik;rpHHr.
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CHAPTER IX.

Mr, Pringle—Interview with Sir George Cletk—Sir Bartle Frere arrives

in 1851—His gentleness and popularity—Naomul accepts arrears of pay-—
Declines jaghir on life terture—Death of Hotchand—Frere's staff, Barrow
Ellis, Gibbs and Coldsmid—Inveniion of Sindhi Alphabet (note)—Eulogy
on Frere—Visits to Frere—Jrere founds Municipality in Karachi and
other towns—Taxes imposed—Anecdote of Frere’s patience when a native

etitioner caused his fall from horse—Frere’s behaviour during Mutiny—

Naomul offers to raise Arah troops—Executions of Mutineers at Karachi,

After Sir Charles’ departure the post of Governor of the
Province was abolished, and the official designation of the
ruler was changed to that of ‘ Chief Commissioner ot
Sind.” Mr. Pringle, of the Bombay Civil Service, was
appointed to the Chief Commissionership after Sir Chatles
Napier's departure, 7This gentleman possessed a mild
and quiet disposition, He was not given to much talking,
and he wished to do good. He came, it seemed, to extinguish
the fire of oppression raised by Sir Chatles’ administration.
Sir George Clerk! was in those days Governor of Bombay,
and to him I submitted a petition regarding myself, detailing
all that had been done by me from the first, and the treat-
ment which had been accorded to me., In the meantime
Mr. Pringle went out into the district, and by his courtesy
and kindness earned the praise of the people. After his
return from circuit, His Excellency the Governot of Bombay,
Sir George Clerk, visited Sind. His Hxcellency desired to
see me and accordingly wrote to the Commissioner, who in
his turn requested the late lamented Mr, John McLeod,?
the Collector of Customs, to inform me of it. Mr, Mcleod
called at my house and, accompanied by him, I went to
Mz, Pringle, Having obtamed a letter of introduction
from the Commissioner, I went to the Governor's Secretary,

e mmar erwwk S g

1 8ir George Russell Clerk, G.C.8.1., K.C.C.B, {1800-1887), one of
the strongest and ablest Indian administrators of the nineteenth ceniury,
was Governor of Bombay for the second time from April, 1860, te April,

1862,
2 Mr. Jobn McLeod was the Collector of Customs, and the principal

road in Karachi, between the town and cantonment, is named after him,
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one Mr. French. He informed His Excellency of my arrival,
and was desired to let me wait on His Excellency all alone,
His Fxcellency received me very kindly, and treated me
very honourably, and his kind trecatment I still remeniber
thankfully. We conversed in Persian, which he spoke with
remarkable fluency and good accent. I have not known
any other Furopean gentleman speaking Persian so well,
I felt extremely delighted with the interview, which lasted
over half-an-hour, and I returned honie well pleased with
the visit, When taking leave of His Excellency, I enquired
if the petition in my case hac been received, to which His
Excellency replied “ Yes,” The Governor stayed in Xarachi
between ten and fifteen days in all, and then returned to
Bombay.

Mr. Pringle, of the Civil Service, remained in all a year
and a half in Sind, and during the period he earned a name
for his kind and mild disposition, Idc left for Bombay
en route to England, and Mr. (afterwards Sir Bartle) Frere
was nominated to the Chief Commissionership of Sind in
his place. It must be looked upon as a special act of divine
mercy and providence that one possessing the qualitics of
the future Governor of Bombay was at this time selected
to rule over this benighted country. Sind had sulffered long
and much. God, however, ultimately provides against
all misery, and Mr. Bartle Frere was chosen to rule over the
destinies of the province. His aflable manners and amiable
disposition attracted all classes of people to him, and en-
couraged them to approach him, Tndowed with a soothing
and angelic tone of voice, he never failed to enquire after
the condition of the people he met in the most kind and
sympathetic manner, which won him the hearts of his
siubjects, Hindus and Moslems, rich and poor, high and low,
and inspired them with joy whenever he was seen riding
through the town on horseback alone., The fragrance of
his virtuous acts took air and spread over the whole province
in a short time, and one could hear it said everywhere and
by everyone that there never was hecard of, nor seen, a

hY
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Sahiblok (Furopean) with such angelic temper, that it was
a special act of divine favour that Frere was sent to govern
Sind to effectually check and extinguish that fire of oppression
which had been raised during the rule of Sir Charles Napiet,
and to give a lively aspect and cheerful smile to the land.!
The petition submitted by me to Sir George Clerk had
been forwarded on by him to the Supreme Government
at Calcutta, After his return from Sind, Sir George Clerk
remained in Bombay for about two and a half months,
when he left for England, The reply of the Supreme
Government to my petition” was received after Sir George
had left. The Boambay Government communicated it
to the Commissioner, who in his turan wrote to the Collector
of Karachi, Captain Preedy? to inform me of it. It was
stated therein that the Government of India was pleased
to bestow on me in consideration of my services a jaghir
for life to the extent of 1,000 begas. I respectfully declined
to accept a jaghir on such conditions of tenture, and I told
Captain Preedy, who knew well the character of the soil
in Sind, that my accepting a life jaghir would tend to lower
me in the estimation of the people, My reply was com-
municated to the Commissioner, who proposed to recommend
me for a life pension in lieu of a jaghir if that would satisfy
me. I had a long discussion with Captain Preedy on the
subject, and he ultimately agreed to suggest that the value
of my wpension should be Rs.200 per mensem, DBut
after the lapse of two months I was informed through
Captain Preedy that the Government had agreed to give me
a pension of the value of Rs. 100 per month, I declined

1 Beth Naomul's enlogies uponn Sir Bartle Frere and his work in Sind
are not ierely Oriental hyperbole, Seih Naomul, indeed, received sub-
stantial benefits through Sir Bartle'Trere, namely the jaghir, the pension
for three lives, and the decoration of the C.8.1., as well as the honour
of his personal friendship. Still, unguestionably, Sir B, Frere was one
of the ablest and most Denevolent administrators whom India has ever
scen, and his popularity in Sind is not exaggerated, He was Commissioner
in Sind from 1851 to 1859, The contrast betwcen his courteous treatment
of the Seth and the peremptoriness of Sir Charles Napier would emphasise
Seth Naomul's gratitude,—FEDITOR.

* Captain H, W, Preedy was the first Collector and District Magistrale
of Karachl. (Vide his appreciation of S8eth Naomul in Appendix T,)
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to receive the pension unless it was raised to the amount’
originally proposed. After a long correspondence and varied
discussion, the Government sanctioned the grant of pension
to me from the date of my unjust suspension during the
time of Sir Charles Napier, and I accepted the award,

As usual, I continued to obtain information from Cabul,
Candahar, Bolhara, Herat, and from various parts in India,
I arranged and wrote out in my vernacular on a separate
piece of paper the different items of news, and communicated
them to Captain Preedy from time to time. Capiain
Preedy translated them into *English from my dictation,
and forwarded them on to the Commissioner for information.
I myself sometimes visited the Commissioner (Sir Bartle
Frere), and always returned happier than T went. An inter-
view with him always made my mind more tranquil,
gave me greater hope, and mspired me with greater courage,
In sumbat 1905 (A.D. 1848-9) my father Scth Hotchand
took leave of his worldly life, and funcral ceremonies were
performed in accordance with the usage of nur family,
at considerable expense,

In sambut 1go7 (A.D), 1850-51) thie mother of my grand-
son Alimchand, my eldest daughter-in-law, bade farewell
to this world. The old family lhouse wherein all the seven
sons of my father resided failing to give suflicient acconuno-
dation for the growing family, I built a separate dwelling-
house for myself and my family on a spot close by, and I
removed thither with the customary ceremony in the
month of Sawan, sumbat 1g9og (A.D, 1853). Tarly next
year 1910 (A.D. 1834)! in the month of Aklar, I cele-
brated the nuptial ceremonies of my two sons, Trikamdas
ancl Thawardas, The {estivals lasted [or about a month
and a half, and ended in joy and happiness.

The Commissioner, Sir Bartle Frere, travelled through
the province cach year during the winter, The very first
visit disclosed to him the melancholy fact that the country

! Seth Trikamdns' eldest son was born in 1843, so apparcnily tlis wasg
8 second marriage., Tor firsl marrtage, see p, 118,
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and people were in no better state than the adjoining rude
and uncivilised tract of Beloochistan and its inhabitants.
He therefore considered it a point of primary duty to im-
prove both, and earnestly set about achieving the object
of his heart. In this he was ably and wisely assisted by his
immediate assistants, Mr. (afterwards Sir) B, H, Ellis!
‘(at present Member of the Council of the Governor-General
" of India), Mr, James Gibbs? (Justice Gibbs, of the Bombay
Tigh Court), Mr, M. J. Shaw Stewart,® and latterly Captain
(now General) Sir F. J. Goldsmid.* This association of
abilities and characters wa% the most fortunate incident
in the annals of Sind, a circumstance never seen Dbefore,
nor ever witnessed since. All were guided by the same
integrity of purpose and desired the good and prosperity
of the province. Mr, Ellis was the Comimissioner’s Revenite
Assistant, a very clever and foresighted gentleman, gifted with
a memory the most admirable, To him Sind is indebted for
its first regularly-written characters, the Arabic-Sindhi.
Before his time, the Hindus of Sind, the trading classes alone,
had an alphabet of their own ; but this was so imperfect and
various and exclusive in point of use that it was deemed

! Sir Barrow Ellis, K.C.S5.1., was afterwards a Member of the Council
of the Secretary of State for India fiom 1875 to 1885—o0ne of the ablest
members of the Bombay Civil Service in the nineleenth centiury.

2 Mr. James Gibbs, C.S.1., became a Member of the Council of the
Governor-General of India at the time when the Fail of Iiyttou was Viceioy,
but times had much changed, and his reputation was not impioved by his

promotion to that post,
3 Mr. 8. J. Shaw Stewait returned to ilhe Piesidesicy and became a

Collector., He also filled the post of Chief Secretary to the Goveruient,
but retired eaily,

¢ Major-General Sir I'redetic John Goldsmid, K.C.851I,, ¢.B. (1818-
1908), one of Sir Bartle Prere's most able assistants, who spent many years
in examinmg and recording the rights of the Sirdais and Jaghirdais of
Sind, and also was instrumental 11 laying ilhe foundation of edncation in
Sind. He setved for a short time "during an interval in his Sind service
in the Crimea, He negotiated the transit of the European telegraph
line through Makran, and in 1865 became Director of the Indo-FBuropean
Telegraplt  Afterwards he petsonally superiniended the construction of
the telegraph line across the whole of Persia. He was appoinfed the
Chief Commissioner for the settlement of boundary disputes befween
Afghanistan and Persia, and later did valuable service hoth in Egypl and
the Congo State. Ile was a great linguist and attracted the affections
of all with whom he came in contact. e also wrote the Biograply of

Sir Tames Qutram,
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necessaty to introduce writing characters which should serve a

general purpose and meet the wants of the majority. To Mr.
Eliis is due the honour of having fixed upon and moulded the

present Arabic-Sindhi alphabet now sowidely used throughout
the province. It may be mentioned here for Lthe information
of all admirers of Mr, Ellis, that his interest in the cause of
education in Sind did not cease with his labows in the
province. He was ever ready to avail himself of every oppor-
tunity to do good to the land, where he had so sticcessiully
worked with Sir Bartle Frere, and so late as 1869, when the
question of introducing the »Hindu-Sindhi (the so-called
Baniya) characters in ihe schools in Sind was mooted, and
the consequent necessity of improving and modifying them
suggested, he took the most lively interest in ihe maiter.!

' It is a curious fact that Sindhi, though a distinct and separate tongue,
founded on Sanskiit, much resembling the languages spoken in the neigh-
bouring proviices of Cuteh and Marwar, had, unlil the annexation by
the British, no written alphabet. The Hindus of Sind, {hat is to say
the meicantile classes, used, it 1s true, a very harbaious chaincter, often
not uniforim even 1n the same town, and undecipherable by other Hindus,
resembling the chaiacters used universally over Indie by Ilindu money-
lentders and tradesmen for writing bilis of exclienge and keeping their
accounts, but theie was no literature in those characteas, of which there
were 1o less than geventeen varieties. Amongsl the Mahommedans, who
constituled ihe bulk of ihe population, only ithe most cultured eould
write, and they jnvaiiably used Persian for ithelt commuuications, and
all people of education and standing weie expecied Lo couverse and
coriespond in that tongne. The Sindhi language is much permeated
with Petsian and Azabic woids, and therefote for the benefit of the people
at loige, especially Mahommedans, a Sindhi alphabet, haged upon Airahic
and DPersian, i Arabic clharaclers, was invented by Sir Barrow Iillis,
under Sir Battle Ihere, which is ntow in univeisal use in Government
offices and ptivale correspondence. Later, a furiher reform wasg intro-
duced, as narrated above, of creating for the benefit of Ilindus only, a
Hindu-5indhi alphabet that should be ﬂzgible amongst the entiie mercantile
community, based on Devanagiii, o1 Sanskiil. In {he year 1872-3,
therefore, type was founded for Hindu-Sindhi, in which school books
were prinled, and a ceitain numbet of schools wete founded in which
ouly Dunya-Sindhi, as 1t was called, svas tanght, But the general resuld
has not been completely satisfactory. The Arabie-Sindhi is the character
now univeisally taught and employed, and Ilindu-Sindhi, or, as it i3 often
called, Bunya-Sindhi, has almost been dropped. In a few towns like
shikarpur, with a sirong Hindu element, palriotic Ilindus still maintain
Bunya-5indhi schools, and in order that small Mahommedan euliivators
should be able 1o read, if they so please, their accounts in the village
bankers’ books, the reading of the Buuya-Sindhi alphabet and nmnerals
1§ compulsory in all local board schools, But since 1910 110 hooks in
that alphabet have been printed, aud, excepting for accounts, Arabic-Sindhi
seems likely to hold the field.—EpITOR,
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Mr, James Gibbs was, like the rest of the company,
a gentleman of sterling worth. Amiable and frank in dis-
position, he gained merited applause and praise for his wise
administration of justice, Mr. M. J. Shaw Stewart, a
gentleman of the most quiet, kind and obliging nature,
worked jointly with Mr. Ellis as a Revenue Assistant,

Major Goldsmid, a gentleman of varied learning and of
manners the most obliging, keen-sighted, and entertaining
noble views like the rest of his companions, assisted the
Commissioner in superintending the Political, Educational,
and Jaghir Departments, Of the reforms instituted by him
in the Jaghir Branch,!in consultation with the Commissioner,
the present state of that department bears sufficient and
ample testimony to his ability and patience. He cleared it
of its weeds, greatly to the advantage of the administrative
government and the good of the people in general, But
what has left an everlasting impress of his character in Sind
was his fostering care of FEducation, that tender plant
which was sown by and which grew up under the auspicious
eye of Sir Bartle Frere, and which Major Goldsmid tended
and reared even long after both Sir Bartle and Mr. Ellis
had left the province. Schools for instruction were started
in various parts of the country as the result of the system
of education patronised by the Commissioner, under the
immediate superintendence of educated men who were
imported from other parts of India. Many poor people
educated in these schools eventually obtained respectable
appointments under the Government and lived a happy
ife. An English school was opened in Karachi just at the
commencement of 1853, and I was requested to send the
children of my family to it to induce other townspeople to
send theirs, I sent my grandson Alimchand (Alumal)
with ten other children of my family to the Fnglish

1 The examination of all the titles to Jaghirs (i.e. rent-free lands), and
the compilation of accurate reglsters of the great land-holders’ titles, and
the huuud§;1'1es of their estates, and the terms on which their estates were
to be continued to lieirs, was an extraordinarily complex matter, and its
settlement was one of Sir Bartle Frere's greatest reforms,
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school, and there was soon a large attendance on the
rolls,

The Commissioner moved out into the district annually
in Qctober each vear and returned from his annual tour
of inspection towards the close of April following. Tvery
year his sympathetic soul witnessed new wants, and his
large mind thought of new means for the satisfaction thereof
and for the further improvement of the general condition
of the people. It would be impossible here to enumerate
all the useful works planned or commenced during Sir
Bartle Frere's rule of Sind in compliance with his wishes
or his proposals, He had broad roads laid out even over
mountains and through jungles, to the great comfort of the
poor and the helpless wayfarer, and for the convenience
of merchants and traders. That all travellers might find
a tresting-place during the heat of summer or the cold in
winter, and the travelling stranger a temporary home, he
ordered dharamsalas to be built along the highways at
convenient distances {rom one another, Tomake the journey
through a desolate country delightful, as well as to covet
the roads with pleasing shade, he had irees planted on both
sides of the road, Gardens to heautify the country were
planned throughout the province, and soout heeame numerous,
To enlighten the people and Lo keep them informed of. what
was passing around them, a press was started at Karacli
at Sir Bartle's advice and under his patronage. Cotlon-
pressing imachines and gins were established in the countty,
and trade increased under the encouragement shown by
the Commissioner. ‘This circumstance invited various enter-
prising men from Bombay, Calcutta and Agra to open
banking-houses and merrantile firms at Karachi, + The
facilities for commerce thus afforded increased the inland
traffic and the import and export trade of the country,
Ships from various parts of the world could be scen in the
hatbour of Karachi, Ixchange became brisker, and people
could circulate their capital freely and oftener, Thus in
a short time persons who originally possessed only a few
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thousand rupees became masters of lakhs, and the poor
and the needy finding employment soon obtained sufficiency
and relief from want. In doing all this Sir Bartle Frere
did not neglect to develop the internal resources of tihe
province. One of the greatest works of his times, the
digging of the great Nara Canal,! which brought plenty
and the blessing of abundance to a large tract of country,
was commenced in his days. The people of Thar, who knew
not even what sufficiency was, soon began to taste the fruit
of plenty.? ,
In consequence of these atts and the bright change i
the aspect of the country, the name of Sir Bartle Frere
became famous throughout Lthe adjoining districts of Marwar,
Cutch and Rajputana, and people sang his praise. In
the province the name of Sir Bartle Frere rang in every
Sindhian home in consequence of the reforms effected
by him, his just and benevolent acts, and his particular
care of and kindness towards the poor. It will ever continue
to be remembered with pride and affection by every grateful
heart, Tt was not the Sindhian tongue alone which uttered
Sir Bartle's praise, but every hair on a Sindhian body
expressed a feeling of gratitude and t{hankfulness. Not
men alone, but the brute creation, too, it may be said,
did not fail out of an overflowing of heart to solicit blessing

1 The Eastern Nara was the bed of a long-disused course of the Induns,
Sir Bartle Frere, following the proposals of Col. John Fife, R.E., the
founder of sclentific irrigation in Sind, had a channel some miles in length
cut into {his ravine from the Incdus from a point close to the town of
Rohri, and such an abundant supply of wate1 is carried by it as to water
the large portions of the previously desert Thar and Parkur districts,
From this again a new canal called the Jamra was cut while the Editor
was Commissioner, which irrigates the east and south-eastern portion of
the Hyderabad district. These canals are some of the finest and most
suceessful itrigation works in Indiat—Epitor.

2 It is cwmious that Seth Naomul omits one of the greatest works of
Sir Bartle Frere : the commencement of the first railway in Sind, 105 miles
in length, from Karachi to Kotn1 on the Indus, of which he cut the firsi
sod, and which developed through trade or by river steamers with the
Punjab. TFrom this small beginning the network of lines now existing in.
Sind and oau its north-westemn frontier sprang, including, nter alia, two
mighty bridges across the Indus, Nor are Frere's labours for the improve-
tent of the Karachi port mentioned,—EDITOR,



MEMOIRS, 109

on Sir Bartle Frere and his acts, Sind never experienced
such happiness of quiel and contentment before. Oue
of the prophetic stanzas said to have been uttered by the

Mamoyi fakirs' contained the following wverses:—

“ Mirmichi arms shall fall and rust,
And Sind shall blessom in their dust,
How shall ye know Mirmichi hosis,
Whom 8ind shall drive to distant coasts?
Black locks and cinctures they shall wear,

Their wives two plaits of ebon hair,
The sons of these to distant lands repair.”

If Sind ever wilnessed the promised bliss, if the prophecy
has been verified in this respect as in other points, the rule
of Sir Bartle Frere brought that happiness and prosperity

to the province,
It was usual with me to visit. the Comimissioner and his

assistants twice or thrice every week. I communicated to
Sir Bartle I'rere the different news that I received during
the week, and which, according to my practice, I previously
wrote out in detail on a separate piece of paper, Once upon
an occasion Sir Barile Frere and I were conversing together
when he told mc that whenever he visited ile old town he
found itin the dirtiest state possible, and that there was a bad
smell everywhere, He wished to introduce the mumnicipal
system in order to elfect sanitaiy improvements in the town,
The city of Alimedabad, in Guzerat, hic added, looked once
as dirty and unclean, bul the Government having, in con-
sultation with the people, established a Municipality and
levied a local rale of one anna and six pice on a hundred-
weight of ghee impoited, the city had benefiled much
under the care and by the exertions of the Municipal Com-
missioners, and looked greatly changed in appearance,
If a like system could be introduced in Karachi, and a ghee

1 A great ruler of Sind, about 1380 A.D., named Jain Tamachi, ig said
to have decapltated seven fishermen who came 1o him offering by spells
to protect his country from invasion for ever. Afler Lhieir execution cacl
head gave ulterance to a poelic prophecy, which hinve been inlerpreted
I varions ways. The propliecy quoted in ihie lexi is supposed by well-
meaning people tosindicatle the expulsion of the Talpurs %y the Inglish,
A full account of the legend and prophecies will be found in the late Sir
Richard Burton's Sind Revisiled, chapter X,
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rate of one and a half annas per hundredweight could be
levied for municipal purposes, he hoped it would immensely
help to improve the town, I consented, and said that I
would ask the townspeople to agree to his proposal. When
T went home I called the people together and induced them
to agree to the Commissioner’s suggestion. Such was the
beginning of the Municipal Corporation of Karachi, Captain
Preedy, revenue collector, Mr., John MclLeod, i1he late
collector of customs, and myself formed the first Managing
Committee of that body. Daily in the morning we went
out to inspect the town and to arrange for its cleanliness.

After a month or two when I once went to wait upon the
Commissioner, he smilingly said that he was glad I had got
the people to consent to a tax on ghee for municipal purposes,
but that ghee without sugar could not be indulged in long,
Thereupon I consented to a sugar rate at 4 annas per hundred-
weight, and the townspeople agreed to it also. Time passed
and a couple of months elapsed when, going one day to Sir
Bartle Frere, I heard him say that ghee and sugar without
grain of some kind was not very valuable. A grain rate
of one pice (quarter anna) per candy was accordingly
proposed and agreed to, The Municipality began to com-
mand importance and influence, general and managing
committees were appointed, and a municipal office opened.
In course of time a municipal tax on European goods,
stuch as wines, liquors, etc., and other articles of trade, was
sanctioned, and the municipal revenue continued to increase
from year to year. In the first year the income amounted
to Rs. 6,000, the next to Rs. 18,000, and in the third it rose
to Rs. 27,000, Thereafter, Sir Bartle Frere very kindly
made over to the Municipality all waste land in Karachi,
the property of Government, and a large revenue was
realised by the sale thereof! The Municipality gradually
gained strength and importance with the increase in its

1 This valuable concession was really not made tiil some years later,
about the year 1874, under the authority of the Government of India,
when Sir Philip Wodehouse was Governor of Bombay.—EDITOR.
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income, which in one year reached 4 Ilakhs of rupees.
The dulies of the Municipality were alike multiplied, A,
well-laid system of roads, the metalling and watering thercoi,
lighting the main roads and streets, the cleanliness of the
town, and the appointment of a police for the convenieuce
and safety of the person and property of the people, were all
carefully attended to,

In the same manner municipal institutions gradually
were started in various other towns in Sind, 1o the great
comfort of the people, and these towns, like so many irees
in the desert, dried up for want of water and nourtshment,
began to wear a cheerful and pleasing aspect as a consequence
of the care bestowed on themn by municipal bodies!

Sir Bartle Frere's advent into this province and his
treading on its soil was one of the most {ortunate events
for the country, While he ruled the land, trade and com-
merce flourished and seldom proved disastrous. ‘The counlry
gained in wealth, and both cultivatton and populalion
increased., In Xarachi especially, people ol diflerent
nationalities and creeds could be seen. ‘I'he revenue income
of Sind, too, improved greatly during Sir Bartle’'s adminis-
tration.

Sir Bartle's goodness of nature and judicious patience
won him universal respect and admiration. Iivery putitioner
to him, whether ligh or low, received a patient hiearing,
and when he perceived that people, owing o ilweir ignorance
of the law, did not understand their case or position, he
not infrequently undertook in his generosity to explain it
to them, and made them feel ithat there was actually no
cause for grievance where they imagined one. Thus o
short conversation with Sir, Barlle Frere removed all the
distress of a supposed injury. Iivery ollender against law
or the Government, however, was checked and put down
with a lion’s threat and awiul indignation. Gifted with

e ok ] -
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} ‘The Karach! Muni{:i}gﬂlity is now onie of the foremost and besl in
Iudia, conspicuous for its fine supply of water and for being sewer-draited
on the Shone system,.—IDYTOR,

b
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the most amiable power of speech, possessing faculties of
a divine order, Sir Bartle Frere's character seemed to gain
additional lustre from the magnanimity of his heart and his
forbearance. It will not be out of place here 1o quole one
instance out of many where he shone willr a brilliancy
unequalled to my knowledge. An inhabitant of Tatta
once had a law-suit before the Assistant Judicial Com-
missioner, Mr. James Gibbs. The ends of justice could
perhaps not permit the man’s oblaining whal he expected.
But he so much harassed Judge Gibbs with obstinate
solicitations and appeals, thai* the Judicial Commissioner
was at last compelled to order his peons not to allow the man
to approach him, The Tattai, nothing daunted by this,
made bold to lay his case before Sir Bartle Frere himself.
He therefore went to Government Fouse one morning,
and purposed to speak to the Commissioner as he went out
for his usual ride. Afraid to enter the compound for fear
of the peons, he sat him down behind a stone pillar at the
gate, whence he expected Sir Bartle to pass. Sir Bartle
rode out alone, according to his practice, al the appointed
time, As he approached the gate, he could see a man
clothed in a white sheet and a red turban sitting outside,
Whet he was quite near, the Tattal stood upon his feet at
once. The horse on which Sir Baitle rode took fright
and started, throwing the rider. The men in waiting
at Government House seeing their master fall, immediately
ran up. One of Sir Bartle's legs was fairly bruised. He,
however, kept hold of the reins and with courage helped
himself back into the saddle. ‘I'he reader may well imagine
the consternation the poor Tattal was thrown into at the
time. The colour of his face qyite faded and his heart beat
high. But how think you acted Sir Bartle Frere ? Seeing
the man in great fright he signed to him to approach him,
and addressed him thus in Hindustani, in his usual sweet
voice, “ O, Son (Baba), why should you have placed yourself
here thus like a thief ? T,00k, it has been thé cause of such
immeasurable fear to yourself, and of such painful injury
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to my leg.”” The man replied, ** Sir, Gibbs sahib has desired
the peons not to allow me 1o approach the bungalow, and
so, afraid of the peons, I was here hiding in the hope of laying
my case before your honour,” Thereupon Sir Bartle oidered
the peons present not to scare him away and to allow him
to go up to Mr. Gibbs when he weni theie next, The Tattai,
who had drunk immensely of the ocean of fear and looked
almost drowned in it, scemed to revive with 1he kind ex-
pressions of the Governor., What rare gieal kindness does
not this simple tale reveal | Il is such acls of a {ruly gieat
mind and noble nature that are deeply impressed on the
Sindhian heart, which cherishes the memory of Sir Bartle
Frere lovingly, and will do so for cver. It is a common
sayving in Sind, that there never came such a sahib-lok
here before, and none such has come since.

In sumbat 1913 (A.D, 1856-57) the British took possession
of Loucknow.? This was the signal for one of the most
dreadful fires that enveloped India. The Lucknow people
rebelled, and many of ihe Bengal regiments, which were
composed chiefly of men who sympathised with the
Lucknowiles, mutinied. Nana Sahib,* who called himself
a descendant of the greal Baji Rao, joined the rebels, and
took up arms near Cawnpore. The old Finpeior of Delhi,
who al this time lived on tlie bounly of 1he Tinglish and
received a liberal pension, countenanced thie cause of his
rebellious brethren of the faith. Thus all ithe countiy from
Lucknow Lo Delhi became one scene of slaughter and carnage.
The British camp at Cawnpoic was attacked, and many
Englishmen, with their wives and children, {elf into the hands
of the rebels. These, wilh such as were captured al Delhi,
were stibjected to the most iphuman erueliies by the beastly
mutineers, Il will be impossible o describe all ithe blood-
shed and misery caused by 1he cursed Mutiny, My leart
shudders al the veiry thought thercof. Suffice il to say

—

1 The anexation of Oude in Febrnary, 1856, 15 alluded to.
® Nana Sahib was the adopled son of Baji Rao, the last Peishwa of

Poona,
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that, hearing what passed in other parts of India, the
generality of people in Sind said that the English rule in
India had well nigh come to a close.

I cannot sufficiently admire the patience, thought,
judgment and courage evinced by Sir Bartle Frere during
these troublous and trying times, He spared no palns,
begrudged no expenditure to forestall the danger that seemed
to threaten the British supremacy in India, As usual,
T continued to furnish Sir Bartle with various information.
I tried to obtain every item of news I could get through
maty of my old family mercantile agents residing at Jodhpur,
Jeypoor, Jesalmir and Pali in Rajputana, and at various
places in the Punjab, and placed it unreservedly at the
Commissioner’s disposal as soon as it was obtained. I
enjoyed the privilege therefore of calling at Government
House and waiting upon Sit Bartle at any time of the day
or night; and I can bear testimony how busy I always
found him with his pen. He repaired to his usttal oflice
room, and allowed the flag, indicative of his presence at
home, to flutter for about an hour each day so long as the
danger lasted, and then retired in private and spent the
rest of the day in writing his observations and in issuing
orders, directiong or instructions, I seldom saw him in
those days go out for a ride. He generally retired to a
small room on the upper {loor of the hungalow, where few
were permitted to see him. As for wmyself, he had given
special directions to the man-in-waiting to take me to him
whenever I went there., I was one day with him at 2 p.m.,
and while I was sitting & butler brought him his tiffin.
Sir Bartle Frere showed particular kindness to me, treated
me with familiarity, and obgserved no ceremony in my
presence, He partook of his tiffin, and ate only half a small
biscuit with butter, and took only a few drops of braudy.
I felt surprised and sorry and was afraid it would not enable
him to sustain the immense labour of writing he took,
and I said to him that he did not take car® of himself so
well as he ought, He frankly informed me that he could
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eat no more ; that at night, too, he sat down to supper simply
to make a name and keep up the form. Judging from
what Sir Bartle ate that day in my presence, I could hardly
believe that he partook of more than 5 tolas (24 ounces)
of food during twenty-four hours, Such was his anxiety
and so mindful was he of his duty, and so alive was he to
the danger of the times, and deeply engaged in the thought
of forestalling it, that, like his appetite, Sir Bartle lost his
sleep, and enjoyed ounly a dreamy rest of a few hours during
the night. I have known many an Xaglishman and
Luropean intimately gifted with many admirable qualities,
but none could equal Sir Bartle in the various powers of
patience, forethought, discernment, judgment and courage
which he displayed in those days of trouble and anxiety.

I was afraid that the Mussalman sepoys in the employ-
ment of the Government here were not to be irusted, as
the Indian Mutiny was assuming the form of a religious
warfare. 1 wrote accordingly to Sir Bartle Frere one day
and offered to bring a few thousand men from Zanzibar
and Africa, who I knew were not higoted religionists, and
would prove able-bodied, trustworthy and faithful soldiers.
I offered to perform this piece of service, and promised to
bring over 3,000 or 4,000 men within the space of two or
three months if Government could assist me with transport
steamers, as it would otherwise take too long if sailing ships
were employed. Sir Bartle Ifrere was much pleased with
my readiness to serve the British Government, and wrote
me back to say that he would communicate in the matter
with the Government of Bombay and give me orders after
he had received a reply.

Meanwhile the majority of the men of the Native Infantry
stationed at Xarachi, which was composed chiefly of people
belonging to Qude, Lucknow, and Delhi, formed plans to
mutiny, but the star of the Brilish Government was in
the ascendant, and praised be Sir Bartle's circumspection
and skill that® he came to know the plans and schemes
that were hatched to perfection, and were about to be put

-
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into execution in their dreadful form, The intending
mutineers were surprised and captured, and these met with
deserved punishment, some of them being hanged, others
blown from guns, and the rest kept in prison. And thanked
be the Almighty disposer of all things, that at Delhi and in
other places in Hindustan, too, the mutiny was soon crushed,
the supplies and aid forwarded by Sir Bartle Frere having
tended materially to extinguish the fire at Delhi.! The old
Emperor of Delhi was captured, his sons escaping. The
principal ringleaders were duly punished, having been
hanged, blown up, or imprisened. Thus the Mutiny was
everywhere put down with a heavy hand, and peace and
order were again restored. I made very strict and secret
enquiry through Sind if the seed of rebellion was being
sown anywhere, but by the grace of God perfect quiet
prevailed, The judicious arrangements made and plans
formed by Sir Bartle Frere for the safety of this province
met with well-merited praise from Government.

1 Sir John Lawrence, writing to the Government of India, after the
Mutiny had been practically suppressed, said he “ could not allow his
notice of the officers who have distinguished {hemselves to be closed without
mention being made of the great obligations uuder which he lies to Mr.
H. B. E. Frere, the Commissioner of Sind, YTrom first to last, from the
commenicement of the Mutiny to the final triumph, that officer has rendered
assistance to the Punjab administration, just as if he had beew one of its
ownn Commissioners, It was owing to hiis indefatigable exertions {hat the
1st Bombay FPusiliers arrived at Mooltan so soon as they did. He
despatched the 1st and then the 2nd Belooch Battalion from Sind to succour
the Punjab. The Chief Commissioner believes that ~probably there is
no civil officer in India who, for eminent exettions, deserves hetter of hig
Government than Mz, T1, B, B. Frere.” —EDITOR,
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CHAPTER X.

Trere leaves Sind—Govetnment of India sanclions his recommendation
for a jaghir in perpetuity and pension for three lives—Naomul accepts land
chosen by the Collector—Alumal's marriage-—F1cere appointed Governor
of Bombay—Inviles Naomul to visil him—Reception at Government
Honse—Inauguration of Bhor Ghal railway—Visits the holy places of the
Deccani—Naomul gppointed C.8.I,—Commissioner Tolds Durbar in
Naomul's honour—Frere holds Durbar at Karachi and personally decorates
Naomul with insignia of C.8.I.-—Alummnal receives his diploma of B.A. fiom
Frere's hands—Sources of Naomul's information-—Advice tohis descendants

—Conclusion,

In sumbat 1914 (A.D. 1857-58) my hrother Pritamdas
died. In the month of Badrapad of the same year, I thought
to myself that T had passed my youll 1 the service of the
British Government, that ever since A.D. 1831, with un-
flinching zeal, I had been exerting to render mosil valuable
and important servicds, that my aitention being wholly
devoted to the British Government, I had neglected my
trade and business during that long interval, and that
all that while I had served the Government with a large
private establishment maintained at my own expense.
What fruit did I reap, what relurn did I receive for all the
trouble I had undergone, said I to myself, The thought
was painful, and with a heart {ull of sorrow I rode up 1o
Sir Bartle T'rere, Sir Bartle Frere felt I looked a little sad,
and he enquired after my health. I told him then how
useful I had been to the Government, and what arduous
and trying duty I had performed during the days of Pottinger,
Qutram and Napier, and that Government had altogether,
I thought, neglected me, “The ullimate reward of the ser-
vices rendered by me during Outram and Napier’s times
was pain and misery., I was afraid, I added, that my
services had 1ot been brought to the notice of the Govern-
ment, or else it could not [ail to shed the blessing of its lusire
on me. A sigh of sorrow here burst from my heart, and Sir
Bartle saw that I felt mysell greatly wronged. T told him

N 4
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I could do nothing now, having grown old. My vyouth
had been spent in the service of the Government, and all my
old mercantile agencies and business had passed into other
hands. I was launched in the world to begin life anew,
Sir Bartle very courteously and kindly began to soothe
my heart, and told me that he knew all about me and re-
membered me, that he intended to recommend me for the
title of Ran Bahadur, and for a monthly allowance of
Rs. 6o on account of a Palki. I told him in reply that I
was much obliged to him for his kindness, but that I never
thought of 2 Rao Bahadur’s title or a Palki' allowance,
A short time after, Sir Bartle Frere was transferred to
Caleutta as Member of the Council of the Governinent of
India. The people of Sind felt very sorry when they heard
that their kind ruler was soon to leave the province. As the
day of his departure approached, all the great men of Sind,
whether Mirs or others, flocked to Karachi to do honour
to their departing Governor and express their great sorrow
at their separation from him. The native inhabitants of
Karachi gave the most magnificent entertainment ever
witniessed in this town in honour of Sir Bartle Frere. Sir
Bartle was seated on a temporary throne prepared for the
occasion. I wasin waiting on him during the entertainment,
and few saw so well as I did what glory, what greatness,
beamed in his countenance at the time, and I could dis-
tinctly read in his face indications of still greater honours
that were in store for him. The entettainment was grand,
and one that defies description, Those alone can under-
stand its magnificence who witnessed it. All European
ladies and gentlemen in the station attended on the
occasion, which will never be, forgotten.
- Sir Bartle Frere was succeeded by J. D. Inverarity, Esq.,
of the Bombay Civil Service, in the government of this

'} The present of a palki, or palanquin, together witlra small allowance
for remunerating the bearers of it, was, in old days, o special form of:
honour in native states, and nccasmnally adopled by the British,

o
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province, Major ¥, J. Goldsmid continued as First Assistant

Commissioner under Mr, J. D, Inverarity, The new Com-
missioner was mild and extremely gentlemanly in his
behaviour, and worthy of praise.

About two or three months after, the Commissioner in
Sind received through the Government of Bombay a copy
of the Government of India's resolution sanctioning the
continuance of the pension wortlh Rs. 100 per mensem
bestowed upon me, to three generations,! It was further
ordered that I was to be rewarded with a jaghir in perpetuity,?
and that I might be allowéd to select any piece of land

"anywhere in Sind which did not bring Government more
than Rs. 1,200 a year. On the receipt of this communication
the Commissioner in Sind sent for me and informed me
of the good intentions of the Govermment towards me,
hearing which I thanked God and felt overpowered with
the feeling of gratitude {owards the British Government.
The Commissioner drew my special attention to the choice
I was given, to select land for jaghir in any one of the three
Collectorates of Sind I pleased.

Major Dunsterville, who was then Collector of Xarachi,
having sent for me and given me a copy of the Goverument
of India resolution, enquired where I should like to take the
jaghir, I told him that I preflerred the Schwan ‘Taluka
of the Karachi Collectorate, He then desired me to name
the makan (plol) I should like to have, and by way of kind

- advice told me that, if I elected to take uncultivated land,
I could obtain a larger piece as jaghir, from which, with due
care and expeuse, I might reap larger prolits hereafter.
I therefore requested him to allow me time to visit the

PR T W TR L A e - - mame—u = e -——— e — e - —mn - m e — mgm T e uss g E T ——— —
-——n

1 These privileges had been reedmmended by Frere in Oclober, 18 50,
a few days before he left his post in Sind, and the Government of Bombay
gupporied il; Irere having arrived {1t Caleutte as Member of the Govern-
ment of India was just in time to speak, and he douliless 4id so, [riendly
word for his protegé.

3 The perpetuily clauge is, in the eyes of an Indian, much the most
valuable parl of the gift, itol so much for the pecuniary reward but beeause
it perpetuales the name and services of him to whow it {s given, as a

+ » peerage does, or used Lo do, in Bngland,~—Iinrior,.
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Sehwan Taluka and inspect differenl makans in person,
to enable me to name one which I should like Lo have as
jaghir, On the Collector granting my requesi, I proceeded
to Sehwan and selected the following makans out of which
Government might bestow upon me any one they pleased :
(1) Sasni, (2) Gambote, and (3) Kuta, in the Gahir sub-
division. I returned to Karacli and mflormed Majou
Dunsterville of my selection. He replied that out of the
makans I had named, I could expecl only a small piece
of ground according to the nominal valuation of Govern-
ment, and that I had better name some uncullivated soil,
T answered that I wished to secure a peli (a small {1easure
box), whereas he proposed to force npon me a kheli (field),
which would necessitate my supervision and attendance
all the year round, and compel me in my old age to remain
constantly absent from home. A loug discussion ensued,
and the Collector ultimately desited me to accept the Del
of Duree Dera in the Taluka of Sehwan, which he said
measured 10,456 bigas according 1o the Governinent 1egister,
On enquiting however what it brought to Governmeni
annually, I learnt that the Governmeni share of income
from the whole Deh did nol exceed Rs, 500 or Rs, 600 on
ann average, DBul tlhe Collector assurcd me {thai the Deh
was capable of producing more and making larger relurns
if T spent money in improving the land. I would not,
however, agree to it, ‘Time thus rolled on in discussion,
and more than four months elapsed {rom the dale when the
Commissioner first informed the Colleclor of 1he Government
Resolution granting me a jaghir., The Commissioner in
Sind therefore enquired of the Collector to know what steps
he had taken in the matter. The Collector desired me to
see him and took me with him to the Commissioner. Major
(now General) Goldsmid was present at the inteiview
when the Collector informed the Commissioner that he wished
me to accept the Deh of Duree Dera as jaghir, but that I
felt dissatisfied, I explained to the Commissioner the
reasons why I took exception to Duree Dera, that a large

f ol
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portion of the Deh was uncultivated, and waste land, and
that it would require a large outlay and immense labour
Lo bring it under cultivation, and that the zemindars of the
soil were noloriously troublesome. The Commissioner,
however, desired that I should, notwithstanding, accept
the Deh of Duree Dera and that he invoked the blessing
of God on the estate, which he hoped would produce gloiious
trees with golden fruit suspending from the branches.
I was overpowered wilh a feeling of gratitude at the Com-
missioner’s good wishes, and 1eplied that, with his blessings
on the land, I willingly aceepted the Deh of Duree Dera
in submission to his earnest desire. Accordingly, the Deh
of Duree Dera was bestowed upon me as a jaghir in per-
petuily in all its extent, as fixed by the leiminus marks
set by the Seltlemeni and Survey Depailment. It is
bounded as {ollows: on the east by the river Indus; on
the south by the village of Karampur ; on the west by the
village of Talti; on the north by the village of Bilwalpo1e,
On expressing my acceplance of the offer, the Commissioner
was pleasced to grant me a sanad, and the Collector furnished
me wilh the necessary orders.

After T had obtained the sanad, I visited Duree Dera
wheic my younger son Thawardas accompanted me, I
had never before peisonally seen Durec Dera, and on
inspecting the land, I saw neaily the whole of il unculiivated
and covered with thick jungle. I found the zemindars
a wotthless lol, who cared not Lo cultivale more than whal
sufhiced to mainlain themn and their catile, I however tiled
to encowiage lhem in industty and peacctul and honest
vocations by advancing them takawis (cash money loans) for
cultivation, and by b estﬂwing’ o1 them various gifts it loonghis
(scarves) and other cloths,  With all the cncomagement I
could give, the fitst year's income From the jaghii amounied
in gross to Rs. 500 only ; bul I spent during the first yvear
{four montlis al the jaghir and my expenses far exceeded
the income, as, besides a large number of ordinaiy people,
I was visiled by many sirdais and respeclable men {from
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vatious places as far as Johi and Xachha! and it was
necessary to be hospitable to all according to the custom
of the country, I returned to Karachi in April, when the
hot season set in, and I went up again next year accomi-
panied this time by my elder son Trikamdas. I passed
about five or six months again at the jaghir, and realised
in gross Rs. 8oo only. Against this I had to count all that
I spent, and with the advent of suthmer I returned to Karachi
as before. Thereafter I appointed my son Thawardas to
reside at the jaghir® for nine months in the year and to look
after the cultivation. The Zemindars trifled away the
takawl advances,® which they seldom thought of returning,
and made 1dle excuses. The fools, careless of their own
interest, continued to neglect cultivation,

About this time, my grandson, Alimchand (Alumal)
having passed the Matriculation examination of the Bombay
University, was, at the advice of Major Goldsmid, sent to
Bombay to prosecute higher studies at a college. J. D.
Inverarity, Hsq., who had ruled Sind quietly and peaceably,
was appointed a member of the Governor’s Council at
Bombay, and Mr, Samuel Mansfield succeeded him as
Commissioner of Sind. Mr, Moore was nominated Mr,
Mansfield’s Revenue Assistant,

In sumbat 1919 (A.D, 1862-63), at Hyderabad, Alim-
chand’s marriage had to be celebrated, and he had therefore
to return to Sind. He was detained for four months, at
the expiration of which he went back to Bombay 10 continue
his studies.

Sir Bartle Frere was at this time nominaied to the
Governorship of Bombay. The news caused universal
and unfeigned rejoicing in Sind. When I was informed
of his Excellency’s arrival in Bombay, I addressed him a letter
of congratulation, commuuicating further that although my

1 The Johi Taluka and the Xachha are extensive dry tracts lying on
the north-west of the Sehwan Taluka.

3 See Introduction, p. 24.
? Cash advances for purchase of seed, grain, etc,, and repayable ont

the reaping of the crop.

m
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family 'had owned a firm in that city from generations
past, none of them had ever visited the place, but I felt
an earnest desire to see His FExcellency and 1ender my respects
in person. Sir Bartle Frere very kindly replied that Bombay
was a place that was worth seeing, and thatl I should visit
it, when he would cause all the best sighis to be shown
to me. Alimchand was then in Bombay studying at college,
and I wrote to other people to inform them of my intention.
They accordingly hired a separate place for my lodging
in Chhipiwara, at a rental of Rs. 100. I left Karachi in
a steamer, and reached Bambay after a voyage of sixty
hours. The sight of Bombay pleased me much, and I
was rejoiced most to see His Excellency Sir Bartle Frere,
While in Bombay I called upon His Excellency every
second or third day, and I am grateful to His Excellency
and the then Private Secretary, Mr. Arthur, the elder,
for the kindness shown to me on each occasion. Many of
the principal native gentlemen of Bombay honoured me
with a visit, amongst whom there were Sir Jamsetji Jeejee-
Bhoy, Bart., Jaganath Sankerseth, a member of the Wadia
family, and many others, I returned their visils and was
glad to make their acquaintance., The inhabitlants of Sind
of course came to me every day, as did the {riends, relatives
or agents of my old acquaintances in Porebunder and
Mandavi,

Shorlly afterwards Lady Frere prepared to go Lo Europe,
and a little before her departure there was a farewell reception
at Government House, Parell. Invitaiions to atlend at
8 or 8,30 in the evening were issued, and I was desired 1o be
present on the occasion. I attended accordingly, and found
myself in the company of numerous European ladies and
gentlemen in the elegantly adorned and tastefully lit-up
hall of the upper storey of the Governmeni House al Parell
Thete were between ten and twelve other natives also present:
on the occasion. I cannot sufficiently admire the affability
and gentleness of manners with which their Excellencies
Sir Bartle and Lady Frere received each guest at the entrance
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door to the hall at the head of the broad staircase. The
assembly partook of an Indian tinge, and it brought to my
mind descriptions of receptions given by Indian sovereigns
in times gone by,

In those days the price of cotton had risen very high.
The people of Bombay had gained large profits and the city
rolled in riches. A railroad had just then been laid out
through the Ghats direct to Poona.l! The way was planned
through the mountains, and more than twenty large tunnels
were in consequence carved out, The works had just then
been completed, and the railway was to be declared open
for traffic. An opening ceremony was therefore to he per-
formed, and it was arranged to hold it on the other side
of the tunnels at the station of ILanoli, below Khandala ;
His Excellency the Governor was to preside on the occasion.
I was tavited to attend and went accordingly, accompanied
by my grandson. We started from the Byculla station in
a railway carriage and passed through wvarious {lunnels,
I was wonderstrack with the skill and patience of the men
who had planned and carried out the works, At Tanoli
there was a ntmerous assembly, and there was a treat
for both Furopeans and natives. The ceremony over,
we returned to Bombay at about 10 o'clock at night,

In the month of May, Sir Bartle Frere went to reside
as Poona. Before his departure I obtained his leave %o
visit Nassik, which is a sacred Hindu place. From Nassik
I went to Trimbak,? where there is a shrine sacred to Maha-

et

' Bhor Ghat, from the low-lying tract of Konkan to the edge of the
Deccan platean, is a remaikable piece of engineering—the railway rises
1,800 feet in about fifteen miles, climbing the very difficult spurs of the
Western Ghats. This branch of the G.LP. railway connects Rowmbay
with Poona, and ultimately with Hyderabad and Madras, and has branches
to other parts of India.—~L¥D110OR.

? Trimbak and Panderpur are the iwo most holy places in the Bombay
Presidency, the first on account of its being the source of the river Godavary,
just as Gangotri and Hurdwar are of the Ganges, and also of a special temple
in honour of Mahadeva the Creator; and the latter in possessing a very
sacred lmage of the god Vittoba, the most popular deity in the Mahratta
country. ‘Fhe great festival at Trimbak ocenrs only once in twelve yeats ;
at Fanderpur there are three festivals annually,—EDITOR.

"
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deva, fn the hill overtopping the tank at Trimbak rises
the Godavary, Wishing to see tlte source, I ascended a
flight of 700 steps cut through the solid rock, at the expense
of a pious Hindu, and saw the place whence Lthe water oozes
drop by drop. It came out of a piece of rock carved out
in the shape of a cow’s mouth. TFrom Trimbak I returned to
Nassik, and thence proceeded to Poona, ex rouie lo Panderpur

which is another sacred place on this side of India. I went
round all Poona, and visited the shrine of Parwatii but

I felt that, though once renowned, it was then a ruined city.

The train did not take us direct to Panderpur; il dropped
us at a place called Koorlaswari, whence we iook horses

to Panderpur. This place is sacred to the god Vitloba,
and the river Chandrabagha flows below it. After spending
a week at Panderpur, I retarned to Pooua, where I learnt
that His Excelleticy had left for Mahableshwar, I itherelore
addressed a letter to His Ixcellency, informing him of my
intention to return to Sind as the mwonsoon was [fast
approaching, and I returned to Bombay whence I {ook
passage to Karachi after a stay of four days. I had a very
rough voyage on my return; it was stormy and the sea
ran high, but thanks to the Almighty I reached Karachi
in safety alfter three days, well gratified with my visit Lo
Bombay and the kindness shown o me by His Mxcellency

Siy Bartle Irere,

In A.D. 1866, the Commissioner, Mr, Mansfield, proceeded
to Bombay on six monilis’ leave, and Mr. Roberigon
succeeded him as Commissioner pro leim,  ‘I'wo months after,
news came from England that the Timpress of India and
Queen of England was gmcmubly pleased {0 create a new
order for the benefit of the 1:11'111(!{3‘?- and sovereigns of Tndia,
and her deserving subjects 1n her Indian I anpire.  ‘['his
was called the Most Iixalted Order of the Star of India,
and it was reported that my naine had been enlisted for that

"o i b [ T

! Parwaltl, in the outskirts of TPoonn, is one of the favonrite temnles
of the Peishwas and trom a verandal on {the upper storey the last PEIHIIIWH
watched the baitle of Kirkee, which led {0 his dellironoment.
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distinction., When I was informed of this I could not
sufficienily express my gratitude towards the Government,
which had considered me deserving of such high honour.t*
The Commissioner in Sind was formally informed of this
by the Bombay Government, and he assembled a durbar,
where, after enumerating the various services I had rendered
to Government for upwards of thirty years, he communicated
to me the Order of Her Most Gracious Majesty the Queen
bestowing upon me the distinction of becoming a Com-
panion of the Star of India, (Vide Appendix XIII] All
Sind saw me thus highly honoured, and they admired the
incomparable justice of the British Government.,

Towards the close of 1866 and beginning of 1867 A.D,,
Sir Bartle Frere honoured Sind with a visit. As soon as his
intentions were known, all respectable people, Sirdars and
Amirs; flocked to Karachi from wvarious parts of Sind to
give His Excellency a hearty welcoine, I was much rejoiced
to see His Excellency once more. His Excellency soon
afterwards held a durbar at the Frere Hall for the presen-
tation to me of the insignia and grani of the dignity of
Companion of the Most Exalted Order of the Star of India.
The Frere Hall was beautifully decorated for the occasion,
and it was crowded to overflowing by all classes of people
before His Excellency’s arrival. The blowing of bugles
wilh the beating of drums and the booming of guns
announced His Excellency’s approach. All stood up as
the Governor entered the hall, and after he was seated
1 was led up to the foot of his throne, supported on eilther
side by F. S. Chapman, Esq., Secretary to the Government
of Bombay, and Major (now Colonel) Lambert, Collector
of Karachi., His Excellency then stood up and addressed
me in English, and at the conclusion of his speech? presented
me with Her Gracious Majesty the Queen's Sign Manual
enclosed in a kimkhab bag, and the Iusignia of the Order—
a brilliant star set in diamonds with Her Majesty's likeness

il

1 See Introduction, p, 25, 2 See Appendix XIII.
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in relief suspending therefrom., I was so overpowered

with the sentiment of gratitude and thankfulness that I was
at a loss to express adequately the feeling I experienced
on the occasion, and in a brief reply in the vernacular I
spoke in praise of the justice of Her Majesty’s Governnent,
which, like the sun, sheds the glory of its brilliant rays
far and wide.

I have read and heard various accounts of past and present
governments in India and Burope, and of i{heir rule, but
in my opinion there never has been a Government so benevo-
lent, far-seeing, and always ready to reward at last meri-
torious service as the British Government,

From Karachi, His Excellency Sir Bartle Frete proceeded
to Hyderabad to hold a durbar there, and relmined after
an absence of two days to start back for Bombay, where he
had to preside at the convocation of the University of Bom-
bay for conferiing Degrees. My grandson, Alimchand,
who had come out successful at his B.A. examination,
was at the convocalion honoured with the Bachelor's
degree., He obtained his diploma from the hands of His
Excellency Sir Bartle Frere, to whose and Geneial Sir
F. J. Goldsmid’s encouragement he is indebted for his
education, Alimchand returned {o Sind soon afterwards,

In May, 1867, Mr. S, Mansfield, having been appointed
Maember of His EHxcellency the Governor of Bombay's
Council, left Sind. Mr. Havelock succeeded lhim as Acting
Commuisstoner in Sind, Colonel Sir William Merewether
having been appointied as the permanent incumbent of the
post. Mr, Havelock left Sind afler a stay of aboutl six
months,

sir Barlle Frere’s term of office having expired in the
interval, His Excellency left the shores of India to talke up
an appointment in the Council of India in Tngland, T‘here-
after Sir Seymour Fitzgerald swayed the reins of government
at Bombay, The new Governor visiled Sind lowards the
close of 1867 anld held a levée al Karachi, which I attended,

In the month of Assoo, sumbail 1925, coiresponding
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to 8th October, 1868, A.D., Alimchand was blessed with

a son, Hushmatral by name.
In the month of Maugh, sumbat 1927, corresponding
to January, 1871, A.D,, I proceeded to Ilyderabad on the

occasion of the celebration of the nuptial ceremony of
Fatehchand, son of my nephew Atmaram. The marriage
ceremony passed off with great rejoicings, and we returned
to Xarachi after a month.

In the month of Chet, 1927, corresponding to March,
1871, A.D,, 'T'rikamdas was blessed with a second son,
whom he named Moolchand.«

My grandson Alimchand once suggested to me that I
should write out a short account of my life and of my
family, that it was not unusual to do so, and that he had read
several accounts of the kind written by people in their own
lifetime. But I did not heed him. At last, at his earnest
and repeated solicitation, I undertook the task in the month
of April, 1871, corresponding Hindu month, Vesalh,
sumbat 1927,

Be it known that what has been narrated in this book
partly descends to me from ILady Parpibai, wife of Seth
Bhojoomal, my ancestor four generations removed, who
would cheer me up with reminiscences of old times while
I sat playing around her in my childhood, and partly from
recollections of accounts related to me by my grandiather,
Seth T,almandas, on whom I was in regular attendance
from the twelfth year of my life, doing the daftar (account)
business of the firm at Karachi, The rest is all from my
personal knowledge and expetience. I have tried to give
a succinet but faithful and true account of each event
related herein, hut the benevolent Providence will with
grace forgive any lnaccuracy *that may have inadvertently
crept in., I am now past 67, my eyesight has grown dim,
and I have not a single tooth left. If I were to write a fuller
account of my family and their influence and position in
Sind at different times, it alone would occtipy three times
the space taken up by the whole of this volume, but

o~
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the weakness of my sight and the pain arisiug from
straining it, does not permit me to write more. Before
concluding, however, I shall give a short admonition to my

descendants. .
When I was fifteen years old I learnt to read Sanskrit,

Gujrati! and Gurmukhi? I have since then read and studied
numerous books bearing on religion and the principles of
government, and it is my firm conviction that the created
man obtains in due time what the wise Providence has
destined for him, and he should therefore in contentment
resign himself to the will of God; avoid doing harm to
anyhody, even to an enemy; act in good faith and wish
him well, The world is transient, and will swiftly pass
away. Remember God always, and have faith in IHim.
Pity the poor, and exercise charity according to your means,

and avold the company of vicious men,
My second admonition is this : ‘I'he British Government

is like the ocean and the glorious sun, therefore act in
faith and with sincerity of heart towards all Inglishmen.
Be always ready to serve the Government, and when
occasion should arise render all assistauce in your power,
Act in all honesty of purpose, and steadfastly avoid touching
Government gold with a dishonest hand,

This brief account of my life and of my {amily I wrote
out with my own hand, and brought to completion in the
month of Vesakh, 1927, corresponding to the Christian

date 11th of May, 1871,

1 The langunge of Cutch and ihe u.tljnhii;lg 111';}1?11;&; of Katldawad
and Guzerat, which is the lingua franca for business men in Bombay and

most of Western India.
* Gurmukhi, the language of the Punjab, {the wrilten characters of

which are founded on the Dewanagri, or pure Sanskrit, ‘Ilie sncred book
of the Sikhs (the Grant'h} is wrilten in Gurmukli,
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MEMORANDUM BY THE COLLECITOR OF IKARACIII, DATED 14711 JANUARY,
1848, RECAPITULATING THE GOOD SERVICES OF SETII NAOMUL,

Kurrachee, 144/ Jamuary, 1848,

Az I am on the point of leaving Kurrachee, on medical certificate,
I leave the following memorandum of the services of Naomul, late Head
Kardar! of Karachi, with Captain J. R. Stewart, officiating Collector and
Magistrate, whom I request will have the goodniess Lo lay the same before
the Commissioner for transmission to the Honble, the Governor of Bombay
on the arrival of his honour in Sinde,

MEMORANDUM,

1. In the year 1837 Lieuf. Carless, of the Indian Navy, was directed
to survey the coast of Sinde and Makran, and to report particulaily on
the Harbour of Karachi., While ancliored off Kaiachi hie received much
valuable information and derived great assistance in varions ways from
Naomul, who supplied lis ship with fresh provisions and whatever else
was required. He also rendeied imporiant service in saving the lives
of several officers of the ship, who, withont obtaining permission of the
Sind autborities, had gone on a shooting excursion into the countiy.
The Nawab of the town, Ahmed Khan Bhurgree, as soon as he heard of
the officers having gone into the country, sallied out in pursuit of them
with an armed rabble al his heels, vowling Lhat he would take their lives,
and*thicy were only saved by the prompl interference of Naomul who, at
considerable personal risk, induced the Nawab to dvaw off with his
followers, and to allow the officers 10 return to their ship.

2. In the same year Naomul having heard that 200 sbheep sent by
the Assistant Political Agent, Licut, Lecch, had been captured by the
Brahuis chiefs, and hoving recovered the sheep forwarded them to their
destinption, Bombay,

3. In 1838, when Governnientsespoused the cause of Shah Shujah
and it was determined iliet ilie Bombay cohmnn of the Army of the Indus
should march through Sind, Colonel Potitinger, now Sir H. Potlinger,
directed Naomul to lay in supplies of grain, forage, efe., and to provide
baggage, caltle for the army, and to have the whole in 1cadiness {or despatch
to the mouth of thy rivet when the army should disembark The foirce

—— b ——r, ey —-_— o

I T,and Revenue official,
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arrived unider the command of Sir J, Keane at Vikkur, in Novemher and
December, 1838, and Major Outram arrived about the same time at Karachi

with orders to Naomul to despatch the ecatile and supplies Lo Vikkur,
Major Outram was hospitably reccived by Naomul's family and was
escorted by his brother Sookram to Gharo where he mel Naomul, who
had taken up his abode at that village in order that he might with greater
facility collect cattle aud supplies without being interfered with by the
Amirs' officers, After ascertaining that the carriage and provisions
were ready, Major Outram, under Sookram’s escorl, pushed on to Vikkur,
and joined 8ir J. Keane, and Naomul shortly after followed him with
1,500 camels, and a vast quantity of grain and other supplies. Naomul
continued with the army, giving much useful information and affording
all kinds of assistance to the severai detachments until they had passed
Hyderabad, when, as Colonel Pottinper required his services, hie remained
with him at that place, and sent on his brother Sookram and servants,
goomashtas or agents to afford such assistance ag the army might stand
in need of as far as Shikarpur. The services rendered by his brother and
agents are well known and were fully appreciated by the Commander.
in-Chief of the Army and by Colonel Pottinger, who acknowledged that
but for the assistance rendered by Naomul and his family the Bombay
column could hardly have effected a junction with that of Bengal in 183p,
and when it is considered how greatly our success in that expedition
depended on the celerity of our movements, it 'must, I thiuk, be alln?ved
that Naomul has done the State good service,

4, I the beginning of 1839 lhe Reserve Brigadier Valiant artived
at Karachi, and as Naomunl himself was at Hyderabad, his brotlers,
by his order, rendered avery assistance; they supplied boats for landing
the troops, carriage for iheir bagpgage {rom ilhe DBunder, supplics of
provisions, ete,, to them after they had landed, T was present with this
force and can testify ihat but for the assistance of Nacmul's faniily,
scarcely any of the articles which we stood so greatly in ueed of could
have been procured, as all the other natives stood aloof, evidently re-
garding us with fear or with no friendly feelings.

5. In the summer of the same year, Captain Hand, of the 2nd
Grenadier Regiment, was murdered in open day, and within three miles
of our camp, by & body of armed mnarauders. No correct information
could be obtaitted as to who the murderers were nutil Naomul, after much
trouble, discovered who they were, and where they resided, which being
made known to the Resident, he demanded them of the Amirs, and they
were brought to justice,

6. Towards the end of April, 1839, Naomul advompanied Colonel
Pottinger to Karachi, and on the latter proceeding to Bombay he remained

I
m
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at Karachi, rendering all kinds of scrvices for a period of six months to
the camp authorities, Without his aid neither workmen nor materialg
could have been procured for the construciion of pendals (huts) for the
Furopean soldiers, nor could the bazaars and commnissarial have heen
supplied with provisions. The Amirs had positively forbidden any of
their subjects to settle int our camp bazaars, bul Naomul, in defiance of
this prohibition, set the townspeople a good cxample by establishing
several shops of his own in the Sudder Bazaar,

7. Naomul rejoined Colonel Pottinger at Bhooj in November, 1830,
and remained with him uniil Colonet Pottinger resigned his appointment
in February, 1840, when he accompanied his successor, Major Quiram, to
Hyderabad, and continued with him rendering political services until
the Major was transferred to Upper Sind, when Naomul was directed
to return to Karachi,

8. During the anxions period which succceded the Cabul massacre,
Naomul was of the greatest possible service to tlie aulhorities at Katachi
in procuring provisions and casriage; withoul his ald scarcely o camel
conld have beent procured either for hire or for purchase, and the reinforce-
ments which were so rapidly poured into Sind, and whose services were so
urgently required above the passes, could not heve been forwarded,
The Amirs were, il is true, ostensibly friendiy, but as all their people hung
back from assisling us, it was clear thail they, ihe people, kuew {ull well
the secret wishes of their rulers at the period alluded to, It is my firm
convietion thatl with the exception of Naomul and his family we had not
a friend between Karachi and Cabul amongsl the natives,

D, ‘Towards the end of 1842 the fidelity of Naonimi to the British
Government so provoked the Amirs that they despatched o parly of
hotse from Hyderabad to areest him, aud these hovscmen were ouly
prevenied from carrying their orders inio exccullon by the interference
of the Assistani DPolitical Agent, TLdent. Mylue. The ostenaible cause
for this violence wa$ ile infringement of ihe Amirs’ orders forbidding
the establishment of shiops in our bazaars,

10, In Pebrnary, 1843, when hostilities commenced in Sinde, Naomul,
ag usual, was indefatigable in our service. He procured most cotrect
information of the designs of the Amirs, and having oblained intelligence
of their having ordered the Noomrie, Jokiyn and Kwrmiatlee {ribes
to occupy the town of Karachi, and to liarass our camp, e commnnicated
the same to the authorities, and thertehy euabled us 1o anticipale the
enemiy’s movements. TFe also supplied Cossids who conveyed leliers
to and from 8ir . Napicr's camp when all ollier communication was cut
off, He obfained correct information as to the numbers and position

0 | B
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ocenpied by combined tribes in the vicinity of Karachi, and by supplying
us with a few camels and guides enabled us to move out and fo disperse
them ; after which, with the assistatce of Oomedall, chief of the Choota
tribe, he succeeded in recovering nearly the whole of the cattle which
had been stolen or driven off from our camp and restored them to rightful
owners. After the battle of Hyderabad, Naomul did good setvice in
allaying the fears and apprehensions of the Beloocls chiefs and jaghirdars,
and induced many to come and make their salaams to the General who
would otherwise have joined Sher Mahomed in plundering the Government
grains, ete.

After peace wag restored, Naomul supplied much valnable information
velative to the land tenures, customs and ievenue system of the Amirs,
and proved very useful to me in settling the affairs of the Karachi
Collectorate, He also furnished memoranda of the debts due to the Amirs,
the greater part of which might then have been recovered, but it was at
that time understood had been remitted by the Govetnor-General's
proclamations directing that no demands be made for artears of revenue.
Through information supplied by Naomul, concealed property to the value
of one and a half lavs of rupees was recoveted by the prize agents and

brought to accouttt,

12, In May, 1843, Naomul was appeinled Head Kardar® of the
Karachi Collectorate, and continued lo occupy that situation until 1847,
when with three of my office Moonshis lie was suspended from Gevernment
employ, and about six months after the Moonshis and himself were dig-
missed the service without being ever called on for a defence. They were,
it is true, informed that lhey could if they chose appeal to a Military
Commission, but as the confirming authority of the sentemces of these
tribunals had already pronounced them guilty, and as they understood
(though perhaps incorrectly} that they would be tried before the saue
Court which had alieady given an opinion on their case, they chose rather
to walt and to bring forward their claims to justice at a more fitting time,
Naomul and the Moonshis now submit the opportunily of being allowed
to make their defence Dbefore such tiibunals as the Cotmmissioner or His
FExcellency the Governor may appoint, and should they be able to cleat
themselves, I beg most strongly to recommend {lhat the eminent services
of the former should be rewarded with a sunitable pension, and ihat the three
Moounshis be re-admitted fo the servive of Government.

(Signed) H. W, Prreny, Captl.,

Collector and Magistrate,
Karachi,

1 T,and Revenue oflicial,
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(2}, EXTRACT TROM MEMORANDUM BY CAPTAIN H. W, Prunby,
COrLECIOR AND MAGISTRATE OF KARACHI, ON “HE CHILFS AND MEN oR
IMPORTANCE RESIDING IN THE KARACHI COLLECTORATE, PRINTED AT PAGE
362 OF THE PARIJAMENTARY PAPERS MROM 1844-54

Naomul Hotchand, merchant, ex-Iardar, His family came originally
from Sehwistan, but they have fo1 four generations been located at Karachd,
where they have always been considered the principal mercantile firm in
this part of Sind, The services iendered by Mi. Naomul and his family
to Government have been so numerous and so great that some years ago
he was most strongly recommended by Sir H, Pottinger, to the then
Govemor-General, T,ord Auckland, for a pension, The change of Adminis-
tration, however, prevented this bﬁing granted,

APPENDIX II. .

(See p. 77.)

(1), TRANSLATION OF A PERSIAN LETTER ADDRESSED 10 SETH NAOMUL,
BY COLONEI, POTTINGER, ASKING FOR ASSISTANCE IN MONEY,

To Seth Naomul,
*  Heat of Prosperity.

Be it ktiown Lhat a3 a large sum of money will be reqnired for
the payment of iroops and other necessary expenses, you should arrgnge
with other merchants to pay tlie mouey on bills of exchange at Calcutta,
Benaies, Ferrukhabad, Bombay or Surat, Malabar, Canara, or at any
ofher place; and let me know soon the real state of affabis as to what
sum of money can be readily procured, so that we may arrange to send you
Hoondees accordingly, Be very particular in thigs matter, and }et ine

know soon the real state of things,
(Signed) IIENRY POTTINGER.

(2), L#rreEr FROM COLONEL POPTINGER, ADVISING HIS HAVING DRAWN
BILLS AGAINST SETH NAOMUIL, DARED OCITOBER 22ND, 1833 i—

Seeretaty's Department,
Sind Residency.
Sir,
I have the honour to advise that I have this day drawn three
bills on yon, No3. g, 10 and 11 for Cutch corris (kotis) fifteen thounsand
each, in favour of Naomul Hotchand, of Xaracli, or his ovder, )
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2, The above bills I have gsent to Naomul to be sold to any person
requiting a remittance on Mundavee, so that there may be some delay
jn their being presented for acceptauce,

3, As soon as I hear they are sold, I will transmit 1o you receipts
for their amonnt that you may debit them to me.

I Liave, ete,
(Bigned) IENRY POPTINGER,
Regident in 8ing,

APPENDIX III.

(See p. 13.)

{1). COLONEL POTTINGER'S REPORT T0O GOVERNMENY, REPORTING PHAT
Mir NUR MAHOMED O HVOERABAD HAD PROMISED 10 GIVE PURWANAES
(LEITERS OF AUTHORITY) TO SErH NAOMUIL, WHO REQUIRED THE Mirs'
SANCPION TO ASSIST HIM.

The Resident in Sind to the Secretary with the Governor-(General,

Sind Residency,
25th October, 1838,

On the 20th instant Noor Mahomimed Khan sent me word tliat he wished
to write to the Governor-General, in 1eply to his Lordship's letter which
had come through Captain Burnes. Ie said he would give purwanghs
both for the latter officer and Ideut. Leech, as well as for the Karachi
merchant, Naomul, who had writteu to say lhe dared neither hire camels
for me nor act as broker for the sale of my bills without the Amirs’

sanction. n

(2), IEXTRACTS FROM LEIFTER T0 ITHE GOVERNMENT OF INDIA, DATED
157 DECEMBER, 1838, ¥FROM COLONEL POTTINGER, NARRATING 1HE
OPPOSITION TO SETH NAOMUIL, AND REPORTING COLONEIL POIMINGHR'S
DEFENCE OF HIM, AND TIHE SERVICES SIMHO NAOMUI, HAD RENDERED IN
GCEMING CAMELS FROM SONMIANI i(—

The Resident in Sinde to the Secretary with the Governor-General,

’ Camp Vikkur,

1564 December, 1838,

6. On the 4th instant I obtained positive information that the surmise
which I made in my letteis of the 27th ultimo, to Major General Willshire
and Lient. Hastwick, of Noor Mahomedkhan having secretly ordeted vo

T
one to serve us was strictly correct. A Jamadar of 50 camels at Tatta
who had agreed to furnish that number and had taken an earmest, fled

o
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4
from his house as soon as he had heard the troops were come, and on that

evenittg (the 4th) a letter from Naomul Seth of Karachi to say that he had
gone to a considerable expense in engaging 8co or 1,000 camels, that the
owners had come forward to declare they dare not go to Vikkur without
leave, and that he (Naomul) had in consequence waited on the Governor
(of Karachi) who had declared that he could not allow a single camel
to enter our service without special orders from Hyderabad.

7. His Lordship will perhaps recollect that I obtained a purwanah
from Nootr Maliomed Khan shortly after I came to Hyderabad, in the name
of Naomul, which not only authorised him to hiie camels and sell my bills,
but told him that.all services he performed for ng would be comsidered
done to the Amir himself, and as he (Naomul) had been all along publicly
acting on this aunthori{y and assuradee, I considered this to be a grogs case
of perfidy such as was susceptible neither of explanation nor palliation ;
I therefore early on the gsth sent the Moonshees to Noor Malomed Khan
to tell him so, and to add that if the camels were not speedily forthcoming
I should suggest to His Excellency Sir John Keane to send a detachment

and take possession of Kurachee.

3. I gquitted Hyderabad about noon on that day (the sth) and joined
the Commander-in-Chief’s camp on the night of the 8th, I was overtaken
ont the river below Tatta by Syed Tukhiee Shah, who had been sent after
me by express in consequence of my threat about our taking possession,
of Kmachee. Ele was the bearer of a message from Noor Mahomed Klian,
virtually admitting that he had failed in his promise aboui camels, but
declarving be would now do all I wanted, and had sent off men in every
direction to colleet and hiing to Vikkur some {liousands, The Syed wenl
on to retnark that Noor Mahomed Khait contsideted the intimation I had
made about Kurachee to be nunworthy of my proved friendship.

. * * * * " X

0. My reply was as follows: That I would give credence to the
affirmations regarding 1he comels when X saw them, That with respect
to the Amirs and my friendship, that was on my side entirely at an end.

* * ¥ L * i

10. The Syed KXhau began to speak of seizing and punishing Naomnl
of Kurrachee and the Jamadars of' camels at Tatta for having been the
cause of so serious a misunderslanding between {hie Governments, in which
I interrupted Limm by warning him that if anyihing of the kind were
attempled, I wounld instantly break all communications with the Hyderabad
Government, I sald that Noor Mabomed had made liars of his prime
minister, his eldes? sou, and of all his principal oificers, as well as falsified
his own seal by his procedure ; thal he wanied to throw the blame on
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others, but that he must not imagine I would allow lim {o screen his
double-dealing by punishing those who had done whai they could do to

meet o1r wishes,
¥ 3 W o * x

14, Seven or eight hundred camels have already atrived at . . .,
or in the neighbourhood of it, and about so many more may, I think,
be looked for in another week. (These wete all obtained and supplied by
Seth Naomul, together with the four hundred previously mentioned, and
which he obtained through his father's firm at Sonmiani,)

15. I am gorry to report ihat the demeanounr of Mir Sler Mahomed
of Mirpur has been of late equally insulting and unfriendly,

16, My intelligence from Hyderaliad up to the 13th instani leads me
to belleve that the Amirs there, excepling Sobdar, are now really exerting
themselves to obtain carriage for this army as the only meaus that offers
of getting rid of it, at the same lime they are adopting all sorts of pre-
cautions which evince a total distrust of our design, and have already
assembled a cousiderable body of their rabble of troops at the capital,
They have also writlen to all the Chiefs, whether Beloochis or niot, to be
in readiness with their quotas, in case of necessity, aud one of the latter
(the Jam of the Jokyas, a tribe of the aborigines of {lis province located
near Karachi) has sent his brother to tiiis place to tender his service to
the British Goverhment. He was however afraid to visit me openly,
and proposed through Naomul Seth to do so at night by stealth, which I
deemed it right to decline, both because it could not possibly be kept seeret
and because I had no hopes to hold out to him and no means of protecting

bhim should he fall under the Amirs' displeasute, ete., ete.

APPENDIX IV,

(See p. 90.)

EXTRACT PROM A ILEBITER FROM COLOWEL POTMINGER 10 REAR-ADMIRAT,
SIR  FREDERICK MAITLAND, NAVAL, COMMANDER-IN-CHINEF, SOLICFLING
SPICIAY, PROTECTION FOR SETH Nnmﬁq:tm’s FAMILY,

Catip Jertuck,
28th January, 1839,

4. Under these circumstauces a force must of course go to XKarachi
and take possession of that place, which I 1rust for the reasons I assigned
in my first instructions to Colonel Valiant will he eficcted peacesbly,
but it i3 needless o tell that all opposition must be put down.

r
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5. ‘Thereis one point to which T solicit your kind and minute attention,
I allude to the protection, under all circumstiances, of the house, family
and property of Naomul Seth, of Karachi. That individual is now with
this force, He las most zealously and indefatigably assisted us, and I
canmot convey my deep ounxiety regarding hiin and his betler than by
saying that they ought 10 be guarded as those of the Governor-General
of India.

I have, etc,,
(Signed) H. PorrINGER.

APPENDIX V,

(See p. o1,)
(1), THE RESIDENT IN SIND 10 J. R. Corviv, ESQUIRE, PRIVATE
SECRETARY TO THE GOVERNOR-GENERAT,

Camp opposite Hyderabad,
4th Febyruayy, 1830,

2. While I was writing the preceding sentence, I received news wlich
greatly pleases me, The fort at IXarachi fired one or two guns at the
'“Wellesley ¥ when the Reserve went there. The Admiral brought lis
broadside to bear on it, and, {t is stated, he las levelled it with 1he dust,
* * * Tlisnews lias conmte by Naomul's people, mounted on express
camels, but T hope there is'no doubt of it. It will teach these people to
pay due respect 1o the Biitish flag in time {o come,

(2). REPORT ON 7THE DISEMBARKATION OF TROOPS AT KARACHI,
AND DESCRIPTION O TR FFort AND TowN '—

* Brigadier Valiant commanding the Sind Reserve Force,

Camyp near Kmachi,
Sir, 5ih Llebruary, 1830,

With reference Lo my letter of the 314 Instani, I have 1lic lonour
to state for the information of ilie Commander-in-Chief {hat ITer Majesty’s
40th Regiment disembarked al 1his place yesterday, with the 2nd Grenadier

Regiment, excepting 100 rank and file just Idded from ihe ' Syren.”
N

* #* * ¥ * *

I have examined the town and forl of Xarachi minutely. The fort
was evidenily a stroug one, will hastious on all sides, so as 1o completely
command all around, and in cacl of these bastions ate one or Lwo guns lying
on the ground, af different sizes, and where they appear Lo have heen
for some years past, The walls of the fort are made of mud and a small
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portion of wood in tie bastions. The whole of the walls have been built
ot an artificial bank of above sixteen fcet high, atd Lhe parapet all around
the fnrt ete,, appears to have beenr about ten feet above it, Most of the
bhastions nnd walls are in a ruinous stale; the inhabilants pass {hrongh
many parts of the latter. There are two gateways to the fort, which have
an impnsinﬁ appearance, with bastions over them, at wlhich there ate
Belooclh guards, I have merely placed a ITfuropean non-commissioned
officer aud a sepoy at each of the gates to prevent the soldiers from going
into the fort and town without passes, and also a few non-commissioned
officers and sepoys to patrol the streels to prevent auy irregularity on the
patt of our pecple.

In the forl at the mouth of the harbour there is 1o fresh water at
preseit, except such as is supplied from Karachi or from the shipping.

At this place there are a gteat number of wells, with asbundance of
excellent water for all purposes, many of them in gerdens. The water
is generally within 10 or 12 feet of the surface, On this point we have been
most agreeably surprised as we had been inforined that the water was bad
at Karachi, The harbour is excellent, in which vessels may ride at all
seasons of the year guile safely, and such a pori, in my humble opinion,
should he retained as long as we have troops in Sind.

(3). AGREEMENT FOR THE SURRENDER OF KARACHI,
gth Febvuary, 1839,

1. ‘That the full possession of the Fort and Town of Karachi shall be
this day given up by the aforesald Governor to the British forces,

2. That the British land forces under the command of the said
Brigadter Valiant shall this day, or as soon after as the Brigadier may
deem It convenient, be allowed 1o encamp near the town, and ihat such
boats shall be supplied by the Native Government as may be required,
upon paytuent of the usual boal hite for them, as also such camels and
other means of conveyaunce ag may he lereafter necessary upon the like
terms ; as well as that all kinds of provisions and other supplies shall be
furnished for the use of the sald Brilish forces as they may stand in need of
and require, the same heing paid for al the usual rates of the country,

In consequence of the fulfilment of ilese terms the British officers
before mentioned agree, in the name of-the Honourable East India Company
that the persons and property of all the inhabitants of the fort and town.
of Karachi shall be held sacred, and that they shall be al liberty {o carry
onr their business as heretofore ; that their trading vessels ghall be allowed
to enter the port and irade as usual withoul the glightest Inlerruption,
and, further, that the civil government of Karachi shall be carried on by
the authorities of the place. R

(Signed) FREDBRICK 1,1tw1s MAITLAND, and Others,
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APPENDIX VI.
(See p. 86.) ' |

TEE RESIDENT IN SIND 0 THE SECRETARY WITH THF, Guvmman-(}mﬁnmn.
Sind Resideney,
18t February, 1830,

About this time an unfortunate affair happened ot Vatio which I think
right to report for bis Lordship’s notice. Much paing hiad been taken to
prevent spirituous liquor being smuggled into camp and sold to Futopean
troops. A Baloocliee was caught in the act, and brought to my tent. My
Moonshee (who is & native of Tatta) happened to be with me, and explained
fo the man that he would be sent to the Nawab Ahmed Khan to be punished
for a breach of rules laid down for the good of all parties. The man on
the way to the guard in which he was to be placed till T had leisure to send
fim to Ahmed Khan, drew his sword, made a desperate cut at a corporal
of Her Majesty's 17th Fool (who parried it with his firelock) and got clear
awey, running through the tenls on the headquarter lines, shouting and
waving his sword over his head. A sepoy of the 1gth Regiment Native
Infantry, standing sentry over one of the Conunandet-in-Chief’s store
tents, seeing the Baloochee approaclhing him, loaded his musket with
praiseworthy alacrity and sliot the Daloochee dead on the spot.

The body was immediately removed, and I sent to the Nawab that
eveninng 10 express Sir Johu Keane's and my own deep regret at the
pusiness, explaining that e Baloochee lind wantonly brought his fate
on himself, bul saying I would give hisfamily, nolwithstanding, either some
clothes or such a sum of money as Lthe Newab might suggest, ‘The Nawab
and his colleagues talked very big aboutl the death of one of the Baloochees,
hinted he might have been taken allve (which could only have bheen done
by sotneone risking his life in rnshing on liim}, and ended by observing
that Noor Mahomed Khan had frequently been, obliged to go to beg pardon
for such accidents, and that the only way that it could be properly mshed
up was for e te be the beaver of the clothes to be given to the deceased’s

relations,
X * X ¥ * X

13. ‘The force moved on Tatta on the 24rd and arrived at Jerruck on
the 25th of January. Everything at that moMeut denoted the eatly com-
meticement of hostilities, Our Cossids had been stopped throughout the
country., From 135,000 to 20,000 men of the Sind army had been collected
at Hyderabad, “The officers of 1he Residency had heet obliged to quit
that place, lhe Native Agent was under a guard, and ihe large supply
of forage and grain which had been collected for the wse of onr ammy
was plundered amd destroyed by the Baloochees, who (the Native Agent
wrote to me gecretly) panted for ihe combat,
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APPENDIX VII,

(Seg pp. 15, 104-110,)
(1) CoronNir OurraM'S REPORT T0 GOVERNMENT ABOUT THE
DEPUTATION OF NAOMUL T0 MIR SHER MAIIOMED, AND NAOMUL'S

SUCCESS, Hyderabadl,
8k December, 1840,

As, however, a fortnighti elapsed without any notice being taken of
my letters, I directed a wing of the regimenti of cavalry which was passing
through the country to lLalt in ihe neighbouthood of Meerpore, insiructing
the officer to give out that he was merely awaiting the junction of the
Guzeral forces (of which that was the leading divisionl), without myself
holding out any open threat, which might have driven the Chief to make
the same show of opposition whicli was so uselessly displayed by the Amirs
of Hyderabad last year, and which, I was convineced, was ununecessary :
but I deputed Naomul Seth to Meerpore, on the pretext solely of making
preparations for the supply of passing troops with a view, however, also
of explaining to the Chief the extreme folly of his proceedings— , , . .
that although he, Naomul, was not aware wly the leading division of the
forces coming from Guzerat was now halted, he had little doubt that
it wounld not be allowed to proceed until ample satisfaction had been
exacted, and that of course the expense of the troops thus detained would
be entailed on the Chief who caused the delay.

Naomul wag also instructed to disavow any authority from me to
communicate on such a subject, and accordingly was provided with no
letters to the Chief. In the conviction, however, that my object wonld
immediately be effected, the soucar (banker) had a sealed letler from
me to the officer commanding the troops, direcling the laiter to continue
their march, which he was lo forward the moment the Meerpore Chief
complied with my demand. The able manner in which ihe Seth fuifilled
his commission {8 detailed in the accompaniment, lthe Chicf's letter heingﬁ
an ample apology, and complying wilh all I lhad a title to demand,
which enabled me to move on ihe troops after only two days’ delay to
the leading detachment, and none whatever to any of those following.

’ ¥ * ¢ * ) ¢

(2}, LETTER FROM THI?{PGLITICAL AGENT IN LOWHR SIND 70

LA5UR, WHIZELOCK, ADVISING HIM THAT SEXI NAOMUL WOULD ACCOMPANY

HIM TO MIR SHER MAHOMED'S TERRITORY, AND ASSIST HIM IN HIS ENQUIRIES,
The Political Agent in Iower 8Sind to Ldent, Whitelock,

Hyderabad,
13th Jannary, 1841.
Naomul Seth will be requested to attend you, to ald hy his local know-
ledge such enquiries as yon may think it vseful to make,
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. |
An escort of one native officer, two havildars and twenty-five ran

and file of Lhe 8th Regiment, and a dufiadar and twenty-four sowars ¢
the Sind Irregular Horse, will accompany you, and all the Governmen
camels now liere (20 in number) are placed al your disposal to preven
the necessity of calling upon the Amirs {o furnish them, and hire
camels being so difficnli to procute at pregent. f

While in the performance of Lie above dulies you tnay have facilitie
of acquiring a knowledge of the real value of Mir Sher Mahomed’
possessions, of which I beg you will take every advantage in your power
without letting it appear thal your inquiries are so directed ; and it i
chiefly with a view to aid you in this object thal Naomul Setll is deputes
with you whose local knowledge and devotion to our interests can be relie
on, You are aware that this inquiry Is an object in consequence of th
intrigne with which we have become acquainted to deccive us in thi
respect with a view of securing a treaty proportionally advanlageous witl
referenice to Mir Sher Mahomed’'s supposed ineaus compared with tha
of the Amirs of Iyderabad, and it is necessary that I shiould be full:
informed on this subject before tiansmitting any proposal the Amir ma
have to make to the Governor-General of India.

APPENDIX VIII,
(See 1pp. 14, 15, 114, IIS.)

(1), EXTIRACT FROM A REPORT, DATED 11791 JUNE, 1841, BY LInur
LECKIE, ENCLOSING TRANSLATION O AN AGREEMENT PASSED BY 413
FRAUDUTENT MOONSHIS TO ALLOW SETI NAOMUL 10 SIIARE IN A BRIBI
FOR INDUCING DMATJOR QUIRAM 20 LOWER TIIE PAYMENT PROPOSHD AS
MIR SHER MAHIOMED'S CONTRIBUTION T0 THE SUBSIDIARY FORCE.

A Afterwards thinking it necessary 1o the success of their plans thad
Naomaul Seth should be engaged with ihem, e was sounded on the subject
aud, having reported the circumstances to Mr. Leckie, he was told by thai
genileman, by Major Ouilram's instructions, to prelend o acquiesce p
Outram's wishes, wilh a view to obialn proofs of the conspiracy. Accor
dingly the Seth demanded a writing pledging the proportion he was t¢
receive of the sum Mir Sher Mahomed hedypledged himself to pay, f.e.,
in the first instance, Rs. 10,000, nfterwurdsdﬁ& 10,000 more, The writing
thus oblained was delivered by Maomul Lo Mr. Leckie, a translation of
whiclt is a8 follows :—

Translabion of an agreement entored into by Moonshi Awailvai and
Churutsing (Mir Sher Muahomed's Diwan) and Salamatrai,

We have agreed that whatever sums on account of ' Shirveeni ' we
realise from Sher Mahomed, we will according 10 our onth with each other

+

1 ¥Shireeni " means a gratification. .
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L)

passed, divide into six shares, two of which will go to Naomul, and the
other four shares to be divided amongst the Diwans and other agents.
We do take oath before our god (name uttintelligible) that we will not
deviate the least from our oath. We write this as a compact between

ourselves,

(2}, TRANSLATION OF A FORGED LETTER WRITTEN IN TIlE NAME OF
Mayor OUTRAM ‘PO MIrR MIAN SHER MAHOMED KIIAN,

High in rank and of subliine dignity, possessot of great pomp and
maguificence, superior in rank to other Lords, and chief amongst the
great, bearing the knowledge of friendship, Mir Mian Sher Mahomed
Khan, May God protect you for ever, After the perf{}rmance of the
nsnal ceremonies and preference due to yow which is more magnificent than
the bazaar of unity and friendship, I now report this to your enlightened
undertanding in the most ornamented style of friendship and sincerity
with some verbal messages. These messages have been entrusted to a
man of high family, like the shrub of the Garden of Gentility, a very kind
Lord, Saviour of the .. ... and faithful friend Syed Mir Soliman
Shah, we have sent to you, who will lay hefote you each message . ., . .
By the will of God what is required for my friendship is to act up to yowr
desires and the condition of our friendship, Tor between me and the great
in.,.... and dignity, the greatest lord among the chiefs, of illustrious
name, the much respected Mir Mian Jhan {Shalh) Khan Talpoor, our
friendship has risen to the lighest piteh and towards you also our friend-
ship will daily increase. I hope that you will always delight me by writing
friendly letters of your well-being; ilis is not requiring much of you.
The other affairs are well

(3}, TRANSLATION OF A LETIER IROM MAJOR OUTRAM To Min
SOBDARKHAN [ — ~

It is now some tite gince I have beett infortned that your Highness’s
Moonshi Awatral has prevented Mir Sher Mahomed IThan from entering
into a treaty which he wished to do for his own benefit, and the Moonshi
has several times for his own advantage delivered false messages asif
from me, throwing obstacles in the way of Mir Sher Mahomed Khan
having a treaty, and has wriften and made kunown by messages to the
Amirs that I had agreed fc;»f;’,q Rs. 30,000; this is entirely false. Such a
seditions and treacherous person heinf in your service is detrimental
to your dignity, aud again this Moonshi has entered into a compact with
Selh Naomul and caused Rs. 20,000 to be brought here by Kazi Nur
Mahommed and Diwan Salamatral as & bribe for himself and others.
I have leatned from Mir Sher Mahomed’s agents that the Moonshi
had written 1o their master that I would take much less on account of

tribute,

Lt
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6. I have heard that somie ill-disposed persons have told yon that
I had agreed to take Rs. 30,000 as iribule from Mir Sher Mahomed
Khait ; this you should consider entitely false. The Governor-Geneal,
at my reconunetdation, in consideration of the Amir’s counlry being
smaller than thal of the Amirs of Ilyderabad, have fixed 50,000 Company's

rupees.

APPENDIX IX.,

(Seo Pp. 121.)
(1), LETTER T0 1UE POLILICAL AGENT IN SIND REPORTING ABOUT
THE THREATS 10 SELII NAOMUI, -y
Lieut. Mylne, Assistant Political Agent Lo the Political Agent in Sind,

Iyderabad,
15t Oclober, 1842,

I find that after all on the day of their going to their shikargall on the
other side of the river, the Amirs despatehed, or rathier I should say
Mir Nusser dispatched, people to apprehend Seth Naomul at Karachi,
and lhas quoted me as having given permission, Preedy and Gordon
both write to e that Naomul was ou the point of writing to Hyderabad
to compromise matters with the Amirs, anud pey up the duty upon the
things he has imported and sold under their permission, and the Amig'
perwanah a monil ago, bui that they dissuaded him. Now it appeais
to me to be of the ulmost limportence to show ilte Amirs that we will
not allow them to infringe our righis in the smallest degree,

I hove tiherefore addressed them a letter, o translation of which I
encloge, and I trust you will agree with me thal the occasion warrants
the plain Innguage that I have nsed ) for I coniend ihat the Amirs have

no more righd to seize Naomul than they have e,

(2)., SUBSTANCE O A IHIMER FROM TIivutr, MYINE 10 MIR NASIR-
KHAN, DATED HYDERABAD, 187t QCTOBER, 1842, REMONSTRATING WIEH
HIM ON HIS TREATMIENT OF NAOMUTL.

I have been informed that your Ilighness has sent people to appreliend
Naomul Seth, the British Government's NiWive Ageni at Karachi, end
that the reason assigned for this get is that I3 hes taken into camp and
sold goods free of duty; mioreover that it ig stated that niy permission
was asked and granted for his gseizure, I trust Ideut, Gordon has been
wrongly informed, and I am sorry 1o be obliged to irouble your Highness
at any iime, more especially when you are hunting ; but I think it my duty
as a friend fo inform you that Naomul being a setvant of the Brilish
Governtment and Tn its monthly pay, you have no more right to seize him
without 1he permission of that Governmeni than you have to seize me;
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and, in the second plece, he has only done as aunthorised by your own
perwanah, given many months ago. My Government will not permit its
servants to be unjustly treated, and I would advise you to revoke your
order. If iny name has been made use of, it has been falsely used, and I

request you to punish the informant,

(3) TRANSLATION OF A PERWANAH (SUMMONS) FROM MIR MAHOMED
Kuoany ro NAOMUL, NATIVE AGENT OF GOVERNMENT AT KaRAcHI,
DATED THE MONTH OF SHAHBAB, 1258 (A.D, 1842).

You are now called to our presence, It is necessary that on receiving
this perwanah, you should immediately contentedly present yourself
at our door, In your coming do not make one moment’s delay, and,
believing the favour of hoth Amirs tp be with you, do as you are desired
in this writing, and consider the injunction most imperative,

(4). TRANSLATION OF A PERWANAH IROM MIR SHAHDAD KHAN 10
WNAOMAL, NATIVE AGENT OF GOVERNMENT AT IXARACHI, DATED THE MONTH

OF SHAHBAB, 1258 (A.D. 1842) i~

You are now called to our presence, you are of old and froin the time
of Mir Nur Mahomed a servant of the Government and a payer of taxes,
It 1s necessary that on the receipt of this perwanah you should coutentedly
and without fear quickly leave Xarachi and present yourself at our door,
Make no delay, and believing the kindness of this Sirkar to be with yon,
guickly bring yourself here and make 1o delay in coming, ‘Take what has
been written into full counsideration and do as directed,

APPENDIX X,
(Sce p, 112,)

LELTIR FROM THE GOVERNMENT 01 INDIA TO MAJOR QUTRAM, DAYED
27TH APRIL, 1842, INTIMATING "MIE APPOINTMENT OF A NATIVE AGENT AT
KURRACHEE, AT A SALARY OT Rs.100 PER MONTH,

To Majoxr Oulram, Pohitical Apent, 8. & B.
Sir,

I am directed by the Governor-General 10 acknowledge the receipt
of your letter of the 29ih yﬂlal‘ch, No. 926, suggesting the appointment
of a Native Agent at Kw'rachee, and in reply to infoim you that his
Lordship would piefer that the aplmﬁtment should be during pleasure,
and that this should be directly understood by the individual appointed,
and that he should recelve Rs.100 per meusem for the duty performed,
without any specific appointment,

1 have, efc,,
(Signed) &, W? MADDOCK,
Secretary to Governmend.
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APPENDIX XI,

(See pp. 22, 153-156.)
{1}, CORRESPONDENCE RELATING TO AN ACCUSATION AGAINST SETH
NAOMUL, AND HIS ENTIRE ACQUITTAL, i

From the Judge Advocate of Sind to Naomul, late Head Kardar of
Karachi,
Sir, 248h August, 1848,
With reference to paragraph 21 of your letter to my address under
date the sth instant, in which yon allude to tlie purchase of certain bills
from Cheloo by Tofomull and Revamull, I am directed by the Commissioner
to request that you will explain how (the supposition belng that Chelloo
had obtained the bills from Governnent at rates mote favourable to him
than were current in the market) their purchase from him by other parties
at the same rates, should be so improbable as to remove that suspiclon,
It is my intention to examine the hooks of Purresram and Khama on
Monday next, {he 28th iastant, at i1 o'clock a.n,, and you are at liberty
to be present at the examination, or if unable to altend to depute a sub-

stitute for that purpose.

I have, etc.,
(Signed) KEemn Youne, Capl.

(2). From THE DEPUTY COLLECTOR OF (GHORABAREE !~

To Seth Naomul, Karachi,
Sir, 14th Novembay, 1848.
Under instructions from the Commissioner in Sind, I beg to
forward copy of a letter, No, 6,840, of 1848, dated 1st lust,, to his address
from Mr, Coutiney, Assistant Secretary to Govemmment of Bombay,
conveying the decision of the Governor in Connell wpon yonr case, and in
rgfereuce therelo intimating that there were not sufficlent grounds for
charging you witlt dishonesty, and that your exclusion from public employ-
ment should be divesied of anything implying o reflection on your character.
I am, Sir, ete,
(Signed) J. R, SrEwar?t, Capt,

(3). To R. K, Pringle, Comunissioner in Sind.
Sir,
With referetice to my letter 6,84:::}\ the 18t November last, I
have been directed by the Right Monourable the Governor inn Council to
tranginit for your infornmiation, and guidance the aunexed extract (para. 7)
of a letter from the Honourable the Court of Directors, No. 6, dated
4th nltimo, relative to the case of Naomul, formerly Head IXardar of
Kurrachee,
I have, cte.,,
(Signed) W, COURINEY,
Acting Secretary to Governmant.
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(4). EXTRACT FROM A LETIHR FROM THE HONOURABLE COURY op

DIRECTORS, NO, 6, OF 4T1I APRIL, 1849,

Para. 7. ‘' After a careful consideration of these proceedings we are
of opinion that there are no grounds for charging Naomul with dishonesty
in the exercise of this office, but considering the extensive local influnence

possessed by his famuly 1n that place, we agree with youn in thinking him
an unsuitable person for the situation of Head Kardar in the Collector’s

Office. We see no objection, however, to his being employed elsewhere
in the service of Government,”

APPENDIX XII.

(See pp. ﬁz, 24.)
(PRIVATE CORRESPONDENCE WITH SIR BARYLE FRERE,)
India Qffice,

My good Friend, 7t January, 1869,

I have had the pleasure to recelve your letters up to the
gth Decetnber, and am much obliged to you for your very clear and
connected account of all that has happened in Afghanistan. Let me
hear regularly from you when anything fresh occurs, of all my old friends

at Kurrachee, and what you are doing to get a good supply of water for
the town and shipping. What has become of Morad Khan and his scheme
on the Hubb ? And what are the Chiefs doing in Beloochistan ? Tell
Alumal to let me know how education prospers in Sind, and who is
following in his footsteps among any of my old friends or their children.
When next he visits Goolam Ali's Tanda, beg him {o remembet me kindly
to my old friend Mir Khan Mahomed, and ssk himm when one of his
grandsons is going to write me an English letter,

I wish when next Alumal is at home in Kurrachee you would get
him to write down what you used to tell me about the ancieni prophecies
and traditions concerning the coming of the Talpurs and the English,
which you told ime many years ago, and which I carefully wrote down
at the time, but losl what I had written with other papers in the Hooghly.
I wish you could get him 1o write down in Fnglish as much as you can
tell him of your recﬂllecti;:}?, of old times in Sind, both what you have

heard from your father and/trom those old people you used to see in your
youth, and what you have yourself seen during your own eventful career,
The more you could write on these subjects the better, and I should he
exceedingly obliged to Alumal if he will let me have from time to time

all that you can tell him,
Wilh my kind regards to all old friends,
Believe imne,

Sincerely yours, i
(Signed) II, B. E. FRERE,
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{2), IN REPLY 'O THE ABOVE, SETII NAOMUI, FORWARDED THE
FOLLOWING IEITER, DATED APRI, 18060,

Between camp and Cliflon there is a hillock surrounded on all sides
by marshy ground., On this elevated spot there originally stood a goodly
town with puecca houges, The town was built by King Dalurai. To the
north of this Ltown and between Cliffon and Keamaii ran the {(Chini Nar)
China Creek. At tide timic lhe sea water flowed into the camp., All kinds
of countlry vesscls fousid access 1o ihe fown through the Clhina Creek,
Betlween 400 to 500 years ago the town was in flourishing condition and
commended a good hatbowut and suple trade.  The inhabitants of the town
drew their supply Of fresh weler from the Rambaugh Lank and from a huge
well in a garden to ile north of catup, which is now kinown as the Com.-
missariat Well., I remember to have seen, when ten to fiffeen years of
age, ruins of numerons pucca brick houses. Poor people used 1o visit the
rains during the rains and bring away to my personal knowledge small
articles made of gold and silver. I led pointed oul ihe spot to you,
which you will doublless tecollect well. The British Government have
built upen the spol a small stone house,

2. I had also related {0 you a brief accounl of Waghudat, which you
had noted down al the time, Waghudar was a famous town., About
250 t0 400 years ago the country all around Waghudar was under the sway
of the Rajputs of Jodhpur, Theie lived in ihe town of Waghudar a
wealthy merchant, Shet Blhiwdamal by name, who liad built his tesidence
within a citadel, Springs in the hills and ihe Malleer river supplied fresh
water {0 the town., During ihie mousoons, wlhen ile passage by sea was
imprecticable, all countiy boats coming down the Indus fiom Multon,
Bhawalpur and New Sulkkur, ender the Bajhar and find their way to
Waghudar 1o unload Lheir cargo of grain.

3. The Kaimaili Balochi unow found in Sind came originally from
Kannat in Mekran, ‘They were o pasioial Lribe and possessed their wealth
it” caltle, consisling of goats, cows, buffaloes and camels. About 150
lo 200 years ago, a body of ihese Balochis, numbering between 3oo to
400 men, squatied alongside the river Habb, Gradually mustering strength
they were {tenipted by the rich pasturage mq,\i.lable round about Waghudar
to attack and capture the town., The Buri rulers of Waghudar were
defeated in the fights which ensied and foredd 1o Dharaj in the Sakro
Purganas, which was under {lie rnle of Rana Arjun, a Hindu prince, The
town of Ralo was the capital of 1he principality, and Lahori Bunder was
the chief seapori town in Dharaj. Rato was then pucca-built, and Lahori
Bunder was in a very Lhriving condition about 125 yeatrs ago.

4. ‘The ]ﬂklﬁas. The Jokhiag atre origlnally residents of a tract of
¢duntry known as Xangoor ‘‘near Shaw Bilawal” They were also a

P -
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A
pastoral tribe and settled with thelr cattle in Malleer as the subjects of
the then ruleis of the Purgane. Their headman was known by the name
of Dariakhan. One of the iribe, Bijar by name, took up employment
as a sepoy under a nabob of the Kalhoras who swayed power at Tatta,
Ghulamshaw Kalhora was the Suptenie Lowd of Sind al the time, and he
desired hig deputy al T'atta to anrange 1o get rid of Rana Arjun and take
possession of the country he ruled over. 7The Nawab comumissioned Bijar
to despetch the Rana and accordingly Bijar repaired {o Malleet, where he
hired 8o to 100 Jokhias to co-operate with him from Malleer ; Bijar came
to Karachi and obtained aloan of money from Shet Bhojumal, tny ancestor
four degrees removed, to enable him to start upon a maritime expedition,
and he set seil from Gizri Bunder, Having learnt that Rana Arjun had
started upon an excutsion and was encamped on an island spot in the river
with about twenty men, he crossed over with his people, and {alling wpon
the Rana and his followers when ihey weie asleep, he quietly murdered
them all., He comnmunicated the news io the Nawab of Tatta, who took
possession of the Rana’s territory wilhout further trouble or opposition.
Bijar was awarded a dress of honour by Glulamshaw and itominated as
the headman of the Jokhias with the name of Jam., DBijar's son was
Muradali, who was sweceeded by Jam Maharali, whom you will itemember
to have seen,

The account of the Burfat Numriag and Malk Ahmed Shah of Kotri,
Once upon a time Rajput residents of Jessalmir in Marwar set oul in search
of employment and fortune., Wandering through various countries they
found their way to Ketch (Kej), the capital of Mekran, which was a populous
city, and took up service al last as sepoys. They were grodually raised
to the rank of jamadars and appoiuted 1o {he command of a body of men.
The then ruler of Mekran was a powerful despot, and he jnvariably de-
manded that every woman who mariied in Ketch should pass lher first
night afier the peiformance of {he nikaeh in his company belore she wen*
to her husband., It happened thai a nicce of lis was about {o marry,
and his sister realising ihe unrightecousness of her brother's demand,
so revolting to all sense of honour, consulted one of the Rajpul jamadars
a8 10 whal she sliould do. THe underiook 1o rid the country of the {yrant,
and true {o his word Lhe Rajput assassinated the ruler, Nexl starting at
the head of a body of men whofivete under his cotnmand, he occupied Beyla
and established himself as pn independent governor of ithe place. It was
after this event that the Rajputs acceDted the Mahommedan faith and
became converts to Islamism, After a short lapse of time other tribesmen
compelled the Rajputs to evacuale Beyla and fly 1he land. They ecrossed
over to Sind and offered their services to the Kalliora ruler of Hyderabad
ag frontier policemen and watclinen along the line of hills on the other side
of the river opposite Hyderabad, in relurn for which tile Kalhora king
conferred 1pon themn in jagheer all the hilly tract of land extending westwatd

[
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from the banks of the river at Xotrl, The descendants of these converted
Rajputs arc known as the Buifat Numrias who recognige Malk Ahmed

Khan as thelr chieflain. Nummria is a general tenmn applied to people
from Mekran, who are said to have descended from the  Nao Marads,”

the nine nien,

(3). 22, Princes’ Gardens,

" 4th Februtary, 1874,
My good friend Naomul,

I have received wilh gieat pleasure the book! you sent me on the
13th October and your subsequent letters, I have read the book with
great interest, and I hope to take measures for its being published wiolly,
or in pari, in this country, whme T think it will atiract general attention
to the valuable characler of ynur services. I have also been greatly
interested in all the news you so kindly sent me from Sind, and ifs
environs, and I trust you will continue Lo wrile to me regunlaily and give
me news of yourself, of Alumal, and of all your famnily, and of everything
connected with 8Sind and its fieighbourhood, which yvou know is always
of the ulmost interest 1o me,

May God bless you and yours, and granl you many happy years of
lite to see your descendanis growing up around you in honour and
happiness.

Believe me,
Sineerely yours,
(Signed) H. B. E, FRERE,

APPENDIX XIII,

(See p. 25.)

(1). SrErcr ny TiE COMMISSIONER IN SIND AT THI DURBAR HELD TO
PRESENT SELH NAOMUI, WITIL PIIE GRANT OF HIS APPOINTMENT AS C.8.1.

UNDER TIF QUERN'S SIGN-MANUAL,

The Acting Cominissioner of Sind, Arulubnld David Robertson, Hsquire,
C.8,, thus spoke of the services renderea by Seth Naomul Hoteliand to

the British Government '~ . 5

'“* T have great pleasme in performing the pleasing task of handing over,
to you ihis letter which conveys an intimation that Her Majesty the Queen,
has been pleased 1o confer on youn the dignity of a Companion of the Most
Exalted Order of the Star of Indin as & further recognition of your services

»

¥
1 {.&,, Naomul's own Memuoits,
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and attachment to the British Government—op more gubstantial mark
of the appreciation of which hes already been bestowed on you, first,
in 1852 by the grant of a pension of Rs. 100 per mensem, and subsequently
in 1860 by the extension of that pension for two livea fuither, together
with the grant of a Jagheer worth Rs. 1,200 per annum,

‘“As it is a quarter of a century since your services hegan, and as the
nature of those rendered during your earlier yeais may not he fully known
to those who have more recently become connected with this place, I
will, with your permission, hiiefly allude to them,

‘““They began as far back as 1830, when I find that youn gave material
assistance in procuring cattle and fuinishing supplies for the colummn sent
from Bombay to co-operale with the forces which were then being des-
patched from Bengal to support Shah Shuja in Afghanistan, Adfterwards,
during the anxious pertod which succeeded the Cabul massacre, you again
rendered the greatest assisiance of a like nature fo the reinforcements
which were poured into Sind in order to assist the troops which weie sent
for the release of the Cabul captives; and again in 1843, when hostilities
broke out between the Amirs and the DBritish Government, you were
indefatigable, at considerable risk to your life and property, in procuring
intelligence and obtaining correct information as to 1he designs of the
Amirs, by means of whiclh the Brilish authoriries were enabled to antici-
pate some of their plans and movements,

‘“ Subsequently diuing the two and a half eventful years of the Mutiny,
you showed the same devotion to the Britislh canse as you had done in
the days of Eastwick, Pottinger and Outram; and by your conduct
then added to the claints you had already established on the consideration
and favour of Government, and for which, as I have already stated, you
were rewatded with a grant of land and the continuance of the pension
for two lives further.

" The additional honour which it has pleased your Sovereign now tq
bestow on you, will, T am sure, be no less highly prized than these by so
faithful and devoted a subject, and I {rust that yon may loug be spared to
enjoy it

(2). REPORT orF SIR BARTLE FRERE'S DURBAR ¥OR THE DECORATION
o Spro NAOMUI, WITH THE INSieNra or THE C.8.1.

His Excellency 8ir H, B, E. Frere, G.C.5.1,, K.C.B., held 2 Durbar at
the Frere Hall, Karachi, o the 18t Jalinary, 1867, for the presentation
of the Insignia and Grant of the Dignity of Companion of the Most Exalted
Order of the Star of India to Seth Naomul Hotchand, of that clty, for
meeting the Municipal Commissioners, and of conferring rewards on
distinguished native gentlemen,

These, together with the principal civil and military officets of the
station heving assembled, His Excellency the Governor, accompanied by
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the Honourable B, X, Tllis, member of the Bxecutive Council, entered the
Durbat, attended by Mr, Samuel Mansfield, C.8.1., the Commuissioner in
Sind, Mr. I, 8. Chapman, Cliucf Seeretmiy to Governol, and other officers
of the general and personal staff, and took his seat under the usnal salute.

His Excellency lhe Govetnor, after acknowledging the saluiation of
the assembly, requesied Mr, I, S, Chapman, the Chief Secretary, and
Major W, R, Lamberi, Collector and Magistrate of Karachi, {o introduce
Seth Naomil Ifotchand, which being done, His xcellency rose and
addressed him as follows :—

“ Seth Naomul Hotchand, I have received from FHis Excellency the
Viceroy and Grand Master of the Most E}m‘lted Order of the Star of India,
instructions to delnrer to you a Grant under ‘Ter Majesty's Sign Manual,
conferring on you the dignity of a €ompanion of the said Oider, together
with the Insignia thereof, and in so doing T have been instructed to f oinit
ne circumstanice which may conduce to give dignity and honour to the
occasion,’ It i3 not necessary that I should now dilate on ithe character
and greatness of the distinction which He1 Majesty thus confeis on you,
It admiis youlo a brotheihood which numbers among its members all that
iz most illustrious in or helonging to India, ithe Soveieign and the Heir
Apparent to the Throne, the Viceroy of this greal Dependency, the heroes
and the atatesmen who have conitributed to acquire and tmaintaln the Indian
Empire, and the princes most {llustrious for their descent, or most distin-
guished for their great qualities as rulers,

““ Of yonr claims to be enrolled in such noble company it is not necessary
that I should here speak, Very receuntly in this Hall, the Acting Com-
missioner of the Piovince, in annonncing to yon Ifer Majesty’s gracious
purpose, dwelt on your life-long devotion to the British Government ;
and I need nol furlher deseribe the services which he then recounted,
but I am personally glad of the opportunity of expressing niy own strong
sense of the assistance I recelved irom you during the tioublous years of
1857-58. VYouliad great Influence amongsl your countrymen, you possessed
information drawn from every part of Northern and Western India, and
yvou placed all unreservedly at Lhe disposal of Government, When many
of your conntrymen were appalled by the greatness of the danger, and
believed ihat some catastrophe ihreatened the existence of the British
Enipire in India, you never faltered in your sagacious trust in the power
of the British Governinent to uphuld the cause,of law and order, and had
you been one of those Dbrave mén who fought for British supremacy,
yott could niol have shown a more thorough confidence in the ultimate
trinmph of the Brilisl arms,

“Tt 13 a great source of pleasure to me, in now leaving Sind before
I take my final departure from India, to be permitted to conier this honour
o you in the présence of the Commissioner of the Province and of my
coMeague, the Honourable B, H, Ellis, both of whom have laboured so

b
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long in 8ind, and so highly appreciale your services, This hnnuur will,
I trust, be regarded by your conntrymen in Sind not simply as a dmtmctiun
conferred on you personally, but as an evidence of the graclous regard
of Her Majesly for this distant province, and for those commercial interests
of which you may here be 1egarded as the chief representative among the
native community. There is one act of yours to which I would more
parlicularty allude as showing your jusl appreciation of the character
of the Biitish rule, and which will, I tiust, find imitators among yout
countrymen, Few know better than }romself the power of the British
nation in war, and their skill in all 1he arts of commerce. But you also
know that there is in every Englishman’s mind a strong conviction that
man does not live by bread alone, and thal there are things more valuable
than victory in bhattle, or success in ¢omnierce. You have not personally
had the advantages of an English education, and it is therefore the more
remarkable that you should have delermined to send your grandson
(Mr. Alumal Trikamdas), to what is, in your estimation, a distant
land, there 1o acquire such an eduealion as an Indian university can give,
and learn the principles by which the conduct of educaled Englishmen
is ruled. I trust on my return to Bombay to sce confetred on your grand.
son the (listinction of a University degree, and I trust {hat God will grant
you a long life, not only to enjoy your own honours, but to sce them
continued and angmented by those yon leave behind you.”

His Excellency then delivered to Seth Naomul Hotchand the Grant
under the Queen’s Sign Manual and the Insignia of the Order,

(3}, “ VICTORIA, by the Groce of God, of the United Kingdom of
GGreat Britain and Ireland, Queen, Defender of ihe Taith, and Sovereign
of the Mosl Exalted Order of the Sfar of India, to Seth Naomul of

Kurrachee, Grecting.

“ Whereas We heing desirous of couferring upon you such a mfrk
of Our Royal Favour as will evince the esteem in which We hold your
persont and the services which you have rendered to Our Indian Empire,
We have thought fit to nominate and appoint you to be a Companion of
Our Most Exalted Order of the Star of India, We do therefore by these
Piesents grant unto you the dignity of a Companion of Our aforesaid
Qrder of India, and herebyﬂﬂuthmise you to have, hold and enjoy the
said dignity and rauk of,a Contpanion of the Most Iixalted Order of ihe
Star of Iundia, logether with all and 'ﬂngulm the privileges thereunto
belonging or appertaining,

“Given at Our Court at Osborne Ilonse, under Our 8Sign Matjual
and the Seal of Our said Order, this thirtieth day of April 1866, in the
twenty-ninth year of our Reign.

" By Her Majesty’'s Comnfiand,
(Signed) * DE GREV AND RIPONS
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APPENDIX XIV,

(See p, 29.)
To Rao Sahib Alumal T rikamdas Bhojwani, B.A., Deputy Educational
Inspector at IKKarachi.
I hereby confer upon you the title of Rao Bahadur as a personal
distinction, «
(Signed) LANSDOWNE,

Viceroy and Governor-General of India,
Fort William, 1st Jabuary, 1880,

APPENDIX XV,

In the Aptil number of lhe Asiatic Quarierly Review for the year 1888,
in an essay entitled " Xarachi and its Future,” 8ir Frederic Goldsmid
eunlogises Seth Naomul in the following terms :—

' Nor when speaking of the dead musil the natives be forgotten who
eniabled Frere in the hour of danger to British rule to dispense with his
legitimate garrisons and trust to resources drawn to himself from Lhe
hearts of the people lie governied by sirong will and tender unselfishness,
Once alone, whose familiar fignre has for some years passed away from the
midst of his countrymen, may be mentioned by name, the banker Seth
Naomul, Connected willi what may be called the Tutelligence Depariment
of ihe province from the first hour of British occupation, he remained
wikil Lhe period of his demise the most trustworthy informant and adviser
of the severnl officers who administered ihe affairs of Sind. Easpecially
{from Balnchisten were his reporis of value, for his agenis in that quarter
had means of ascettaining the state of local politics which even money
might not always cominand ; and his loyalty invariably led him to place
{heir periodical budgets at the disposal of the riling powet, His manner
was singulatly refined for a Ilindu, and though lis professed caution and
occasional diplomatic revetse laid him open to the charge of entertaining
arvidres pensées, his error was very Dossibly in thinking diplomacy to be a
virlue ralher than a necessity, e had a high opinionr of Huropean
statesmen and would speak of European politics with a significant smile,
ag though he saw through the hidden aim of empires and kingdoms, and
could wnravel tangied skeins which perplex the most learned politicians
of the West. HisInemory is especially noted here, for Karachiin its zentth
we nol Karachi withoul Seth Naomul.”
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APPENDIX XVI.
(See 1, 18.)

ILI,USTRATIONS OF ¥ PRESENT PROSPERITY OF SIND,.

The following few fignres may be quoted as evidence of the progress
made by Sind since {he Conquest. They ate only illustrative, as a com-
pilation of statistics even of only railways cousiructedr and canals gxeca-
vated would fill a volume,

The Land Revenue, which in India cati be taken as an index:of the
area cultivated, was supposed to realise under the Talput rulers, 35 lakhs
of rupees annually. In 1go4-3 it exqeeded 103 lakhs, and in 1912 rose, in
round figures, to 120 lakhs, Of this last sum, about 8¢ lakhs were derived
from irrigation, and the area irrigated was more than 33 million acres.

The extent to which coimmerce has developed can be estimmated from
the following figures of the Karachi Port Trust, duritg 1912-1013 t—0

The total shipments for tgi2-13 amounted to 2,183,000 toéns, which
constitute a record inn the listoiy of the Port, The number of vessels
which entered the Port, exctusive of vessels put back and fishing boats,
was 3,742, with a tonnage of 2,195,904} tuns, against 3,700, with a tonnage
of 1,037,305 tons in 1911-12. The number of steamers which entered
the Port was 990, agaimst gi14 int the previous year. The tonnage
of steamers entering ihe Port was 2,019,219, as compared with 1,800,581
1 the previous year, The number of vessels over 5,000 tons gross enteliug
the Port was 161, against 135 in 1911-12, Three ships of the Royal Navy
enitered the harbour, besides six of the Royal Indian Marine, atid two Indian
troop service travsports, embarking and disembarking 15,316 troops,
Also 73 pilgrims from Mecea disentbarked, and zo1 pilgrims embarked,
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[Peoigree of Seth 'lﬂaomul’gs jfaht_ilg.,

Rangoomal,

Gurdasmal,

o el vir el
1

SA.E[ANMAL. (The most famous of, the earliest ﬂﬁﬂestnrs. .
A large landlord, he had also a thriving trade. He éxecnted
many works of chgrity, amassed great wealth, and the

" family in Upper Sind was known after him as Sajananig.} *
Nanikdas.
BﬁO]OOMAL, =Lady Parpibai, Kewalram, mraj, Bhagchand,
died sumbat 1838 | died sumbat 1872
{A.D. 1781-82). (A.D. 1815-16). # i :
| | P ! ] { - T
Dharianamal, LALMANDASS, Thakurdass, Bujmun:lass, 1. j‘hamrai.

2. Tharoomal,
3. Teckchand.
4. Khushaldass.

idied sumbat 1877 died sumbat 1887 died sumbat 1856  died sumbat 1868
(A.D, 18z0-21). (A.D, 1830-31) (A.ID. 1700-1800). (AD. 1811-12).

J _ L

- "1 - T,
1[ . Motiram, 2. Udetrnomal, HOTCHAND, ﬁer‘ndmnl, . Lé,c].uram.
died aumbat 1886 died sumbat 1886 died sumbat I1gos died sumbat 1892 |
(A.D. 1829-30). (A.D, 1829-30), (A.D, 1848). (A.D, 1835-36) One son,
J Hiﬂlﬂthﬁiﬂg- 1
3 Nenoomal, '
Nekoomal.
Pritﬁmdaa, I&'AIOMUL, Parérﬂm, "I‘ul.ll?.iﬂass, Suc:l:hrumdaa, anluldass, - Li_elkhmjmal,
married sumbat 1873 ¢  born sumbat 1862 | born sumbat 1864 born sumbat 1867 born sumhat 1871 born sumbat 1875 born sumbat 1877
Jied sumbat 1914 A.D. 1804-5) ; (A.D. 1807). (A D, 1810) (AD. 1814-15). (A, t818-19). (A.D. 1820-21).
(A.D, 1857}, ied Sept, 16, *
1878, %\ - “
| ‘. _ .
" ” L v Y &
o - L }
Si'rnumul, Atmaram, U::halbai, Pevandbai,
born suimnbat 1878 born sumbat 1884 horn sumbaf, 1880 born sumbat 880
(A, 1821); (A.D, 1827), (A.D, 1823). (A1}, 1825-20).
died sutnbat 1885 died A.D, 18835, )
) . (A.D. 1828). . ' e '
oy ¢ i d
9 — — " "~ L
Son, Bagesbai (dan.), Otambai (daw.), TRIKAMDASS, Thawardass,
» died. born sgumbat, 1879 born sumbat 1881 1 sunibat 1884 horn sumbat 1803
e (A.D. 1822), & s (&.D. 1824). . AD. 1824-25); ’ (A, 1836-37); .
" . died A.D. 188s. died A.D. 1901,
» o 9
[Te ) o : | i
ALINCHAND (afficially, known as Moolchand, - ¢
Alumal), born in menth Vesakh sum- born sumhat 1917
& bat 1902 (A.D, 1845, May or June). é & (AD, 1871}, died
17 May, 1011,
- o
r. s L - g - ‘ a .
- | - \
Hashmatrai, Pe*t}ibn.i Buli:hund, Kundanmal, Udharam, born July,
born 5 Oct,, 1868 ; (dau. ). boin sumbat 1930, born 3 Feb., 1879. 1506,
died 16 Dec, 1906, Savran 13th .
. . (A.D. 1873-74) . S '
Daunghter, died, | 4
I ) - I | }l o | 1
Sarswatibai (dau.), Jethanand, Utibai {daw.), ITardass, Mengraj, Daughter,
born ¢ Sept,, 1896, o hom sumbgt 19 58, porn sumbat 960, born sumbat 1964, Born 7 Nov,, digd, \
14 Jeth ¢+ ' 20 Badra 18 Nahn 1909,
‘ (AD, 1001), (/4D 1903). (A.D. 1907}, °
. , ™ died -
r y v e — M i |
Dharamdas, Chigmudjﬂ}sa, eri.mindnsﬁ, Delrihm {dan.}, Clictlarnm,
born 9 Aug,, born 29 April, born 25 Jan., horn 3 Feb,, horn 24 Jan, *
1897, 1011, 1914, 1915

)
194218;;E )
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IN.

DEX.

e Ay —

Accidml’c {o officers shboting, 87.
Agha Ismail Shah, 33,
Alunedabad, 47 #_

Alumal, Trikanidas, translates
Memairs, 2z, 28, ¢! seq. ; his sur-
name Bhojwani, 8, 31; marriage,
182 ; receives diploma of B.A,
from Frere, 187 ; his fine sexvices,

28, el seq. )

t

Bahreiu, 36, 36 %

Bawmnikote, 77 n; British camp at,
82,

Bellary, 15, 15 %2, 104.

Belogeh runs amok, 86, and Ap-
pendix VI,

Bevla, 34, 34

Beyl, 40 %., 47.

Bhan, 33 .
Bhojooinal, founds port of Karachi,

& : division of hig property, 52,
Bhooj Raessalah {afterwards Scinde
Ylorse), 08, 103,
Brahuis, g8 ».
aBaliramee Beloochis, 43, 43 n.
Burues, D1, J., deseribes oppession
of Hindus in 1830, 9
to enter Karachi, 73.
Butnes, Sir A, 72.
Burton, Sit Richard, quoted; 63,

1Og 1.

}

Cahul, 2, 3; tribute to, paid by
Sind, §1, 51 #.; arrears of ny
lakhs paid by Talpurs, 89, 89 ».

Carless, Capt., marine survey, 6,
73+ rescued from Nawab by
Naomul, 75. .

Ch#nditam Diwan, 20 ; imprisoned,
142, »

Qhar Yar, 4, 157, ¢

M

orbidden |

Chhuto, Sahih Khan, og5; glves
assistatice against Belooch Sir-
dars, 130.

Coins—Gobindi and Mashedi, 89,
8g #.; Kori, 58 ., 89 ; Rial, 85,
84 n.; Sitaramis, 52 n., 62.

Defalca.tmns by Bombay and Cal-
cutta Agencies, 72,

Dharianamal, 40, 42, &f seq. ; privi-
leges given Dby MMirs, 45.

Eastwick, E. B, 119, 119 #.

Eastwick, W. J., 80, 80 x.

Ellis, Sir Barrow,164 n.; invents
sindhi alphahet, 165, 165 .

Famine, Relief of, 40.

Fatehali, Mir, 4, 47.

Frere, 5ir H. B. E,, friendship fox
Naomul, 23 ; procures privileges
for Naomul, 24, 179 ; popularity,
161, 162, his Assistants, 1064 ;
cauals, reads and other improve-
ments, 168; founds a munici-
pality in Karachi, 170 ; anecdote
of Ficre's accident and kindness,
t72; Services during Mutiny,
173; Suppresses mutineers in
KKarachi, 176 ; Lord Lawrence's
ewlogium, 176 n, ; appointed

vernor of Bombay, 182, re-
vis gind, 186 ; decorates
Naomul with CS5.1., 186 Appen-
dix KIIT; correspondence with
Naomul, Appendix XII.

Ghurﬂ, 70, 70 #., 80, 81.
Ghorabari, 77, 77 n.
Ghulamali, Mir, 4, 47, 48, s50.
Gizree Bandar, 73, 73 ».
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(ladstone, W. K., his comment
upon conquest of Sind, 17 %.
Goldsmid, &ir B, C,, 2, 164 %,

develops education; 166 ; eulogy

of Naomul, Appendix XV.
Gomti {otherwise Dwarka), 40 .
Gwadur, 36, 36 «.

Habh, 36, 36 #.

Hand, Capt., murder of, g5. _

Hindus, dynasties, 3; cextensive
mercantile agencies, o ; unhappy
position under Talpuis, 9, 11, 84.

Hinglaz, 48, 48 .

Hotchand, Seth, ill-treatmeni by
Mahommedan fanatics, 11, 65,
67 ; trinmphant return, 19, 131 ;
death, 103,

Hyderabad, capital of Sind, 4;
battle of, 17, 132,

J:—Lm, title of, 39 x.
Thirak, §7, 87 .
Jokhias, 12, 38, 38 %., 130

K. aniti, 8, 33

Kalhoras, capture Xarachi, 39;
cede Karachi to Klelat, 39;
ejected by Talpurs, 3, 42.

Karachi, founded by Selh Bho-
joomal, 8; fortified, 37, surren-
dered by Khelal to Talpurs, 8,
44 ; taken by British fleel, 13,
o1, Appendix V; menaced hy
Belooch Sirdars, 122, ef seq.;
Mirs’ officers expelled fiom, 127 ;
Naomu! assists Frere in iutro-
ducing municpiality, 169, 170,

Karamali, Mir, 4, 48,

Karmatis, 12, 45 2.

Kewalram, 34 ; liberates Ma¥?ira
captives, 3s.

Kharakbunder, 8, 36. .

Khudabad, 8, & #.

thnri Bunder, 30, 36 .

Lalmandas, 48; his wealth, 53;
blind, 54 ; death, 62.

Leckie, Tieut., 72, 80, 86, 115,

Liquor privileges (see Napler).

SETH NAOMUI, HOTCHAND, C.8.1°

M pitland, Sir T',, takes Karachi,
9o ; specially requested Lo protect
Naomul, go; Appendix IV;:
gives Naomul guard of honour,
02.

Mamoyl fakirs’ prophecies, 169.

Marston, Lieut,, saves Napier's
life, =20; complaints against
Naomul, 143, 153,

Miani, battle of, 17, 122,

Mirpur, Mir of, destroys British
stores, 13, 80,

Madad Khan, inyades Sind, 40,

Manora, 37, 37 2.

Mugger Pir, 63, 63 n.

Muradali, Mir, 4, 48; weakly
denies protection 1o Holchand,
66 ; death, 7o.

Muscat, 30, 36 .

Nadir Shali, invasion of, 3, 35,
Naomul, S8eth, personal description
and characler, 25, 27 ; birth, 48 ;
vistt to Mir Ghulmali, 50 ; mar-
riage, 51, reasons for assisting
the DBritish, 11, 84 ; attends on
Seth Lalmandas, 54, ancestorst
wealth, 54 ; family disputes, 54~
57 ; sent to Dwarka, g7 : visits
Porchuunder, 38; procures a
Jokliin bodyguard for ithe Rana,
6o ; Pollinger requests assistance
for transport and supplics needed
by British Armry, 775 first mecl-
lng with Quuam at Ghato, 81 3
conrteous reception at British
camp by Colonel Poltinger and
the QGencral, 83; recasons for
declining to manage a mint, 86 ;
destruction of stores by Mir Shah
Mahomed, 86; arranges to pur-
chase ntore stores and sends
Sookramdas to accompany troops
to Shikarpur, go; captures mur-
ofderers of Capt. Hand, g5 ; visits
Pottinger at Bhooj, 96 ; horrows
large sum to pay for cavalry
horses, 68 ; Pottinger's kindness
and farewell letter, 101 ; Naomul
becomes mniember of Outrgin’s
gstaff, 14, 102, 119; intorview
with Hrydegabad Mirs, 18, 93
deputed by Outram to Mir Shew
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Mahomed, and to facilitate pas-
sing of troops through his coun.
try, roz; lhis proceedings in
Mirpur territory, 104-110; ex-
poses frauds of Jelhanand, the
Govermment moonshi, 113 ; com-
bats intrigues, forged Iletter,
170-114 ; arbittation between
two Mirse 114 ; loss of {wo im-
portant letters, 116; Govern-
menl sanctions small pelitical

allowance, 19, 11p; teceives a
dress of honour, 119 ; Mir Nasir
IChan desires to%arrest him, 120
conquest of 8ind by Napier, 122 ;
Naomul put in authority af
Karachi, 127 ; sends despatches
secretly to Sir Charles Napier,
120 ; guides troops in pursuit
of Belooch Sirdars, 133, 134;
the traitorous shot, 135; con-
ducts Si1dars to Capt, Preedy at
Kalachi, 139; offered post of
Deputy Collector, 140; collects
Sirdarg for Sir C. Napier's durbat,
141; Napier's cold reception,
143; declines Deputy Collector’s
post on small salary, 147 ;
Napiet's threats, 21, 149, sum-
moned for overcharging the
Government, 153, & seq. ; cleared
of all blame, 156: rtreceives ar-
rears of pension, 163 ; constant
visits to Sir Bartle Frewe, 23, 24,
169 : assists Irere in estab-
lishing municipality, 169 ; offers
to raise Afiican reghment, 175 ;
grant of perpetual jaghir and
pension for three Hves sanctioned,
170 : visita Frere when Governor
of Bombay, 183; makes tours
to sacred shrines in the Deccan,
184 ; Commissioner's durbar on
Naomul being appointed C.5.I.
in 1866, 186; TFrere personally
decorates him with C.S.1, 186;
attends Loxd Northbrook's leveg,
26 ; retirement from business,
his family and descendants, 27,
28 ; death, 27.

"apier, Slr Charles, entrusted with
Sind affairs, 16; conguers Sind,
16, 421 ; holds durbar, 18, 141 ;
ungracious reception of Naotmul,

121, 22, 143 ; threatens Naomul

r
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149 ; ordlers Naomul's houses to
be removed, 141; Naomul's
privilege of distilling liquor with-
drawn, 45, 158,

Nooral Shah, 64, 65. ‘

Numrias, 12,

Nur Mahomed, Mir, letter to
Naomul repudiating destruction
of stores, 88 ; interview with,

93,

Outram, Sir J., 81 n.; meet
Naomul, 12, 871 narrow escape
from Menghals, 99 ; stcceeds
Pottinger, 102 ; commends Nao-
mul to Government of India, 112,

Purshram, escapes to Jessulmere,
6y,

Parsee, murder of, 145.

Porebunder, 36, 58, 58,

Pottinger, Sir Henry, 71 %.; asks
for Naomul's assistance, 12, 77,
Ap]laendix 1I; testimony to Nao-
mul's integrity, 22 ; writes letter
to Government commeuding
Naomul, 10I.

Preedy, Capt. ., invites Naomul
to build houses, 120; removes
Talpur flags, 126, 127 ; appointed
Collector of Karachi, 131; pur-
sues Belooch Sirdars, 133; re-
capitulates Naomul's good ser-
vices, Appendix L

Pringle, Mr,, 160.

Ramba%h, ot 1.
Ranjit Singh covets Sind, s, 52,

Rustom, Mir, 4, 16, 121.

‘5‘\

Sha.hbanda*r, 313, 34 1

Shah Nahomed, Mir,
British stores, 86.

Shat Shuja, claims Sind, 6, 7;
troops defeat Talpurs, yo.

Sher Mahomed, Mir, Naomul visits
his court, 108, ef sag.; Mir's in-
trigues to reduce his payment”,
towards subsidl forces, 110,
et seq.; dispute between Sher

destroys
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Maliomed and Nasir Xhan, 114 ;

defeated by Napier, 132,
Samundarkhan, 71, |
Shops closed by Hindns, 64 .
Shikarpur, importanece of, 3 ; large

ransom money for, 7, 8on,
Sind, position of in i1830-485, 3;
British govermment’s relations
with, §; treaties with, 6, 15;
invaded by Madad Khan, 40;
by Azimkhan, 51; tiibute, 52;
conguest of, 16, 121, 132 ; peace-
fulness and loyalty of, 18, 14140
disturbances affer aunexation,

145,
Sobdar, Mir, 15, 114, 1135,
Sohrab, Mir, 4.
Sonmiani, 34 #., 36, 0g.
Sookramdas, accompanies army to

Shikarput, ogo; arrests mut-
derers, 146,
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Tﬂ!purs, three kingfloms, 3; three
attacks npon Karachi, 41, 42 4 ;
captwe of XKarachi by, 44
defeat by Naplet, 122, 132.

Tatlta, 34, 34 #., 33, mint af, 85,

86.
Treasure, Kewalram’s looted, 40 ;

Bhojoomal’s divided,, 52 ; quarrel
about, 54, 57.

Trikamdag, Dbirth, §7;
118, 103, 163 1.

marriage,

o)

Uhhriamal, 114, 143,

Vaghers, 4%, 47
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